# Analyzing and Modeling the Use of Common Property Pastures in Grindelwald, Switzerland

Ivo Baur



München 2014

# Analyzing and Modeling the Use of Common Property Pastures in Grindelwald, Switzerland

Ivo Baur

Dissertation an der Fakultät für Geowissenschaften der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

> vorgelegt von Ivo Baur aus Sarmenstorf, Schweiz

München, 08.09.2014

Erstgutachter: Zweitgutachter: Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:

Prof. Dr. Claudia Binder Prof. Dr. Urs Wiesmann 30. April 2015 Meinen Eltern

#### SUMMARY

**Problem**. More than ever, some of the biggest challenges to society involve the governance of natural resources. From large-scale resource systems, such as the rain forest and oceans, to small-scale systems, such as lakes or alpine pastures, cooperative efforts are required to ensure sustainable and yet productive use of natural resources. In Switzerland, the management of alpine pastures has for centuries been predominantly organized by local governance institutions, avoiding an overuse of the scarce resources. During the past decade, the use and maintenance of common property pastures (CPPs) is declining, leading to land abandonment and forest regrowth. However, CPPs provide significant services to the mountain regions, such as additional grazing grounds; assets for the tourism industry; protection from soil erosion, water runoff and landslides; and high biodiversity. These services are currently threatened by reduced use and maintenance of CPPs.

**Research** Aims. The research presented herein aims for a better understanding of socialecological interactions driving the use of CPPs to provide policy recommendations for the sustainable governance of CPPs.

**Methods.** To achieve a holistic understanding of the variables driving CPP use, this research used multiple methods to investigate CPP use in Grindelwald, Switzerland as a social-ecological system (SES). The research was structured in four modules. First, qualitative methods were applied to analyze institutional change in the governance of CPP. Second, regression models were built from survey data to better understand farmers' land use decisions. Third, an analysis of the ecological system was conducted based on land cover statistics. Forth, a systems dynamics model of the local SES was built and combined with a formative scenario analysis to investigate potential future developments of CPP use.

**Results.** The outcomes of the different modules suggest the following: First, local governance systems originally designed to prevent overuse of CPPs are able to adapt to problems of declining use and maintenance of CPPs by altering a set of rules. Second, farmers' use of CPPs depends on personal attributes, including farm size, norms and dependence on the resource. Furthermore, the analysis suggests that high local demand and prices for alpine cheese are a central factor in the sustainable use of CPPs. Third, the land cover analysis showed that afforestation occurs in Grindelwald at a relatively moderate pace and defined the area most prone to afforestation and bush encroachment. Fourth, the simulation model allows for the display of complex social-ecological interactions, showing that afforestation tendencies are likely to continue, although at a different pace depending on the scenario setting.

**Conclusion**. This research provided a better understanding of CPP use through the analysis of the subsystem characterizing the SES. It showed how the general framework for analyzing SESs can be operationalized using a broad set of methods. It thereby contributed and advanced central themes within the study of the commons, such as institutional analysis, users' behavior in cooperative dilemmas and modeling of SESs. The integration of the findings from different modules into a simulation provided insights about the effects of different policies on the sustainability of the SES and thereby demonstrated why particular policy blueprints will accelerate rather than counteract the problem of CPP abandonment.

#### ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

**Problem**. Die Gesellschaft ist zunehmend herausgefordert, den Umgang mit natürlichen Ressourcen nachhaltig zu gestalten. Kooperative Anstrengungen sind nötig, um eine nachhaltige und produktive Nutzung groß- und kleinflächiger Ressourcensysteme wie Regenwälder, Ozeane und Alpen (Almen) zu gewährleisten. In der Schweiz ist die Alpung seit Jahrhunderten überwiegend kommunal organisiert, mit dem Ziel, die Übernutzung der Weiden zu verhindern. Während der letzten Jahrzehnte ist die Alpung jedoch rückläufig, was zur Auflassung von Weiden und Wiederbewaldung führt. Da die kontinuierliche Weidenutzung und -pflege bedeutende Leistungen für die Bergregion hervorbringen wie Offenhaltung der Futterflächen, ein gepflegtes Landschaftsbild für den Tourismus und diverse Ökosystemdienstleistungen, ist der Rückgang der Alpwirtschaft ein bedeutendes Problem in vielen Bergregionen.

**Forschungsziel.** Die vorliegende Arbeit soll zu einem besseren Verständnis der Wechselwirkungen zwischen Mensch und Umwelt beitragen, welche die nachhaltige Nutzung der Alpen beeinflussen, um daraus Handlungsempfehlungen abzuleiten.

**Methoden.** Um ein ganzheitliches Verständnis der Determinanten einer nachhaltigen Alpwirtschaft zu generieren, stützt sich diese Arbeit auf verschiedene Methoden. Dabei dient die Gemeinde Grindelwald in der Schweiz als Fallbeispiel für die sozial-ökologische Analyse, die in 4 Module unterteilt ist: Im ersten Modul wird mittels qualitativer Methoden untersucht, ob die lokalen Körperschaften ihre institutionellen Regime anpassen, um dem Problem der Unternutzung entgegenzuwirken. Im Zweiten werden die Landnutzungsentscheidungen der Landwirte mittels Regressionsmodellen basierend auf Umfragedaten erklärt. Im Dritten wird eine räumliche Analyse des ökologischen Teilsystems basierend auf der Arealstatistik durchgeführt. Im Vierten wird das sozial-ökologische System modelliert und durch Szenario-Analyse mögliche Entwicklungen der Alpwirtschaft von Grindelwald simuliert.

**Resultate.** Die Ergebnisse zeigen erstens, dass die lokalen Körperschaften auf die rückgängige Nutzung reagieren, indem sie diverse Nutzungsregeln anpassen. Zweitens, dass die Landnutzungsentscheidungen der Landwirte von Betriebsgröße, Normen, und von deren Abhängigkeit von landwirtschaftlichem Einkommen determiniert sind. Drittens, zeigt die Analyse des Ressourcensystems, dass in Grindelwald der Prozess der Wiederbewaldung in moderatem Tempo erfolgt und welche Standorte davon betroffen sind. Viertens, zeigt das Simulationsmodell die sozial-ökologischen Wechselwirkungen auf, welche zum Rückgang der Alpwirtschaft führen. Die Simulation verschiedener Szenarien zeigt zudem, welche exogenen Veränderungen die Wiederbewaldung in Zukunft begünstigen respektive abschwächen.

**Fazit**. Durch sozial-ökologische Systemanalyse zeigt diese Forschung auf, welche Mensch-Umwelt-Interaktionen die nachhaltige Nutzung der Alpen beeinflussen. In den einzelnen Modulen werden verschiedene Methoden kombiniert, um das Framework zur Analyse sozialökologischer Systeme zu operationalisieren. Damit leistet die Studie Beiträge zu den zentralen Themen der Allmend-Forschung wie Institutionenanalyse, Verhaltensökonomie und computergestützte Simulation sozial-ökologischer Systeme. Die Integration der Ergebnisse aus verschiedenen Modulen bietet schließlich einen Überblick über die Auswirkungen politischer Maßnahmen auf die Nachhaltigkeit der Alpwirtschaft und zeigt auf, weshalb bestimmte Patentrezepte den Rückgang der Alpwirtschaft eher begünstigen als aufhalten.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

# Part ONE: Synopsis

1	Introduction	1
	1.1 Common Pool Resource Governance	1
	1.2 Common Property Pastures in the Alps	2
	1.3 Services Streaming from Sustainable Common Property Pasture Management	2
	1.3.1 Ecosystem Services	3
	1.3.2 Cultural Services	3
2	Research Problems and Questions	4
-	2.1 Institutions for Common Pool Resources Governance	4
	2.1 Individuals' Behavior in Common Pool Resources Dilemmas	5
	2.3 Resource System Analysis: Land Use and Associated Land-Cover Changes	6
	2.4 Simulation Models of Social-Ecological System	7
3	Study Area & Conceptual Framework	9
-	3.1 The case study region	9
	3.1.1 Property arrangements in the study region	10
	3.1.2 Motivation for choice of study region	11
	3.2 The General Framework for Analyzing Social-Ecological Systems	12
	3.3 Applying the SES Framework to the Case Study Region	14
4	Procedure & Methods Annlied	16
•	4.1 Module 1: Analysis of the Local Governance System	16
	4.2 Module 2: Analysis of the Actors System	17
	4.3 Module 3: Analysis of the Resource System	17
	4.4 Module 4: Modeling the Local Social-Ecological System	18
	4.4.1 Purpose of the model	18
	4.4.2 System dynamics	19
	4.4.3 Formative scenario analysis	19
5	Results	21
-	5.1 Institutional Adaptations of the Local Governance System	21
	5.2 Farmers' Land-Use Decisions	23
	5.3 Land-Use and Land-Cover Change on CPPs in Grindelwald	24
	5.3.1 Land use	24
	5.3.2 Land-cover change	25
	5.4 Modeling the Social-Ecological System	26
6	Discussion	29
	6.1 Relevance of the Findings for the Study of the Commons	29
	6.1.1 The contribution to institutional analyses	29
	6.1.2 The contribution to behavioral research on cooperative dilemmas	30
	6.1.3 The contribution to empirically grounded modeling of social-ecological systems	30
	6.1.4 A note on the analysis of resource systems	31
	6.2 Appraisal of the SES Framework	32
	6.3 Policy Implications	33
	6.4 Limitations and Further research	34
7	Conclusion	36
8	Bibliography	37

# Part TWO: Essays

 47
 65
 95
 119

# Part THREE: Appendix

Glossary	148
Supporting Material for Module 2	150
Survey	150
Q-Method Protocol	172
Supporting Material for Module 4	189
Model Tests	189
Model Documentation	192
Formative Scenario Analysis	215
Acknowledgments	219
CV	221

# ILLUSTRATIONS

FIGURE 1. THE STUDY REGION (SOURCE: OWN FIGURE, ADAPTED FROM SWISSTOPO)	9
FIGURE 2. THE SEVEN CORPORATIONS OF GRINDELWALD (SOURCE: OWN FIGURE, ADAPTED FROM SWISSTOPO) .	10
FIGURE 3. FRAMEWORK FOR ANALYZING SUSTAINABILITY OF SOCIAL-ECOLOGICAL SYSTEMS ON THE FIRST TIER	12
FIGURE 4. CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR ANALYZING THE USE OF COMMON PROPERTY PASTURES (CPPS)	15
FIGURE 5. SUMMER PASTURE AREA MOST PRONE TO GRADUAL ABANDONMENT AND TO SUBSEQUENT SHRUB OR	
FOREST ENCROACHMENT (ZOOMED-IN DETAIL COVERING THE AREAS OF TWO ALPINE CORPORATIONS). TH	E
MORE THE COLORS TURN TO DARK RED, THE MORE PRONE THE PASTURE IS TO ABANDONMENT AND THUS –	-
DEPENDING ON ALTITUDE – TO SHRUB OR FOREST ENCROACHMENT	26

# TABLES

TABLE 1. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE 7 CORPORATIONS	. 11
TABLE 2. VARIABLES DESCRIBING SOCIAL-ECOLOGICAL SYSTEMS IN THE SECOND TIER.	. 13
TABLE 3.OVERVIEW OF PROCEDURE & METHODS APPLIED	. 16
TABLE 4. INSTITUTIONAL ADAPTATIONS OF THE LOCAL GOVERNANCE SYSTEM	. 22
TABLE 5. DIRECTION OF SIGNIFICANT EFFECTS OF INDIVIDUALS' ATTRIBUTES ON LIVESTOCK ENDOWMENT,	
APPROPRIATION, AND PROVISION BEHAVIOR CALCULATED BY BINARY LOGISTIC REGRESSION	. 23
TABLE 6. VALUE FOR SELECTED VARIABLES DESCRIBING PAST AND POTENTIAL FUTURE DEVELOPMENT OF THE	
SES)	. 27

# PART ONE: SYNOPSIS

# **1** Introduction

Promoting a more sustainable use of natural resources like pastures, forests, irrigation systems, fisheries, or fresh water and more recently, clean air, global climate, and biodiversity is a major challenge to societies. Science has undertaken tremendous efforts to investigate the social and ecological conditions that facilitate or hinder sustainable governance of natural resources. Herein, property rights are considered key. No matter whether a resource is held in private, state, or common property, particular forms of ownership alone do not guarantee sustainability. Instead different forms of property rights and the characteristics of the resource affect the incentive structures for potential resource users. Institutions such as markets, state quota, or use rights help balance the levels of exploitation with the resources capacity to renew and recover in order to maintain sustainability. This dissertation addresses the current challenges and solutions for maintaining balanced resource use for the case of common property pastures (CPP) in the Swiss Alps.

## 1.1 Common Pool Resource Governance

Common pool resources (CPRs) are jointly managed resources, for which individuals' appropriation diminishes the resource stock and potential beneficiaries of which are difficult to exclude (Berkes et al. 1989). CPRs can be natural or man-made resources to which a large number of people have access. This situation poses a social dilemma: If one limits his use of the resource while others do not, then the resource will degrade and the individual that restrained himself has no benefit at all. To avoid being in this position, individuals extract as much as possible from the resource before there is nothing left. This dilemma was said to be impossible to overcome, leading to the "tragedy of the commons".

The debate started with the seminal articles of Gordon on fisheries and Hardin on pastures (Gordon 1954; Hardin 1968). Both pictured resources overexploited by self-seeking individuals maximizing their use of the freely available resource that is the property of all, but valued by no one. As a consequence, common property was regarded as an inferior stage of property rights development that needed to be overcome through privatization or state control as the sole means to prevent the tragedy of the commons.

Since then, scholars have shown repeatedly that CPR governance is possible through selforganization of users. Ostrom provided a synthesis of examples for successful communitybased CPR-management efforts ranging from communal tenure of pastures and forests in the Swiss Alps, to irrigations systems in the Philippines and Spain, and to fisheries in Turkey (Ostrom 1990). There are many more case studies on collectively governed resources of fisheries (Acheson 2003), irrigation systems (Wade 1989), alpine pastures (Netting 1981), and forests (Agrawal and Chhatre 2006). The main interest of these studies has been to understand how cooperation evolves and which factors facilitate collective governance of natural resources in order to avoid their over-use. The factors that were found to facilitate or hinder sustainable governance, however, vary across space and time, and social and natural sciences put different emphasis on the explanatory variables and methodological approaches. In order to provide ground for multidisciplinary efforts for the analyses of social-ecological systems (SES), Ostrom provided a framework that synthesizes all potential relevant social and ecological variables that explain success of common pool resource governance (Ostrom 2007; Ostrom 2009). This thesis applies the framework in order to analyze the sustainability of CPPs in the Swiss Alps.

# **1.2** Common Property Pastures in the Alps

Since Nettings' study in Törbel (Netting 1981), common property pastures (CPPs) in the European Alps have become a classic example for the study of collectively governed resources. Several scholars have described organizational principles and the rules applied to govern pasture use in order to avoid overuse (Casari 2007; Ostrom 1990; Stevenson 2005; Stoeckle 2009).

However, as a result of social developments in the past decade, many alpine pastures in Europe have become less intensely used and maintained. Increasing labor productivity in the industrial and service-oriented sectors has steadily moved labor forces away from the agricultural sector. In terms of expanding agricultural land use, alpine agriculture appears to have reached its peak at the beginning of the 19<sup>th</sup> century (Stöcklin et al. 2007). Since then, agriculture has steadily relinquished from using the least productive areas, which has been identified as a major driver for forest regrowth (Keenleyside, Tucker, and McConville 2010; MacDonald et al. 2000).

In Switzerland, about 12% of the national area consists of alpine pastures (Lauber et al. 2008), approximately 80% of which are kept in communal tenure (Baur, Müller, and Herzog 2007). As a result, CPPs form an important part of the national surface area and provide various social and environmental services and public goods. As these services crucially depend on the cultivation of marginal pastures which are often common property, the cultivation of which under current conditions often does not cover costs, the sustainable use of CPPs nowadays does not simply depend on the ability of collective organizations to avoid overuse: more importantly, it depends on governance efforts to ensure the continuous use and maintenance of CPPs in order to secure the environmental and social services streaming from sustainable CPP use.

# **1.3** Services Streaming from Sustainable Common Property Pasture Management

Research has identified several services that are potentially threatened by the abandonment of marginal alpine pastures. Among the ecological services figures are:

## 1.3.1 Ecosystem Services

- Provision of high-value grass for livestock feed and thus an additional income source for farmers;
- Biodiversity (Burel and Baudry 1995; Giupponi et al. 2006; Stöcklin et al. 2007), such as the biological diversity of vascular plant species in alpine pastures, which is twice as high as in forests (Korner and Spehn 2002);
- Protection against soil erosion, water run-off, and landslides (Tasser, Mader, and Tappeiner 2003);
- Protection from natural hazards (Tasser, Mader, and Tappeiner 2003).

## 1.3.2 Cultural Services

Among the social services are:

- Provisioning of specialties and alpine products;
- Landscape beauty and diversity for recreational activities (Hunziker 1995; Hunziker et al. 2008);
- Identification with the landscape (Bignal and McCracken 2000; Plieninger, Höchtl, and Spek 2006).

For Switzerland, several researchers have investigated the development of these services in the Swiss Alps. The main contribution toward an integrative social and ecological analysis was given by the NFP 48, in which the focus was on landscape development and habitat. The main results of the NFP 48 are summarized in five synthesis books dealing with (i) processes of perception (Backhaus, Reichler, and Stremlow 2008); (ii) processes of change (Stöcklin et al. 2007); (iii) designing goals in landscape evolution (Simmen and Walter 2007); (iv) land use and adding values (Simmen, Walter, and Marti 2006). Key recommendations relating to further research in the Swiss Alps are:

- Alpine research should study development paths of specific regions and compare the driving factors affecting different types of developments (Lehmann and Messerli 2007).
- Grassland and pastures are important elements in the landscape of the Swiss Alps, mostly with respect to biodiversity. Land abandonment and alpine fallows are important issues to be further analyzed (Lehmann and Messerli 2007).
- Current local institutions governing the commons have been stable and effective in dealing with potential resource overuse. However, it was found that these exact institutions might hinder innovative and sustainable development paths. Thus, one open question is how and whether these institutions will be able to adapt to the new demands and support sustainable management in future (Knoepfel and Gerber 2008).
- Participation in research projects in the Alps is recommended given the high diversity of stakeholders and interest groups, ranging from tourism to ecologists and farmers (Simmen and Walter 2007) and thus requiring inter- and transdisciplinary approaches to understand past and future developments of CPP use (Lehmann and Messerli 2007).

# 2 Research Problems and Questions

Given the services and research recommendations associated with the sustainable management of CPPs in Switzerland, there is a need for research to provide in-depth understanding of the distinctive configurations of variables describing CPP use. As social-ecological (or human-environmental) systems consist of unique configurations, success factors leading to sustainable outcomes in one setting will not necessarily have the same effect in other settings. This is holds even more for the analysis of CPP use, as governance efforts need to deal with the problem of resource underuse, which is usually not considered in CPR research.

Therefore integrative research is needed, which acknowledges the complex relationships between farmers' decision-making, institutional structures, and the ecological system to diagnose sustainability of CPPs. Accordingly, this research aims at providing the following knowledge:

- a. Solid understanding of the role of local governance systems in the context of reducing CPP use;
- b. Insights on variables driving farmers' use of CPPs;
- c. Analysis of the impact of CPP use on land cover;
- d. Integrative model of the local social-ecological systems for policy testing.

With respect to these research aims, the following chapters (2.1-2.4) will review previous research and current methods, and identify the gaps and research questions to be answered.

## 2.1 Institutions for Common Pool Resources Governance

One of the most central questions in the study of the commons is which local governance characteristics allow for the long-term sustainable management of CPR. Several synthesis of case studies exist that highlight ecological and social factors that facilitate self-governance (Agrawal 2001; Baland and Platteau 1996; Ostrom 1990). Herein, the eight design principles of Ostrom have become the most accepted (Cox, Arnold, and Tomás 2010). Accordingly, successful local governance builds on:

- 1. Clearly defined groups and territorial boundaries;
- 2. Congruence between appropriation and provision rules and local needs and conditions;
- 3. Collective-choice arrangements that guarantee access to rule-making for those most affected by the rules;
- 4. Monitoring systems;
- 5. Graduated sanctions for rule violations;
- 6. Availability of low-cost means for dispute resolution;
- 7. Minimum recognition of rights to self-organize;
- 8. Nested enterprise.

These design principles illuminate the properties of the governance system that are likely to lead to long-term successful self-governance of CPRs by enforcing institutions as mechanisms for reducing uncertainty in complex environments as a base for collective action. Nevertheless, while design principles may provide a generalized checklist for good-governance principles, they do not allow for predicting whether a local governance system is able to deal with external change such as market developments (Southworth and Tucker 2001;

Tucker, Randolph, and Castellanos 2007) or whether a governance system enforces institutions that fit the changing conditions of the biophysical world (Young 2002). Therefore a simple check for design principles or static institutional analysis will not provide insights about whether and how local governance systems adapt institutions to cope with external change.

**Gap 1:** Whilst studies on self-governed CPRs provide useful snapshots about properties and rules applied at a particular point in time, no study exists that traces the evolution of the governance system over longer periods and its adaptations to internal and external changes in the SES.

Doubtlessly, the local governance system in the Swiss Alps has been stable and effective in dealing with potential resource overuse. However, it is questionable whether these institutions are similarly effective in dealing with resource underuse because the main functions of the local governance system (i) excludes outsiders and (ii) limits the extraction levels of users. Thus, one open question is how and whether local governance systems in the Swiss Alps adapt institutions to the new demands to support the sustainable management of CPPs (Kissling-Näf, Volken, and Bisang 2002; Knoepfel and Gerber 2008). Accordingly, the first research question aims to clarify the role of local governance in the context of reducing resource use:

**Research question 1:** Do local governance systems in the Swiss Alps change institutions in order to adapt to the socio-economic changes to avoid reduced use and maintenance of CPPs?

## 2.2 Individuals' Behavior in Common Pool Resources Dilemmas

The use of CPRs involves cooperative dilemmas, which actors need to solve in order to manage resources sustainably. The first dilemma results from the fact that CPRs are subtractable. That is, appropriation of resources units of one user imposes externalities on other resource users as the resource stock diminishes. Therefore, users face incentives to maximize appropriation for their own benefit, as the cost of their activities (reduced availability of the resource) is turned over onto other resource users (Gardner, Ostrom, and Walker 1990). Furthermore, the availability of resource units is dependent on provision activities and the upkeep of the resource system as well as the physical infrastructure needed to secure and enhance the resource unit flow (Anderies, Janssen, and Ostrom 2004). For example, CPPs require maintenance clearance from shrub, bush and rock fall and investments into infrastructure such as barns, storage facilities and drinking troughs. Clearly, the individual is interested in shifting these burdens for maintaining the resource system to jointusers. Therefore, appropriation and provision activities involve social dilemmas, as the users' self-interest in maximizing appropriation and free-riding on the provision activities of others is juxtaposed to the interest of the group in ensuring a fair and equitable distribution of the benefits and burdens associated with the use of CPRs (Gardner, Ostrom, and Walker 1990).

Experimental research has extensively studied individuals' behavior in these dilemmas using game theory. For both appropriation and provision situations, experiments exist that replicate appropriation and provision situations through common pool resource and public good games, thus asking under which conditions sustainable levels of cooperation can be sustained. The

focus thereby lies on the effect of rules and institutional constraints, such as payoff functions (Janssen and Ahn 2006), communication (Ahn, Ostrom, and Walker 2010; Janssen et al. 2010), or monitoring and sanctioning (Fehr and Fischbacher 2004; Fehr and Gächter 2000) mechanisms in ensuring the cooperative behavior of players. While such experiments provide important insights into the effect of institutional constraints on overall levels of cooperation, they do not illuminate motivational or material drivers on an individual level. However, it is important to investigate these drivers to explain why some resource users apply cooperative behavior while others do not, within a shared institutional setting. For this endeavor experiments alone are not sufficient as the material constraints, preferences, and motives as they appear in the field, might differ substantially from those in the laboratory for the following reasons:

- a. Game theory mostly assumes that self-seeking players behave strictly rational in order to maximize payoffs. This assumption does not necessarily reflect reality (Smith 2010);
- b. The behavior of individuals in experimental settings is detached from personal characteristics such as economic endowment or opportunity costs (Anderies et al. 2011; Levitt and List 2007);
- c. Subjects in laboratory experiments are usually western students whose personality traits might differ from those of CPR users (Henrich, Heine, and Norenzayan 2010).

**Gap 2**: Although experiments provide important information about the institutional settings that facilitate cooperation, they offer only limited explanations for difference in the behavior of real common pool resource users.

With respect to the use of CPP in the Swiss Alps, its sustainable use depends crucially on social-ecological interactions, namely appropriation (grazing intensity) and provision (maintenance of the ecological system and the respective infrastructure). Since both underand overgrazing have adverse effects on the resource system, for example by reducing biodiversity or pasture productivity, total appropriation should remain within a sustainable yield. Furthermore, provision activities are needed to maintain or enhance the productivity of the resource system. This leads to the second research question:

**Research question 2:** Which individual attributes explain differences in the behavior of real CPR users in the field with regard to factor endowment, appropriation, and provision activities?

#### 2.3 Resource System Analysis: Land Use and Associated Land-Cover Changes

Research on the use of CPR resources is largely based on social and economic approaches. Thus, in the study of the commons the ecological systems is mostly treated marginally with a focuses on the ecological properties that facilitate or hinder sustainable governance of the natural resources rather than on the concrete ecological interactions and the way they are altered through human activities (Epstein et al. 2013; Tucker, Randolph, and Castellanos 2007) Thus, ecological consequences of human-environmental interactions are not given the highest priorities in the study of the commons or the SES framework respectively, as emphasis is put on social processes instead (Binder et al. 2013). Within the natural sciences, studies focusing on changes in the ecosystem processes and land cover often do not illuminate

the social drivers such as users' behavior or the institutional structure. Nevertheless some efforts exist that try to link to land use and the resulting land-cover changes to social process (Anderies, Janssen, and Walker 2002; Janssen, Anderies, and Walker 2004; Janssen et al. 2000; Perrings and Walker 2004; Walker and Janssen 2002). Unfortunately, these studies are conducted for the analysis of vast rangelands and are thus quite different from the ecosystem properties in the Swiss Alps and the way they have been manipulated by land use practices.

For centuries in the Swiss Alps, the main method of increasing the agricultural area for grazing, in particular, has been through the deforestation of marginal areas. However, during the past decade, an opposing trend has been observed: The abandonment of CPPs has led to shrub encroachment and expanding forest areas. Several explanations exist for these trends, which have been observed on a national level, such as structural changes and resulting labor scarcity leading to the abandonment of marginal areas (Baur et al. 2006) or increasing summering costs (Mack, Walter, and Flury 2008). However, the degree to which these tendencies were observed varies regionally. In the Southern Alps, an almost complete abandonment of remote summer pastures, particularly in the canton of Ticino, has been observed (Stöcklin et al. 2007), whereas other regions face moderate to no land use and land-cover change. Therefore, studies on a regional level are needed, which elucidate the development paths of specific regions and compare the driving factors, which account for different regional developments of the land use and land-cover change (Lehmann and Messerli 2007).

**Gap 3:** Factors and degree of land-use change and their impact on land cover in CPP areas varies regionally. Therefore research needs to identify the spatial patterns of land use and land-cover change and link them to social drivers of land use.

With respect to the study region, the current land-cover status must first be established and recent developments identified. Furthermore, the observed land-cover changes must be explained in terms of land-use change or other explanatory factors, such as the development of provision activities or climate change. In addition, changes in land use practices need to be linked to changes in the social system of the SES. Therefore, the third research question is as follows:

**Research question 3:** What land use and land-cover change can be observed in the case study region and what are the particular drivers behind these changes?

# 2.4 Simulation Models of Social-Ecological System

Recent research is trying to acknowledge the full complexity of social-ecological systems, which form the basis for all natural resource use. Several frameworks were developed for the analysis of social-ecological systems with respect to CPRs (Anderies, Janssen, and Ostrom 2004; Ostrom 2007, 2009). Most research focuses on the interaction of certain subsystems, describing only particular aspects of the social-ecological system; fully integrated simulation models of social-ecological systems are rare. The few models of CPPs are mostly based on case studies in developing countries (Castella, Trung, and Boissau 2005; Janssen and Ostrom 2006; Jin, Xu, and Yang 2009; Stave 2003). Other simulation models, which focus on land dynamics, show how changes in socio-economic factors can impact the vegetation quality and help to determine an optimal stocking density for sustainable land use (Anderies, Janssen, and

Walker 2002; Janssen, Anderies, and Walker 2004; Janssen et al. 2000; Parker et al. 2003; Walker and Janssen 2002). These simulation models are built to represent very different natural environments and social conditions from those in the Swiss Alps. Furthermore, institutional change and farmers' decision-making follow very different paths, which restricts the application of these models to the case of common property management in the case study region. Nevertheless, simulation models are the key for understanding social-ecological interactions, the feedbacks governing social-ecological systems, and for testing policy options for the sustainable governance of social-ecological systems (Janssen and Ostrom 2006; Poteete, Janssen, and Ostrom 2010).

**Gap 4:** Simulation models, which acknowledge the interactions between institutional change, farmers' decisions, and the resulting social and ecological impacts, are rare and existing models are far from representing the reality of the case study region. In order to better understand the complex interactions that characterize the social-ecological system of the study region, a simulation model is needed, which allows for policy testing.

With respect to the study region, the findings regarding the function governance system, farmers behavioral patterns, together with insights on land-use and land-cover change, need to be integrated into a simulation model to provide a better understanding of the specific feedback mechanisms, non-linear relationships, and thresholds, which characterize the local SES and drive the system behavior in response to different policies. This leads to the fourth research question:

**Research questions 4:** How can the findings from the analysis of the subsystems be integrated into a simulation model to represent the specific characteristics of the local SES and to test effects of different policy options on the future sustainability of the SES?

# **3** Study Area & Conceptual Framework

This chapter describes the specific characteristics of the case study region (3.1), why it was chosen, and introduces the framework used for this analysis (3.2), and described the way it was adapted to the particular case of CPP (3.3).

## 3.1 The case study region

Grindelwald is a municipality located in the heart of the Alps in the canton of Bern in Switzerland (E 8°01′48″/ N46°37′30). The municipality covers 171 km<sup>2</sup> with the highest peak reaching 4,100 meters above sea level and the village located 1,000 meters above sea level (Figure 1). Due to its natural beauty and snow-sport facilities, Grindelwald is an internationally known tourism resort that attracts visitors year-round. Consequently, tourism is the most important source of income and offers diverse employment opportunities. Unlike other rural regions, the local population remains stable with about 3,800 inhabitants.



Figure 1. The study region (Source: Own figure, adapted from Swisstopo)

Agriculture, in particular dairy farming, manages to coexist with tourism, even if the number of farmers is steadily diminishing as a result of structural change in the agricultural sector towards fewer, but larger-sized farms. Since 1980, the number of farmers in Grindelwald has roughly halved from 242 to 123 in 2010. As a consequence, the average farm size has nearly doubled in terms of livestock and land holdings from about 5-6 to nearly 12 livestock units and hectares per agricultural holding.

In addition to private land holdings, CPPs provide an important source of animal feed. In the summer months, when farmers produce hay on their private lands for wintertime, the livestock grazes on CPPs, looked after by herdsmen who produce artisan cheese from the milk. The herdsman is either the owner of the alp's huts himself or a seasonal employee. The fees farmers pay to the corporation for the care of the animals provides the herdsman's income. At the end of the season, the cheese stock is redistributed to the cattle owner according to the cows' milk yield.

#### 3.1.1 Property arrangements in the study region

The pastures of Grindelwald became communal tenure at the beginning of the 15<sup>th</sup> century. Before then, the alpine pastures of Grindelwald belonged to the monastery of Interlaken, which supported a loose system of use rights that were leased to farmers in the region.

The first official claim on common property dates back to 1404. In order to prevent the pastures from being overused, six of the currently seven corporations agreed on a statutory regulation ("Taleinungsbrief") to govern the use of alpine pastures. The following two regulations constituted the main building blocks for the protection of the pastures from overuse:

- 1. Only animals that were fed from feed grown in the valley during wintertime were allowed to be summered on the CPP;
- 2. Every parcel in the valley was assigned a certain amount of use rights ("Kuhrecht"), according to which the farmer is allowed to subtract his share.

These regulations were an early attempt to solve the problems of exclusion and subtractability associated with CPR management. The statutory regulation was renewed several times (1538, 1867, 1923, and 2002). Since 1538 – with the entry of the corporation Bussalp – the property rights have been stipulated in the law, defining the corporation's territory as can been seen in (Figure 2). In accordance to this, each corporation has its territory separated into private parcels inside the red dotted lines, with everything outside the red dotted lines being defined as CPP area.



Figure 2. The seven corporations of Grindelwald (Source: Own figure, adapted from Swisstopo)

About 13% of the area is settlement area or agricultural area held as private property, 25% is commonly owned meadows (pastures), and 68% of the area is unused land. Unique to the case

of Grindelwald is the fact that seven spatially defined corporations ("Bergschaft") are embedded in a cooperative ("Taleinung"). The cooperative assigns the territory to the 7 corporations. The small alp "Pfingstegg" is the only alp that is privately owned. The alp Holzmatten (HM) is a special case. Since it is common property, it is not connected to the private property area in the valley(Naegeli-Oertle 1986; Tiefenbach and Mordasini 2006).

As mentioned above, the rights to use CPP depended on ownership or leasehold of private parcels in the valley. Therefore, the number and size of parcels in the valley grounds allows the farmers to use CPPs in the corresponding corporations. The individuals who make use of CPP in turn have to contribute to the upkeep of the resource system with 8-10 provision activities related to their appropriation levels (Table 1). For a long time, the corporations were also the dominant political units in the valley, fulfilling many welfare functions and providing public infrastructure such as schools, paths, and roads. Today, the influence of the corporations is limited to the agricultural sector and the governance of CPP pastures. Each corporation has its unique natural characteristics and different production structures, as indicated in Table 1.

		Maximum			Common	Provision
	Usage	sustainable		Sections of	property	hours per
	rights	yield	Alp-	Alp-	pasture	appropriated
Corporation	(LU)	(NST)	enterprises	enterprises	area	unit
Grindel	476	251	5	2	790	8
Scheidegg	365	234	7	4	830	8
Wärgistal	193	167	5	4	750	8
Itramen	347	217	8	3	685	8
Bussalp	432	256	7	3	496	10
Bach	263	149	4	2	630	8
Holzmatten	99	74	2	3	154	8
Total	2175	1348	38	21	4335	

Table 1. Characteristics of the 7 corporations

#### 3.1.2 Motivation for choice of study region

With seven corporations self-governing the use of CPPs, Grindelwald offers a natural lab-like setting for the study of CPR use for several reasons:

- The long endurance of local governance in combination with good documentation of regulations applied to govern the use of CPPs provided an ideal setting for studying the evolution of the governance system and associated institutional change over longer periods of time;
- The fact that the 7 corporations operate under a binding agreement provides a good setting for cross-case comparison of the influence of ecological and social variables on the sustainable governance of CPPs;
- The rules to regulate appropriation and provision activities, which structure the central human environmental interaction, are transparent and structured similarly to those used in laboratory experiments such as CPR games and public good games;
- Work conducted in the early eighties in the regions provided a detailed analysis of the agricultural sector (Naegeli-Oertle 1986), and its interlinks with tourism (Wiesmann 1983, 2001) which allowed tracking changes of the sector during the past thirty years in order to build a well-parameterized and calibrated model of the developments in the case study region.

## 3.2 The General Framework for Analyzing Social-Ecological Systems

For the analysis of coupled social-ecological (or human-environmental) systems, several interdisciplinary frameworks exist that provide different perspectives and emphases on the characteristics of the SES, such as:

- Resilience (Gunderson and Holling 2002; Walker et al. 2004);
- Transitions (Fischer-Kowalski and Rotmans 2009; Haxeltine et al. 2008; Pahl-Wostl et al. 2010);
- Land-use change (Redman, Grove, and Kuby 2004; Turner and Robbins 2008; Turner, Lambin, and Reenberg 2007);
- Social-ecological feedbacks (Liu et al. 2007);
- Robustness (Anderies, Janssen, and Ostrom 2004; Janssen and Anderies 2007);
- Self-organization (Ostrom 2007, 2009).

The latter SES framework was chosen because of its implicit focus on institutional analysis (McGinnis and Ostrom 2010), and its proposition of a set of concrete variables. An additional advantage for this study was also the fact that Ostrom's SES framework allows for the analysis of different degrees of specificity due to its nested conceptualization in different tiers (Binder et al. 2013). On the highest level of analysis, any SES consists of 4 subsystems embedded in a broader social, economic, and political setting. As displayed in Figure 3, the system's social compartment entails the Resource System (GS) and the Actors (A). The ecological compartment entails the Resource System (RS) and the Resource Units (RU). These subsystems interact (I) at various spatial and temporal scales to produce outcomes (O). The functioning of the SES affects adjacent ecosystems (ECO), for example, through externalities or by provision of spatially overlapping ecosystem services.



*Figure 3. Framework for analyzing sustainability of social-ecological systems on the first tier (Adopted from Ostrom 2007)* 

Each subsystem can be divided into further tiers. The second tier consists of a set of variables potentially associated with successful self-organization (Table 2).

#### Table 2. Variables describing social-ecological systems in the second tier.

*Social, economic, and political settings (S)* S1 Economic development. S2 Demographic trends. S3 Political stability. S4 Government resource policies. S5 Market incentives. S6 Media organization.

#### Resource systems (RS)

RS1 Sector (e.g., water, forests, pasture, fish) RS2 Clarity of system boundaries RS3 Size of resource system\* RS4 Human-constructed facilities RS5 Productivity of system RS 6 Equilibrium properties RS7 Predictability of system dynamics\* RS8 Storage characteristics RS9 Location

#### Resource units (RU)

RU1 Resource unit mobility\* RU2 Growth or replacement rate RU3 Interaction among resource units RU4 Economic value\* RU5 Number of units RU6 Distinctive markings RU7 Spatial and temporal distribution Governance systems (GS)

GS1 Government organizations GS2 Nongovernmental organizations GS3 Network structure GS4 Property rights systems GS5 Operational rules GS6 Collective choice rules\* GS7 Constitutional rules GS8 Monitoring and sanctioning processes

#### Users (U)

U1 Number of users\*
U2 Socioeconomic attributes of users
U3 History of use
U4 Location
U5 Leadership/entrepreneurship\*
U6 Norms/social capital\*
U7 Knowledge of SES/mental models\*
U8 Importance of resource\*
U9 Technology used

#### Interactions (I) $\rightarrow$ Outcomes (O)

- 11 Harvesting levels of diverse users
  12 Information sharing among users
  13 Deliberation processes
  14 Conflicts among users
  15 Investment activities
  16 Lobbying activities
  17 Self-organizing activities
  18 Networking activities
- O1 Social performance measures (e.g., efficiency, equity, accountability, sustainability)
- O2 Ecological performance measures (e.g., overharvested, resilience, bio- diversity, sustainability)
- O3 Externalities to other SESs

**Related ecosystems (ECO)** ECO1 Climate patterns. ECO2 Pollution patterns. ECO3 Flows into and out of focal SES.

\*Variables found to be positively associated with self-organization (Ostrom 2009)

#### Recent framework developments

During this dissertation the original framework as presented in Table 2, has been amended with regard several aspects. Users were changed into Actors in order to have a more general category including Third parties and stakeholders that do not make direct use of the resource (McGinnis and Ostrom 2014). This dissertation refers mostly to actors instead of users except where a clear differentiation between direct users of CPP (farmers) and non-farmers with use rights was necessary. Other amendments of the framework included renaming or adding of variables into the framework (Basurto, Gelcich, and Ostrom 2013; Epstein et al. 2013; Ostrom and Cox 2010). These changes could not be considered in the conceptual phases of this dissertation but are taken up in the discussion section. Another major step in the development of the framework has been the explicit integration of the Institutional analysis and development (IAD) into the SES framework (McGinnis and Ostrom 2010) which was considered for answering the first research question. For a general overview about frameworks evolution see McGinnis and Ostrom (2014).

## 3.3 Applying the SES Framework to the Case Study Region

The use of the common property pasture (CPP) in Grindelwald is analyzed based on the general framework for analyzing social ecological systems. In the framework in Figure 4, that characterizes the CPP management system, includes farmers as the main actors, their interaction with the resource system and units, and the local governance system. The SES and its functioning are influenced by external societal and environmental factors such as agricultural policies or climate change. As farmers heavily rely on subsidies paid by the federal government, farmers land use decisions are substantially influenced by the policy setting. Farmers interact with the common property resource system through appropriation and provision activities. With regard to appropriation, farmers need to decide on the number of livestock they would like to send to the alp. With regard to provision, farmers need to decide how many labor and monetary resources they will dedicate to the upkeep of the resource system and its ability to provide resource units.

The local governance system determines the social-ecological interactions through appropriation and provision rules. Appropriation rules assign the right of usage ("Kuhrechte") to local individuals based on their land holdings. Thus, appropriation rules serve first to limit the number of actors using the CPPs, and second to regulate the appropriation level to implicitly define a maximum appropriation level. Provision rules aim to ensure the upkeep of the resource system. Dependent on the actors' appropriation level, the governance system requires provision activities from the actors (see Table 1) and monitors and sanctions non-compliance.

The rules of the governance system can be changed by the farmers through collective choice processes in order to balance or change the incentive structure for the use and maintenance of the CPP. The rule-making process can thus be determined and adapted to the external setting, which includes agricultural policy incentives, federal legislation, tourism development and environmental developments such as climate change.



*Figure 4. Conceptual framework for analyzing the use of common property pastures (CPPs) (Source: Own figure).* 

As mentioned above, the state of the environmental system depends on appropriation and provision levels. Furthermore, external societal and environmental factors such as climate change could impact the environmental system by altering the timber line or the provision of resource units (feedstock). Furthermore, the state of the resource system might also depend on the touristic demand for land use and the respective infrastructure, which potentially impacts land use and land cover, possibly also through non-agricultural activities.

# 4 Procedure & Methods Applied

The research reported herein consists of specific qualitative and quantitative methods tailored to the different research questions and goals of the modules as displayed in Table 3.

Module	Goal	Key subsystems and interactions (in brackets)	Empirical bases	Methods applied	Output
Module 1	Analyze institutional adaptations of the local governance system	Governance System (GS $\leftrightarrow$ S) (GS $\leftrightarrow$ A)	Statues and Interviews	Coding through "ADICO"	Essay 1
Module 2	Analyze farmers' land-use decisions	Actor System (A ↔ RS) (A ↔ RU)	Survey data	Logit regressions	Essay 2
Module 3	Link farmers' land- use decisions to changes in the resource system	Resource System (RU $\leftrightarrow$ RS) (A $\leftrightarrow$ RS)	Land cover and land- use statistics	Qualitative assessment of spatial data	Essay 3
Module 4	Integration of knowledge from modules 1-3 into a simulation model	SES (social- ecological feedbacks)	Modules 1- 3	System dynamics	Essay 4

Table 3. Overview of procedure & methods applied

# 4.1 Module 1: Analysis of the Local Governance System

Module 1 analyzed the rules and their adaptations to external and internal socio-economic developments based on qualitative methods such as interviews and the coding statutes using the "ADICO" syntax-scheme.

Several volumes of statutes were collected from the cooperative as well as from the corporation Scheidegg, covering the period of 1967 to 2003. The statutes provided a detailed account of the governance system's organizational principles and the rules applied for the governance of the CPPs. The statutes were then coded for institutional change following the ADICO syntax. According to Crawford and Ostrom (1995), institutional statements are

"... shared linguistic constraint or opportunity that prescribes, permits, or advises actions or outcomes for actors."

Furthermore, institutional statements consist of a minimum of 3 and a maximum of 5 of the following components:

- Attribute (A), which describes for which subject the statement applies;
- Deontic (D) is a verb that describes whether the particular action is required (e.g., must), permitted (may), or forbidden (must not);
- aIm (I) describes the action;

- Condition (C) defines where, when, and possibly to what extent the statements applies;
- Or else (O) defines the type of sanction to be applied for non-compliance;
- And can form a shared strategy (ADI), a norm (ADIC), or a rule (ADICO).

After coding, the resulting institutional framework was validated and contextualized as adaptations to socio-economic changes through a series of interviews with farmers, the monitors of the corporations, and the president of the cooperative.

## 4.2 Module 2: Analysis of the Actors System

Module 2 aimed to assess the explanatory factors for farmers' land-use decisions within the given institutional constraints. Data was collected through a standardized survey, which was conducted during three weeks in June 2011 in Grindelwald.

The SES framework was used to design the survey question with the aim to investigate how actors' attributes affect the individuals' behavior with regard to three focal land-use decisions:

- Change in livestock endowment;
- Appropriation behavior;
- Provision behavior.

The survey referred to the past ten years for change in livestock endowment and to the past season for appropriation and provision behavior. A total of 95 questionnaires were collected from 125 registered local farmers, mostly at their homes. Data gathering was conducted in 3 teams with a graduate student posing the questions and an undergraduate filling in the farmers' answers. The sample included mostly males (93.7%), with an average age of approximately 52 years. The statistical analysis was based on maximum likelihood (ML) estimations to build separated models for the three land-use decisions that link behavior to individual attributes.

In order to investigate how contextual variables describing the SES affect the behavior, a Q-Method approach was adopted. Eleven local farmers, who were deemed to have in-depth knowledge of the functioning of the SES, were selected for the procedure. Farmers had to put a total of 34 statements (variables) in rank order on a Likert-scale scheme (q-sorting scheme) according to their contribution to the sustainable use and maintenance of the CPP.

The collected samples were analyzed with the standard PQ Method software, Version 2.31. Mean z-scores were calculated for each statement and the corresponding rank to represent the aggregate view. Data was then analyzed according to the standard q-approach (Fairweather and R. Swaffield 2001; Paula 2006). This included the calculation of mean z-scores for the variables, principal component analysis, and a varimax rotation in order to achieve insights on the different views about the role of contextual factors (e.g. agricultural policies) in promoting sustainable use of CPP.

## 4.3 Module 3: Analysis of the Resource System

Module 3 focused on land use and land-cover change. In a first step, land cover data from areal statistics was analyzed for different time periods from 1979/85, 1992/97, and 2004/09((FSO) 1979-2009). In a second step, the observed land-use changes were assessed qualitatively with farmers, followed by a semi-quantitative questionnaire which was

conducted with the seven monitors. The themes covered in the questionnaires and interviews were:

- 1. The current use of the summering area. Monitors mapped which part of CPP was used when and with what type of animals;
- 2. Pasture quality and its determinants. Monitors had to indicate qualitatively the areas with better and worse quality and determine the reason that make particular areas more favorable;
- 3. Process of pasture selection. Monitors were asked according to which criteria they select pastures that are subject to land-use change such as abandonment;
- 4. Determining the role of communal work for maintaining the resource systems and pasture quality. Monitors indicated where maintenance efforts are particularly needed and whether current amount of provision work is sufficient to maintain current status of CPP;
- 5. Monitors were asked basic questions about the future development of the corporations such as how many farms will abandon their farm, or about the development of provisions activities or defections on it, respectively.
- 6. Definition of land-use scenarios. Monitors had to define which part of the corporations CPP area is most prone to abandonment and whether and when approximately this will take place.

Based on this qualitative data parameters for a GIS-based cost-distance model were derived to model pastures' use. The model allowed generating a spatially explicit land-use model for the analysis of current and potential future land use and land-cover changes. The model aimed to assess the productivity and accessibility of particular CPP areas based on a surface grid involving variables such as topography and enabling or accelerating factors like slope, distance from barn, paths, bridges, and physical barriers, such as dense forests or rivers.

## 4.4 Module 4: Modeling the Local Social-Ecological System

Module 4 aimed to integrate the insights from modules 1-3 by building an empirically-based simulation model of the SES. The model was built following a system dynamics approach (Ford 1999; Sterman 2001) to match the historical development of the SES. Formative scenario analysis was used to define a potential and consistent set of changes in the external setting of the SES to simulate its potential future states(Wiek, Binder, and Scholz 2006). As such, the model should then serve as a tool for the assessment of the impact of different policy options on the sustainability of the SES.

The aim of the model was to achieve a better understanding of the dynamics behind the empirical observations from earlier modules. Previous observations have shown that findings were highly context-dependent, so that no theoretical model will adequately represent empirical findings of modules 1-3 without overgeneralizing facts. Therefore, modeling approaches based on stylized facts, laboratory or field experiments, or role games would not account for the specific properties of the SES in Grindelwald. Accordingly, a simulation model representing the SES of Grindelwald as realistically as feasible was needed to account for the specific components and interactions of the local SES.

#### 4.4.1 Purpose of the model

The purpose of the model is to understand the social-ecological drivers in the use maintenance of CPP pastures through application of the SES framework. Given the tendencies of abandonment of CPPs in Switzerland, the model needs to address, unlike most models of CPR

use, not just the dynamics leading to overexploitation of natural resources, but also the dynamics and consequences of underuse. By simulating changes in the external setting, the model should help to separate the processes and policy options, under which the SES approaches or maintains sustainability, from those that shift the SES away toward less sustainable states of over- or underuse. Furthermore, simulation results should then uncover the different sustainability trade-offs associated with particular policy options (Janssen and Anderies 2007) as a base for scenario assessment.

## 4.4.2 System dynamics

The system dynamics approach was developed in the 1950s in economics and from there has been applied to various disciplines that seek an understanding of developments in complex systems. System dynamics modeling is particularly recognized for its ability to deal with internal feedback loops, non-linear relationships, and time delays that affect the behavior of a system.

As the SES framework was developed with certain system theoretic considerations, such as decomposability, feedback between subsystems, and non-linear relationships between variables, system dynamics provides an appropriate tool for applying the framework to the case study. While alternative methods such as agent-based modeling (ABM) also allow for the implementation of the same system properties, they had some disadvantages for our purpose. Firstly, due to the different programming surfaces (stock and flow versus codes), we assumed that farmers or experts may more readily understand structural aspects when feedback structures were clearly visible as relationships between stock and flows. Secondly, our aim was to develop a model of the SES at an aggregate level that displays the interactions between different subsystems rather than interactions. Since modules 1-3 did nod focus on actor-actor interactions, the main motivation for agent-based modeling was eliminated by the previous research questions. Thirdly, system dynamics can rely on well-established procedures for model testing and validation (Barlas 1989; Oliva 2003) which is still an open issue in the younger field of ABM (Rahmandad and Sterman 2008). Fourthly, ABM is more resource intensive, requiring more time and attention from both modelers and decisionmakers. As the modeling of all SES components encompasses a rather large system boundary, an ABM of the whole social-ecological system would have limited the scope of the model and constraint sensitivity (Ford 2000)

#### 4.4.3 Formative scenario analysis

In order to define a consistent set of scenarios for simulating the potential trajectories of development of the SES, formative scenario analysis was used (Wiek, Binder, and Scholz 2006; Scholz and Tietje 2002). The aim of running the model under different scenario assumptions is to predict how different policy options will affect the SES and particular outcomes. I hereby concentrated on developments in the external setting (S), and 8 variables of the external setting and the respective potential values of variables were identified based on literature review and previous work conducted in the study region. The variable set and hypothetical values were then validated in expert interviews and refined afterwards. Based on the validated impact factors and potential future levels, the impact matrix was developed. The impact matrix was completed four times in total, with a total of 10 experts including agronomists, farmers, and tourist officials. Each expert only filled in parts of the matrix according to his field of expertise. The completed matrices were then computed using KD software provided by Syst<sup>aim</sup>. Consistency indicators for scenario selection included (i) additive consistency, which is the sum of all coefficients, (ii) the multiplicative consistency, which is the average rate of additive consistency, (iii) the number of inconsistencies in a scenario, (iv) and the minimum number of consistency (Tietje 2005). Finally, the procedure

provided a ranking of a hypothetical combination of parameter developments, which were internally most consistent and at the same time covered the widest possible developments of trajectories in external developments.

# **5** Results

This section summarizes the most relevant findings of this thesis, organized according to research questions (Chapter 2) and the 4 modules (Chapter 4). Further details can be found in the respective publications (see *Section B – Manuscripts*).

# 5.1 Institutional Adaptations of the Local Governance System

The first question needed to resolve whether local governance systems originally designed to avoid overuse of scarce resources have become a dysfunctional trait of the SES by contributing to its underuse. Therefore, the first research question was: *Do local governance systems in the Swiss Alps change institutions in order to adapt to the socio-economic changes to avoid reduced use and maintenance of CPPs?* 

The observed institutional adaptations as summarized in Table 4 show that governance systems originally designed to avoid overuse of scarce resources can change their properties through institutional changes mainly to relax exclusion and subtractability. However, the drivers behind these adaptations are not just a decreasing use of CPP, but rather a wider set of socio-economic changes such as governmental resource policies (S5), the regulations that come with federal efforts to foster the use of CPPs, or a decreasing number of right holders who do not make use of their rights (A1). It must be pointed out that previously listed adaptations result from particular problems and thus cannot be considered as general adaptations patterns. Nevertheless, the study indicates that some general governance principles, which facilitate adaptive governance, can be highlighted:

- Constitutional flexibility: allows the governance system to adapt its structure to problems such as the decreasing bargaining power of those most interested in the productivity of the resource system.
- Multiple nested assemblies: allows the identification of competencies among different assemblies to ensure that issues are dealt with in the right assembly.
- Polycentric design: ensures vertical integration and control between user groups concerning the rules they are crafting, and at the same time ensures the flow of information regarding the performance of rule configurations.
- Subsidiary design: allows the change of rule configuration by the people who are best informed about the state of the system.

SYNOPSIS
ONE:
PART
- 22 -

вh
St
S
ė
и
па
er.
2
50
al
22
10
he
$f_{t}$
0
ns
10
$a_1$
d
da
a
al
ои
tti
itu
St
Ш
4.
e
$q_i$
Ta

THOIR T. THURSDAY	nui auupiunono of nic rocai Sovernance oformi	
GS- Variable	Institutional Change	Adaptation to
GS4- Property rights systems	With regard to the exclusion principle, use rights do no longer exclusively define access to CPPs. Since 2005, the cooperative may allow corporations to appropriate cattle of non-right holders. With regard to the assignment of appropriation levels, use rights have lost their relevance, as they are abundant compared to livestock in the valley.	RU5- Number of resource units: Decreasing number of livestock on the alps
	Provision activities are no longer assigned based on the use rights of the individual.	A1- Number of Actors: Increasing number of people holding use rights do not appropriate from the commons.
	The total amount of use rights no longer serves to define Maximum Sustainable Yield (MSY).	S4- Government resource policies: Summering payments are conditioned upon prescribed cantonal MSY. Thus, monetary incentives urge corporations to respect cantonal MSY.
GS5- Operational rules	Division between the position of the appropriator and the right holder. Provision rules became tied to these two positions. Appropriator needs to conduct provision activities based on his appropriation levels (formerly based on use rights).	A1- Increasing number of people holding use rights do not appropriate from the commons.
	Hours of communal work conducted with light private machinery (e.g., a jigsaw) are counted double. Hours of communal work conducted with heavy private machinery (e.g., small transporter) are counted four-fold.	A9- Technology used: Modernization of farmers' machinery fixture
	A newly added rule state that the infrastructure particularly huts and barns on the alp, must not be used for purposes other than agricultural use, and that they cannot be sold to non-right holders.	S1- Economic development: Increasing demand in the tourism sector for recreational infrastructure
GS6- Collective choice rules	Voting within the association was conducted according to individual rights. Currently, all collective choices at all levels are made according to majority rule (50% +1).	S*- Federal law: alignment with the voting procedures for corporations and cooperatives as defined in civil law. At present, every actor holding property rights is assigned one vote.
GS7- Constitutional	Corporations became split into a right holders' association and a users' association.	A1- An increasing number of people holding use rights do not appropriate from the commons.
rules	Payoff rules can now be autonomously set by the users' association mainly through the setting of fees for over- and under-provision of communal work.	No specific adaptation process identified, but important steps are considered toward decentralization and subsidiarity with regard to rule design.
S* the Variable is	s part of the external settings but can be attributed to a particular third-tier variable	
## 5.2 Farmers' Land-Use Decisions

As farmers in the study region followed different strategies with regard to changes in livestock endowment, appropriation, and provision behavior, the second question aimed to explore the causes for behavioral deviations in CPP use by asking: *Which individual attributes* explain differences in the behavior of real CPR users in the field with regard to factor endowment, appropriation, and provision activities?

As displayed in Table 5, livestock endowment can be well explained by the socio-economic attributes of users as indicated by the high Nagelkerke R-squared. Age (U2a), marital status (U2b), and area (U2c) explained farmers' changes in livestock endowment. The role of age and marital status is best explained by their effect on work organization, as youth and partnership allow the handling of larger endowments. Furthermore, the variable area suggests that farm size itself is the strongest predictor of endowment growth. Furthermore, the negative association of area (U2b) with appropriation and provision behavior in particular suggests that farmers with larger-sized farms concentrate labor on private property with reduced use of common property.

Appropriation behavior was shown to have the strongest association with norms (U6a), measured as farmers' aversion against defection on provision, which points to self-interest as a motivational driver. As individuals who make more use of CPPs are also more concerned about the productivity of the resources, they consequently hold stronger norms regarding provision fulfilment. Self-interest might equally explain the association of payoff (U5b) and the importance of resource with full provision behavior. Hence, the greater the willingness of individuals to maintain a common pool resource, the more individuals rely on the resource for their livelihood and the higher the generated payoffs.

Method	Regression Models			
Variables	Livestock endowment	Appropriation	Provision	
U2a- Age	$(-)^{***}$			
U2b- Marital status	(+)**	(+)*		
U2c- Area	$(+)^{***}$	(-)*	(-)**	
U5a- Leadership		(-)*		
U5b- Payoff			(+)**	
U6a- Norms	(-)**	$(+)^{***}$		
U8- Importance of resource			(+)*	
N	94	93	86	
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup> (NK)	0.514	0.220	0.248	
-2LL	82.6	109.0	34.6	
BIC	105.2	131.6	52.4	

*Table 5. Direction of significant effects of individuals' attributes on livestock endowment, appropriation, and provision behavior calculated by binary logistic regression (99%\*\*\*, 95%\*\*, 90%\*).* 

As behavior in these situations must be considered context-specific (Anderies et al. 2011; Poteete, Janssen, and Ostrom 2010), findings may not be valid in other social-ecological settings. Thus, context might vary, particularly for settings where users' aggregate behavior leads to over-exploitation rather than underuse. Therefore, the impact of contextual variables on behavior had to be investigated separately, which was done by q-method approach.

### The impact of the contextual variable on the use of common property pastures

Among the subsystems that were considered to contribute positively to the use and maintenance of CPPs were the resource units (RU) and to a lesser extent group attributes (A). The subsystem challenging sustainability included external settings (S), the resource system (RS), and interactions (I). The role of the governance system (GS) was considered neutral.

In particular, the value of resource units (RU4) was considered to have the most positive impact on the sustainability of CPPs. As the economic value affects an individual's payoff ability, a close positive relationship exists between the value of resource units' appropriation activities and the fulfilment of provision activities. With regard to actors' attributes, farmers considered the number of users (U1) and their leadership and entrepreneurial skills (U5) positively.

With regard to the external setting (S), farmers associated most negative effects on CPP use with agricultural policies. Both government resource polices (S5) and market incentives (S6), which are both heavily regulated by the federal government, achieve negative scores. The most problematic issues include dependence on direct payments, regulations for obtaining them, and the milk price. More positively evaluated was the role of tourism in promoting the use of the Alps, mainly due to the fact that farmers acknowledge the positive effect of tourism in strengthening local demand and the economic value of resource units, and thus payoffs. Furthermore, tourism allows for livelihoods with balanced agricultural and off-farm activities, reducing the need to increase farm size, which farmers assumed would lead to reduced use and maintenance of common property pastures. As a result, tourism can be seen to enable rather than compete with farming livelihoods, although it does result in increasing demand for building sites and reduces available productive agricultural land in the resource system (*RS*).

## 5.3 Land-Use and Land-Cover Change on CPPs in Grindelwald

After identifying the main social dynamics with regard to the institutional structure of farmers' use of CPPs, the third research question sought to link social processes to observable changes in the ecological system. Therefore, we focused on land-use and land-cover change by asking: *What land-use and land-cover change can be observed in the case study region and what are the particular drivers behind these changes*?

## 5.3.1 Land use

The monitors of the seven corporations highlighted the following factors as major drivers for land-use patterns in terms of attributes, which make plots productive and thus less likely to be abandoned.

- Short distance to barn
- Gentle slope
- Plant composition (high feed value)
- Water availability

Factors, which may lead to abandonment or disregard of potential pasture, were mostly sitespecific and included such variables as natural hazards (e.g., rockfall potential), swampy, humid soils, areas interspersed with rocks, and poisonous plant composition.

Farmers stated that recent land-use change took place in some marginal areas that had one or more of the previously listed attributes. Monitors explained these land-use changes with the following social process:

- Increasing workload on agricultural holding, leading to reduced use of CPP (as confirmed and suggested in Module 2);
- Number and type of livestock summered. The slight decrease in summered livestock was considered to have a marginal effect on grazing patterns, while the type of livestock summered was considered more important. With regard to dairy cows, even though their number has remained stable, their feed requirements and weight have been increased through breeding, making them less mobile and making it necessary for farmers to graze them closer to the barn on gentle slopes. This tendency has been accentuated, as cows from the lowlands have been accepted for grazing on CPPs because these breeds are not well adapted to mountainous conditions
- Increasingly, alp enterprises are run by seasonally hired external laborers, which are less concerned with the maintenance of the resource system pasture and instead emphasize cheese production and cattle herding.

## 5.3.2 Land-cover change

Grindelwald extends more than 17,000 ha, more than half of which is unproductive land. Almost one-third is agricultural land. When comparing longitudinal land-use statistics ((FSO) 1979-2009), the settlement area has increased by 27.5%, forest stands covering 2,802 ha have increased by 2.6%, while agricultural land has decreased by -3.4% since 1980. However, these statistics do not differentiate between common and private property. Thus, a second source (Alporama 2013) was considered, which allowed for assigning statistically registered land-cover changes with regard to the CPP area. According to this source, CPP pastures have decreased by 3.6% from 3,272 to 3,154 ha between the years 79/85 to 04/09. As there was only a marginal change to the area of overgrown pasture, it must be assumed that 118 ha of a total of 212 ha of forest growth took place in the common property area.

Based on land use criteria identified in the monitors' survey, potential land abandonment was visualized by a GIS-based cost-distance model (Figure 5). It shows that those summer pasture areas are most prone to shrub or forest encroachment by modeling the time that is required to walk from any point (cell) in the study area to the next barn, considering enabling factors such as paths (allowing further walking distances and crossing brooks and forests) and hindering factors such as brooks, impenetrable forests, or steep slopes (slowing down or diverting movement). The more the colors turn to dark red, the more prone the pasture is to abandonment and thus – depending on altitude – to shrub or forest encroachment.



Figure 5. Summer pasture area most prone to gradual abandonment and to subsequent shrub or forest encroachment (zoomed-in detail covering the areas of two Alpine corporations). The more the colors turn to dark red, the more prone the pasture is to abandonment and thus – depending on altitude – to shrub or forest encroachment.

## 5.4 Modeling the Social-Ecological System

The fourth research questions tried to determine, how previous findings regarding the governance of CPP, actors land-use and the observed land-cover changes can be interlinked to provide a holistic understanding of the SES. Therefore, the fourth research question was: *How can the findings from the analysis of the subsystems be integrated into a simulation model to represent the specific characteristics of the local SES and to test effects of different policy options on the future sustainability of the SES?* To answer this research question, a System Dynamics model of the SES was developed and potential scenarios were identified using formative scenario analysis and simulated.

The baseline simulation of the SES reveals a moderate decrease in the use and maintenance of private plots in the valley as well as CPPs, which led to a slight abandonment of CPPs between 1980 and 2010. As displayed in Table 6, simulated key developments of the SES included:

- In the actors system: process of structural change towards larger but fewer farm holdings and decreasing land use intensity as a result of changes in agricultural polices (market deregulation and increased direct payments), which reduced the number of livestock units in Grindelwald;
- In the resource units: The fewer livestock units present in the valley also impacted on the CPP use with reduced stocking density;
- In the governance system: adaptation to a decreasing number of livestock units lead to changes in operational rules, as corporations start to summer foreign cattle;

• In the resource system: as a consequence of reduced stoking density, the model simulated a reduction of grazing area of 193 ha between 1980 and 2010.

values).	Baseline Simulation 1980 -2010		Scenario simulation for 2040				
	Initial values (1980)	Simu- lated values (2010)	Rising	Liberali- zation and economic growth	Govern- ment support	Crisis	
Actors System (A)							
Farm households (hh)	242	126	62	50	64	60	
Livestock units per household (LU/hh)	6.3	10.8	24.9	25.7	15.9	25	
Land use intensity on private parcels	1.13	0.96	1.06	0.88	0.69	1.25	
Household income (CHF nominal)	64725	87238	121610	31406	155284	113497	
Resource units (RUs)							
Livestock in the valley (LUs)	1525	1358	1347	1271	1022	1497	
Stocking density of CPPs (SLUs)	1448	1393	1199	914	996	1204	
Foreign cattle summered (SLUs)	0	22	141	283	243	139	
Governance System (GS)							
Net provision (hours)	16000	13832	12629	9779	10485	12670	
Provision not fulfilled (hours)	0	1260	3034	3490	2408	3436	
Resource System (RS)							
CPPs in use (ha)	4375	4182	3444	3175	2754	3513	
Average productivity of summer pastures (kg DM/ha/day)	15.00	15.32	16.32	16.65	17.22	16.25	
Overgrown common property Pastures (ha)	163	13	519	667	702	482	
Forest (ha)	2130	2473	2705	2826	3212	2673	

*Table 6. Value for selected variables describing past and potential future development of the SES (rounded values).* 

The simulation of the scenarios showed that the use and maintenance of CPPs will further decrease in the near future with subsequent loss of CPP area and forest regrowth. With regard to the use and maintenance of CPPs, scenario 1 (price increase) and scenario 4 (crisis) produce more desirable outcomes than scenarios 2 and 3 (liberalization and government support).

In the rising prices scenario, farmers benefit from a favorable market environment shaping incentives for relatively intensive stocking of private plots as well as of CPPs. As a consequence, the trend of forest regrowth continues, but is not accelerated.

In the liberalization scenario, structural change is accelerated against the baseline trend and household income decreases drastically. Only farmers with strong preferences for agricultural livelihoods remain in the sector. As a result, the number of farmers is reduced because they concentrate their efforts on rather large farms in the valley, rather than on using and maintaining the CPPs. As a consequence, the simulation model predicts the abandonment of about 400 hectares for this scenario.

Surprisingly, the government-support scenario sees the lowest levels of use and maintenance of CPPs. The increase in direct payments slows structural change and impedes farm growth, as farmers conveniently live on land rents. The average holding thus increases to 16 LUs and land use intensity is very low because there is no need to generate income from marketable dairy products. As a consequence, this scenario predicts a process of afforestation.

In contrast to this, CPPs are most intensely used and maintained in the crisis scenario. In this scenario, agriculture becomes a very feasible livelihood because the cost of production and off-farm income decrease, whilst prices for agricultural commodities are comparatively high. This shapes incentives for farmers to use their private plots more intensely than they currently do. However, the crisis scenario pictures a situation where the use and maintenance of CPP is most intense and land abandonment lowest, albeit potentially at the cost to intensely used private parcels due to increased land use intensity in the valley.

However, the simulated changes in the external setting have a delayed impact on land-use and land-cover changes. Since the scenarios are simulated as continuous developments, the actors and governance system will closely follow the patterns produced in the baseline simulation until 2018. Since the changes in the social system affect the ecological system with delays in land-use change and land-cover change, changes in the external setting take about 10 years to become visible in the form of afforested area in the resource system.

## **6** Discussion

This section discusses first the theoretical and empirical relevance of the study in the context of commons research (6.1), including possibilities for further framework improvement (6.2). Furthermore, the implications for policy makers are discussed (6.3), as well as the limitations of the present study and recommendations for further research (6.4).

## 6.1 Relevance of the Findings for the Study of the Commons

This study provides an application of the SES framework (Ostrom 2009) to the example of CPPs in Grindelwald in the Swiss Alps. The analysis was divided into four modules devoted to the particular subsystems. In each module, a different methodological approach (tailored to the research question) was applied. The thesis thereby contributed to the three most important sub-branches within the study of the commons (Janssen and Ostrom 2006; Ostrom 2007):

- Institutional analyses (Module 1);
- Experimental studies on cooperative behavior (Module 2);
- Modeling of social-ecological systems (Module 4).

In addition to the contribution in the three sub-branches, the thesis also showed in Module 3 how a less developed field within the study of the commons – the investigation of the functioning of resource systems – can be approached, which was herein considered as crucial premise for the modeling of SES.

## 6.1.1 The contribution to institutional analyses

Module 1 provides an empirical analysis of the institutions over a longer time period, applied to govern CPPs. The quality of such institutions is key to sustainable CPR use (Adger et al. 2005; Gibson, Williams, and Ostrom 2005; McCay 2002). Various empirical analyses have focused on institutional design applied to govern CPRs (Acheson 2003). Although various theoretical tools are at hand for studying institutions (Beckmann and Padmanabhan 2009; Ostrom 2005; Scott 1987), they are rarely applied to CPR governance problems. Furthermore, theoretical concepts are mainly designed for static analysis. Thus, systematic studies of institutional change remain a major methodological challenge (Ostrom 2008; Ostrom and Basurto 2011). Module 1 provides an example for how the grammar of institutions (ADICO) can be systematically and empirical applied to study institutional change in CPR governance. Secondly, it shows how institutions and their dynamics can be assessed as process of adaptive governance. Therefore, research on Module 1 might serve as an example of how empirical institutional analysis may be conducted to overcome shortcomings, such as the lack of systematic ordering and classification of institutions, and its static treatment.

The SES framework proves to be a good starting point for this endeavor. However, in-depth institutional analysis needs to be based on the institutional analysis and development framework (IAD), including ADICO, particularly for the analysis of operational rules. Although the SES framework is (implicitly) based on IAD (McGinnis and Ostrom 2010), it would be valuable to expand the rules variables (GS5-8) into a further tier, in particular with regard to operational rules, which turned out to form the core of institutional adaptations.

Findings in Module 1 suggest that institutional adaptations are key to successful long-term governance. Although originally designed to avoid overuse of the CPR, changes in institutions counteract tendencies of underuse. In this study, I found that a change in the organizational structure of corporations allowed for more subsidiarity in decision-making and

thus helped balancing the power between the corporation members who use CPPs, and the members who do not. Subsidiarity was considered an important condition for effective institutional adaptations in particular with regard to operational rules. Effective measures included alteration of appropriation and provision rules that eased the exclusion principle to counteract understocking of CPPs.

### 6.1.2 The contribution to behavioral research on cooperative dilemmas

Module 2 provides insights on behavioral drivers of individuals in cooperative dilemmas. Cooperative behavior is an extensively researched field, usually by means of experimental methods (Anderies et al. 2011; Cardenas and Ostrom 2004). Laboratory experiments seek to manipulate experimental design to achieve insights on the effects on institutional constraints such as communication (Bochet, Page, and Putterman 2006), sanctioning (Fehr and Fischbacher 2004; van Soest and Vyrastekova 2007) and payoff functions (Janssen and Ahn 2006) on the aggregate levels of cooperation. However, the situation in the lab differs substantially from that encountered by real CPR users. The laboratory does not provide a social-ecological context, and psychological traits and respective behavioral drivers of Western students might be very different from those of Alpine farmers. Thus, the answer to the fundamental question as to why CPR users in the field may differ in their behavior cannot be answered by experiments alone. The analysis in Module 2 showed which individual attributes account for differences in cooperative behavior in CPR dilemmas and therefore aimed to complement the experimental evidence.

We found that the actors' use of CPR resources is explained by two major drivers: Firstly, socio-economic-attributes (U2), particularly landholding, and secondly, self-interest manifested in the variables leadership/entrepreneurship (U5), norms/social capital (U6) and importance of resource (U8). With regard to contextual factors, the value of resource units (RU 4) was deemed most important, as it directly contributes to payoffs. The findings are thus largely congruent with users' attributes identified in the SES framework as promoters of selforganization (Ostrom 2009). Our study, however, provides further insights about the way variables promote pro-social behavior on the individual level. The analysis suggests that the larger the endowment of an actor, the lower his appropriation rate. Furthermore, those with higher appropriation rates hold stronger norms toward the provision fulfillment of joint users. Additionally, the higher an individual's payoff from appropriation, the more likely he is to fulfill his provision duties. Therefore, it can be assumed that within an equitable and welldefined institutional environment, self-interest contributes positively to the sustainable use of resources. Whether this holds independent of context could be investigated in experimental settings that link behavior in appropriation situations (CPR games) to behavior in provision situations (public good games). According to our findings, subjects in the laboratory experiments with higher appropriation levels should make higher investments into the common pool and should be equally more willing to invest in costly monitoring or sanctioning.

### 6.1.3 The contribution to empirically grounded modeling of social-ecological systems

Module 4 aimed to integrate the findings of previous modules into a simulation model. The separated treatment of subsystems ensured consistency between the framework, empirical observations, the model structure and the ability of the models to replicate real-world behavior. The simulation model of CPP use developed in Module 4 thus stands on solid empirical and theoretical ground, as the functioning of all subsystems was investigated with a focus on its key dynamics, including the main interactions with other subsystems. The research therefore shows how system dynamics modeling allows for the operationalization of the SES framework, although integration required intensive empirical analysis in advance.

System dynamics has proven to be a very suitable approach for the operationalization of the framework for three reasons. Firstly, since system dynamics is explicitly valued for its ability to display behavior resulting from nonlinear relationships and the feedback mechanisms (Ford 2000; Sterman 2000), it perfectly matches the framework assumption's nonlinear relationship between variables and feedback between subsystems (see Figure 3). Secondly, the SES framework provides a top-down rather than a bottom-up perspective on the SES by emphasizing structural components rather than agent interactions. Thus, system dynamics seemed a more appropriate approach for operationalizing the framework than agent-based modeling (ABM), which is considered to be advantageous when heterogeneous agents interact (Bousquet and Le Page 2004). Third, it must be considered that the functioning of the SES in Grindelwald is highly dependent on agricultural subsidies. Thus, the system cannot be considered self-organized but instead is very much driven by the external settings, in particular through agricultural policies, which also calls for a top-down approach such as system dynamics.

The importance of agricultural policies for the functioning of the SES also motivates the scenario definition for external setting, which yielded four scenarios that were then simulated in order to assess how agricultural policies and other changes in external variables would affect the sustainability of the SES in the long run. The scenario simulations showed that the trend of decreased use and maintenance of CPPs continues for all of the four scenarios. The model predicts that certain panaceas, such as liberalization and increased government support for the agricultural sector, will accelerate rather than counteract the trend. Furthermore, it shows that stocking density is the most important system component and that reducing stocking density should be taken as an early warning signal that further afforestation will take place with a delay of between seven and 15 years in the ecological system.

In summary, combining system dynamics with formative scenario analysis allowed for the operationalization of the framework by fruitfully bridging the different methods of the previous modules. This shows that system dynamics is an interesting alternative to ABM, which is currently considered the most promising option in the field (Poteete, Janssen and Ostrom 2010; 171–191), in particular when an SES cannot be considered self-governed, as top-down governance processes, such as federal agricultural policies, are of central importance.

### 6.1.4 A note on the analysis of resource systems

The development of a simulation model, of course, depended on a proper understanding of the ecological subsystems, which was generated in Module 3. The study of the commons, however, puts emphasis on social process. Therefore, research on the commons, including the SES framework, provides an anthropocentric focus on the resource system, aiming to determine whether its properties facilitate or hinder self-organization (Binder et al. 2013; Epstein et al. 2013). Therefore, the study of the commons can be considered to be in line with traditional approaches in human ecology (Bates 2005) or cultural ecology (Harris 2001; Steward 1968), where behavior and institutions are seen as cultural adaptations to the natural environment. In our Module 3, we followed a different approach for the analysis of the resource system by focusing on the links between land management practices and the state of the ecological system with regard to land cover change. Therefore, our approach was rather aligned with traditional land change science (Turner and Robbins 2008).

For the analysis of SESs, the study of the commons should acknowledge the fact that the impact of humans on the environment has been steadily increasing and is outcompeting natural processes (Crutzen 2006). Thus, social-ecological research should put more emphasis

on the effects of institutions and behavior on ecological processes rather than analyzing the attributes of the resource system toward their contribution to self-organization in SESs. In Module 3, we tried to acknowledge the deterministic role of the social on the ecological by analyzing the ecological system with emphasis on land use and subsequent land cover changes. The analysis showed how land use practices relate to land cover change. I thus consider that an empirical investigation of the ecological system within the study of the commons can be based on land cover data or satellite images in order to show the impact of human activities on the ecological system rather than emphasizing the opposite link.

### 6.2 Appraisal of the SES Framework

As mentioned above, the framework provided a good starting point for institutional analysis, as it is based on the IAD framework. Recent work (McGinnis 2011; McGinnis and Ostrom 2014) has highlighted that the SES framework is firmly rooted in IAD, which should resolve some ambiguities that might arise when the rules and property rights variables (GS4-8) are analyzed without explicitly considering IAD (including AIDCO). Additionally, findings in Module 1 suggest that the functioning of the governance system is highly influenced by federal governance. Thus, the government resource policies variable is a critical component of the external setting with regard to different aspects, such as subsidies, market incentives (as mostly regulated through agricultural policies) and federal law. Relevant federal law comprises environmental law, which constrains land use practices, and civil law, which impacts the corporations or the cooperative ability to self-organize. I would thus recommend that, in addition to the variable government resource polices (S4), a "federal law" variable be added. This would allow clearly differentiating between the impact of external interventions into markets through taxing or subsidizing of CPR use and external interventions like prohibitions or the prescription through legislative processes. Furthermore, this differentiation would facilitate analyzing possible overlaps and conflicts between diverse legislations enforced by different juridical levels, as emphasized in legal pluralism (Benda-Beckmann 2001; Unruh 2003). The framework should therefore explicitly highlight that rules and property rights (RU4-RU8) may be defined and enforced through different types of governance bodies on local, national and potentially supranational levels.

With regard to the actors' system, our analysis reveals that the economic endowment of actors is central for their (cooperative) behavior. Although the socioeconomic attributes variable (U2) may include economic endowment in the third tier, I consider it fruitful for further analysis to split the variable into sociodemographic attributes, such as gender, age and marital status, and into economic endowment attributes as characterized by the production factors of land, labor and capital. Furthermore, our analysis reveals the key human environmental interactions to be appropriation and provision, both of which are listed among the interactions (I1, I5). I find that the term "infrastructure investment" could be changed to "maintenance" or "provision activities." Infrastructural investments (I5) can be understood as strictly monetary investments into human-constructed facilities (RS4), although this clearly also includes labor dedicated to the upkeep and maintenance of the resource system.

Interactions are essential parts of the framework, which are currently listed without indication of which subsystems or variables they are linking, and strongly emphasize social processes. An important step would therefore be to characterize the interactions as links between or within subsystems to add clarity without unwanted theoretical implications. The process of characterizing interactions as links between or within subsystems would also reveal a bias in the framework toward social processes rather than social-ecological or even ecological processes. Depending on the version of the framework (McGinnis and Ostrom 2014; Ostrom 2007, 2009), the framework lists 8–10 interactions, two of which can be considered social ecological (I1, I5), and the rest refer to strictly social interactions. This means that environmental interactions are not being considered at all.

As the framework is meant to be a starting point for a multidisciplinary study bridging social and natural sciences, it might be necessary to amend the framework with regard to its characterizations of the ecological subsystem and its interactions to make it more useful for natural scientists. Epstein et al. (2013) have undertaken an effort in this direction and propose inclusion of a seventh subsystem, "ecological rules," to describe ecological processes. Another potential way of making the framework more useful to the natural scientist may be the use of the ecosystem services concept (Carpenter et al. 2009; De Groot et al. 2010; Fisher, Turner, and Morling 2009). Accordingly, provisioning and cultural services might then constitute additional social-ecological interactions, while regulating services describe ecological interactions. With regard to ecological components, one could start with adding physical characteristics, including land cover types and distribution as well as topography, or biological characteristics, such as species pool and geologic setting, as proposed in the LTER framework (Redman, Grove, and Kuby 2004). A second option would incorporate an operationalization of ecological processes through resilience thinking. Rooted in ecology, resilience thinking might allow social scientists to better understand the ecosystem dynamics and the way they are influenced by human activities (Gunderson and Holling 2002).

## 6.3 **Policy Implications**

The implications for policy making can be differentiated into two themes: first, the role of local governance systems with regard to the problem of CPP underuse and second, policy options for the federal government for providing a favorable external setting to foster the use and maintenance of CPPs.

Recent concern about the appropriateness (Knoepfel et al. 2005) and persistence (Kissling-Näf, Volken, and Bisang 2002) of a local governance system in light of reducing use of CPPs can be rejected based on our study. Findings from Module 1 suggest that the governance system is able to counteract the problems of underuse through the opening of CPPs to foreign cattle and other institutional adaptations. However, the opening of the governance system may, to a large part, result from the incentives through summering payments by the federal government, which encourage corporations to maintain stocking density close to carrying capacity. However, a shift in operational rules from strict to partial exclusion has just begun, and if the trend continues, as Module 4 suggests, the governance system might put further efforts into acquiring foreign cattle to achieve the desired stocking density. Thus, corporations might slowly develop into more service- than governance-oriented organizations, which offer summering opportunities for lowland cattle against monetary compensation and potentially conduct provision activities themselves or hire labor from the fees paid by externals for summering. As Module 2 suggests, there is a close link between the level of appropriation and provision activities, so that it might well be possible that the willingness to maintain the resource decreases with the increase of foreign cattle on the CPP. Thus, a shift from an exclusion-based access regulation to a market-based approach may not provide better outcomes with regard to the maintenance of the resource system and the prevention of afforestation. To counteract this situation, the upkeep of CPPs might increasingly rely on the availability of voluntary labor or maintenance efforts as part of social service programs. Governance efforts should therefore consider whether and how provision activities on CPPs could be integrated as part of social service schemes.

In order to provide sufficient livestock in the valley, and more importantly to ensure high appropriation levels of local farmers, policies need to target the payoff from appropriation of CPPs. The introduction of appropriation contributions within the new policy framework (2014–2017) is therefore targeting the right point in the system and might be more effective than subsidies made to corporations or alp-enterprises respectively. Other options may include payments for environmental services, which target the upkeep of CPP areas most prone to abandonment. In Module 3, a first step was made to spatially define the plots most prone to abandonment. However, based on the characteristics identified, we are unable to suggest concrete policy measures due to the diversity of site-related factors leading to CPP plot abandonment, as discussed in Module 3. A promising option to foster the use and maintenance of CPPs may include centralized marketing activities efforts on the federal as well as the local level. On the local level, centralized marketing efforts are reported to have a strong positive impact on the overall functioning of the local agricultural sector (Bardsley and Bardsley 2014). In addition, better labeling and better communication of values associated with the consumption of alpine products (through labels declaring mountainous origin, for example) may help raise consumers' awareness of different production methods, feedstock used and the cultural and natural attributes associated with alpine products and thus help strengthen prices and, accordingly, farmers' payoff, which was found to be a key factor in encouraging the use and maintenance of CPPs.

### 6.4 Limitations and Further research

Although this research follows a case study approach, it offers methodological pluralism. Case studies are considered advantageous for hypothesizing relationships, theory development and the investigation of particular mechanisms (Bates et al. 2000; Lieberman 2005). The weakness of a case study approach is the resulting uncertainty about the generalizability of the findings. This research put emphasis on precision and realism at the cost of generalizability (Costanza et al. 1993). Therefore, the results of different modules need further validation through multiple methods. The insights gained in the different modules suggest the following avenues for further research:

Module 1 provides a step toward a theory of institutional change. Yet, without additional case studies, patterns of institutional evolution cannot be generalized. Therefore, future studies need to further elaborate on the patterns of rule evolvement and relate them to changes in the SES and outcomes. The SES and the IAD framework provide valid tools for doing so. Applied to multiple settings, it will deliver the empirical base for meta-analysis toward a general theory of institutional change, applicable to the governance of CPR.

In Module 2, the findings were based on a rather large number of cases, but the effect of contextual variables limits its value for formulating a general theory of behavior of individuals in commons dilemmas. However, the findings and the hypothesis derived in Module 2 provide an important reality check for experimental research and entail valuable information for formulating future research questions and for designing experiments. First, it should be considered that endowment is a major driver behind behavior and second, that appropriation behavior is closely linked to provision behavior. Whether this holds independent of context could be investigated in experimental settings that link behavior in appropriation situations (CPR games) to behavior in provision situations (public good games). According to our findings, subjects with higher appropriation levels should make higher investments into the common pool and should be equally more willing to invest in costly monitoring or sanctioning. If this could be proven in laboratory experiments, we would have important additional insights about the mechanisms that allow overcoming social dilemmas.

In Module 3, we investigated land cover changes as a consequence of land use change. This is a topic that desires more attention within the study of the commons. Efforts will require better integration of knowledge from the natural sciences, including potential amendments in the SES framework and elaboration on the methods most suitable to analyze a resource system and its dynamics. For our case study, we had some land use statistics available, but it may well be that in developing countries, official land cover data may not be reliable or not available in the desired resolutions. Therefore, it remains conceptually and methodologically challenging to capture the relevant resource system dynamics, in particular as socialecological modeling depends on previous investigation of ecological and social-ecological interactions.

In Module 4, system dynamics and formative scenario analysis showed to be useful tools for building simulation models of SESs. The method mix constitutes a feasible alternative to agent-based modeling (ABM), in particular when the SES is highly interconnected and dependent on federal policy or regional economic development. The model was simulated on aggregated levels for the whole region. Running the model at the corporation level instead of at the regional level could reveal information about future developments of the single cooperation to identify the properties that make a cooperative more robust or vulnerable to particular types of external changes. That knowledge would then allow theorizing about the social-ecological links, feedbacks and sustainability trade-offs that increase the robustness or vulnerability of the SESs to external perturbations (Anderies, Janssen, and Ostrom 2004; Janssen, Anderies, and Ostrom 2007).

A further step in advancing the model would be its extension toward spatially explicit design. Coupling the system dynamics model with the cost distance model would allow the identification of the areas that are most prone to abandonment and their characteristics. Information about potentially abandoned CPP plots would provide useful information for policy making, allowing the targeting of the specific characteristics of potentially abandoned plots. Unfortunately, Vensim and other system dynamics software currently do not offer the interface for doing so. Therefore, further coupling of findings of Module 3 with the simulation results would rely either on substantial programming efforts or on "soft coupling," using the generated data from the systems dynamics model as input to for the GIS based cost-distance model to spatially locate the potentially abandoned CPP plots for particular scenarios.

## 7 Conclusion

Sustainable natural resource use depends on humans' abilities to shape institutions that keep the levels of exploitation, pollution or other externalities in line with the resource system's capacity to recover from these activities. Common property arrangements and the institutions enforced by local communities often provide effective solutions for sustaining resources over centuries. The CPPs in the Swiss Alps provide much empirical proof. However, socialecological systems are subject to constant change and often fail to maintain sustainability when major changes are at stake. In the Swiss Alps, the situation has changed over the past decades. The CPPs that need protection from overexploitation today depend on governance efforts to foster their use. This dissertation analyzed how the SESs in which CPP use is embedded cope and respond to these new challenges.

Capturing the complexity and different problems driving natural resource use requires multidisciplinary approaches and a combination of different methods. The framework for analyzing sustainability in SESs was developed as a starting point for this endeavor (Ostrom 2009). This thesis demonstrated how the framework can be operationalized through multiple methods to enhance the understanding of complex SESs. In Module 1, it was shown by institutional analyses that the local governance systems, although originally designed to avoid overuse, are able to adapt to problems of underuse. In Module 2, it was investigated how actors' attributes affect individuals' behavior in commons dilemmas. In Module 3, the changes in the resource systems were observed and linked to human land use. In Module 4, the insights from Modules 1–3 were used to formulate a simulation model of the SES. As part of these four modules, the thesis covered and advanced key problems within the study of the commons, provided feedback about the strength and weaknesses of the framework for its further development, and allowed the proposal of governance options to enhance the sustainability of CPP use.

In sum, this thesis showed that analysis of resource use and social-ecological systems requires a mixed-method approach, as the complexity of SESs cannot be captured with only one tool or through the lens of a particular discipline. Multidisciplinary efforts need to acknowledge that SESs are constantly changing, and emphasis must be given to the SES's dynamics rather than its state. Only if the interplay of different components and the resulting dynamics of an SES are understood can policy suggestions move beyond simple blueprints. As humans' interference with the environment steadily enlarges, sound social-ecological research is evermore needed to identify effective governance principles and institutions to promote the resilience of scale social-ecological systems.

## 8 **Bibliography**

- (FSO), Federal statistical office. 1979-2009. Erhebungen, Quellen Arealstatistik der Schweiz.
- Acheson, James M. 2003. *Capturing the commons: devising institutions to manage the Maine lobster industry*: Upne.
- Adger, W Neil, Terry P Hughes, Carl Folke, Stephen R Carpenter, and Johan Rockström. 2005. Social-ecological resilience to coastal disasters. *science* 309 (5737):1036-1039.
- Agrawal, Arun. 2001. Common Property Institutions and Sustainable Governance of Resources. *World Development* 29 (10):1649-1672.
- Agrawal, Arun, and Ashwini Chhatre. 2006. Explaining success on the commons: Community forest governance in the Indian Himalaya. *World Development* 34 (1):149-166.
- Ahn, T. K., Elinor Ostrom, and James Walker. 2010. A common-pool resource experiment with postgraduate subjects from 41 countries. *Ecological Economics* 69 (12):2624-2633.
- Alporama. 2013. Alpbetrieb der Gemeinde Grindelwald.
- Anderies, J.M., M.A. Janssen, and E. Ostrom. 2004. A framework to analyze the robustness of social-ecological systems from an institutional perspective. *Ecology and Society* 9 (1):18.
- Anderies, John M, Marco A Janssen, and Brian H Walker. 2002. Grazing management, resilience, and the dynamics of a fire-driven rangeland system. *Ecosystems* 5 (1):23-44.
- Anderies, John M., Marco A. Janssen, François Bousquet, Juan-Camilo Cardenas, Daniel Castillo, Maria-Claudio Lopez, Robert Tobias, Björn Vollan, and Amber Wutich. 2011. The challenge of understanding decisions in experimental studies of common pool resource governance. *Ecological Economics* 70 (9):1571-1579.
- Backhaus, Norman, Claude Reichler, and Matthias Stremlow. 2008. Conceptualizing landscape: An evidence-based model with political implications. *Mountain research and development* 28 (2):132-139.
- Baland, Jean-Marie, and Jean-Philippe Platteau. 1996. *Halting degradation of natural resources: is there a role for rural communities*?: Food & Agriculture Org.
- Bardsley, Douglas K, and Annette M Bardsley. 2014. Organising for socio-ecological resilience: The roles of the mountain farmer cooperative Genossenschaft Gran Alpin in Graubünden, Switzerland. *Ecological Economics* 98:11-21.
- Barlas, Yaman. 1989. Multiple tests for validation of system dynamics type of simulation models. *European Journal of Operational Research* 42 (1):59-87.
- Basurto, Xavier, Stefan Gelcich, and Elinor Ostrom. 2013. The social–ecological system framework as a knowledge classificatory system for benthic small-scale fisheries. *Global environmental change* 23 (6):1366-1380.
- Bates, Daniel G. 2005. *Human adaptive strategies: Ecology, culture, and politics.* 4 ed. Bosten, Massachusetts: Allyn and Bacon.
- Bates, Robert H, Avner Greif, Margaret Levi, Jean-Laurent Rosenthal, and Barry Weingast. 2000. The analytical narrative project. *The American Political Science Review* 94 (3):696-702.

- Baur, Ivo, Karina Liechti, and Claudia Rebecca Binder. unpublished manuscript. Why do individuals behave differently in commons dilemmas? The case of alpine farmers using common property pastures in Grindelwald, Switzerland *International Journal of the Commons* In review.
- Baur, P, P Bebi, M Gellrich, and G Rutherford. 2006. WaSAlp–Waldausdehnung im Schweizer Alpenraum: eine quantitative Analyse naturräumlicher und sozioökonomischer Ursachen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des Agrarstrukturwandels. Projekt Nummer 4048-64360 im Rahmen des Nationalen Forschungsprogrammes nfp48 Landschaften und Lebensräume der Alpen. Schlussbericht zu Händen des Schweizerischen Nationalfonds. P. Baur–Notwendigkeit, Möglichkeiten und Grenzen marktwirtschaftlicher Anreize 63.
- Baur, Priska, Priska Müller, and Felix Herzog. 2007. Alpweiden im Wandel. *Agrarforschung* 14 (6):254-259.
- Beckmann, Volker, and Martina Padmanabhan. 2009. Analysing Institutions: What Method to Apply? In *Institutions and Sustainability*, edited by V. Beckmann and M. Padmanabhan: Springer Netherlands.
- Benda-Beckmann, Franz von. 2001. Legal pluralism and social justice in economic and political development. *IdS Bulletin* 32 (1):46-56.
- Berkes, F., D. Feeny, B. J. McCay, and J. M. Acheson. 1989. The benefits of the commons. *Nature* 340 (6229):91-93.
- Bignal, E. M., and D. I. McCracken. 2000. The nature conservation value of European traditional farming systems. *Environmental Reviews* 8 (3):149-171.
- Binder, Claudia R., Jochen Hinkel, Pieter W. G. Bots, and Claudia Pahl-Wostl. 2013. Comparison of Frameworks for Analyzing Social-ecological Systems. *Ecology and society* 18 (4).
- Bochet, Olivier, Talbot Page, and Louis Putterman. 2006. Communication and punishment in voluntary contribution experiments. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* 60 (1):11-26.
- Bousquet, François, and Christophe Le Page. 2004. Multi-agent simulations and ecosystem management: a review. *Ecological Modelling* 176 (3):313-332.
- Burel, Françoise, and Jacques Baudry. 1995. Species biodiversity in changing agricultural landscapes: a case study in the Pays d'Auge, France. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 55 (3):193-200.
- Cardenas, Juan-Camilo, and Elinor Ostrom. 2004. What do people bring into the game? Experiments in the field about cooperation in the commons. *Agricultural Systems* 82 (3):307-326.
- Carpenter, Stephen R., Harold A. Mooney, John Agard, Doris Capistrano, Ruth S. DeFries, Sandra Díaz, Thomas Dietz, Anantha K. Duraiappah, Alfred Oteng-Yeboah, Henrique Miguel Pereira, Charles Perrings, Walter V. Reid, José Sarukhan, Robert J. Scholes, and Anne Whyte. 2009. Science for managing ecosystem services: Beyond the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106 (5):1305-1312.
- Casari, Marco. 2007. Emergence of endogenous legal institutions: Property rights and community governance in the Italian alps. *The Journal of Economic History* 67 (01):191-226.

- Castella, Jean-Christophe, Tran Ngoc Trung, and Stanislas Boissau. 2005. Participatory simulation of land-use changes in the northern mountains of Vietnam: the combined use of an agent-based model, a role-playing game, and a geographic information system. *Ecology and Society* 10 (1):27.
- Costanza, Robert, Lisa Wainger, Carl Folke, and Karl-Göran Mäler. 1993. Modeling complex ecological economic systems. *BioScience*:545-555.
- Cox, Michael, Gwen Arnold, and S Villamayor Tomás. 2010. A review of design principles for community-based natural resource management. *Ecology and society* 15 (4):38.
- Crutzen, Paul J. 2006. The "anthropocene": Springer.
- De Groot, Rudolf S, Rob Alkemade, Leon Braat, Lars Hein, and Louise Willemen. 2010. Challenges in integrating the concept of ecosystem services and values in landscape planning, management and decision making. *Ecological Complexity* 7 (3):260-272.
- Epstein, Graham, Jessica M Vogt, Sarah K Mincey, Michael Cox, and Burney Fischer. 2013. Missing ecology: integrating ecological perspectives with the social-ecological system framework. *International Journal of the Commons* 7 (2):432-453.
- Fairweather, John R., and Simon R. Swaffield. 2001. Visitor Experiences of Kaikoura, New Zealand: an interpretative study using photographs of landscapes and Q method. *Tourism Management* 22 (3):219-228.
- Fehr, Ernst, and Urs Fischbacher. 2004. Third-party punishment and social norms. *Evolution and Human Behavior* 25 (2):63-87.
- Fehr, Ernst, and Simon Gächter. 2000. Cooperation and punishment in public goods experiments. *The American Economic Review* 90 (4):980-994.
- Fischer-Kowalski, Marina, and Jan Rotmans. 2009. Conceptualizing, Observing, and Influencing Social-Ecological Transitions. *Ecology & Society* 14 (2).
- Fisher, Brendan, R Kerry Turner, and Paul Morling. 2009. Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. *Ecological Economics* 68 (3):643-653.
- Ford, Andrew. 2000. Modeling the environment: an introduction to system dynamics modeling of environmental systems. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education* 1 (1).
- Ford, Frederick Andrew. 1999. *Modeling the environment: an introduction to system dynamics models of environmental systems*: Island Press.
- Gardner, Roy, E. Ostrom, and James M. Walker. 1990. The Nature of Common-Pool Resource Problems. *Rationality and Society* 2 (3):335-358.
- Gibson, Clark C, John T Williams, and Elinor Ostrom. 2005. Local enforcement and better forests. *World Development* 33 (2):273-284.
- Giupponi, Carlo, Maurizio Ramanzin, Enrico Sturaro, and Simonetta Fuser. 2006. Climate and land use changes, biodiversity and agri-environmental measures in the Belluno province, Italy. *Environmental Science & Policy* 9 (2):163-173.
- Gordon, H Scott. 1954. The economic theory of a common-property resource: the fishery. *The Journal of Political Economy*:124-142.
- Gunderson, L.H., and C.S. Holling. 2002. *Panarchy: understanding transformations in human and natural systems*: Island Pr.
- Hardin, Garrett. 1968. The tragedy of the commons. science 162 (3859):1243-1248.

- Harris, Marvin. 2001. *Cultural materialism: The struggle for a science of culture*: AltaMira Press.
- Haxeltine, Alex, Lorraine Whitmarsh, Noam Bergman, Jan Rotmans, Michel Schilperoord, and Jonathan Kohler. 2008. A Conceptual Framework for transition modelling. *International Journal of Innovation and Sustainable Development* 3 (1):93-114.
- Henrich, Joseph, Steven J. Heine, and Ara Norenzayan. 2010. Beyond WEIRD: Towards a broad-based behavioral science. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* (33):111-135.
- Hunziker, Marcel. 1995. The spontaneous reafforestation in abandoned agricultural lands: perception and aesthetic assessment by locals and tourists. *Landscape and urban planning* 31 (1):399-410.
- Hunziker, Marcel, Patricia Felber, Katrin Gehring, Matthias Buchecker, Nicole Bauer, and Felix Kienast. 2008. Evaluation of landscape change by different social groups: results of two empirical studies in Switzerland. *Mountain research and development* 28 (2):140-147.
- Janssen, M.A., and E. Ostrom. 2006. Empirically based, agent-based models. *Ecology and Society* 11 (2):37.
- Janssen, Marco A, and Toh-Kyeong Ahn. 2006. Learning, signaling, and social preferences in public-good games. *Ecology and Society* 11 (2):21.
- Janssen, Marco A, and John M Anderies. 2007. Robustness trade-offs in social-ecological systems. *International Journal of the Commons* 1 (1):43-66.
- Janssen, Marco A, John M Anderies, and Elinor Ostrom. 2007. Robustness of socialecological systems to spatial and temporal variability. *Society and Natural Resources* 20 (4):307-322.
- Janssen, Marco A, John M Anderies, and Brian H Walker. 2004. Robust strategies for managing rangelands with multiple stable attractors. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 47 (1):140-162.
- Janssen, Marco A, Brian H Walker, Jenny Langridge, and Nick Abel. 2000. An adaptive agent model for analysing co-evolution of management and policies in a complex rangeland system. *Ecological Modelling* 131 (2):249-268.
- Janssen, Marco A., and John M Anderies. 2007. *Robustness Trade-offs in Social-Ecological* Systems. Vol. 1, 2007.
- Janssen, Marco A., Robert Holahan, Allen Lee, and Elinor Ostrom. 2010. Lab Experiments for the Study of Social-Ecological Systems. *Science* 328 (5978):613-617.
- Janssen, Marco A., Brian H. Walker, Jenny Langridge, and Nick Abel. 2000. An adaptive agent model for analysing co-evolution of management and policies in a complex rangeland system. *Ecological Modelling* 131 (2–3):249-268.
- Jin, Wei, Linyu Xu, and Zhifeng Yang. 2009. Modeling a policy making framework for urban sustainability: Incorporating system dynamics into the Ecological Footprint. *Ecological Economics* 68 (12):2938-2949.
- Keenleyside, Clunie, Graham Tucker, and Andrew McConville. 2010. Farmland Abandonment in the EU: an Assessment of Trends and Prospects. *London: WWF and IEEP*.

- Kissling-Näf, Ingrid, Thomas Volken, and Kurt Bisang. 2002. Common property and natural resources in the Alps: the decay of management structures? *Forest Policy and economics* 4 (2):135-147.
- Knoepfel, Peter, Améli de Fossey, Jean-David Gerber, and Corine Mauch. 2005. Institutionelle Regime für nachhaltige Landschaftsentwicklung. Vol. 20: Rüegger.
- Knoepfel, Peter, and Jean-David Gerber. 2008. *Institutional landscape regimes*: vdf Hochschulverlag AG.
- Korner, Christian, and Eva Spehn. 2002. Mountain biodiversity: a global assessment: CRC.
- Lauber, S, R Böni, I Seidl, and F Herzog. 2008. AlpFUTUR. Zukunft der Sömmerungsweiden in der Schweiz. Schlussbericht Vorstudie.
- Lehmann, B., and P. Messerli. 2007. The Swiss National Research Programme "Landscapes and habitats of the Alpine Arc". *Revue de géographie alpine. Journal of Alpine Research* (95-4):19-28.
- Levitt, Steven D, and John A List. 2007. What do laboratory experiments measuring social preferences reveal about the real world? *The Journal of Economic Perspectives* 21 (2):153-174.
- Lieberman, Evan S. 2005. Nested analysis as a mixed-method strategy for comparative research. *American Political Science Review* 99 (03):435-452.
- Liu, Jianguo, Thomas Dietz, Stephen R Carpenter, Marina Alberti, Carl Folke, Emilio Moran, Alice N Pell, Peter Deadman, Timothy Kratz, and Jane Lubchenco. 2007. Complexity of coupled human and natural systems. *Science* 317 (5844):1513-1516.
- MacDonald, Daisy, JR Crabtree, Georg Wiesinger, Thomas Dax, Nikolaos Stamou, Philippe Fleury, Juan Gutierrez Lazpita, and Annick Gibon. 2000. Agricultural abandonment in mountain areas of Europe: environmental consequences and policy response. *Journal of Environmental Management* 59 (1):47-69.
- Mack, Gabriele, Thomas Walter, and Christian Flury. 2008. Entwicklung der Alpung in der Schweiz: Ökonomische Bedeutung und ökologische Auswirkungen. *Yearbook of socioeconomics in Agriculture*:259-300.
- McCay, Bonnie J. 2002. Emergence of institutions for the commons: Contexts, situations, and events. *The drama of the Commons*:361-402.
- McGinnis, MD, and E Ostrom. 2010. IAD and SES Dynamic Flows: Introducing the Program in Institutional Analysis of Social-Ecological Systems (PIASES) Framework. Paper read at Preliminary draft of a paper to be presented at 13th Economics of Infrastructures Conference, Delft, Netherlands.
- McGinnis, Michael D, and Elinor Ostrom. 2010. IAD and SES dynamic flows: introducing the Program in Institutional Analysis of Social-Ecological Systems (PIASES) framework. Paper read at Preliminary draft of a paper to be presented at 13th Economics of Infrastructures Conference, Delft, Netherlands.
- McGinnis, Michael D. 2011. Networks of Adjacent Action Situations in Polycentric Governance. *Policy Studies Journal* 39 (1):51-78.
- McGinnis, Michael D., and Elinor Ostrom. 2014. Social-ecological system framework: initial changes and continuing challenges. *Ecology and society* 19 (2).
- Naegeli-Oertle, Rudolf. 1986. Die Berglandwirtschaft und Alpwirtschaft in Grindelwald. Vol. 21, Schlussbericht zum Schweizerischen MAB-Programm.

- Netting, Robert .M.C. 1981. *Balancing on an Alp: ecological change and continuity in a Swiss mountain community*. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ Pr.
- Oliva, Rogelio. 2003. Model calibration as a testing strategy for system dynamics models. *European Journal of Operational Research* 151 (3):552-568.
- Ostrom, E. 2007. A diagnostic approach for going beyond panaceas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104 (39):15181.
- Ostrom, E. 2008. Developing a method for analyzing institutional change. *Alternative institutional structures: evolution and impact* 15:48.
- Ostrom, Elinor. 1990. *Governing the commons: The evolution of institutions for collective action*: Cambridge university press.
- Ostrom, Elinor. 2005. Understanding institutional diversity: Princeton University Press.
- Ostrom, Elinor. 2007. Challenges and growth: the development of the interdisciplinary field of institutional analysis. *Journal of Institutional Economics* 3 (03):239-264.
- Ostrom, Elinor. 2007. A diagnostic approach for going beyond panaceas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104 (39):15181-15187.
- Ostrom, Elinor. 2007. A General Framework for Analyzing Sustainability of. Paper read at Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B.
- Ostrom, Elinor. 2009. A General Framework for Analyzing Sustainability of Social-Ecological Systems. *Science* 325 (5939):419-422.
- Ostrom, Elinor, and Xavier Basurto. 2011. Crafting analytical tools to study institutional change. *Journal of Institutional Economics* 7 (3):317-343.
- Ostrom, Elinor, and Michael Cox. 2010. Moving beyond panaceas: a multi-tiered diagnostic approach for social-ecological analysis. *Environmental Conservation* 37 (04):451-463.
- Pahl-Wostl, Claudia, Georg Holtz, Britta Kastens, and Christian Knieper. 2010. Analyzing complex water governance regimes: the management and transition framework. *Environmental Science & Policy* 13 (7):571-581.
- Parker, Dawn C, Steven M Manson, Marco A Janssen, Matthew J Hoffmann, and Peter Deadman. 2003. Multi-agent systems for the simulation of land-use and land-cover change: a review. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 93 (2):314-337.
- Paula, Swedeen. 2006. Post-normal science in practice: A Q study of the potential for sustainable forestry in Washington State, USA. *Ecological Economics* 57 (2):190-208.
- Perrings, Charles, and Brian Walker. 2004. Conservation in the optimal use of rangelands. *Ecological Economics* 49 (2):119-128.
- Plieninger, Tobias, Franz Höchtl, and Theo Spek. 2006. Traditional land-use and nature conservation in European rural landscapes. *Environmental Science & Policy* 9 (4):317-321.
- Poteete, Amy R., Marco A. Janssen, and Elinor Ostrom. 2010. *Working together collective action, the commons, and multiple methods in practice*. Princeton, N.J.; Oxford: Princeton University Press.
- Rahmandad, Hazhir, and John Sterman. 2008. Heterogeneity and network structure in the dynamics of diffusion: Comparing agent-based and differential equation models. *Management Science* 54 (5):998-1014.

- Redman, Charles L, J Morgan Grove, and Lauren H Kuby. 2004. Integrating social science into the long-term ecological research (LTER) network: social dimensions of ecological change and ecological dimensions of social change. *Ecosystems* 7 (2):161-171.
- Scott, W Richard. 1987. The adolescence of institutional theory. *Administrative science quarterly*:493-511.
- Simmen, Helen, and Felix Walter. 2007. Landschaft gemeinsam gestalten: Möglichkeiten und Grenzen der Partizipation; thematische Synthese zum Forschungsschwerpunkt III" Zielfindung und Gestaltung" des Nationalen Forschungsprogramms 48" Landschaften und Lebensräume der Alpen" des Schweizerischen Nationalfonds SNF; [Synthesebericht NFP 48]: vdf Hochschulverlag AG.
- Simmen, Helen, Felix Walter, and Michael Marti. 2006. Den Wert der Alpenlandschaften nutzen. *Thematische Synthese zum Forschungsschwerpunkt IV «Raumnutzung und Wertschöpfung» des NFP* 48.
- Smith, Vernon L. 2010. Theory and experiment: What are the questions? *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* 73 (1):3-15.
- Southworth, Jane, and Catherine Tucker. 2001. The influence of accessibility, local institutions, and socioeconomic factors on forest cover change in the mountains of western Honduras. *Mountain research and development* 21 (3):276-283.
- Stave, Krystyna A. 2003. A system dynamics model to facilitate public understanding of water management options in Las Vegas, Nevada. *Journal of Environmental Management* 67 (4):303-313.
- Sterman, J.D. 2000. *Business Dynamics: Systems Thinking & Modeling for a Complex World.* New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Sterman, J.D. 2001. System Dynamics Modeling. California management review 43 (4):8-25.
- Stevenson, Glenn G. 2005. Common property economics: A general theory and land use applications: Cambridge University Press.
- Steward, Julian Haynes. 1968. The concept and method of cultural ecology.
- Stöcklin, J., A. Bosshard, G. Klaus, K. Rudmann-Maurer, and M. Fischer. 2007. Landnutzung und biologische Vielfalt in den Alpen. *Fakten, Perspektiven, Empfehlungen. Synthese NFP* 48.
- Stoeckle, Christoph Alexander Paul. 2009. Pasturelands, hierarchies, and minority language survival: an analysis of property rights with a special focus on the Alpine region, München, Univ., Diss., 2010.
- Tasser, Erich, Mirijam Mader, and Ulrike Tappeiner. 2003. Effects of land use in alpine grasslands on the probability of landslides. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 4 (3):271-280.
- Tiefenbach, M., and A.G. Mordasini. 2006. *Bergschaften in Grindelwald. Alppflege zwischen Tradition und Moderne*. Grindelwald: Sutter Druck AG.
- Tietje, Olaf. 2005. Identification of a small reliable and efficient set of consistent scenarios. *European Journal of Operational Research* 162 (2):418-432.
- Tucker, Catherine M, JC Randolph, and Edwin J Castellanos. 2007. Institutions, biophysical factors and history: an integrative analysis of private and common property forests in Guatemala and Honduras. *Human Ecology* 35 (3):259-274.

- Turner, Billie L, Eric F Lambin, and Anette Reenberg. 2007. The emergence of land change science for global environmental change and sustainability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104 (52):20666-20671.
- Turner, BL, and Paul Robbins. 2008. Land-change science and political ecology: Similarities, differences, and implications for sustainability science. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 33:295-316.
- Unruh, Jon D. 2003. Land tenure and legal pluralism in the peace process. *Peace & Change* 28 (3):352-377.
- van Soest, Daan, and Jana Vyrastekova. 2007. 6. Peer enforcement in CPR experiments: the relative effectiveness of sanctions and transfer rewards, and the role of behavioural types. *Using experimental methods in environmental and resource economics*:113.
- Wade, Robert. 1989. Village republics: Cambridge University Press.
- Walker, Brian H, and Marco A Janssen. 2002. Rangelands, pastoralists and governments: interlinked systems of people and nature. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences* 357 (1421):719-725.
- Walker, Brian, Crawford S Holling, Stephen R Carpenter, and Ann Kinzig. 2004. Resilience, Adaptability and Transformability in Social--ecological Systems. *Ecology and society* 9 (2):5.
- Wiek, Arnim, Claudia Binder, and Roland W. Scholz. 2006. Functions of scenarios in transition processes. *Futures* 38 (7):740-766.
- Wiesmann, Urs. 1983. Landschaftliche Schönheit und touristische Nachfrage Ergebnisse einer Gästebefragung im MAB-Testgebiet Grindelwald Urs Wiesmann. Jahrbuch Der Geographischen Gesellschaft Von Bern 55:361.
- Wiesmann, Urs. 2001. Umwelt, Landwirtschaft und Tourismus im Berggebiet Konfliktbearbeitung im Leitbild Grindelwald 2000. In *Studien für europäische Friedenspolitik: Die Umwelt- Konfliktbearbeitung und Kooperationen*: Agenda Münster.
- Young, Oran R. 2002. *The institutional dimensions of environmental change: fit, interplay, and scale*: MIT press.

## **PART TWO: ESSAYS**

ESSAY 1:

Baur, Ivo, and Claudia R. Binder. 2013. Adapting to Socioeconomic Developments by Changing Rules in the Governance of Common Property Pastures in the Swiss Alps. *Ecology and Society* 18 (4).

### ESSAY 2:

Baur, Ivo, Karina Liechti, and Claudia R. Binder. 2014. Why do individuals behave differently in commons dilemmas? The case of alpine farmers using common property pastures in Grindelwald, Switzerland. *International Journal of the Commons* accepted for publication.

### ESSAY 3:

Liechti, Karina, Ivo Baur, Urs Wiesmann, and Claudia R. Binder. submitted. Drivers of land use change and gradual abandonment of common property alpine pastures. *Human Ecology*.

### ESSAY 4:

Baur, Ivo, and Claudia R. Binder. submitted. Modeling and assessing scenarios of common property pastures management in Switzerland. *Ecological Economics*.

## Essay 1

## Adapting to Socioeconomic Developments by Changing Rules in the Governance of Common Property Pastures in the Swiss Alps



## *Research*, part of a Special Feature on <u>A Framework for Analyzing, Comparing, and Diagnosing Social-Ecological Systems</u> **Adapting to Socioeconomic Developments by Changing Rules in the Governance of Common Property Pastures in the Swiss Alps**

Ivo Baur<sup>1</sup> and Claudia R. Binder<sup>1</sup>

ABSTRACT. The common property meadows in the Swiss Alps have been managed by local self-organized governance systems since the Middle Ages, thus preventing their overuse. During the past century, socioeconomic developments, such as industrialization and rapid nonagricultural economic growth, have shifted employment opportunities from the agricultural sector towards the service sector. In the agricultural sector, this has led to less intensive use and maintenance of the meadows in the Alps and consequently to a reduction in biodiversity. We use the example of Grindelwald in the Swiss Alps to analyze how the governance system has adapted to these socioeconomic developments. We based our analysis on the Program in Institutional Analysis of Social-Ecological Systems (PIASES). We coded five statutes ranging in date from 1867 to 2003, and conducted interviews to investigate changes in the governance system and the ecological system, namely harvesting level and investment activities. Our results show that the governance system has adapted to the social system and the ecological system, namely harvesting level and investment activities. We conclude by outlining the properties of the governance system that have allowed for constant harvesting levels and investment activities over time.

Key Words: common property pastures; rules; SES; social-ecological systems

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Since the Middle Ages, summer pastures in the Swiss Alps have predominately been held as common property. At present, 80% of the summer pastures located at higher altitudes are managed as common property. Common property resources are natural or human-made resources that are jointly used and managed. In most cases, exclusion is difficult, and joint use of these resources involves subtractability (Berkes et al. 1989). In the Swiss Alps, local authorities such as cooperatives, corporations, and citizens' communes have established institutional arrangements to regulate access to the summer pastures (Picht, unpublished manuscript). The members of these organizations jointly own and manage the resources and have successfully avoided the overexploitation of summer pastures for centuries by (1) excluding outsiders, and (2) restricting the harvesting levels of the eligible users (Netting 1981, Ostrom 1990, Stevenson 1991, Tiefenbach and Mordasini 2006).

During the past century, socioeconomic developments have resulted in the decreasing use and maintenance of summer pastures. In particular, industrialization and the shift towards the service-oriented economy increased labor demand in the corresponding sectors. Thus, labor moved from the agricultural sector to the industrial and service sectors (Bergier 1984). When looking at agriculture, one can observe that in the beginning of the 19th century, alpine agriculture reached its peak in terms of land used for agriculture (Stöcklin et al. 2007). In the early 20th century, economic activities in the alpine regions were still mostly agricultural and subsistencebased, and highly dependent on livestock husbandry. The physical infrastructure, such as huts and barns, together with the summer pasture, which we refer to as "alp", were crucial assets of the community. Industrialization and the subsequent rapid expansion of the service sector created new job opportunities in the centers and brought tourism into the valleys. As a result, subsistence farming lost its importance, and the number of farmers on the alps decreased (Volken et al. 2002). The remaining farmers increased their farm size through tenure agreements, and intensified production in the productive areas, while labor-intensive pastures became less intensively used and maintained (Stöcklin et al. 2007).

The changes in land use practices that resulted were twofold: on the one hand, there was regrowth of shrubs and forests in marginal areas. On the other hand, the intensification of productive pastures (in the valley and the alps) reduced their ecological value (Stöcklin et al. 2007, Baur et al. unpublished manuscript), as extensively used pastures provide much higher species diversity than intensely used pastures or forests (Freléchoux et al. 2007, Stöcklin et al. 2007). In the 1980s, the Swiss federal government started subsidizing the summering of livestock in the alps, which reduced, but did not overcome, the trend of land abandonment in the higher regions (Baur et al. 2007, Mack et al. 2008). It is apparent that the provision of public goods such as biodiversity and the beauty of maintained landscape and infrastructure are strongly interlinked with continuous use and maintenance of the alps (Lehmann and Messerli 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Chair of Human-Environment Relations, Ludwig-Maximilians University, Munich

Contemporary research on common property resources has predominantly investigated the social and ecological variables that allow for self-organization to avoid overexploitation of the resources (Ostrom 1990, Balland and Platteau 1996, Agrawal 2001, Dietz et al. 2003). Results of these analyses show why some groups build institutions that support them in managing resources sustainably while others do not. Furthermore, institutions and the incentives they shape are considered to be the key for economic welfare (North 1990, Acemoglu and Robinson 2012). Because the importance of institutions for the well-being of humankind is widely acknowledged, methods to analyze institutional structures have been developed in economics and social sciences (Hollingsworth 2000, Gronow 2008). These methods are designed to relate institutional structures to outcomes at one single point in time (Hodgson 1998, Ostrom 2008, Ostrom and Basurto 2011). However, the world is constantly changing and so are social-ecological systems (SESs) (Gunderson and Holling 2002, Dietz et al. 2003, Walker et al. 2004, Olsson et al. 2006, Folke et al. 2007). Accordingly, institutions need to adapt to changes occurring within and around the SES to ensure sustainable outcomes. Therefore, it is of key importance to understand the properties of governance systems and the institutions that allow them to "better cope with, manage or adjust to some changing condition, stress, hazards, risk or opportunity" (Smit and Wandel 2006:282).

We aim to contribute to the analysis of institutional change in governance systems of common property resources. We use the case of Grindelwald in the Swiss Alps to provide an indepth understanding of how the local authorities have adapted their governance system as a reaction to the socioeconomic developments in the region. We address the following questions:

- **1.** Which variables of the social-ecological system were affected by socioeconomic developments?
- 2. How is the local governance system structured?
- **3.** What changes in the local governance system have occurred over time?
- **4.** How did the governance system adapt to socioeconomic developments?

First, we introduce the study area. Second, we describe the methods applied. Third, we present the results of the analysis as to which variables of the SES framework were affected by socioeconomic developments, including changes in the governance system. In this, we focus on changes in the operational rules that directly affect harvesting levels (number of livestock summered on the alps) and investment activities (maintenance of pastures, huts, and fences). We summarize by discussing the properties of the governance system that allow it to respond adaptively to socioeconomic developments.

### The study region

Grindelwald is a Swiss municipality located in the Bernese Alps. The municipality is bounded by the mountains Eiger, Mönch, and Jungfrau, and it covers 171 km<sup>2</sup>. About 13% of the area is settlement area or agricultural area held as private property, 25% is commonly owned meadows (pastures), and 62% is unused land. The border between common property pastures (alp) and private property in the valley is shown in Fig. 1. Unique to the case of Grindelwald is the fact that seven spatially defined corporations ("Bergschaft") are embedded in a cooperative ("Taleinung"). The cooperative assigns the territory to the seven corporations. The small alp "Pfingstegg" is the only alp that is privately owned. The alp Holzmatten is a special case because it is common property but is not connected to the private property in the valley (Nägeli-Örtle 1986, Tiefenbach and Mordasini 2006).

**Fig. 1**. The seven corporations of Grindelwald. Adapted from Tiefenbach and Mordasini (2006). HM = Holzmatten corporation, with common property separated from the private property in the valley. The red dotted line marks the border between common property pastures (alp) and private property in the valley.



#### METHODS

### **Theoretical framework**

The common property pastures in Grindelwald were analyzed as a social-ecological system (SES). According to the SES framework (Ostrom 2007, 2009), SESs are composed of four nested subsystems embedded in a broader social, economic, and political setting. As displayed in Table 1, the system's social compartment consists of the Governance System (GS) and the Actors (A). The ecological compartment entails the Resource System (RS) and the Resource Units (RU). These 

 Table 1. Variables of the social-ecological system in Grindelwald affected by societal transitions. Based on Ostrom (2007, 2009), and M. McGinnis and E. Ostrom (*unpublished manuscript*).

Social, Ec †S1 - Economic development; S2 - Demographic tre	conomic, and Political Settings (S) ends; S3 - Political stability; †S4 - Government resource policies; †S5- Market			
incer	ntives; S6 - Media organization			
Resource System (RS)	Governance System (GS)			
RS1 - Sector (e.g., water, forests, pasture, fish)	GS1 - Government organizations			
RS2 - Clarity of system boundaries	GS2 - Nongovernmental organizations			
RS3 - Size of resource system	GS3 - Network structure			
†RS4 - Human-constructed facilities	‡GS4 - Property rights systems			
RS5 - Productivity of system	‡GS5 - Operational rules			
†RS6 - Equilibrium properties	Collective-choice rules			
RS7 - Predictability of system dynamics	GS7 - Constitutional rules			
RS8 - Storage characteristics	GS8 - Monitoring and sanctioning rules			
RS9 - Location				
Resource Units (RU)	Actors (A)			
*RU1 - Resource unit mobility	†A1 - Number of actors			
RU2 - Growth or replacement rate	†A2 - Socioeconomic attributes of actor			
RU3 - Interaction among resource units	A3 - History of use			
†RU4 - Economic value	†A4 - Location			
RU5 - Number of units	A5 - Leadership/entrepreneurship			
RU6 - Distinctive markings	A6 - Norms (trust-reciprocity)			
*RU7 - Spatial and temporal distribution	A7 - Knowledge of social-ecological system/mental models			
	†A8 - Importance of resource (dependence)			
	†A9 - Technology used			
Action Situat	<b>ions</b> (Interactions [I] $\rightarrow$ Outcomes [O])			
§11 - Harvesting levels	O1 - Social performance measures (e.g., efficiency, equity, accountability, sustainability)			
I2 - Information sharing				
I3 - Deliberation processes	O2 - Ecological performance measures (e.g., overharvested, resilience, biodiversity)			
I4 - Conflicts				
815 - Investment activities	O3 - Externalities to other social-ecological systems			
I6 - Lobbying activities	05 Externatives to other social coological systems			
I7 - Self-organizing activities				
IS - Networking				
R	elated Ecosystems (ECO)			
ECO1 - Climate patterns; ECO2 - Pollution	patterns; ECO3 - Flows into and out of focal social-ecological system			
†Variables directly affected through socioeconom	ic developments			

Covernance responses by changing variables Focal action situations

subsystems interact (I) at various spatial and temporal scales to produce outcomes (O).

Each subsystem can be divided into its further properties. The GS entails organizations, property rights, and a set of rules that structure interactions among actors and their use of the resource system. The property rights system (GS4) consists of a bundle of rights that regulate access and the degree of command of individual actors or organizations over a resource (Schlager and Ostrom 1992). The rules operate at three

hierarchical levels: the operational level (GS5), the collectivechoice level (GS6), and the constitutional level (GS7). Hereby, the highest level (constitutional) changes at a slower pace and determines the lower ones (Ostrom 2005). For example, the constitutional level refers to the legal form of a users association as this determines who is a member and is allowed to participate in collective-choice processes. On the collectivechoice level, actors are then to agree on the operational rules according to prescribed procedures. The operational rules structure everyday interactions of users with the resources systems, such as harvesting or investment activities. An example of an operational rule might be a timely restriction of harvesting activities for the preservation of the resource. The resource system, which is the alp, includes the meadow and physical infrastructure, such as huts, barns, and fences. The resource system generates the resource units, which is the grass used as fodder.

The Program in Institutional Analysis of Social-Ecological Systems (PIASES) complements the SES framework by combining it with the Institutional Analysis and Development (IAD) framework (McGinnis 2011, Ostrom 2005). It thereby highlights the importance of seven operational rules that structure focal action situations (McGinnis and Ostrom 2010). In this study, we analyzed the changes in the operational rules for two focal interactions, namely harvesting levels (I1), which we operationalized as the indexed number of livestock grazing on the alps (appropriation), and investment activities (I5), which we operationalized as maintenance of the alps by communal work and the installation of fences (provision). These focal interactions determine the intensity of use and maintenance of the alps, and thus directly affect the ecological state of the resource system.

### Data collection and analysis

In a first step, we conducted a workshop with farmers from the seven corporations to analyze the impact of socioeconomic developments on the SES (Table 1). In a second step, to investigate the functioning of the SES, 12 farmers, including the monitor of each corporation, were interviewed using a semistructured questionnaire (Schensul et al. 1999:149-164). Monitors keep track of appropriation and provision levels within a corporation, and lead the users association. That is, they have the best knowledge of the ongoing social and ecological processes in their corporations. In a third step, we conducted structured interviews with three monitors and the president of the cooperative to identify changes in the rules and property rights system (GS4-GS8) devised by the cooperative and corporations for the governance of the alps. Furthermore, the statutes of the cooperative named Taleinung from the years 1867, 1923, and 2002, and the statutes of the corporation "Scheidegg" from 1913 and 2003 were coded for changes in rules following the grammar for analyzing institutional statements (ADICO) (Crawford and Ostrom 1995, Basurto et al. 2009, Schlüter and Theesfeld 2010). The corporation Scheidegg was chosen as an example because of its excellent data availability. The operational rules structuring harvesting activities and infrastructural investment were organized according to the IAD framework (McGinnis and Ostrom 2010). To allow for the fact that rules might exist in form but not in practice and vice versa (Ostrom 2005), the findings were validated through three interviews with elderly farmers.

### RESULTS

### Socioeconomic developments

In the last century, several socioeconomic developments changed the external setting of the local SES. First, economic development (S1) created off-farm income opportunities and increased tourism considerably. This development transformed the local economy from an agriculture-based to a tourism driven economy (Fig. 2), which resulted in competition for land between touristic use (e.g., skiing, biking) and agricultural use in both the productive agricultural areas and the alps. It should be noted that the tourism sector is the main reason why Grindelwald does not suffer from emigration like other regions in the Swiss Alps, and instead has seen modest population growth (Fig. 2). Second, state control of agricultural production has steadily increased. Both production standards (S4) and market incentives (S5) have been increasingly regulated by the state through agricultural policies. Furthermore, state policies have accelerated structural change in the agricultural sector towards fewer but larger farms, and have increased farmers' dependence on direct payments. Thus, without state support, agriculture in Grindelwald is not feasible.

Due to the structural transformation of the local economy, the number of farmers owning livestock (A1) decreased from 432 to 126 within a century. During the same period, tourism increased with 863 index points, resulting in 111,728 guestnights in 2010 (Fig. 2). The remaining farmers in Grindelwald have taken advantage of the income opportunities offered by the growing tourism sector, and work on the ski lifts during the winter (A2). The decreasing number of farmers and the inheritance regulations which foresee that land is equally divided among successors, has led to dispersed farm structures in the valley (A4). Farmers who increase their farm size do so mainly through tenancy agreements, and at the cost of dissipating their land holdings. Furthermore, subsidies, offfarm income, and the use of additive fodder (A9) have reduced farmers' dependence on pastures for their livestock and dairy products for their livelihoods (A8). In addition, tourism strengthened local demand for alpine cheese (RU4).

As mentioned, intensification of the productive areas and extensification of marginal areas is also affecting the alps. Productive areas are most often close to the huts, while the marginal areas are characterized by longer walking distances, steepness, and higher altitude. Furthermore, cattle breeds have been increasing in size, and their mobility has declined as a result (RU1), which makes them less suitable for grazing in marginal areas (RU7) since long walks tend to decrease milk yield. This has impacted land cover: marginal meadows have been abandoned, bushes have started colonizing them, and the area is being transformed into forest (fir forest) (RS6). In the intensified areas, closer to huts, over-fertilization due to the high density of cows has taken place, and consequently, the



**Fig. 2**. Number of overnight stays, farm enterprises and employees, and inhabitants in Grindelwald from 1910 to 2010 (Sources: Nägeli-Örtle 1986, Wiesmann 2001, Federal Statistical Office (FSO) several years).

amount of persistent weeds (such as alpine sorrel or sheep sorrel [*Rumex alpinus*]) has increased.

Nevertheless, farmers in Grindelwald continue with their labor-intensive traditional farming system, which is based on dairy cattle farming and the seasonal cycle of transhumance, with cheese production on the alp during summer. Strategies observed in other regions, such as leisure farming, characterized by a shift from dairy cows to suckler cows or sheep husbandry, have not yet taken place in Grindelwald.

#### The local governance system

The local governance system in Grindelwald consists of three nested levels with their own assemblies and constitutional design:

- 1. the cooperative (Taleinung), where every holder of usage rights ("Bergrecht") is a member;
- **2.** the corporations (Bergschaft), where every holder of usage rights of a specific corporation is a member; and
- **3.** the corporations' users association ("Besetzerschaft"), where every holder of usage rights appropriating in the specific corporation becomes a member.

Rules mandatory for all corporations are designed and altered collectively by the cooperative. This ensures vertical control among the corporations by limiting the set of rules that can be crafted autonomously on the corporations' level. Similarly, the cooperative is limited in its constitutional design, since collective-choice rules and organizational principles for cooperatives are determined by cantonal and federal legislation (meta-constitutional level). Nevertheless, at each level, the lower levels still have some autonomy in designing additional rules (Fig. 3).

The cooperative (Taleinung) is an organization that functions as a legislative body in the interest of the corporations ("Bergschaften"). In its statutes ("Taleinungsbrief"), it assigns the territory to the corporations, and sets the constitutional rules, the collective-choice rules, and to some extent, the operational rules for both the corporations and the cooperative itself. The cooperative is headed by a board, which functions as the executive body. The board implements the decisions made in the assembly. The assembly is called whenever the board or a corporation decides to do so, or 100 rights holders demand it.



Fig. 3. The structure of the local governance system in Grindelwald.

The corporation is an operational unit concerned with the management of the alp. Each corporation is obliged to have its own statutes ("Bergschaftsreglement"), which must be in agreement with the rules prescribed in statutes of the cooperative. Formal positions within corporations, such as monitors, are prescribed by the statutes of the cooperative.

Over the last century, the structure of the local governance system has changed considerably as the corporations have split into two associations, one for the users who exercise their rights of usage (Besetzerschaft), and one for the holders of rights of usage ("Bergteiler") who do not make use of their rights to harvest the pastures. The division of the corporation into Besetzerschaft and Bergteiler was first mentioned in the statutes of the cooperative in 1923. At that time, the number of rights holders not engaging in agriculture became the majority in the corporations, and their bargaining power increased to the disadvantage of farmers. Thus, the division was implemented in order to prevent conflicts over the allocation of the corporation's resources. Today, the users association and the usage rights association even have to run separate budgets as stipulated in the statutes of the cooperative from 2002. Within the users association, farmers can make autonomous decisions about the agricultural use of their respective alp. Decisions about the touristic use of the resource system are negotiated within the usage rights association.

### The property rights system

The cooperative and the corporation are recognized as legal entities under civil law. The right to own natural resources such as forest, water, and pastures in common is guaranteed by cantonal law (BSG 211.1 Art. 20). The meadows and the forest are the property of the corporation, or their members, respectively. The cooperative prescribes that the rights of usage are attached to private parcels in the valley and that they are inalienable but leasable. Villagers owning or leasing private property are allowed to access, harvest, and manage the pastures. Formally, every holder of usage rights is allowed to send as many livestock to the alps as they have rights tied

the pastures. Formally, every holder of usage rights is allowed to send as many livestock to the alps as they have rights tied to their leasehold or privately owned parcels in the valley. The location of the private parcels determines in which corporation-alp the usage rights are to be appropriated. The sum of usage rights present in the corporation defines the maximum sustainable yield (MSY) of the corporation's alp.

Originally, this property rights system had four functions: first, the exclusion of nonvillagers; second, the assignment of harvesting levels to actors in proportion to their land holdings; third, the assignment of duties to provide infrastructural investments based on the usage rights one holds; and fourth, the definition of the MSY for each corporation. Today, usage rights still serve to exclude outsiders and assign provision duties but do not restrict the individual's harvesting activities and no longer define MSY.

During the 20th century, many private parcels that were once used as private pastures were used as land for vacation homes. Since the property rights remain attached to the plot in the valley, many rights are coupled to land that is no longer in agricultural use. Thus, while the area in the valley that is pasture land and in agricultural use has been decreasing constantly, the usage rights have not. This has resulted in an excess of usage rights, leading to a low lease fee, which in absolute terms barely changed over time. For example, in Scheidegg from 1867 to 2009, the fee for the lease of one single right for one season decreased from CHF 8.80 to CHF 8.50. That is, since the lease of rights is permitted among rights holders, and rights can be leased at very low fees, farmers' appropriation decisions are not restricted by the rights they hold. Because the rights holder is not allowed to lease unexercised rights to nonrights holders, the property rights system continues to serve to exclude outsiders. Furthermore, the opportunity to lease usage rights among local farmers allows appropriation in the corporation of their choice, regardless of the location of their privately owned parcels.

Between the two World Wars, the federal government started to estimate the MSY based on the practices found in the commonly owned pastures. Since the 1980s, the government has based its subsidies on prescribed harvesting levels. Payments related to the summering of livestock are incrementally reduced if total appropriation does not remain within 75–110% of the sustainable yield as defined by the canton (BLW 2010). These subsidy rules offer the corporation strong monetary incentives to keep appropriation within a sustainable range, including a minimum harvesting level. Since summering payments are conditioned on maximum and minimum harvesting levels, state policies determine the MSY for the alps. Because breeding has increased cow size, milk yields, and the cows' fodder needs, the total number of usage rights would no longer reflect the MSY of the alps, and the appropriation of all usage rights would result in serious damage and overharvest of the summer pastures, especially in the easily accessible areas.

#### Rules

Statutes entail different constitutional rules (GS7) that determine the collective-choice as well as operational rules for the corporations. The statutes of the cooperative thus stipulate that the corporations must keep the rules within the statutes of the cooperative.

Collective-choice rules (GS6) are prescribed for each level in the statutes of the superior level. At present, collective choices are made at all levels according to the majority rule (50% + 1). If no majority is obtained, presidents have the deciding vote in the cooperative and in the corporation, and act as monitor in the users association.

Operational rules (GS5) directly regulate appropriation and infrastructural investments, and are defined at various levels. The cooperative defines the boundary rules (ownership of land in the valley) and position rules (e.g., "appropriator" and "rights holder"). The corporation's statutes stipulate that every holder of property rights must invest in infrastructure by installing a defined length of fence on the alps in proportion to the rights they hold. Furthermore, it prescribes that every appropriator has to provide communal work in proportion to their personal harvesting levels. The users assembly defines and changes sensitive operational rules, mainly the payoffs that affect appropriated navest the hours of communal work required per appropriated livestock unit and the monetary fines for underprovision of communal work.

The monitoring (GS8) of the individual's compliance with appropriation and provision rules is a jointly shared task of all farmers. The monitor is to be informed about any unjustified appropriation and has to confiscate the trespassing livestock. Furthermore, they have to control the provision of infrastructural investment and penalize noncompliance through fines. For most of the violations of operational rules, such as underprovision of communal work or failure to install a fence, the catalogue of fines is defined every year by the users association. If a violator has not paid their fine by the start of the following season, they lose their property rights until the fine is paid. In the case of violation of constitutional or collective-choice rules by corporations, a forfeit can be set by the cooperative's board.

### **Adaptation of rules**

As shown in Table 2, we found several changes in the operational rules that directly structure appropriation and provision situations.

**Table 2**. Rule inventory: displays the level that enforces the operational rule at certain points in time. It shows the seven types of operational rules that directly structure the adjacent action situations appropriation (A) and the provision of infrastructural investment (P). The rule codes are as follows: R = the rule must be complied with; P = the rule may be complied with;  $P^* =$  the rule may be complied with, but agreement from the cooperative board is required; F = the rule does not have to be complied with; n.r. = no rules exist at this time. MSY = maximum sustainable yield.

		Cooperative (Taleinung)		Corporation (Scheidegg)		User assembly (Scheidegg)
Types of rules	1867	1923	2002	1912	2003	current
Position rules						
AP1: Appropriator (member of the users association)	n.r.	R	R	R	R	R
AP2: Rights holder (holds rights but does not	n.r.	R	R	R	R	R
appropriate)						
PP1: Provider of infrastructural investments	R	n.r.	n.r.	R	R	R
Boundary rules						
AB1: Appropriator; must be appropriating during	n.r.	R	R	R	R	R
current season						
AB2: Rights holder; must own land in the valley	R	R	R	n.r.	R	R
BP1: Appropriator; becomes provider of communal	R	n. r.	n. r.	R	R	R
work and fencing						
BP2: Rights holder; becomes provider of fencing	n.r.	n. r.	R	n.r.	R	R
Choice rules						
AC1: Lease of rights (to or from holder of usage rights)	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р
PC1: Provision levels; pay fine instead of providing	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	Р	Р
communal work						
PC2: Fencing; pay fine instead of installing fence	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	R	R
PC3: Delegation of provision activities to proxy	F	n. r.	Р	n. r.	Р	Р
Information rules						
AI1: Standardized measurement for appropriation	R	R	R	n. r.	R	R
AI2: Reporting of illegal appropriation to higher	n.r.	R	n.r.	n.r.	R	R
instance						
PI1: Reporting of provision levels	R	R	n.r.	R	R	R
PI2: Reporting of fencing levels	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	R	R
Aggregation rules						
AA1: Agreement on the appropriation of external cattle	F	P*	P*	F	P*	R
AA2: Agreement when to drive livestock up and down	n.r	n.r	n.r	n.r	n.r	R
from the Alps						
AA3: Collective choice rules: proportional to shares	Р	F	F	Р	F	F
AB1: Defining the levels of provision required	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	R	R
AB2: Reimbursement of additional contribution	n.r.	n.r.	Р	n.r.	Р	R
Payoff rules		_			_	_
AP1: Setting the interest for the lease of shares	n.r.	R	n.r.	P*	R	R
AP2: Reimbursement for unused shares	R	R	n.r.	n.r.	n.r	Р
AP3: Fixed penalty for unreported appropriation	R	R	n.r.	R	R	R
AP4: Price for appropriating a livestock unit	n.r.	R	n.r.	R	R	R
PP1: Fees for under/overprovision of communal work	R	n.r.	n.r.	R	R	R
PP2: Fees for not fencing	R	n.r.	n.r.	R	R	R
Scope rules		5		D		5
SA1: Respecting MSY; appropriation must remain	n.r.	R	n.r.	K	n.r	R
within MSY of corporation		P	P			
SP1: Intrastructural investments must serve agricultural	n.r.	К	К	n.r.	K	K
purpose						

Including constitutional, collective, and operational rules, seven key changes have occurred over the last century, which are worth summarizing:

- **1.** At the constitutional level, since the beginning of the 20th century, the cooperative has prescribed that the corporations must be divided into a users association and a usage rights association.
- **2.** At the collective-choice level, voting procedures prescribed for all levels have been refined. In the statutes of 1923, it was mentioned that voting can be conducted in proportion to the rights one holds, if 20 rights holders or the board demand it at the cooperative level, or the board or 10 rights holders do so at the corporation level. This option was eliminated in the statutes of 2002, since it is not in agreement with the voting procedures for corporations and cooperatives as defined in civil law. At present, every actor holding property rights is assigned one vote.
- 3. At the operational level, the differentiation between the positions "appropriator" and "rights holder" led to the diversification of rules for the provision of infrastructural activities. The statutes of 1867 prescribe that any holder of rights is obliged to keep their share of the alp in a good state. Accordingly, every rights holder was automatically urged to become a provider of public infrastructure, including fencing and communal work. Infrastructural investments were set in proportion to the usage rights that an actor held, and did not depend on their appropriation, as is the case today. Currently, a rights holder becomes a provider of fencing in proportion to the rights they hold, and the appropriator becomes a provider of communal work in proportion to their harvesting level. A novelty is that the statutes of 2002 allow appropriators to delegate their duties, which has resulted in farmers' spouses engaging in the maintenance of the alps.
- 4. Appropriation of "foreign" cattle has become permitted pending agreement of the cooperative. Although usage rights were always tied to private property in the valley, the cooperative's statute of 1923 contains the clause that if the livestock population in the valley is significantly reduced "due to forces of nature," the corporations are allowed to admit foreign cattle to the alps, if the cooperative board permits it. At present, questions are raised over whether (foreign) cattle that do not belong to rights holders can be appropriated. The commission has recently allowed the corporation Scheidegg to appropriate foreign cattle, even in the absence of a natural hazard that reduces livestock populations.
- **5.** Over the past century, the rules affecting the payoffs for appropriation and the provision of infrastructural investment came to be totally under the jurisdiction of

the corporations. The constitution of the cooperative from 1923 still entailed fixed rental fees for the lease of a right distinguished for the seven corporations. Nowadays, the prices for the lease of a right are defined by the users association and are very low (CHF 8.50 per right in the case of Scheidegg). Similarly, the corporations can now decide whether they will reimburse for unused shares; this was compulsory in the earlier statutes. Most of the payoff rules affecting infrastructural investment are set by the users association. The users association can decide about the hours of communal work they require per appropriated unit. The Scheidegg corporation is currently requesting 8 hours per appropriated unit. Penalties for not providing communal work, and the reimbursement of additional hours of communal work are autonomously set by the corporations. That is, farmers decide whether they contribute in coin or in kind. Furthermore, farmers are offered the opportunity to generate additional income by working more than the required hours. Currently, payments in the Scheidegg corporation for overcompensation are fixed at CHF 20 per hour, while the fee for undercompensation is CHF 25 per hour. If farmers carry out communal work with light private machinery (e.g., a chainsaw) or with heavier private machines, such as smaller carriers for the dispersal of manure, hours are counted double or even fourfold, respectively. However, these fees and payments can always be changed by the users association, and by altering them, the users association guarantees a steady level of provision of communal work within the corporation. Similarly, the cooperative allows the corporations to set the tariffs for failure to fence (one right is equivalent to 15 m). Actors who hold usage rights but do not engage in agricultural activities are charged CHF 1.50 per meter that they do not fence. This has become an additional source of income for the corporation.

- **6.** A newly added rule states that the infrastructure, particularly huts and barns on the alp, must not be used for purposes other than agricultural, and that they cannot be sold to externals. This was allowed in older versions, if the cooperative board agreed. The change in this rule ensures that the huts are not transformed into recreational infrastructure.
- 7. Since the introduction of summering payments in the 1980s, MSY is ensured through agricultural policy incentives. The total number of usage rights therefore no longer defines the MSY of the alp. The summering payments are conditioned upon a minimum harvesting level in order to increase incentives to use the alps more intensively. Today, these payments are tied to a minimum (75%) and maximum (110%) harvesting level of the state-defined sustainable yield. In 2010, Scheidegg hosted 103% of the MSY (Table 2).

### DISCUSSION

We analyzed whether and how local governance systems governing the management of common property meadows in the alps in Grindelwald have adapted to socioeconomic changes. We applied the SES framework to identify the relevant variables within the SES that have changed due to socioeconomic developments, and we used PIASES in order to identify changes in the rules within the governance system. Our study is original in its contribution because it empirically analyzes changes in rule configurations in the governance of common property resources. Additionally, it links the observed changes in rules to changes in the social-ecological context. Therefore, our study supports the development of a general theory of institutional change and a better understanding of the conditions that enhance the capacity of governance systems to change rules successfully.

### Socioeconomic changes and their impact on the socialecological system

In the following, we link the impact of the socioeconomic developments in Grindelwald (industrialization, rapid nonagricultural economic growth, subsidy scheme in agriculture) on the variables of the SES, in particular, the changes in the governance system (Table 3). We focus on the main key reactions of the governance system to these changes.

# Changes in the governance system as a response to socioeconomic development

# Adapting to a decreasing number of rights holders making use of their rights

Socioeconomic developments have led to a decreasing number of appropriators and an increasing number of rights holders who are not engaging in agriculture (Fig. 3). As a response to this shift in bargaining power, at the level of the cooperative the decision was made to restructure the corporations by dividing them into a rights holders association and a users association. This division ensures that farmers decide relatively autonomously within the users association about the operational rules they apply to govern the agricultural use of the alps. In particular, the ability to alter payoffs for appropriation (e.g., setting the price for the lease of a right) and provision (e.g., setting the fees for under- and overprovision) allows them to balance harvesting and investment activities at the corporation level.

The distinction between the position of an appropriator and a rights holder, furthermore, allowed the provision rules to be adapted, which led to a more flexible labor allocation for investment activities. Initially, communal work and fencing were in proportion to the number of the usage rights one held. Currently, communal work is tied to the appropriation level of an individual, while the duty to install fencing remains proportionate to the usage rights one holds. The actual provision rules allow farmers to plan whether they will pay fines or contribute with labor and machinery work to fulfill their obligations. Additionally, they are free to provide more than the required fences or hours of communal work and to be reimbursed by the corporation or to delegate the provision duties to a proxy. Hence, changes in provision rules increased the flexibility of the single user to contribute with respect to their opportunity costs and machinery assets, which is very likely to increase overall productivity of investment activities in any SES. The fact that provision rules assign different investment activities to different positions is considered key to ensuring high levels of cooperation in the provision of investment activities.

# Adapting to declining numbers of cattle and national subsidy schemes

As shown in Fig. 4 for the corporation of Scheidegg, the number of cows in the region has been decreasing. Furthermore, summering subsidies are tied to the number of cows harvesting meadows on the alps and are paid only if the harvesting level is higher than 75% and less than 110% of the MSY. To adapt to this situation, operational rules were changed to allow the possibility to agree upon the appropriation of foreign cattle. It has been observed that some corporations have started hosting livestock that are not owned by local farmers. The result of this adaptation strategy on the MSY in shown in Fig. 4, which depicts the initial MSY, which still exists in form but not in use. The introduction of summering payments had two major effects on the local governance system. First, MSY is now defined through summering payments as they are tied to state defined MSY. Second, the payments shaped stronger incentives for the summering of cattle, which is the reason why the Scheidegg corporation is currently hosting about 40 foreign cows during the summer.

# The role of a multileveled governance system for sustainable common property management

Our results show that the local governance system in Grindelwald is a complex system with three levels that have changed its constitutional rules toward a more subsidiary design by creating an additional level. The cooperative (Taleinung) constitutes the highest level and includes seven corporations (Bergschaft). The creation of the additional level, which is the users association, allows farmers to govern the agricultural affairs of the corporation without involvement of tourism entrepreneurs. Furthermore, our findings suggest that these multilayered governance systems enhance the capacity to handle scale-dependent and cross-scale issues (Cash et al. 2006, Berkes 2007, Termeer et al. 2010), and provide a basis for linking local knowledge, action, and the state of the socialecological system (Lebel et al. 2006). In the case of Grindelwald, the changes in the structure of the local governance system enhanced farmers' capacity to create and alter operational rules within the users association. At this level, farmers are best informed about harvesting and investment activities and have the strongest interest in finding
Table 3. Variables of the social-ecological system framework affected by external socioeconomic developments (industrialization, rapid nonagricultural economic growth, subsidy scheme in agriculture) for the case of Grindelwald.

Variables	Changes that occurred
Resource System (RS)	
RS4 - Human constructed	•Unused alp-huts (mainly cheese storage huts)
facilities	•Modernized barns (e.g., heating, electricity)
	•Increased facilities for tourism, such as restaurants, ski lifts, or water reservoirs for artificial snow
	production, led to reduced grazing area
RS6 - Equilibrium properties	•Decreasing harvest in the marginal areas on the alps has led to observable forest and bush
	encroachment
	•Areas covered with forest have increased at the expense of the grazing areas
Resource Units (RU)	
RU1 - Resource unit	•Decreasing mobility of cows due to new breeds
mobility	<ul> <li>Pastures that are further away from huts/barns are not "harvested"</li> </ul>
RU4 - Economic value	•Economic value of milk and milk products has significantly decreased in net value over time
	•Farm gate prices for milk have decreased from about CHF 1 in the early 1990s to CHF 0.45 at
	present
	•Tourism in Grindelwald ensures a high demand for alpine cheese, thereby increasing the relative
	value of alpine cheese to milk sales
RU7 - Spatial and temporal	•Grazing in marginal areas has been reduced as cows became less mobile
distribution	
Actors (A)	
A1 - Number of actors	•Slightly increasing number of rights holders
	<ul> <li>Increasing number of holders of rights not engaging in agriculture</li> </ul>
A2 - Socioeconomic	<ul> <li>Income diversification (off-farm income share increased)</li> </ul>
attributes	•Increasing farm sizes (farmers own more livestock and private land than the previous generation)
A4 - Location	•Farm enterprises consist increasingly of dispersed private land holdings in different corporations
	•Farmers therefore often hold use rights in several corporations, and the location of the farm is no
	longer the single factor determining the corporation in which the farmer appropriates his cattle
A8 - Importance of resource	<ul> <li>Decreasing importance of meadows as a resource for cow fodder</li> </ul>
	•Increasing importance of meadows for landscape beauty and recreational activities (for tourism)
A9 - Technology used	•Technologies such as modern mowing and transport machineries, or milking technologies have
	particularly increased productivity on the farm level. On the alps, farmers can use some of their
	private machinery in order to fulfill their investment requirements.
Governance System (GS)	
GS4 - Property rights	•Serves to exclude nonvillagers
systems	•No longer required for the assignment of harvesting levels
	•No longer used to assign the hours of communal work to be fulfilled
	• I ne total number of user rights no longer defines the maximum sustainable yield
GS5 - Operational rules	•Division between the position of the appropriator and the rights holder; provision rules tied to these two positions.
	two positions
	•Hours of communal work conducted with heavy mechanicary (e.g., a jigsaw) are counted double
	fourfold
GS6 - Collective-choice rules	•Voting within the association was conducted according to the rights one holds
GS0 - Concentre-enoice rules	•Currently, all collective choices are made at all levels according to maiority rule (50% +1)
GS7 - Constitutional rules	•Corporations were divided into a rights holders association and a users association
GB7 Constitutional fulles	•In addition, payoff rules can now be autonomously set by the users association, mainly through the
	setting of fees for over- and underprovision of communal work
GS8 - Monitoring and	•Sanctions were prescribed at the cooperative level
sanctioning rules	•Currently, most of the penalties for noncompliance regarding the fulfillment of infrastructural
	investments are set within the users association
GS8 - Monitoring and sanctioning rules	<ul> <li>In addition, payoff rules can now be autonomously set by the users association, mainly through the setting of fees for over- and underprovision of communal work</li> <li>Sanctions were prescribed at the cooperative level</li> <li>Currently, most of the penalties for noncompliance regarding the fulfillment of infrastructural investments are set within the users association</li> </ul>



Fig. 4. Changes in maximum sustainable yield, constant appropriation, number of rights users, and number of rights holders in the Scheidegg corporation.

adaptive responses to fluctuations in these two focal interactions because they are most affected by the outcomes. The horizontal interplay between the corporations is ensured through the presence of the cooperative and binding statutes. Some operational decisions, such as the appropriation of foreign cattle, can be realized only under the agreement of the cooperative, which allows for checks among corporations. Interlinks with federal law and resource policies have similarly grown stronger as summering payments have become an essential monetary incentive for farmers to keep appropriation within a sustainable range.

#### Utility of the social-ecological system framework

The SES framework allowed for a systemic analysis of the changes that occurred in the SES, given external socioeconomic developments. As shown in Tables 1–3, the classification along the variables for the SES framework allowed for a structured analysis of the changes in the SES and supports the understanding of how the governance system adapted to changes in other variables of the SES. As the SES

framework and the proposed governance variables are rooted in the IAD framework, its key strength lies in the analysis of rules, and the way they structure interactions and outcomes. Furthermore, the framework allows institutional change to be related to changes in the natural resource system because it offers a set of resource-related variables that may affect the governance process. This suggests that the framework is particularly suitable for studies that focus on the social compartment of a SES. Scholars emphasizing the ecological processes within an SES might find frameworks originating in the natural sciences to provide better concepts for their purpose (Redman et al. 2004, Walker et al. 2004, Turner and Robbins 2008). The future integration of these concepts into the present SES framework would be a major step towards a common framework that allows for analysis of equal depth for both the ecological and social compartment of SESs.

#### Lessons learned

It became evident that analysis of the changes in the structure and rules of the governance system is essential if we want to look into the dynamics and potential adaptation mechanisms within SESs. As our study has shown, the governance system in Grindelwald adapted to socioeconomic developments by changing rules. Even if the governance system was originally designed to avoid overuse of the resources, it managed to adapt to socioeconomic changes that would have led to reduced use and maintenance of the alps. Although the observed changes in the governance system and its rules are successful adaptations in this case, they might be far from optimal if applied to other contexts. Accordingly, it cannot be assumed that the rule configuration as reported herein serves as a blueprint for effective rule evolvement for the governance of common property resources. However, based on the findings, we suggest four properties of governance systems that facilitate successful adaptation of rules to socioeconomic changes:

- Constitutional flexibility: allows the governance system to adapt its structure to problems such as the decreasing bargaining power of those most interested in the productivity of the resource system
- Multiple nested assemblies: allows competencies among different assemblies to be located, which ensures that an arising issue is processed in the corresponding assembly
- Polycentric design: ensures vertical integration and control between user groups about the rules they are crafting, and at the same time ensures the flow of information about the performance of rule configurations
- Subsidiary design: allows changing the rule configuration by the people best informed about the state of the system

#### **Future research**

Future studies that address the dynamics of SESs should focus on further investigating the linkage between changes in the SES and changes in the governance system. We have shown that for the case of Grindelwald, a close relationship can be postulated. These studies need to further elaborate the patterns of rule evolvement, and to relate them to changes in the SES and outcomes. Such research will provide a better understanding of the properties of governance systems that allow for effective rule change, and thus provide the empirical base for the general theory of institutional change, applicable to the governance of common property resources. Furthermore, a simulation model might support the assessment of strategies that support or hinder the sustainable development of the SES given its external and internal dynamics and regulatory structures.

*Responses to this article can be read online at:* <u>http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/issues/responses.</u> <u>php/5689</u>

#### Acknowledgments:

This paper has been produced as a part of the project "Analyzing and Modeling Transitions of Common Property Pastures in the Swiss Alps," funded by the Swiss National Science Foundation. Any opinions, findings, or implications expressed herein do not necessarily reflect the view of the funding agency. The project is led by the Chair of Human-Environment Relations in the Department of Geography at Ludwig-Maximilians University of Munich, Germany. Research is carried out in collaboration with the Centre for Development and Environment (CDE), University of Bern; the Agri-Food and the Agri-Environmental Economics Group at the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology-ETH; and the Workshop in Political Theory and Policy Analysis at Indiana University, Bloomington. The authors would like to thank the project partners: Urs Wiesmann and Karina Liechti of the CDE, University of Bern, Switzerland; Bernard Lehmann of the Federal Office for Agriculture, Switzerland; and Elinor Ostrom of Indiana University, USA. Additionally, the authors would like to thank Michael Kirk, University of Marburg, Germany; Matthias P. Finger of the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology–EPFL, Switzerland; and Pieter Bots of TU Delft, Netherlands for comments on earlier versions of this paper, and Heather Murray for editing. Furthermore, thanks are due to the farmers of Grindelwald, Switzerland who supported and enabled our work through their collaboration.

#### LITERATURE CITED

Acemoglu, D., and J. Robinson. 2012. *Why nations fail: the origins of power, prosperity, and poverty.* Crown Business, New York, New York, USA.

Agrawal, A. 2001. Common property institutions and sustainable governance of resources. *World Development* 29:1649–1672. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(01)</u> 00063-8

Balland, J., and J. Platteau. 1996. *Halting degradation of natural resources, is there a role for rural communities*? FAO and Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK.

Basurto, X., G. Kingsley, K. McQueen, M. Smith, and C. M. Weible. 2009. A systematic approach to institutional analysis: applying Crawford and Ostrom's grammar. *Political Research Quarterly* 63:523–537. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1065912909334430</u>

Baur, P., P. Müller, and F. Herzog. 2007. Alpweiden im Wandel. *Agrarforschung* 14:254–259.

Bergier, J. F. 1984. *Histoire économique de la Suisse*. Payot, Lausanne, Switzerland.

Berkes, F. 2007. Community-based conservation in a globalized world. *Proceedings of the National Academy of* 

*Sciences of the United States of America* 104:15188–15193. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0702098104

Berkes, F., D. Feeny, B. J. McCay, and J. M. Acheson. 1989. The benefits of the commons. *Nature* 340:91–93. <u>http://dx.</u> <u>doi.org/10.1038/340091a0</u>

Bundestamt für Landwirtschaft (BLW) 2010. Sömmerungsbeitragsverordnung (SöBV). Sömmerungsbeitragsverordnung, SöBV; SR910.133. BLW. [online] URL: <u>http://www.blw.</u> admin.ch/themen/00006/00052/index.html?lang

Cash, D. W., W. N. Adger, F. Berkes, P. Garden, L. Lebel, P. Olsson, L. Pritchard, and O. Young. 2006. Scale and cross-scale dynamics: governance and information in a multilevel world. *Ecology and Society* 11(2):8. [online] URL: <u>http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol11/iss2/art8/</u>

Crawford, S. E. S., and E. Ostrom. 1995. A grammar of institutions. *American Political Science Review* 89(3):582–600. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2082975

Dietz, T., E. Ostrom, and P. C. Stern. 2003. The struggle to govern the commons. *Science* 302:1907–1912. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1091015</u>

Folke, C., L. Pritchard, F. Berkes, J. Colding, and U. Svedin. 2007. The problem of fit between ecosystems and institutions: ten years later. *Ecology and Society* 12(1):30. [online] URL: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol12/iss1/art30/

Freléchoux, F., M. Viret, Y. Linder-Berrebi, and V. Miéville-Ott. 2007. Vegetationsdynamik und Erwartung der Bevölkerung an die Landschaft. *AgrarForschung* 16:402– 407.

Gronow, A. 2008. Not by rules or choice alone: a pragmatist critique of institution theories in economics and sociology. *Journal of Institutional Economics* 4:351–373. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S1744137408001124</u>

Gunderson, L. H., and C. S. Holling, editors. 2002. *Panarchy: understanding transformations in human and natural systems*. Island Press, Washington D.C., USA.

Hodgson, G. M. 1998. The approach of institutional economics. *Journal of Economic Literature* 36:166–192.

Hollingsworth, J. R. 2000. Doing institutional analysis: implications for the study of innovations. *Review of International Political Economy* 7:595–644. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/096922900750034563</u>

Lebel, L., J. M. Anderies, B. Campbell, C. Folke, S. Hatfield-Dodds, T. P. Hughes, and J. Wilson. 2006. Governance and the capacity to manage resilience in regional social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society* 11(1):19. [online] URL: <u>http://</u> www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol11/iss1/art19/ Lehmann, B., and P. Messerli. 2007. The Swiss national research programme "Landscapes and habitats of the Alpine Arc". *Journal of Alpine Research* 4:19–28.

Mack, G., T. Walter, and C. Flury. 2008. Entwicklung der Alpung in der Schweiz: Ökonomische Bedeutung und ökologische Auswirkungen. *Yearbook of Socioeconomics in Agriculture*:259–300.

McGinnis, M. D. 2011. Networks of adjacent action situations in polycentric governance. *Policy Studies Journal* 39 (1):51–78.

McGinnis, M., and E. Ostrom. 2010. IAD and SES dynamic flows: introducing the Program in Institutional Analysis of Social-Ecological Systems (PIASES) framework. Preliminary draft of a paper to be presented at 13th Economics of Infrastructures Conference, Delft, Netherlands.

Nägeli-Örtle, R. 1986. *Die Berglandwirtschaft und Alpwirtschaft in Grindelwald*. Schlussbericht zum Schweizerischen MAB-Programm. Nr. 21. Bern, Switzerland.

Netting, R. M. C. 1981. *Balancing on an Alp: ecological change and continuity in a Swiss mountain community.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

North, D. C. 1990. *Institutions, institutional change and economic performance*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511808678</u>

Olsson, P., L. H. Gunderson, S. R. Carpenter, P. Ryan, L. Lebel, C. Folke, and C. S. Holling. 2006. Shooting the rapids: navigating transitions to adaptive governance of social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society* 11(1):18. [online] URL: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol11/iss1/art18/

Ostrom, E. 1990. *Governing the commons: the evolution of institutions for collective action*. University Press, Cambridge, UK. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511807763</u>

Ostrom, E. 2005. *Understanding institutional diversity*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, USA.

Ostrom, E. 2007. A diagnostic approach for going beyond panaceas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104(39):15181–15187. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0702288104</u>

Ostrom, E. 2008. *Developing a method for analyzing institutional change*. Pages 48–76 *in* S. S. Batie and N. Mercuro, editors. *Alternative institutional structures: evolution and impact*. Routledge, New York, New York, USA. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9780203894439.ch3</u>

Ostrom, E. 2009. A general framework for analyzing sustainability of social-ecological systems. *Science* 325:419–422. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1172133</u>

Ostrom, E., and X. Basurto. 2011. Crafting analytical tools to study institutional change. *Journal of Institutional Economics* 7:317–343. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S1744137410000305</u>

Redman, C. L., J. M. Grove, and L. H. Kuby. 2004. Integrating social science into the long-term ecological research (LTER) network: social dimensions of ecological change and ecological dimensions of social change. *Ecosystems* 7:161–171. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10021-003-0215-z

Schensul, S. L., J. J. Schensul, and M. D. LeCompte. 1999. *Essential ethnographic methods: observations, interviews, and questionnaires*. Altamira Press, Plymouth, UK.

Schlager, E., and E. Ostrom. 1992. Property-rights regimes and natural resources: a conceptual analysis. *Land Economics* 68:249–262. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/3146375</u>

Schlüter, A., and I. Theesfeld. 2010. The grammar of institutions: the challenge of distinguishing between strategies, norms, and rules. *Rationality and Society* 22:445–475. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1043463110377299

Smit, B., and J. Wandel. 2006. Adaptation, adaptive capacity and vulnerability. *Global Environmental Change* 16:282–292. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.03.008

Stevenson, G. G. 1991. Common property economics: a general theory and land use applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/</u>CBO9780511528361

Stöcklin, J., A. Bosshard, G. Klaus, K. Rudmann-Maurer, and M. Fischer. 2007. Landnutzung und biologische Vielfalt in den Alpen. Fakten, Perspektiven, Empfehlungen. Synthese NFP 48. Hochschulverlag ETH Zürich, Zurich, Switzerland.

Termeer, C., A. Dewulf, and M. van Lieshout. 2010. Disentangling scale approaches in governance research: comparing monocentric, multilevel, and adaptive governance. *Ecology and Society* 15(4):29. [online] URL: <u>http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol15/iss4/art29/</u>

Tiefenbach, M., and A. G. Mordasini. 2006. Bergschaften in Grindelwald. Alppflege zwischen Tradition und Moderne. Sutter Druck AG, Grindelwald, Switzerland.

Turner, B., and P. Robbins. 2008. Land-change science and political ecology: similarities, differences, and implications for sustainability science. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 33:295–316. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.environ.33.022207.104943</u>

Volken, T., I. Kissling-Näf, and W. Zimmermann. 2002. Die Nutzung von Alpweiden im Wandel. ETH Zürich, Switzerland. [online] URL: <u>http://www.pepe.ethz.ch/</u> <u>publications/archive/weitere\_publikationen/2002/</u> fallstudie brieschern 2002.pdf Walker, B., C. S. Holling, S. R. Carpenter, and A. Kinzig. 2004. Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society* 9(2):5. [online] URL: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol9/iss2/art5/

Wiesmann U. 2001. Umwelt, Landwirtschaft und Tourismus im Berggebiet–Konfliktbearbeitung im Leitbild Grindelwald 2000. Pages 237–249 *in* Studien für europäische Friedenspolitik, Band 7: Die Umwelt- Konfliktbearbeitung und Kooperationen. Agenda Münster, Münster, Germany.

# Essay 2

WHY DO INDIVIDUALS BEHAVE DIFFERENTLY IN COMMONS DILEMMAS? THE CASE OF ALPINE FARMERS USING COMMON PROPERTY PASTURES IN GRINDELWALD, SWITZERLAND. International Journal of the Commons Vol. 8, no 2 August 2014, pp. 657–685 Publisher: Igitur publishing URL:http://www.thecommonsjournal.org URN:NBN:NL:UI:10-1-116431 Copyright: content is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 License ISSN: 1875-0281

# Why do individuals behave differently in commons dilemmas? The case of alpine farmers using common property pastures in Grindelwald, Switzerland

Ivo Baur Department of Geography, University of Munich (LMU), Germany ivo.baur@geographie.uni-muenchen.de

Karina Liechti Centre for Development and Environment (CDE), University of Bern, Switzerland Karina.Liechti@cde.unibe.ch

Claudia Rebecca Binder Department of Geography, University of Munich (LMU), Germany Claudia.Binder@geographie.uni-muenchen.de

Abstract: The sustainable use of common-pool resources depends on users' behaviour with regards to appropriation and provision. Most knowledge about behaviour in such situations comes from experimental research. As experiments take place in confined environments, motivational drivers and actions in the field might differ. This paper analyses farmers' use of common property pastures in Grindelwald, Switzerland. Binary logistic regression is applied to survey data to explore the effect of farmers' attributes on livestock endowment, appropriation and provision behaviour. Furthermore, Q methodology is used to assess the impact of broader contextual variables on the sustainability of common property pastures. It is shown that the strongest associations exist between (a) socio-economic attributes and change in livestock endowment; (b) norms and appropriation behaviour; and (c) area and pay-off and provision behaviour. Relevant contextual variables are the economic value of the resource units, off-farm income opportunities, and the subsidy structure. We conclude that with increasing farm size farmers reduce the use and maintenance of common property. Additionally, we postulate that readiness to maintain a resource increases with appropriation activities and the net returns generated from appropriation.

**Keywords:** Appropriation, common-pool resource, contextual factors, provision, Q methodology, social-ecological systems, statistical analyses, user attributes

**Acknowledgments:** This paper has been produced as a part of the project "Analyzing and Modeling Transitions of Common Property Pastures in the Swiss Alps," funded by the Swiss National Science Foundation. The authors would like to thank Christopher Watts, Holger Sauter and Joern Birkmann for their valuable comments and Sandy Riddle for editing. The authors would also like to thank the farmers of Grindelwald for participating in this research project.

#### I. Introduction

Natural resources like fishing grounds, forests, pastures, and water are often managed as common-pool resources. Common-pool resources are jointly managed resources, for which individuals' appropriation diminishes the resource stock and potential beneficiaries of which are difficult to exclude (Berkes et al. 1989). Additionally, most common-pool resources rely on provision activities for the supply of resource units and the upkeep of the resource system. Appropriation and provision activities comprise social dilemmas, in which users' short-term self-interest stands opposed to the interest of the group, that is to maximise appropriation and minimise provision activities (Gardner et al. 1990).

The behaviour of individuals in commons dilemmas affects the sustainability of all common-pool resources. Game theory provides the means to simulate both appropriation and provision behaviour in laboratory experiments, whereby the appropriation problem equals a common-pool resource game. As such, the appropriation of users diminishes the resource and hence reduces the stock and payoffs of co-players (Keser and Gardner 1999; Cárdenas and Ostrom 2004; Osés-Eraso and Viladrich-Grau 2007; Ahn et al. 2010; Janssen et al. 2010). The provision problem matches a public good game. Public good experiments require players to invest in a common stock. The stock changes depending on the investments made and with it the individual's return on the investments (Isaac et al. 1994; Ledyard 1994; Fischbacher et al. 2001; Gächter and Thöni 2011). Recent attempts to validate findings from the laboratory with field experiments underline that users are sometimes able to overcome social dilemmas to achieve socially desirable outcomes (Cavalcanti et al. 2010; Rustagi et al. 2010; Prediger et al. 2011).

Whilst experiments provide important information about the factors facilitating cooperation, they offer limited explanations for the behaviour of real common pool resource users, mainly because the material constraints, preferences, and motives as they appear in the field are difficult to control for in experiments. This is due to the following reasons: Firstly, the underlying assumption of game theory that self-seeking players behave strictly rational to maximise pay-offs does not reflect reality (Smith 2010). Secondly, the behaviour of individuals in experimental settings is detached from personal characteristics (Levitt and List 2007; Anderies et al. 2011). Thirdly, subjects in laboratory experiments are usually students from Western

countries, whose personality traits might differ from those of common-pool resource users (Henrich et al. 2010). To complement experimental studies, more information is needed about the variables driving the behaviour of real common-pool resource users (Janssen and Ahn 2006; Poteete et al. 2010; Anderies et al. 2011). That information can then be integrated in experimental design to provide the common ground towards a more general behavioural theory of human actions in the use of common-pool resources beyond models of pay-off maximising individuals.

In doing so, this study analyses the use of common property pastures in Grindelwald, Switzerland. Common property pastures in Switzerland are located at higher altitudes, characterized by mountainous terrain. Therefore, they can only be used to graze cattle during the summer months. These pastures are typically managed and owned by public corporations. The sustainable use of common property pastures depends crucially on social-ecological interactions, namely appropriation (grazing intensity) and provision (maintenance of the ecological system and the respective infrastructure). Since both under- and overgrazing have adverse effects on the resource system, for example by reducing biodiversity or pasture productivity, total appropriation should remain within a sustainable yield. Furthermore, provision activities are needed to maintain or enhance the productivity of the resource system. Therefore, the sustainable use of common property pastures is analogous to common pool and public goods games, dependent upon the following actions of farmers:

- Change in livestock endowment: As livestock provides the means to harvest from common property pastures, farmers' livestock endowment determines potential appropriation and provision levels.
- Appropriation: The decision whether to send animals to the local common property pastures or have them graze in the valley.
- Provision: The work or capital farmers invest to maintain common property pastures and the related infrastructure.

To better understand the drivers behind individual's actions and the role of contextual variables for the use of common-pool resources, the study aims to answer the following questions:

- a. What are the overall outcomes for change in livestock endowment, appropriation, and provision situations?
- b. What are the individual attributes explaining behavioural differences?
- c. How do broader contextual variables relate to the use of common property pastures?
- d. What are the implications for the study of the commons and policy makers?

The paper is structured as follows: Firstly, we introduce the case study region and the institutions that influence and structure farmers' actions. Secondly, we describe the conceptual framework, expanding on microsituational and contextual variables, and the methods to study their impact on farmers' actions. Thirdly, we present the regression models explaining change in livestock endowment, appropriation, and provision. Furthermore, we present the results from Q methodology, which show the impact of contextual variables on the sustainable use of common property pastures. Finally, we discuss the implications of the study for policy makers and further research.

# 2. The case study region

Grindelwald is a Swiss municipality in the canton of Bern covering 171 km<sup>2</sup>, located in the heart of the European Alps (46° 37' 32.98" N, 8° 2' 0.02" E). With seven corporations self-governing the use of common property pastures, Grindelwald offers a natural lab-like setting for the study of appropriation and provision behaviour analogous to common pool and public good experiments (Table 1). Due to its natural beauty and snow sport facilities, Grindelwald is an internationally known tourism resort that attracts visitors all year round. Consequently, tourism is the most important source of income and offers diverse employment opportunities. Unlike other rural regions, the local population remains stable with about 3800 inhabitants. Besides tourism, agriculture, in particular dairy farming, manages to coexist with tourism, even if the number of farmers is steadily diminishing as a result of structural changes in the agricultural sector towards fewer, but larger sized farms. Since 1980, the number of farmers in Grindelwald has roughly halved from 242 to 123 in 2010. As a consequence, the average farm size has nearly doubled in terms of livestock and land holdings from about 5-6 to nearly 12 livestock units and hectares per household. Correspondingly, land use intensity on private grounds has been relatively stable in terms of livestock units per hectare, but has been significantly intensified in terms of cuts per year.

In addition to private land holdings, common property pastures provide an important source of animal feed. In the summer months, when farmers produce hay on their private lands for wintertime, the livestock grazes on common property pastures, looked after by herdsmen that produce artisan cheese from the milk. The herdsman is either the owner of the alp's huts himself or a seasonal employee. The fees farmers pay to the corporation for the care of the animals provides the

Corporation Units	Maximum sustainable yield (NST)	Provision requirements (hours/NST)	Penalty for defection on provision (CHF/ hour)	Reimbursement of extra hours of provision (CHF/hour)
Grindel	251	8	25	22
Scheidegg	234	8	24	20
Wärgistal	167	8	25	25
Itramen	217	8	30	29
Bussalp	256	10	25	20
Bach	149	8	25	22
Holzmatten	74	8	25	25

*Table 1: Institutions for regulating appropriation and provision activities (Units in brackets; NST = a summered livestock unit).* 

herdsman's income. At the end of the season, the cheese stock is redistributed to the cattle owner according to the cows' milk yield.

# 2.1. Property arrangements

As Figure 1 shows, the productive area of Grindelwald is divided between 7 corporations ("Bergschaft"). The corporations separate their land into private property in the valley (inside the red dotted line) and common property in higher altitude regions (outside the red dotted line). The small corporation "Holzmatten" is a special case as its private lands are cut off from the common property. The large uninhabitable area to the southeast is the only municipal territory not assigned to a corporation, but instead is under the sovereignty of the canton of Bern.

## 2.2. Institutional arrangements

The corporations enforce institutions to regulate appropriation and provision activities. Ownership and leasehold of private land allows for appropriation of common property pastures (Naegeli-Oertle 1986; Mordasini and Tiefenbach 2006). All sections of land in the valley have rights attached to them that allow for appropriation in the corresponding corporation. Therefore, the location and the number of private plots formally restrict a farmer's appropriation activities. Since rights can be leased among locals at reasonable rates, appropriation is not restricted for locals, neither by the amount of rights nor by the exact location of private plots.



Figure 1: The case study region with the seven corporations (Source: Swisstopo).

In return for the benefits obtained from appropriation, farmers must carry out provision activities or face fines. Provision activities consist of tasks such as the cleaning of pastures from bush, shrubs and stones, the installation of fences and drinking troughs, the distribution of manure, and the maintenance of storage facilities (Mordasini and Tiefenbach 2006). As indicated in Table 1, corporations schedule the hours of provision activities required per appropriated unit, set out penalties for defection and reimburse for additional provision efforts if the budget allows for. Each corporation elects a monitor who sanctions defection on provision activities and organises additional provision activities. If defectors fail to settle fines within a year, they lose the right to appropriate from the common property pasture.

The maximum sustainable yield (MSY) is governed by agricultural policy through summering payments. The federal government subsidises each appropriated unit with CHF 320 per year, paid to the corporation. The subsidy must be reinvested to maintain the resource system and is incrementally reduced, if actual appropriation levels are above 10% or below 25% of the maximum sustainable yield as defined for the corporation. In Switzerland, the sustainable use of common property pastures is currently threatened by under- rather than by overgrazing which results in land abandonment and regrowth of forest and shrubs and consequently reduced bio- and landscape diversity. Summering payments therefore provide incentives for the corporation to keep grazing levels within a sustainable yield, including a lower and upper limit. The maximum sustainable yield is measured in appropriated units (NST). An appropriated unit corresponds to a livestock unit (GVE) summered for a hundred days. A livestock unit reflects an animal's weight and nutritional needs. Accordingly, a dairy cow represents one unit, young cattle of 1–2 years 0.4 units, cattle up to 1 year 0.2 units, sheep 0.25 units, and goat 0.2 units.

# 3. Methods

#### 3.1. The Framework for analysing behaviour of common-pool resource users

This study uses the framework for analysing behaviour in commons dilemmas (Poteete et al. 2010). The framework build on the social-ecological systems framework proposed by Ostrom (2007, 2009), which compasses three levels of analysis: Firstly, the action situation with the users' behaviour; secondly, the microsituation with the behavioural drivers; thirdly, the broader social-ecological context, where the latter affects the outcome of the microsituation.

Figure 2 displays the framework focus on the action situation. Recent extensions of this framework highlight the adjacency of action situations (McGinnis 2011). As changes in livestock endowment determine potential appropriation and appropriation determines provision, the observed action situations are closely linked. The actions result in an overall intensity of use and maintenance of the common property pasture as the outcome. The microsituation refers to the users' actions driven by personal attributes (U1...U10). The broader social-ecological context determines the microsituation and consists of the second tier variables, which describe a social-ecological system



*Figure 2: Conceptual model for analysing behaviour in adjacent action situations. Adapted and modified after Poteete et al. (2010, 220–239).* 

(Ostrom 2007). Consequently, contextual variables include external settings (S), the resource system (RS), the governance system (GS), the resource units (RU), users' attributes on the group (A) level, and social interactions (I) (Ostrom 2007; McGinnis 2011). As user attributes describe both group (A) and individual characteristics (U), they are part of the microsituation as well as of the broader context as group attributes.

#### 3.2. Analysis of the microsituation

In the microsituation, users' attributes are the explanatory variables and the actions the dependent binary variables. Data was collected in a standardised survey carried out in the course of three weeks in summer 2011. Ninety-five questionnaires were collected from 125 registered local farmers, mostly at their home. The interviews lasted on average 105 minutes and were conducted in teams of two, with a graduate student leading the interview assisted by a bachelor student completing the questionnaire. We interviewed at least 50% of the farmers in each corporation. Only 6 of the interviewed farmers were female.

The dependent variables were cross-checked for reliability with census data and against information collected from the monitors in order to ensure data quality. Livestock endowment was compared as nominal and as binary measure. The survey data for appropriation in absolute numbers were extrapolated to population size and then compared with the census data. The measures for provision behaviour were also extrapolated and compared with the information from a survey conducted with monitors of the corporations (n=7). The main purpose of this survey was to gather data on land use change published in another study. In this survey, the monitors had to state the number of defectors for 2010 in their corporation. For measuring change in livestock endowment we referred to a timespan of ten years (2000–2010) as it is constrained by fixed factors. As appropriation and provision are seasonal decision, we referred to the behaviour in the past season (2010).

#### 3.2.1. Operationalization of explanatory variables

The explanatory variables consisted of second tier variables describing the users as proposed in the Social-Ecological Systems framework (Ostrom 2007, 2009; Poteete et al. 2010). Moreover, we added variable opportunity costs (U10) and operationalized the variables as follows:

- U1- Number of users referred to the number of farmers in the corporation.
- U2- Socioeconomic attributes include
  - a) Age
  - b) Marital status
  - c) Successor: whether the farmer expected a family member to continue with the farm enterprise
  - d) Area under cultivation
  - e) Land use intensity for private plots
  - f) Labour productivity of the farm enterprise
- *U3-* History: a change in the farming strategy in the past ten years e.g. a switch in production standards or shift from dairy to mother cows.
- *U4-* Location: geographic location of the farm. Since corporations with exposition North-East (Itramen, Wärgistal) are facing less demand for land from tourism, we expected agriculture to be more prosperous in that area.
- *U5a* Leadership referred to farmers holding a formal function within the corporation.
- *U5b* Entrepreneurship was measured as the pay-off per livestock unit resulting from the farmers' appropriation behaviour (equation 1).

$$\frac{\pi_i}{e_i} = x_i(\omega_i - c) + \alpha_i(e_i - x_i) - (MSY_{corp} - x_j)s\frac{x_i}{\sum x_j}$$
(1)

Farmers pay-off  $(\pi_i)$  per livestock unit  $(e_i)$  depended on their appropriation behaviour. For each livestock unit, the farmer decided to either send it to common property pastures  $(x_i)$ , or have it graze on private land  $(e_i - x_i)$ . Each appropriated unit (c) costs a fee of CHF 700 to compensate herdsman for the care and milking of the animal. The revenue of the appropriated unit  $(\omega_i)$  is the farmer's revenue from cheese sales. The revenue from grazing a livestock unit on private land  $(\alpha_i)$  equals the revenue of milk sales during the period. Since the corporation receives a subsidy (s) of CHF 320 per appropriated unit, the difference between maximum sustainable yield of the corporation  $(MSY_{corp})$  and the actual appropriation levels in the corporation  $(x_i)$ results in foregone subsidies. We considered the forgone subsidies as costs that a farmer bears according to his share of the total appropriation in the corporation.  $(x_i/\Sigma x_i)$ .

- *U6a* Norms measured the farmer's aversion against defection on communal work of joint-users.
- *U6b* Social capital measured the amount of voluntary labour available to the farmer. This included family and friends who do not live in the same household.
- *U7-* Mental model referred to the identity of the individual regarding his profession. That is, whether the person considered his job title "Farmer" or not.
- *U8-* Importance of resource reflected the household's dependence on agricultural income.
- *U9-* Technology used referred to the production standard. Integrated production (*IP-SUISSE*) is the dominant production standard in the region and refers to a set of production requirements stricter than conventional, but more lenient than for organic farming.
- *U10-* Opportunity costs measured the farmer's relinquished benefit from offfarm income when doing agricultural work (equation 2).

$$Opportunity \ cost = \frac{LA_i}{LO_i} * \frac{IO_i}{IA_i}$$
(2)

Whereas  $(LA_i)$  is the household's work hours allocated to agricultural activities divided by hours spent doing off-farm activities  $(LO_i)$ , multiplied by the off-farm income  $(IO_i)$  over the agricultural income  $(IA_i)$ .

#### 3.2.2. Statistical procedure

We calculated binary logistic regression models to predict growth in livestock endowment, appropriation and provision behaviour based on the users' attributes. Binary logistic regression calculates the log of the odds for a dichotomous dependent variable by maximum likelihood (ML) estimation (Hosmer and Lemeshow 2000; Menard 2001) (equation 3):

$$\text{Logit} (\mathbf{Y}) = \ln \left[\frac{P}{1-P}\right] = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \dots + \beta_k X_k$$
(3)

Where:

*P* is the probability of the outcome for Y=1 (i..., growth in livestock endowment, full appropriation and provision)

 $\beta_0$  is the constant in the model

 $X_1 \dots X_k$  represent the explanatory variables

 $\beta_1 \dots \beta_k$  represent the coefficients for the respective explanatory variables

To estimate the parameters of the model, we first calculated full models including all explanatory variables. As we had solely 89 data points for the variable labour productivity (*A2e*) and 84 data points for the variable opportunity costs (*A10*), we omitted the two variables if not of significant explanatory power when calculating the reduced models. Thirdly, we estimated the parameters for the reduced models by maximum likelihood. The reduced models were selected by Bayesian Information criterion (BIC). Test statistics included for all models a non-significant Pearson Chi-squared, and significant Chi-squared tests. Lastly, we calculated standardised beta weights based on the mean of the predicted probability and the standard deviation of  $x_1...x_k$  (King 2007). The standardised beta transformed the coefficients into "standard deviation units" that allowed for scale-free comparison of binary and nominal variables (Menard 2004). The analysis was performed with the software package SPSS, Version 20.

#### 3.3. Analysis of the broader contextual variables

We then applied a Q method approach to analyse the impact of contextual variables on the ecological, economic, and social sustainability of the social-ecological system. Originating in psychology, this method has been applied to a variety of social-ecological problems aiming to develop detailed portraits about people's perspectives on a given problem (Swaffield and Fairweather 1996; Paula 2006; Swedeen 2006; Doody et al. 2009). As the local farmers were deemed to have the best knowledge about the way contextual variables affect the use of common property pastures, Q methodology was chosen to extract that knowledge by means of a five-step procedure.

- i. Problem definition: Based on literature review and explorative interviews, we identified 34contextual variables that potentially affect the use of common property pastures. We identified 9 variables describing the external setting (S), 10 variables for the local governance system (GS), 3 for the resource system, 2 for the resource units (RU), 5 for interactions (I), and another 5 describing the group attributes of the users (A).
- ii. Formulation of statements and definition of the sorting scheme: We used contextual variables instead of normative statements and decided that farmers should group the variables on a scale according to their perceived impact on the sustainable use of common property pastures. The scale ranged from +4 to -4, with the most positive impact at +4 and the least positive impact at -4 (Table 2).
- iii. Selection of subjects: For our purpose, sampling included the people best informed and most affected by the problem under concern (Rajé 2007). Thus, we selected the seven monitors and four additional farmers for participation.
- iv. The sorting procedure (Q sorting): Before sorting, we asked farmers to divide statements into three piles according to their impact on the use of common property pastures; one with variables considered to have a

Q sorting scheme	Least	positive i	mpact				Most	positive	impact
Statement ranking	-4	-3	-2	-1	0	1	2	3	4
Number of statements	2	3	4	5	6	5	4	3	2

positive impact, one with variables considered to have a negative impact, and one with neutral variables. We simply asked farmers to evaluate whether the variables have a positive or negative or neutral impact on the use of common property pastures instead of mentioning sustainability. This pre-sorting mostly resulted in unequally distributed piles. Farmers then had to rank the statements on the scheme (Q sorting). During sorting, we asked farmers to comment on the reasoning for the placement which was recorded. At the end of sorting, farmers were given the opportunity to reflect on their choices and to reallocate variables. In order to qualitatively understand the impact of the variables on the different sustainability dimensions and on the functioning of the overall social-ecological system, we finally discussed sorting with the farmers. We then photographed the Q sorts and computed them later on.

v. Factor analysis and interpretation of results: We analysed the collected samples using the standard PQ Method software, Version 2.31. We calculated the mean z-scores for each statement and the corresponding rank to represent the aggregate view. Additionally we conducted a principal component analysis that generated 8 factors of which 4 had an Eigenvalue bigger than 1. As all subjects loaded significantly on one of the two factors with the highest Eigenvalues, we considered these two factors for Varimax rotation, which finally displayed the two most contrasting views (Fairweather and Swaffield 2001; Paula 2006).

# 4. Results

#### 4.1. Descriptive statistics of the microsituation

Table 3 presents the measures for the dependent variables by corporation. Farmers with increasing livestock endowment outweighed farmers with decreasing endowment. The majority of farmers appropriated their entire endowment. Among the farmers with reduced appropriation strategy, nine farmers didn't appropriate at all and were therefore exempt from provision duties. The 86 farmers with provision duties showed strong tendencies towards full accomplishment of provision. On an aggregate level, all corporations achieved sustainable appropriation levels in terms of compliance with the range of state defined sustainable yields (75%–110% of optimal yield). The most intensive appropriation levels were observed in the

Corporation	Livestock endowment		Appropriation		Provision	
	Reduced	Growing	Reduced	Full	Reduced	Full
Grindel	3	9	3	9	2	9
Scheidegg	7	8	7	8	2	12
Wärgistal	3	7	2	8	0	9
Itramen	7	11	10	8	0	18
Bussalp	9	12	10	11	1	19
Bach	6	4	3	7	1	8
Holzmatten	8	1	4	5	0	5
Total	43	52	39	56	6	80
(%)	(45%)	(55%)	(41%)	(59%)	(7%)	(93%)
Cronbachs- $\alpha$	0.9	958	0.87	74	0.72	23

Table 3. Descriptive statistics for dependent variables listed per corporation.

corporation Scheidegg with 107% of maximum sustainable yield and lowest for Bach with 82% of maximum sustainable yield. Since no corporation showed a serious amount of defectors, overall provision activities are very close to the institutionally determined maximum. Therefore, both actions can be considered ecologically sustainable.

As indicated by the Cronbach's- $\alpha$ , survey data show very good to satisfying reliability for dependent variables if compared with census or respectively monitors information. Livestock endowment ideally matches census data if coded as binary. However, our sample shows a nominal increase in total livestock endowment by 9%, while the census shows a reduction of 8% from 2000 to 2010. Therefore, farmers with growing livestock endowment are slightly over-represented in the sample. The comparison of appropriation data with the census also shows good reliability with Cronbach's- $\alpha$  at 0.874. The provision data shows lower reliability with Cronbach's- $\alpha$  at 0.723, as monitors indicated 15 defectors, whilst our sample included six. The reason for the deviation is that our sample includes local farmers only while the monitors also referred to 8–10 external farmers, which, according to monitors, are more likely to defect on provision activities.

Table 4 shows the descriptive statistics for farmers' attributes considered in the regression models. Farmers were on average 51.6 years old (U2a) with a mean cultivated area (U2c) of nearly 12 hectares. Typically, farmers held one livestock unit per hectare (U2d). According to the farm size index (SAK), a farm of this size can be managed by one person. The mean value for labour productivity (U2e) indicates that it took in fact two persons to run the farm, including the work of partners and voluntary labourers. With regard to family structure, most farmers were married (U2b) and often counted on voluntary labour (U6b)provided by their own children, grandparents, or neighbours but rarely expected family succession (U2f). Importance of resource (U8) shows that most farming

Farmers' attributes	Description	Ν	Mean	SD
U1- Number of	Number of farmers in the corporation to which the	94	21.45	4.73
U2 Socioconomia	a) A ga of former Nominal (years)	05	51.62	12.29
	a) Age of farmer – Nominal (years)	95	0.75	12.20
attributes of users	b) Marital status – Binary variable, value 1 if farmer is married	95	0.75	0.44
	c) Area under cultivation – Nominal (ha)	94	11.93	7.84
	<ul> <li>d) Land use intensity for private plots – Nominal (GVE/ha)</li> </ul>	95	0.98	0.37
	<ul> <li>e) Labour productivity – Effective working hours / work time needed according to farm size index (SAK)</li> </ul>	89	0.5	0.29
	<ul> <li>f) Successor – Binary variable. Value 1 if farmer thinks that there will be a successor in the family willing to continue with the farm business.</li> </ul>	95	0.27	0.45
U3- History of use	History – Binary variable. Value 1 if farmer has changed the farming strategy within past 10 years.	95	0.67	0.47
U4- Location	Located exposition North-Fast	94	0.31	0.46
U5- Leadership/	<ul> <li>a) Leadership – Binary Variable. Value 1 if the farmer</li> </ul>	95	0.32	0.47
entrepreneursnip	<ul> <li>b) Pay-off per GVE during summering season – Nominal variable (CHF)</li> </ul>	94	149.1	533.6
U6a- Norms	Norms – Binary variable. Value 1 if the farmer dislikes other farmers avoiding communal work and paying fines instead.	94	0.45	0.5
U6b- Social capital	Social capital – Percentage of voluntary labour available to the farmer when needed (excluding their partners).	95	64.16	56.43
U7- Mental models	Mental model – Binary variable. Value one if the farmer considers his job title to be "Farmer".	94	0.64	0.48
U8- Importance of resource	Importance of resource – Share of agricultural income in proportion to total household income	95	36.78	29.46
U9- Technology used	Technology – Binary variable. Value 1 if the farmer produces according to IP standards	95	0.68	0.47
U10- Opportunity costs	Opportunity costs – Share of agricultural working hours in relation to total working hours divided by the share of agricultural income in proportion to total income.	84	2.92	3.26

Table 4: Descriptive statistics for explanatory variables.

households substantially relied on off-farm income and no household relied solely on agricultural income. With regard to their pay-off (U5b), farmers differed widely, as the function allows for negative values. Farmers that appropriated non-milked animals or used a substantial amount of the cheese for their own consumption did not cover the costs of their appropriation decisions. The variable importance of resources shows that farmers in the region have good off-farm income opportunities. On average, their earnings per hour off-farm work triple the earnings from agricultural work. The sample also includes 11 retired farmers that have no opportunity costs (U10) for farming activities.

#### 4.2. Regression model for change in livestock endowment

Table 5 lists variables significantly associated with change in livestock endowment. Considering the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC), the model with 4 variables offers the best fit to the data in relation to the variables included. The  $\beta$ -values reveal positive effects for marital status (*U2b*) and area (*U2c*), and negative effects for age (*U2a*) and norms (*U6a*) on the odds of increasing livestock endowment. The standardised  $\beta$ -values display the actual effect of the variables in the model, irrespective of scale.

As indicated by the standardised  $\beta$ , area is the strongest predictor for change in livestock endowment. With every additional hectare of cultivated area (*U2c*), the odds for livestock growth increased by 17.5%. This suggests that size conditions growth and those farmers with larger sized farms are more likely to attempt to realise economies of scale than colleagues with smaller landholdings.

Age proved to be the second best predictor for change in livestock endowment, as an additional year of life reduced the odds for livestock growth by 7.8%. This relationship might be partly linked to farmers' fitness and partly to policies. As age (U2a) is negatively correlated with labour productivity (U2e), decreasing physical abilities possibly forced some farmers' to reduce livestock endowment. Additionally, farmers receive substantial direct payments until retirement age. This suggests that farmers' willingness to invest in factors constraining livestock endowment age. The main reason might be that without direct payments, such investments are likely to become untenable.

Explanatory	β	$\beta^s$
Variable	(se)	
U2a-Age	-0.081	-0.230***
	(0.026)	
U2b- Marital status	1.602	0.163**
	(0.645)	
U2c- Area	0.161	0.288***
	(0.048)	
U6a- Norms	-1.354	-0.158**
	(0.576)	
Constant	2.358	
	(1.339)	
N	94	
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup> (NK)	0.514	
-2LL	82.6	
BIC	105.2	

Table 5: Estimated and standardised  $\beta$ -coefficients for binary logistic regression models predicting change in livestock endowment. Standard errors (se) in brackets and significance levels p are indicated by asterisk (99%\*\*\*, 95%\*\*, 90%\*).

Growth in livestock endowment was also associated with marital status (U2b). For married farmers, the odds for endowment growth increased 4 times. This suggests that partnership facilitates dealing with the extra workload resulting from additional livestock. Rather surprisingly, norms (U6a) which display positive attitude towards the fulfilment of provision activities decreased the odds for endowment growth by a factor of 0.24. This suggests that with growth in endowment, the concern for the maintenance of common property decreases.

#### 4.3. Regression model for appropriation behaviour

Table 6 presents the variables significantly associated with appropriation behaviour. The  $\beta$ -values show a positive association of marital status (*U2b*) and norms (*U6a*) and negative association of area (*U2c*) and leadership (*U5a*) with full appropriation. As displayed by the standardised beta weights, norms (*U6a*) are the best predictor for appropriation behaviour followed by leadership (*U5a*), marital status (*U2b*), and area (*U2c*).

We found the strongest association to be between norms (U6a) and appropriation behaviour. Hence, farmers with aversion against defection on communal work had 2.4 times higher odds for appropriating all their livestock which points to self-interest. A farmer appropriating all his livestock is likely to be more concerned about the state of the resource and therefore also cares about joint-users fulfilling their provision activities. Leadership attributes (U5a) assigned to farmers with formal function in a corporation reduced the odds for full appropriation by a factor of 0.38. As farmers communicated, reduced

Explanatory	β	βs
Variable	(se)	·
U2b- Marital status	0.916	0.096*
	(0.522)	
U2c- Area	-0.038	-0.073*
	(0.032)	
U5a- Leadership	-0.945	-0.106*
	(0.524)	
U6a- Norms	1.253	0.150***
	(0.484)	
Constant	-0.045	
	(0.599)	
N	93	
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup> (NK)	0.220	
-2LL	109.0	
BIC	131.6	

Table 6: Estimated and standardised  $\beta$ -coefficients for binary logistic regression models predicting appropriation. Standard error (se) in brackets, significance levels indicated by asterisk (99%\*\*\*, 95%\*\*, 90%\*)

appropriation lessens workload. In this case, mostly younger cattle are kept in the valley to graze unproductive pastures for which mowing is labour intensive. Possible explanations would therefore be that leaders cultivated more marginal pastures or tended to have younger animals.

Socio-economic attributes such as marital status (U2b) and area (U2c) were also significantly associated with appropriation behaviour. Married farmers were 1.5 times more likely to appropriate their full endowment, while an additional hectare of area leads to a decrease in the odds of full appropriation by 3.7%. The reasoning for both variables again might point to the role of workload. When hay collection and provision duties can be split among couples during peak times, appropriation behaviour of married farmers might be less determined by labour scarcity. The need to reduce workload might also increase with area (U2c), leading farmers with larger land holdings to reduce appropriation and concentrate on private lands.

#### 4.4. Regression model for provision behaviour

Table 7 displays the reduced model for provision behaviour. The models entail fewer cases, as farmers without appropriation were exempt from provision activities. The uneven distribution of the dependent variable explains larger standard errors. Stepwise reduction points to area (U2c), followed by pay-off (A5b), and importance of resource (A8) as the most important predictors.

The strongest association existed between area (U2c) and provision behaviour. That is an increase in land holding by an additional hectare reduced the odds of full provision by 19.2%. The negative effect of land holding on provision suggests that extra workload resulting from additional plots prevents farmers from accomplishing their provision duties. Regarding the beta coefficient, an

Explanatory	β	$\beta^s$
Variable	(se)	
A2c- Area	-0.213	-0.127**
	(0.116)	
A5b-Pay-off	0.003	0.108**
	(0.001)	
A8-Importance of resource	0.048	0.103*
	(0.027)	
Constant	3.734	
	(1.223)	
N	86	
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup> (NK)	0.248	
-2LL	34.6	
BIC	52.4	

Table 7: Estimated and standardised  $\beta$ -coefficients for binary logistic regression models predicting provision behaviour. Standard error (se) in brackets, significance levels indicated by asterisk (99%\*\*\*, 95%\*\*, 90%\*)

additional Swiss franc in pay-off (U5b) increased the odds of full provision by 0.3%. Although this seems negligible, the standardised coefficient illustrates that with a coarser scale, the effect would have become more pronounced. Moreover, importance of resource shows that an increase in agricultural income of 1% compared to non-agricultural income, increased the odds of full provision by 4.9%. The positive association of pay-off (U5b) and importance of resource (A8) with full provision suggests a strong positive relationship between the benefits obtained from a resource and farmers' willingness to maintain it.

# **4.5.** The impact of contextual variables on the sustainable use of common property pastures

Table 8 shows the impact of contextual variables on the sustainable use of common property pastures in terms of ecological, economic, and social outcomes. The Mean value represents the overall sample, while Factor A and B represent the most distinguishing views. According to the overall sample, sustainability is promoted in particular through the functioning of the subsystems resource units (RU) and to a lesser extent by group attributes (A). The subsystem challenging sustainability includes the external settings (S), the resource system (RS), and interactions (I). The role of the governance system (GS) is neutral.

The mean value for the external settings reflects discontent with agricultural policies. Both government resource polices (S5) and market incentives (S6) achieve negative scores. The most problematic issues include dependence on direct payments, regulations for obtaining them and the milk price. In summary, farmers see government support and the relevant regulations as threatening entrepreneurial freedom and would instead appreciate stronger market incentives. Among government policies, only summering payments contribute to sustainability and provide financial resources to the corporation for the maintenance of the resource system. The mean value for income opportunities in the tourism sector shows the importance of off-farm income for farmers' livelihoods. Accordingly, tourism rather enables than competes with farming, even though in the resource system (RS) increasing demand for building sites, reduces available productive agricultural land. Within the governance system (GS), the local constitutional rules (GS7) are considered to have a positive impact, including the recent opening of common property pastures to non-local users. Thus, the presence of foreign cattle is not a desired development, but a necessary response to decreasing local livestock. Furthermore, the agricultural sector faces decreasing standing in municipal politics.

Resource units (RU) achieve the highest scores, as their economic value (RU4) provides incentives for the use of common property pastures. Particularly the added value in the production of alpine cheese compared to milk sales motivates appropriation. The main reason for the high added value of alpine cheese is sales opportunities resulting from the demand strengthened by the local tourism sector. Besides high scores for the resource units, users' group attributes (A) also achieved a slightly positive score. Surprisingly, interviewees consider the group

Table 8: Normalised factor scores for contextual variables on ordinal scale ranging from +4 indicating the most positive impact to -4 indicating the least positive impact of the variables on the sustainable use of common property pasture. The Mean values refer to the overall sample, while Factors A and B display the most distinguishing views. Asterisks mark the variables distinguishing Factors at a significance of 99%. Values for subsystems and second tier variables are calculated by means of the referring statements.

Contextual variables		Normalised scores			
	Mean	Factor A	Factor B		
External Settings (S)	-0.7	-0.7	-0.1		
S5- Government resource policies	-0.7	-0.2	0		
Dependence on agricultural income*	-1	-3	4		
Direct payments tied to livestock*	-1	2	-2		
Direct payments tied to private land*	0	0	3		
Ecological regulations for obtaining direct payments*	-3	0	-4		
Rules for the obtainment of summering payments*	-1	-3	1		
Summering payments*	2	3	-2		
S6- Market incentives	-0.7	-1.7	-0.3		
Off-farm income opportunities in the local tourism sector	4	3	2		
Dependence upon direct payments*	-4	-4	0		
Milk price	-2	-4	-3		
Resource System (RS)	-0.3	-0.7	-0.7		
RS3- Size of resource system	-0.5	-1	-1.5		
Availability of agricultural area in the valley	-2	-1	-2		
Area of the corporation	1	-1	-1		
RS5- Productivity of system					
Quality of common property pastures	0	0	1		
Governance System (GS)	0	0.3	0.4		
GS3- Network structure	-0.7	1	1.3		
Recognition of agriculture by local politics	-3	-1	-1		
Reimbursements of railway operators to the corporations	0	2	2		
Solidarity between the corporations	1	2	3		
GS4- Property rights system	-0.7	-0.3	-0.7		
Flexibility and lease of use rights*	0	-2	1		
Amount of use rights in relation to the stock of animals present in the valley	-2	1	0		
Attachment of use rights to private parcels in the valley*	0	0	-3		
GS5- Operational rules	0.3	-0.3	-0.7		
Hours of communal work to be conducted	2	1	1		
Opening of the common property pastures for foreign cattle*	3	0	-2		
Presence of foreign cattle on the common property pastures	-4	-2	-1		
GS7- Constitutional rules					
Rules of the local constitution*	3	2	4		
Resource Units (RU)	3.5	4	1		
RU4- Economic value	3.5	4	1		
Added value of alpine cheese*	4	4	2		
Marketing and sales opportunities*	3	4	0		

#### Table 8: Continued

Contextual variables	N	ormalised s	cores
	Mean	Factor A	Factor B
Group attributes of Users (A)	0.4	0.4	-1.2
A1- Number of users	1	1	-1
Number of farmers*	2	1	-1
Share of locally born and raised farmers*	-1	0	-1
A5- Leadership/entrepreneurship	1	2	0
Farmers innovative abilities and entrepreneurship	1	1	0
Leadership within the corporation	1	3	0
A7- Knowledge of SES			
Know-how of the employees on the Alp*	-1	-3	-1
Interactions (I)	-0.4	-1	0.6
I3- Deliberation process	0	-2	0
Common values and goals for administering corporations*			
14- Conflicts among user	-2	-2	3
Negotiability of conflicts on the local level*			
15- Investment activities	1.5	0	1.5
The amount of resources invested into the infrastructure	2	1	2
Willingness to fulfil provision requirements*	1	-1	1
17- Self-organizing activities			
Cohesion and solidarity among the farmers*	-3	-1	-3

of farmers to be large enough, although the number of farmers (AI) is constantly decreasing. Interactions (*I*) were valued slightly negatively. Farmers complained of solidarity among themselves (*I3*), negotiability of conflicts (*I4*), cohesion (*I7*), and, while infrastructural investments (*I5*) and willingness to fulfil provision activities achieved positive scores.

#### 4.5.1. Disagreement regarding the impact of contextual variables

As indicated by Factors A and B in Table 8, we identified two groups of farmers with different perceptions regarding the role of contextual factors for the sustainable use of common property pastures. Factor A represents a liberal market-oriented view and Factor B represents a traditional view. Their views differ mostly with regard to the functioning of the government's resource policies (*S5*) and interactions (*I*). The liberal viewpoint is closer to the overall sample with an Eigenvalue of 2.89 and seven people loading on it. The traditionalist view achieves an Eigenvalue of 2 with four people loading on it.

The liberal viewpoint displays preferences for market incentives (*S6*) resulting from interrelations with tourism accompanied by scepticism against agricultural policies. Accordingly, the tourism sector supports local demand for alpine products and off-farm income opportunities to reduce dependence on agricultural income and direct payments. Overall, the liberal viewpoint claims that an external setting (*S*), which offers more room for market forces and entrepreneurial freedom enhances

the sustainable use of common property pastures. The estimation of the economic value of resource units (RS) as incentives for the sustainable use of common property pastures underlines the market-oriented perspective. According to their perception, higher returns for alpine products determines farmers' willingness to use and maintain the Alps sustainably and was considered the best means to prevent land abandonment. In contrast, increasing governmental regulations cause higher transaction costs with governmental agencies, for example through controls, and furthermore requires unproductive investments to meet the prescribed standards, which are often considered bureaucratic burdens that interfere with sustainable traditional practices. In accordance with preferences for market incentives, the liberals show less concern over the presence of foreign cattle, but more concern over interactions (I) among farmers. Particularly common values (I3) and goals in negotiating affairs in the corporations and the negotiability of conflicts (14) on the local level achieve negative scores. Such conflicts arise mostly over the organisation of sales activities or the management of the resource system in co-existence with tourism. The latter includes questions such as whether to allow tourist infrastructure such as ponds, artificial snow production or new trails and restaurants.

In contrast to the liberal view, the traditional view shows preferences for a closed agricultural system and livelihood focused on income from agriculture. The traditionalist viewpoint considers a dependence on agricultural income and direct payments tied to private plots to foster the sustainable use of common property pastures. Although the traditionalists are critical about the regulations for obtaining direct payments, they acknowledge that government support secures agricultural livelihoods. According to the traditional view, an external setting (*S*) that relies on heavy government support, enables agricultural livelihoods and thus promotes the sustainable use of common property pastures. Furthermore, traditionalists prefer a closed self-organised system as represented by the strong positive value of constitutional rules (*GS7*) and the possibility of leasing use rights among farmers. In terms of opening the system, traditionalists are concerned about the presence of foreign cattle and the number of farmers and their origin. They are concerned that the opening of the system might endanger the local cohesion and self-organisation.

# 5. Discussion

The behaviour of individuals in social dilemmas is a central puzzle in the study of the commons (Poteete et al. 2010; Anderies et al. 2011). Since information about behavioural drivers derives mostly from experimental research, this study aims to complement experimental findings with field observations from Grindelwald, Switzerland. In doing so, we estimated regression models from survey data to predict the behaviour of alpine farmers regarding change in livestock endowment, appropriation, and provision. Data showed that a slight majority of farmers (55%) increased endowment and applied full appropriation strategy (59%). Completion of provision activities was remarkably high (93%).

As summarised in Table 9, behaviour depended significantly on diverse user attributes. Socio-economic attributes, in particular age (U2a), marital status (U2b), and area (U2c), explained farmers' changes in livestock endowment. The role of age and marital status is best explained by their effect on work organisation, as youth and partnership allow the handling of larger endowments. Furthermore, the variable area suggests that farm size itself is the strongest predictor for endowment growth. The key role of area and also age in determining farm development is widely confirmed in the literature and indicates structural change towards fewer but larger sized farms (Baur 1999; Weiss 1999; Lauber et al. 2008). Other variables found to be associated with farm development such as presence of a successor (Potter and Lobley 1996; Mann 2003), opportunity costs, and labour productivity (Schmitt 1992), did not have a significant effect upon livestock endowment in the study region. Furthermore, the negative association of area with appropriation and particularly with provision behaviour suggests that farmers with larger sized farms concentrate labour on private property and reduce the use of common property. Likewise, farmers with larger land holdings are more likely to defect. As discussed, reduced appropriation reduces workload in two ways. Firstly, marginal private pastures are grazed by animals instead of labour intensive hay production. Secondly, lower appropriation reduces provision requirements.

Appropriation behaviour showed the strongest association with norms (U6a) – measured as farmers' aversion against defection on provision, assuming individuals with a full appropriation strategy are more concerned about the

<i>tpositive)</i>	a by arrows (≥ moaerate	negative; ⇔neut	rai; >moaerc	tte positive;
Method	Regression Models			Q Method
Variables	Livestock endowment	Appropriation	Provision	Outcomes
U2a- Age	(-)***			
U2b- Marital status	(+)**	(+)*		
U2c- Area	(+)***	(-)*	(-)**	
U5a- Leadership		(-)*		
U5b- Pay-off			(+)**	
U6a- Norms	(-)**	(+)***		
U8- Importance of resource			(+)*	
S- External setting				K
RS- Resource system				V

GS- Governance system

RU- Resource units A- Group attributes of users

I- Interactions

Table 9: Direction of significant effects of individuals attributes on behavior in social dilemmas as calculated by binary logistic regression (99%\*\*\*, 95%\*\*, 90%\*). Additionally, the effects of contextual variables on the sustainable use of common property pastures as calculated by Q Method are indicated by arrows ( $\checkmark$  moderate negative;  $\Leftrightarrow$  neutral;  $\nearrow$  moderate positive;  $\uparrow$ positive)

↔ ↑

7

1

productivity of the resource and consequently hold stronger norms towards provision fulfilment. Self-interest might equally explain the association of payoff (U5b) and the importance of resource with full provision behaviour. Hence, the willingness of individuals to maintain a common-pool resource increases the more an individual relies on the resource for his livelihood and the higher the generated pay-offs.

To assess the impact of contextual variables on the sustainable use of common property pastures, we applied Q methodology. Among the contextual variables, the value of resource units (RU4) was considered to have the most positive impact on the sustainability of common property pastures. As the economic value affects an individual's pay-off ability, we have reason to assume that a close positive relationship exists between the value of resource units and the fulfilment of provision activities. Tourism helps strengthening local demand and the economic value of resource units, and thus pay-offs. Furthermore, tourism allows for livelihoods with balanced agricultural and off-farm activities reducing the need to increase farm size, which is assumed to reduce use and maintenance of common property pastures. With regard to the perception of external settings (S), farmers differed significantly in their views. A liberalist viewpoint was identified that favours price incentives over governmental support, while the traditional view assumes that sustainability of common property pastures is promoted by strong governmental support securing agriculture-based livelihoods.

#### 5.1. Implications for policy makers

The study provides further evidence that structural change towards fewer but larger sized farms results in decreasing use and maintenance of common property pastures (Gellrich et al. 2007). As average farm size increases, farmers reduce appropriation levels, resulting in an overall reduction of provision activities. Furthermore, the defection rate is likely to increase as farms grow bigger. To balance the reduced use resulting from structural change, we see three major policy options: (i) within the local governance system (GS), a further opening of the pastures and active acquisition of cattle from the lowlands; (ii) regarding external settings (S), stronger incentives for summering particularly of younger cattle; and (iii) policies for increasing the value of resource units. The further opening of pastures is likely to have some undesirable consequences. As the monitors stated, external users are more likely to defect on communal work and pay fines instead. This might lead to situations, where appropriators and maintenance providers become two separate groups, with external appropriators paying fees for defection on provision that might be used by the corporation to reimburse local farmers for provision. It is likely that both the quantity and quality of provision activities might then decrease as incentives, for provision are closely linked to appropriation levels. Furthermore, the Q method results for the governance system (GS) showed that farmers consider the presence of foreign cattle an undesirable, but necessary, as foreign cattle is less suitable to alpine conditions. Therefore, policies should target incentives to foster the appropriation of local cattle with focus on younger cattle in particular, which are often left grazing in the valley. Furthermore, the maintenance of common property pastures depends on farmers' pay-offs, which are determined by the economic value of resource units. As a consequence, marketing tools for alpine dairy products should be considered as a policy option. A clear communication of the non-industrial production process and of the added cultural and ecological values potentially secures demand and prices for alpine products which are crucial for the sustainable use of common property pastures.

#### 5.2 Implications for the study of the commons

#### 5.2.1. Variables associates with appropriation and provision behaviour

Ostrom identifies six user attributes (U1, U2, U5, U6, U7, U8) that are potentially important for the sustainability of social-ecological systems (Ostrom 2009; Poteete et al. 2010). Although these variables relate to successful self-organisation of groups, our study expands on how the variables promote sustainable interaction of users with the ecological system. Along the lines of the framework, entrepreneurial attributes (U5), norms (U6) and importance of resource (U8)were central behavioural drivers in our study that relate to Ostrom's findings. According to Ostrom, presence of leaders and entrepreneurship in a group facilitates self-organisation; our study shows that entrepreneurship has a positive impact on fulfilment of provision duties, while leaders (defined as those who hold a formal function in a corporation) are more likely to apply reduced appropriating strategies. The latter is mostly context-specific, as leaders tend to be those with a long regional family tradition who own the ancient "Vorsassen" located on the border to common property; these private plots are generally less productive and difficult to mow and thus particularly suited for grazing younger animals. Furthermore, Ostrom shows that groups with shared moral and ethical norms face lower transaction costs for self-organisation. Our study reveals that with higher appropriation levels, users develop stronger norms for the maintenance of the resource which suggests that they show more commitment to leading selforganising and monitoring activities. Furthermore, users depending on a resource for their livelihood are more willing to invest in the maintenance of the resource, which is shown in the provision model. In contrast to the Ostrom framework, the variables number of users (U1) and mental models (U7) had no significant impact in our case. This is probably due to the heterogeneous group size of corporations and the fact that the mental model, which measured the farmers' identity, does not significantly affect farmers' actions. We expected that individuals, who define farming as their main occupation, are more likely to run growing enterprises, show higher appropriation and provision levels, which proved not to be the case. Recent studies propose an understanding of mental models as the inner representation of the external world (Jones et al. 2011). Q-methodology is a valid tool to elaborate on individuals' mental models. Unfortunately, our study design does not allow us to draw conclusions on how the perception of the functioning of the social-ecological system (e.g. liberalist view) relates to actual behaviour. Nevertheless, mental models constitute a central part in the study of socialecological interactions that can be equally addressed in experimental research (Lynam et al. 2012). Similarly, the variable opportunity costs of farming (U10) that we added to the framework did not significantly affect behaviour.

#### 5.2.2. Implications for commonpool and public good experiments

The study provides implications for future experimental research exploring appropriation and provision problems. Most importantly, our findings suggest that appropriation and provision behaviour is closely linked through norms (U6a) and pay-offs (U5b). People with higher appropriation levels hold stronger norms regarding the provision fulfilment of joint users. Thus, we hypothesise that individuals with higher appropriation levels are more willing to invest in the monitoring and sanctioning of provision defectors in public good experiments. Experiments have shown that sanctioning possibilities increase corporation (Falk et al. 2002; Nikiforakis and Normann 2008), that individuals willingness to invest in sanctioning is best explained through inequality aversion (Fehr and Gächter 2000) and that even externals who do not benefit from public good provision make substantial investment for punishing defectors (Fehr and Fischbacher 2004). Nevertheless sanctioning has not been interpreted as an altruistic act to increase common welfare, but rather rooted in the desire to invoke costs on defectors (Bowles and Gintis 2002). Our results suggest that self-interest might be of central importance for sanctioning behaviour as those with highest appropriation rates hold the strongest norms regarding the corporation of joint users for the provision of public goods. Therefore, future experiments might test if individuals' investment levels are indeed positively associated with higher willingness to punish defectors in public goods games. Furthermore, the study suggests that people with higher pay-offs from appropriation will make higher investments into the public good. This finding relates to public good experiments, where investments increase with marginal returns (Isaac and Walker 1988; Isaac et al. 1994; Janssen and Ostrom 2006) but is contrasted by a study showing that individuals with higher income contribute less (Chan et al. 1996). Therefore, future experiments might consider linking common-pool experiments with public good experiments to test, if individuals with higher appropriation pay-off make larger investments into the public good.

#### 5.2.3. Methodological challenges in linking behaviour to context

As this study observed behaviour for a single period, longitudinal studies are needed to observe the behaviour repeatedly and relate it to actions of joint users. Such studies will allow the inclusion of variables such as reciprocity, which is considered crucial for behaviour in experimental studies (Rustagi et al. 2010; Gächter and Thöni 2011) and whether predicted patterns of strategies towards concentration of either full or cero contribution (Janssen and Ahn 2006) can be equally observed in the field. Furthermore, additional studies on individuals'

behaviours are needed in the context of other common-pool resources to further theorise the interplay of microsituational and contextual variables and the way they determine behaviour. In our study, individuals are guided by robust institutions (Baur and Binder 2013). It might well be that our findings do not apply to a socialecological context, where incentive structures are entirely different, in particular in settings, where over-exploitation and under-provision are dominant modes of behaviour. Therefore, it remains a methodological challenge to control for the impact of contextual variables on behaviour. Q methodology was used in this study to elaborate on the role of different contextual variables and on the different dimensions of sustainability of the SES. Given the notion of Q methodology that the number of distinct viewpoints on a given topic is limited (Van Exel and de Graaf 2005), we decided to extract knowledge from the people best informed using a rather small sample. The sharp distinction between the two views that we found as confirmed by the individuals' factor loadings increases confidence that the results from Q method best represent the farmers' views.

Unfortunately, the study design does not reveal how differences in the perception of contextual variables link to the observed behaviour on the individual level as this would require a larger sample of the q method to gather more data points for the individuals in order to make reliable predictions. Future studies adopting the same combination of methods would potentially benefit from including not only resource users, but also external experts on the topic from governmental, NGO or science for sampling. Experts might provide different perspectives that would allow distinguishing between farmers and experts opinions more clearly.

# 6. Conclusion

This study offers explanations about the way personal attributes affect individuals' use of common-pool resources. It thus elaborates on the general framework of studying social-ecological systems and laboratory experiments, which simulate appropriation and provision problems. Our findings suggest that socio-economic attributes (U2) determine the endowment of resource users and provision activities. Norms (U6a) and pay-off (U5b) determined appropriation and provision behaviour. The analysis shows that individuals, who appropriate intensely, hold stronger norms towards maintaining the resource stock and as a result would be probably more willing to invest in the punishment of freeriders. In turn, it was shown that the higher an individual's economic benefit generated from appropriation, the less likely a user is to defect on externally assigned provision duties for maintaining the resource stock and the physical infrastructure. In summary, the study reveals that those individuals who use a resource intensively and benefit most from it also have the biggest interest in maintaining resource productivity in the long run, and thus apply and enforce pro-social behaviour. The analysis of contextual variables suggests that this mechanism is accelerated with increasing value of resource units for the management of common property pastures. This raises two questions for experimental research that would require linking appropriation to provision situations: (i) Are individuals with higher appropriation rates also more willing to invest in the sanctioning of provision defectors in public good situations in order to sustain or increase their appropriation pay-offs? (ii) Does an increase in an individual's pay-offs from appropriation result in higher investments into the public good? If so, self-interest can be indeed considered a motivational driver leading to pro-social behaviour. Nevertheless, behaviour remains context-specific, which limits the extent to which these findings can be generalised. Behaviour is thus likely to vary with factors such as the quality of institutions, the type, and prices of the resource used, and the overall condition of the social-ecological system; the control for contextual factors and their effect on the associations of personal attributes with behaviour in field studies and experimental research consequently remains a central methodological challenge for the study of the commons.

# Literature cited

- Ahn, T. K., E. Ostrom, and J. Walker. 2010. A Common-pool Resource Experiment with Postgraduate Subjects from 41 Countries. *Ecological Economics* 69(12):2624–2633.
- Anderies, J. M., M. A. Janssen, F. Bousquet, J.-C. Cardenas, D. Castillo, M.-C. Lopez, R. Tobias, B. Vollan, and A. Wutich. 2011. The Challenge of Understanding Decisions in Experimental Studies of Common Pool Resource Governance. *Ecological Economics* 70(9):1571–1579.
- Baur, P. T. 1999. Agrarstrukturwandel in der Schweiz, Diss. Techn. Wiss. ETH Zürich, Nr. 13240 1999. Ref.: P. Rieder; Korref.: R. Schubert.
- Baur, I. and C. R. Binder. 2013. Adapting to Socioeconomic Developments by Changing Rules in the Governance of Common Property Pastures in the Swiss Alps. *Ecology and Society* 18(4):60.
- Berkes, F., D. Feeny, B. J. McCay, and J. M. Acheson. 1989. The Benefits of the Commons. *Nature* 340(6229):91–93.
- Bowles, S. and H. Gintis. 2002. Social Capital And Community Governance\*. *The Economic Journal* 112(483):F419–F436.
- Cárdenas, J.-C. and E. Ostrom. 2004. What do People Bring into the Game? Experiments in the Field about Cooperation in the Commons. *Agricultural Systems* 82(3):307–326.
- Cavalcanti, C., F. Schläpfer, and B. Schmid. 2010. Public Participation and Willingness to Cooperate in Common-pool Resource Management: A Field Experiment with Fishing Communities in Brazil. *Ecological Economics* 69(3):613–622.
- Chan, K. S., S. Mestelman, R. Moir, and R. A. Muller. 1996. The Voluntary Provision of Public Goods Under Varying Income Distributions. *Canadian Journal of Economics* 29(1):54–69.

- Doody, D. G., P. Kearney, J. Barry, R. Moles, and B. O'Regan. 2009. Evaluation of the Q-method as a Method of Public Participation in the Selection of Sustainable Development Indicators. *Ecological Indicators* 9(6):1129–1137.
- Fairweather, J. R. and S. R. Swaffield. 2001. Visitor Experiences of Kaikoura, New Zealand: An Interpretative Study Using Photographs of Landscapes and Q Method. *Tourism Management* 22(3):219–228.
- Falk, A., E. Fehr, and U. Fischbacher. 2002. Appropriating the Commons: A Theoretical Explanation. In *The drama of the Commons*, Eds. E. Ostrom, N. D. Thomas Dietz, P. C. Stern, S. Stonich, and U. Weber, 157–191. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Fehr, E. and U. Fischbacher. 2004. Third-party Punishment and Social Norms. *Evolution and Human Behavior* 25(2):63–87.
- Fehr, E. and S. Gächter. 2000. Cooperation and Punishment in Public Goods Experiments. *The American Economic Review* 90(4):980–994.
- Fischbacher, U., S. Gächter, and E. Fehr. 2001. Are People Conditionally Cooperative? Evidence from a Public Goods Experiment. *Economics Letters* 71(3):397–404.
- Gächter, S. and C. Thöni. 2011. Micromotives, Microstructure, and Macrobehavior: The Case of Voluntary Cooperation. *Journal of Mathematical Sociology* 35(1–3):26–65.
- Gardner, R., E. Ostrom, and J. M. Walker. 1990. The Nature of Common-pool Resource Problems. *Rationality and Society* 2(3):335–358.
- Gellrich, M., P. Baur, B. Koch, and N. E. Zimmermann. 2007. Agricultural Land Abandonment and Natural Forest Re-growth in the Swiss Mountains: A Spatially Explicit Economic Analysis. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 118(1):93–108.
- Henrich, J., S. J. Heine, and A. Norenzayan. 2010. Beyond WEIRD: Towards a Broad-based Behavioral Science. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* (33):111–135.
- Hosmer, D. W. and S. Lemeshow. 2000. *Applied Logistic Regression*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley& Sons.
- Isaac, R. M. and J. M. Walker. 1988. Group Size Effects in Public Goods Provision: The Voluntary Contributions Mechanism. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 103(1):179–199.
- Isaac, R. M., J. M. Walker, and A. W. Williams. 1994. Group Size and the Voluntary Provision of Public Goods: Experimental Evidence Utilizing Large Groups. *Journal of Public Economics* 54(1):1–36.
- Janssen, M. A. and T.-K. Ahn. 2006. Learning, Signaling, and Social Preferences in Public-good Games. *Ecology and Society* 11(2):21.
- Janssen, M. A. and E. Ostrom. 2006. Empirically Based, Agent-based Models. *Ecology and Society* 11(2):37.
- Janssen, M. A., R. Holahan, A. Lee, and E. Ostrom. 2010. Lab Experiments for the Study of Social-ecological Systems. *Science* 328(5978):613–617.
- Jones, N. A., H. Ross, T. Lynam, P. Perez, and A. Leitch. 2011. Mental Models: An Interdisciplinary Synthesis of Theory and Methods. *Ecology and Society* 16(1):46.

- Keser, C. and R. Gardner. 1999. Strategic Behavior of Experienced Subjects in a Common Pool Resource Game. *International Journal of Game Theory* 28(2):241–252.
- King, J. E. 2007. Standardized coefficients in logistic regression. Paper Presented at the Annual Meeting of the Southwest Educational Research Association. San Antonio, TX. Online document. http://www.ccitonline.org/jking/homepage/ standardized\_paper.doc.
- Lauber, S., I. Seidl, R. Böni, and F. Herzog. 2008. Sömmerungsgebiet vor vielfältigen Herausforderungen. *Agrarforschung* 15(11–12):548–553.
- Ledyard, J. O. 1994. Public Goods: A Survey of Experimental Research. In *Handbook of Experimental Research*, eds. A. Roth and J. Kagel. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Levitt, S. D. and J. A. List. 2007. What do Laboratory Experiments Measuring Social Preferences Reveal About the Real World? *The Journal of Economic Perspectives* 21(2):153–174.
- Lynam, T., R. Mathevet, M. Etienne, S. Stone-Jovicich, A. Leitch, N. Jones, H. Ross, D. Du Toit, S. Pollard, H. Biggs, and P. Perez. 2012. Waypoints on a Journey of Discovery: Mental Models in Human-Environment Interactions. *Ecology and Society* 17(3):23.
- Mann, S. 2003. Bestimmungsgründe des landwirtschaftlichen Strukturwandels. *Agrarforschung* 10(1):32–36.
- McGinnis, M. D. 2011. Networks of Adjacent Action Situations in Polycentric Governance. *Policy Studies Journal* 39(1):51–78.
- Menard, S. 2001. *Applied Logistic Regression Analysis* (Vol. 2). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Incorporated.
- Menard, S. 2004. Six Approaches to Calculating Standardized Logistic Regression Coefficients. *The American Statistician* 58(3):218–223.
- Mordasini A. G. and M. Tiefenbach. 2006. Bergschaften in Grindelwald Alppflege zwischen Tradition und Moderne. Grindelwald: Sutter Druck AG.
- Naegeli-Oertle, R. 1986. *Die Berglandwirtschaft und Alpwirtschaft in Grindelwald*. Vol. 21, *Schlussbericht zum Schweizerischen MAB-Programm*.
- Nikiforakis, N. and H.-T. Normann. 2008. A Comparative Statics Analysis of Punishment in Public-good Experiments. *Experimental Economics* 11(4):358–369.
- Osés-Eraso, N. and M. Viladrich-Grau. 2007. Appropriation and Concern for Resource Scarcity in the Commons: An Experimental Study. *Ecological Economics* 63(2–3):435–445.
- Ostrom, E. 2007. A Diagnostic Approach for Going Beyond Panaceas. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 104(39):15181–15187.
- Ostrom, E. 2009. A General Framework for Analyzing Sustainability of Socialecological Systems. *Science* 325(5939):419–422.
- Paula, S. 2006. Post-normal Science in Practice: A Q Study of the Potential for Sustainable Forestry in Washington State, USA. *Ecological Economics* 57(2):190–208.
- Poteete, A. R., M. A. Janssen, and E. Ostrom. 2010. *Working Together Collective Action, the Commons, and Multiple Methods in Practice*. Princeton, NJ; Oxford: Princeton University Press.
- Potter, C. and M. Lobley. 1996. The Farm Family Life Cycle, Succession Paths and Environmental Change in Britain's Countryside. *Journal of Agricultural Economics* 47(1–4):172–190.
- Prediger, S., B. Vollan, and M. Frölich. 2011. The Impact of Culture and Ecology on Cooperation in a Common-pool Resource Experiment. *Ecological Economics* 70(9):1599–1608.
- Rajé, F. 2007. Using Q Methodology to Develop more Perceptive Insights on Transport and Social Inclusion. *Transport Policy* 14(6):467–477.
- Rustagi, D., S. Engel, and M. Kosfeld. 2010. Conditional Cooperation and Costly Monitoring Explain Success in Forest Commons Management. *Science* 330(6006):961–965.
- Schmitt, G. 1992. Der Zusammenhang zwischen Organisationsform und Betriebsgröße in der Landwirtschaft: Eine institutionenökonomische Erklärung und agrarpolitische Implikationen. *Berichte über Landwirtschaft* 70(4):505– 528.
- Smith, V. L. 2010. Theory and Experiment: What are the Questions? *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* 73(1):3–15.
- Swaffield, S. R. and J. R. Fairweather. 1996. Investigation of Attitudes Towards the Effects of Land Use Change Using Image Editing and Q Sort Method. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 35(4):213–230.
- Swedeen, P. 2006. Post-normal Science in Practice: A Q Study of the Potential for Sustainable Forestry in Washington State, USA. *Ecological Economics* 57(2):190–208.
- Van Exel, J. and G. de Graaf. 2005. Q Methodology: A Sneak Preview. Online document. http://qmethod.org/articles/vanExel.pdf.
- Weiss, C. R. 1999. Farm Growth and Survival: Econometric Evidence for Individual Farms in Upper Austria. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 81(1):103–116.

Essay 3

DRIVERS OF LAND USE CHANGE AND GRADUAL ABANDONMENT OF COMMON PROPERTY ALPINE PASTURES

# Drivers of land use change and gradual abandonment of common property Alpine pastures

Karina Liechti<sup>1</sup>, Ivo Baur<sup>2</sup>, Urs Wiesmann<sup>1</sup>, Claudia R. Binder<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Bern, Centre for Development and Environment, Hallerstrasse 10, CH-3012 Bern, Switzerland

<sup>2</sup> University of Munich, Department of Geography, Chair for Human-Environment Relations, Luisenstrasse 37, D-80333 München, Germany

**ABSTRACT.** Open summer pastures in many Alpine regions of Switzerland have diminished over the past decades, as land extensification and gradual land abandonment has led to forest expansion and shrub encroachment. To what extent this has occurred is closely related to the individual characteristics of the human–environment system in any particular area. Taking the example of one case study area, the research presented here shows how drivers related to location and social change are shaping land use and land cover, and how these changes can be assessed from a sustainability perspective. As the trend looks set to continue, ways will need to be found to promote sustainable land use in the summering areas. Defining priority areas in which to prevent encroachment will require a negotiation process that takes into account both external and local interests.

Keywords: Alpine pastures; land use change; forest encroachment; sustainability; common property; Switzerland

# **1. Introduction**

Land use extensification or abandonment and related shrub and forest encroachment in formerly pastured areas is a new phenomenon that is becoming more and more prevalent in industrialized countries (see e.g. Agnoletti 2007; Lasanta et al. 2009; Chételat et al. 2013; Komac et al. 2013). This also applies to mountain regions in Switzerland, where the summering of livestock on Alpine pastures is a widespread practice. Such processes are visible in changing landscape patterns, and give an indication of societal transformations and complex human-environment interlinkages. Since the 7th century AD (Ewald & Klaus 2009: 271), and the start of population expansion into Alpine regions. landscapes have been modified by their users, for example by clearing forest plots for pasture land, which led to the diverse and often small-scale structure of the cultivated landscape of today. Especially in summering areas, this process of land appropriation was often accompanied by the development of common property regimes that frequently still govern pasture use at the regional level. But while deforestation was the main way of gaining agricultural land in times of land shortage, the past decades show a trend in the opposite direction: forest expansion and shrub encroachment have led to a diminishing of open summer pastures in many regions of Switzerland (see e.g. Bebi & Baur 2002; Gellrich 2006; Stöcklin et al. 2007). Statistics confirm that in Swiss mountain regions, forest regrowth between 1993/95 and 2004/2006 has taken place at a total rate of about 9% (Brändli 2007: 50), with the highest regrowth rates attributed to those regions that are used for summering livestock (Baur 2006: 31). Research has also shown that the continuous use of Alpine pastures is strongly interlinked with the provision of public goods such as biodiversity and landscape beauty. With pasture abandonment and related processes of forest encroachment, these values are said to be endangered (Baur et al. 2006: 33; Lehmann & Messerli 2007).

The major drivers behind these developments are related to structural changes in the agricultural sector resulting from adaptation to a liberalized market and rising competition (see e.g. Stöcklin et al. 2007: 85). These changes can be seen, among others, in the decreasing number of farms (change per year between 2000 and 2010 in mountain areas: -1.9%; FOAG 2011: 8, from SFOS), increased size of remaining farms, and a related adaptation of production and land use strategies. In many regions, this has led to a production focus on high-potential, easily accessible areas, and a decreased interest in grazing livestock on marginal Alpine summer pastures. As a result, summer pastures and related, often collective, usage systems face a decrease in both livestock numbers and workforce needed for pasture maintenance and grazing control, and raising costs of summering (see e.g. Mack et al. 2008: 277), which in turn again decreases demand for livestock summering. In some areas, this development has led to a complete abandonment of remote summer pastures (e.g. in some areas of the Swiss canton of Ticino or the southern Grisons) (Stöcklin et al. 2007: 54). Other areas, however, are well maintained, and a breakdown of the system is not expected in the near future. In view of enhancing the sustainable use of natural resources, it is important to obtain a better understanding of the drivers behind such differences; to this end, it is crucial to add localized insights to the analysis of national or larger regional trends.

The research presented here takes a case study approach and aims to provide a broader understanding of a local human–environment system and the driving factors of land use and landscape change in common property Alpine pastures. It visualizes the current land cover status and outlines future trends

of Alpine pasture use. Furthermore, it describes the role of the current governance system in maintaining and reproducing the local landscape, and evaluates the local land use dynamics from a sustainability perspective. The article is structured as follows: We (i) characterize the current status and recent changes in land cover and land use in the study area, (ii) provide insights into the driving forces and challenges of such changes, (iii) outline future perspectives on the use of Alpine pastures, and (iv) discuss the current status and potential future of summer pasture use from a sustainability perspective. By doing this, we aim to contribute to the growing debate on pasture land extensification or abandonment. Contrary to intensification processes and pasture overuse and degradation, the relation between extensification or abandonment of common property and sustainable development has, to our knowledge, not been studied so far.

# 2. Characteristics of the human–environment system in the study area

The research presented here is based on a case study in Grindelwald, a Swiss Alpine commune popular with tourists. The commune is located at 1050 m asl in the Alpine zone of the Bernese Oberland, and has about 4000 inhabitants. The combination of well-kept agricultural landscape alongside rugged glaciers, rocks, and mountains is an aesthetic contrast that has attracted tourists from all over the world since the 19<sup>th</sup> century. These days, most of the local income is generated in the tourism sector, mainly by winter sports such as skiing, but also by summer outdoor activities. Agriculture, dominated by livestock husbandry and the production of dairy products, is responsible for the cultivation of meadows and pastures in the different vegetation zones of the commune, which are located between 1000 m and 2400 m asl, depending on the seasonal cycle of transhumance. Village plots and *Vorsassen* (= areas of the lower pasturing area that is partly cut) are located in private, summer pastures in common property (see Figures 1a-c). For a high proportion of the 125 farming households (year 2010) in Grindelwald, agriculture is a side activity, which complements either a higher or lower percentage of off-farm income (Baur et al. unpublished manuscript).

The governance structure of the study area can be characterized as follows:

*Internal governance*: The whole area of the commune is divided into seven Alpine corporations, legal entities by civil code. Their right to own common natural resources such as pastures and forest is guaranteed (Art. 20 EG ZGB). These corporations are involved in organizing and structuring all collective work related to livestock herding and the use of common property summer pastures (see Tiefenbach & Mordasini 2006). The basic regulations of the Grindelwald corporations (German: *Taleinungsbrief*) date back to the year 1414 and resulted from the growing independence of local farmers and a sustainability crisis (Nägeli 1986: 146). They are, with minor changes, still valid today (*Taleinungsbrief* – most recent version from 2002) (see Commune of Grindelwald 2002; Baur & Binder 2013), and regulate the use of common property summer pastures, such as access or the relation between lowland land tenure and the number of livestock allowed to be summered in the highlands. Furthermore, they are the basis for the statutes of the individual corporations, which contain further regulations such as the maximum stocking rate for the respective Alpine pastures or amount of communal work per summered cow. These regulations have for centuries successfully prevented the overuse of pastures.

*External governance*: In view of a sustainable and comprehensive use of the summering areas (FOAG 2012a), the summering of livestock has since 1980 been supported by government subsidies. These subsidies are linked to farmers maintaining a stocking range between 75% and 110% of the maximum sustainable yield defined by the canton (Federal Assembly of the Swiss Confederation 2007; see also FOAG 2012b). Observing these conditions is intended to prevent both over- and under-stocking as well as maintain both a biodiverse cultural landscape and well-established land use system that is also of importance for national identity. The official stocking range in Grindelwald is largely based on the Alpine corporations' traditionally-set stocking rate which proved to be sustainable. Depending on size and quality of the pasture area, the corporation with the lowest stocking rate is allowed to summer a range of around 71 livestock units, while the one with the highest may summer around 318.

Agriculture as a nested system: While the Alpine corporations were originally mainly involved in managing the use of common property summer pastures, they became more involved in tourism-related development during the last century, for example by becoming shareholders or owners of infrastructure such as cable cars and hotels. Tourism infrastructure aside, there is a high mutual dependency between the agriculture and tourism sectors regarding their economic and ecological functions: while agriculture provides a well-kept, open, and biodiverse landscape that is key for tourism development, tourism provides the economic base of the commune. And as the majority of the farming households have an (often major) income related to tourism, e.g. in the operation of cable cars, in lodging, or in the construction business, agriculture and tourism can be seen as highly interdependent (Baur et al. unpublished manuscript; Wiesmann 1985/1986).



a) Summering area with the typical cattle breed of the region



b) View encompassing common property Alpine pastures (foreground) and private, partlycut lower pasturing areas (background)



c) High-Alpine pasture with typical Alpine settlement (at 1983 m asl)

Figures 1a-c: Some impressions of the study area (Photos: Karina Liechti)

# 3. Materials and methods

The results of the present study are based on a method triangulation (Flick 1998: 282) combining qualitative and spatial data. The qualitative data not only served as a basis to understand the observed land cover changes, but also as model input variables to identify future land use and land cover.

The *qualitative data* were generated based on semi-quantitative questionnaires followed by qualitative semi-structured interviews (Flick et al. 2004) collected from all the Alpine wardens of the seven Alpine corporations in Grindelwald. The Alpine wardens were chosen as they are considered to be the main experts in the fields of summering and its trends. The themes covered in the questionnaires and interviews were 1) the actual use of the summering area (mapping), 2) the perceived quality of pastures and ongoing intensification and extensification processes, 3) the relevant factors for pasture selection, 4) communal work, 5) the perceived future of the corporation and the practice of summering livestock, and 6) land use scenarios. Other qualitative data were derived from semi-structured interviews with internal and external mountain agriculture experts. They covered themes such as general summering tendencies in the region, land cover changes, and future perspectives of Alpine farming. The analysis of the interviews mainly involved categorizing the data according to the thematic lines of current status and recent changes in land cover and land use, driving forces and challenges of such changes, and future perspectives for Alpine pastures use.

The *spatial data* comprise 1) land cover data analysis of different time assessments of the Swiss land use statistics from 1979/85, 1992/97, and 2004/09 (SFSO 2009) using GIS for the past land use changes, 2) a land use classification with eCognition®, a software that is designed for object-based image analysis for the current land cover status, and 3) a GIS-based cost-distance model (ESRI 2011) allowing for the analysis of potential future land use and land cover changes. The input parameters for the cost-distance model were based on the results of the qualitative data as well as digital datasets derived from the Swiss topographic map (map scale 1:25,000) and the DTM AV (Swisstopo 2012). GIS-based cost-distance analysis provides a useful tool for assessing animal movements and accessibility parameters. For the current research, a cost or resistance surface grid was derived from one or more spatially-explicit variables such as topography; enabling or accelerating factors like paths or roads; and physical barriers such as dense forests or rivers. Raster cells were weighted in travel time according to the expected time-cost required by an animal (or herder) when moving across the cost surface, and linear features like roads or rivers were merged with the weighted cost surface (see also Adriaensen et al. 2003). The cost-distance model was not calibrated, but served explorative and illustrative purposes, and was used to stimulate the scenario-focused discussion in a stakeholder workshop.

In order to assess the information extracted from the spatial and qualitative data – above all that related to actual shrub and forest encroachment – five *transect walks* were undertaken in the summering area.

# 4. Results and discussion

# 4.1 Land cover change of the recent past

The total area of the commune of Grindelwald covers more than 17'000 ha; of this, more than half is considered unproductive (glaciers, rocks etc.), and almost one-third is agricultural land (see Table 1). When comparing the development of settlement areas, agricultural areas, forest stands, and unproductive areas between 1979/85 and 2004/09 (SFSO 2009), the major changes have occurred in the settlement areas (+27.5%): this is a sign of booming tourism in the region. This development is partly at the expense of agricultural land, especially the meadows in the lowlands. Forest stands cover a total area of 2802 ha (about 1/6 of the total area), according to the last assessments in 2004/2009. They increased by 2.6% (70 ha) between 1979/85 and 2004/09. For information on developments that go further back to the past, one has to rely on the available literature: according to an assessment by Stampfli (1983: 30), forest stands rose by another 0.6% (17.7 ha) between 1940 and 1978. In an analysis of topographic maps since 1900, Fürstenberg (2011), showed that the process of forest encroachment already started in earlier decades.

Grindelwald	1979/85 [ha]	1992/97 [ha]	2004/09 [ha]	Change 1979/85- 2004/09
Settlement areas	240	270	306	+27.5%
Agricultural land	5121	5039	4947	-3.4%
Forest stands	2732	2799	2802	+2.6%
Unproductive areas	9020	9005	9058	+0.4%
Total	17113	17113	17113	

**Table 1**: Land cover change in Grindelwald [Source: SFOS 2009: Swiss land use statistics 1979/85, 1992/97, 2004/09]

Regarding shrub coverage, Swiss land use statistics from 2004/09 show that 13% of the pastures in the summering area are shrub covered. An investigation on pasture quality from the beginning of the 1980s shows the same phenomenon and speaks of some underused and partly shrub-covered or reforested areas in Grindelwald (Nägeli-Oertle 1986: 210-217). Also the Alpine Land Register (German: *Alpkataster*) from 1973 (FDEA 1973: 68) considers some pastures prone to continuous shrub encroachment and reforestation. In other areas, shrubs are said to have "always" been there. These

areas were never used as pastures and the vegetation is site specific (e.g. different types of dwarf-shrub heaths) and not a result of a dynamic abandonment process. An analysis of the developments between 1979/85 and 2004/09 shows that there was some change (+4%) from brush pastures to scrubs or forest, and from favorable pastures to brush pastures (see Figure 2). A development in the other direction could not be observed.



Land cover and land use change in the summering area of Grindelwald

Figure 2: Land cover (selected items) and land cover change (shrub and forest encroachment) in the summering area of Grindelwald

Shrub and forest encroachment is taking place mainly in regions where shrub coverage was already prevalent in 1979/85 (southwestern and northeastern part of the commune; see Figure 2). This result is confirmed by Peter (2006: 680), who investigated the change in botanical composition of Alpine pastures in Grindelwald over the past two decades; he observed that dwarf shrubs had increased especially at sites where shrubs were already abundant in the initial survey and where initial forage quality was poor. Also in an aggregated (national) analysis, Baur et al. (2006: 29) found a high relevance of the explanatory factor "neighbourhood", which means that in places where shrubs are already prevalent, the process of shrub invasion continues (see also Gellrich et al. 2007: 102). Related

to this factor, shrub and forest encroachment processes are taking place above all in regions with swampy humid soils or on steep slopes, which means in regions that are unfavorable for grazing. These findings correspond to land use scenarios for Grindelwald that were elaborated in the 1970s and 1980s (Messerli et al. 1986: 56f). They suggested a reduction or even an abandonment of steep Alpine pastures (gradient more than 40%) under both a mechanization and minimization scenario.

Visualizing the situation today, Figure 3 shows the land cover of a summering area in the southwestern region of Grindelwald and the potential transition areas where young forest, open forest, shrubs, and brush are prevalent.

Algebra in the second se

Vegetation cover in the summering area of Grindelwald (selection)

**Figure 3:** Vegetation cover of a summering area in the southwestern region of Grindelwald in 2009 and the presumed transition areas (zoomed in selection covering areas of two Alpine corporations)

## 4.2 Spatial drivers: location-related decision making

Location-related drivers for past (and current) land cover changes are to a large extent related to pasture selection criteria. The Alpine wardens view the following factors as the most important ones for assigning grazing areas for cows: distance to the barn, slope, plant composition, and water availability

(see Table 2). Other factors such as natural hazards are considered site specific (e.g. certain pastures below the Eiger north face, which are often wet and prone to rockfall) or of minor importance.

Factors considered when selecting grazing areas for dairy cows

ractors considered when selecting grazing areas for dairy cows					
Factors of major importance (all Alpine wardens agree)	Variable factors (depending on the location of the Alpine corporation)	Factors of minor importance (not or rarely selected or mentioned)			
Short distance to barn (+)	Natural hazards (e.g. rockfall) (-)	Shrub coverage (-)			
Gentle slope (+)	Swampy, humid soils (-)	Long distance to road / path (-)			
Plant composition (high	Plant composition (poisonous	Unpalatable plant cover (-)			
feed value) (+)	plants) (-)				
Water availability (+)	Rock coverage (-)	paths) (-)			

**Table 2**: Factors considered when selecting grazing areas for dairy cows ((+) = enabling factor; (-) = obstacle)

The results on the drivers of vegetation change on Alpine pastures, in particular, "location with respect to barns", "slope", and a combination of both, are to a large extent congruent with previous scientific research in the region. Peter (2006), after an in-depth study in Grindelwald, showed that there is some evidence for directional changes that could be explained by alterations in grazing management. "At sites far from cattle sheds, swards of initially intermediate forage quality showed evidence of nutrient enrichment, whereas poor quality swards tended to become encroached by shrub vegetation. These trends suggest a shift in grazing pressure towards more favourable areas" (Peter 2006: 679). Far from cattle sheds, increasing N-values on sites with gentle slopes and increasing dwarf-shrub cover on sites with steep slopes were observed (Peter 2006). The finding that slopes represent a key factor in land abandonment decisions is also confirmed by research results from other mountainous regions in Switzerland (see e.g. Gellrich et al. 2008: 134; Schneider et al. 2013: 225).

In addition, there are vegetation indicators that suggest an intensive use and a related nutrient enrichment of close-to-barn or other favorable pastures with gentle slopes (see also Peter 2006, above). However, one sign of high nutrient presence or over-fertilization close to barns – the presence of Alpine sorrel (*rumex alpinus*) – is said to have been prevalent for generations. Therefore, it cannot be considered to be the result of a recent process (see Figure 4c).



**Figures 4a-c**: Two processes: shrub and forest encroachment on marginal pastures and/or on steep slopes (a/b) and intensive use with related over-fertilization close to barns (c) (Photos: Karina Liechti)

# 4.3 Social drivers: current challenges of pasture use

The drivers within the agricultural system that are contributing to these processes are manifold and highly interrelated. Our investigation showed the following to be crucial:

Workload of farming households and related communal work: The number of farms in Grindelwald has continuously decreased in the last decades. At the same time, there has been only a slight reduction in the cultivated area and the number of livestock. As a result of this, the size of individual farms (defined by the amount of arable land and number of livestock) has constantly risen, which implies that the workload of the individual farming households has increased. Consequently, farmers with large farms are not always able to fulfill all their communal work duties on the summer pastures (20 summered cows would add up to about 200 hours of communal work). Also farmers with small farm sizes and high percentages of off-farm income face this problem. Unable to carry out the communal work, both groups tend to take the option of paying a fee instead. Or as one Alpine warden (July 2011) puts it: "The workforce is missing. We have to maintain the same number of cows with fewer workers. The work in the lowlands has increased. Of course certain works could be rationalized. But in the mountain areas, there is a limit somewhere." For the maintenance of the summer pastures, this means that priority is given to the most urgent tasks such as fencing or water provision, while other tasks such as cutting shrubs become second priority. Related to the above-mentioned workload issues is also the decreasing engagement of farmers in local government und thus decline in political influence (we return to this point later).

*Type of livestock that is summered*: Related to the total number of livestock in the valley, the stocking rate on the summer pastures showed only a slight decrease in the case study region. Some corporations even managed to increase the stocking rate by summering external cattle (LANAT 2011; Baur & Binder 2013). More crucial for pasture quality is the *type* of livestock that is summered: with regard to dairy cows, even though their number has remained more or less stable, their fodder needs and weight have risen through breeding. This means they are less mobile and farmers are reluctant to graze them far from the barn or on steep slopes. This tendency is accentuated when cows from the lowlands are taken to Grindelwald: often, these breeds are not well adapted to mountain conditions. Also, there is a decrease in the number of young cattle traditionally suited to grazing marginal or steep pastures in the summering area. This is because they reach earlier reproduction maturity and are held as dairy cows,

and because meat production is not considered as profitable as producing Alpine cheese. These days, the younger cattle are also more frequently kept in the lowlands to graze the private land holdings that cannot be mowed by machine. This is also the case for other livestock that would be suited to mountain areas – goats and sheep. Despite a decrease in total numbers, they are sometimes even summered outside the region. Also, keeping suckling cows is currently of minor importance in Grindelwald, compared to other regions in Switzerland. This situation might however change in future. If animals that are less labour intensive are sought and cow milk prices continue to decrease, niche production (e.g. "natura" beef) might become an option for some farmers.

*High turnover of external herders*: In Grindelwald, as in the whole of Switzerland, there is a tendency for herding duties to be taken over by external herders rather than by local farmers. The external herders have a high, sometimes annual, turnover rate, and while their cheese making and other cattle-related work abilities are considered good, they are less concerned with pasture quality and pasture improvement works. These works are long-term issues and thus of more interest to herders who work in the same place for several summers or for local farmers, who have an interest in maintaining the quality of all traditionally-used pastures.

Besides the above-mentioned changes in agriculture, *tourism-related developments* such as new infrastructure for winter sports (e.g. storage lakes for the production of artificial snow) can be considered further challenges to Alpine pasture use. This shift in priorities is the result of a decreasing number of farmers, a growing influence of people related to tourism in the Alpine corporations, and the dependence of farmers on an additional income from tourism. Finally, *climate change* with the related rise of forest and dwarf-shrub line (Straehl, in preparation) might also be contributing to a higher forest and shrub invasion pressure. This observation was also made by one of the Alpine wardens (July 2011): *"Twenty years ago, it was never necessary to cut small fir trees above the restaurant. And nowadays we have to cut like crazy up to 2000 meters asl in order to prevent pastures from becoming overgrown. Some people say the reason might be climate change."* 

Despite these obstacles, there are also developments that to a certain extent can balance or improve current trends. These are mainly related to *grazing management*: better education in the last decades has led to an increase in knowledge about vegetation, pasture issues and grazing. As a result, pasture management has become more sophisticated, as seen in improved grazing rotation as well as higher focus on adequate fencing and animal separation (e.g. dairy cows and young cattle are grazed separately). This has led to a more sustainable use of Alpine pastures in several areas. Similarly, weed control has gained importance in farmers' concerns. "*Farmer vocational training has clearly improved the quality of pasturing. This, and learning by imitation*" (vegetation expert, January 2012). Furthermore, *social cohesion* within the Alpine corporation is still relatively high and communal work is therefore not only seen as a duty but also as a social event.

# 4.4 Future Alpine pasture use and land cover changes

The Alpine wardens and experts consulted believe the processes described above that contribute to extensification and intensification of pastures are likely to continue. The following figure on the future

of Alpine pasture use as seen by Alpine wardens, among others, shows that farmers will face a significant increase in workload (Figure 5). Given the decrease in the number of farmers, it will become even more difficult to provide communal work (e.g. pasture cleaning) requiring a big workforce.

Considering the future use of summer pastures, the most probable scenario entails a stable number of dairy cows, a rising proportion of external cows that are not well adapted to mountainous pastures, and a slightly decreasing number of young cattle. This implies continuing forest and shrub encroachment on distant and steep pastures below the tree- or dwarf-shrub line and intensification on close-to-barn pastures.



**Figure 5**: Future of Alpine pasture use as seen by Alpine wardens (legend (solid line): 1=will decrease significantly; 2=will decrease slightly; 3=will remain stable (dashed line as a reference); 4=will raise slightly; 5=will raise significantly).

One possibility of visualizing these scenario conditions is a GIS-based cost-distance model (Figure 6). It shows those summer pasture areas that are most prone to shrub or forest encroachment by modeling the time that is required to walk from any point (cell) in the study area to the next barn, considering enabling factors such as paths (allowing further walking distances and crossing brooks and forests) and

hindering factors such as brooks, impenetrable forests, or steep slopes (slowing down or diverting movements). The more the colors turn to dark red, the more prone the pasture is to abandonment and thus – depending on altitude – to shrub or forest encroachment.



Summer pasture area most prone to gradual abandonment (selection)

**Figure 6**: Summer pasture area most prone to gradual abandonment and thus to shrub or forest encroachment (zoomed in selection covering the areas of two Alpine corporations). The more the colours turn to dark red, the more prone the pasture is to abandonment and thus – depending on altitude – to shrub or forest encroachment.

# 5. Conclusion and Outlook: Land use change from a sustainability perspective

The results of the research show that pasture extensification processes are taking place in the study region. However, the processes are less pronounced than in other regions in Switzerland. This current trend is likely to continue, along with current challenges related to structural changes in the agricultural sector: fewer farmers, a higher workload, and a changing composition of herds. An assessment of these

land use change processes from a sustainability perspective has to take into account that sustainability, as a normative concept, is always gradual and value-based, and that negotiating it is therefore a complex endeavor. Negotiating sustainability has to address economic, ecological, and socio-cultural dimensions (see e.g. Wiesmann 1998: 84) and include both scientific results (external knowledge) and local knowledge derived from the interviews with the Alpine wardens:

*Economic dimension*: Regarding *fodder availability*, the current land use pattern is considered adequate. The grazing of cows at the current locations provides them with adequate fodder, both in quality and quantity. One exception is the weed coverage close to barns due to intensive use and lack of weed control, as those weeds cover areas that would be most suitable for grazing. From the economic perspective, *revenue and expense* are better balanced if grazing patterns and maintenance work are focussed on certain areas and not all the marginal pastures are maintained. The abandonment of certain pastures is thus a provident decision, common to other regions in Switzerland, where other studies have shown that forest regrowth took place where the cultivation costs were high and yield potential was low (Gellrich et al. 2007: 105).

*Ecological dimension*: With regards to ecology, and above all, *biodiversity*, we have a different situation. In the Swiss context, it has been shown that provision of public goods such as biodiversity and the beauty of a maintained landscape are strongly interlinked with continuous use of the Alpine pastures (Lehmann & Messerli 2007). Pasture abandonment and related processes of forest encroachment can therefore cause the loss of valuable biodiverse areas (Baur et al. 2006: 33; see also Zoller & Bischof 1980; Maurer et al. 2006). The number of plant species is high on very extensively used plots (Mack et al. 2008: 279), but it only takes a small reduction in the number of summered animals to cause a proportionately greater loss of extensively used pastures (Mack et al. 2008: 290). In Grindelwald, a positive correlation between areas worthy of conservation and the traditional agricultural utilization pattern has been shown (Wiesmann 1987: 161).

In terms of *natural hazards*, the abandonment of certain areas (e.g. below the Eiger north face, or in brook gullies) is a positive development, especially for animal health. Rockfall-prone areas and steep slopes that caused injuries in the past were among the first to be abandoned. Another benefit is that shrub or forest regrowth in these areas might reduce velocity of falling rocks (Perret et al. 2004). Regarding the presumed ecological instability of Alpine regions in general, agricultural use, restoration, and maintenance work are however all considered stabilizing factors (Bätzing 2003: 91ff). Thus, fallow areas are also prone to non-influenceable labile processes (see e.g. Newesely et al. 2000).

*Socio-cultural dimension*: The high *interlinkage between tourism and agriculture*, which provides the one sector with a well-kept environment and the other with additional income, has led to the fact that still a comparatively high number of members in the Alpine corporations are farmers. Influence in decision making, favorable work conditions for part-time farmers, and thus comparatively well maintained and used summer pastures were a result of this. However, recent developments such as a decline in the number of farming households as well as farmers' decreasing political influence and social recognition suggest that the link between the agricultural and tourism sectors has weakened in the last years. For this reason, agriculture-related works may in future be assessed more from a tourism-utility perspective than by their usefulness for farming. This change might also lead to less secure

employment conditions for part-time farmers, because they are dependent on a certain flexibility of their employer, e.g. when communal works are due.

In terms of *identity*, it is primarily the local farmers who are negatively affected if the pastures that were maintained by their forefathers are abandoned and overgrown (see e.g. Tiefenbach 2006). Up to now, reference to the past and the wish to uphold tradition was one important motivation for farmers to contribute to communal work. With fewer farmers and a growing focus on farming work in the valley, the significance of identity aspects will most probably diminish.

From a *landscape aesthetics* point of view, the current processes will not significantly alter the visual appearance of the landscape. This is because some of the potentially abandoned areas are above the tree line. Also, most visitors to the area are unlikely to notice a low extent of shrub or forest regrowth in marginal areas. Studies from other areas confirm that forest encroachment is considered problematic only once it surpasses a certain level (see e.g. Soliva et al. 2010). This level has not yet been reached in Grindelwald.

In order to promote sustainable land use in the summering areas, the above-mentioned dimensions have to be negotiated. Such a process has to include both external and local knowledge and values on the issue of pasture extensification or abandonment, and has to result in a setting of priority areas where encroachment processes should be prevented. In these areas, the level of losses (e.g. biodiversity, aesthetics) are higher than the level of gains (e.g. reduced labour input).

As the scenarios developed above are mainly based on a continuation of current trends, negotiations and further research also have to include alternative scenarios for such areas. Measures such as the introduction of new types of livestock (sheep, goats, suckling cows) could be discussed as an alternative to prevent average intensive (suckling cows) or marginal pastures (sheep and goats) from shrub or forest encroachment. Improved pasture care also implies improved grazing systems (which have already been tested in many areas) and a fortification of communal work. In order to support the current system, the hiring of additional workers (which for those Alpine corporations that are well-off should be feasible), or the introduction of new actors such as volunteer workers could be tested.

Whatever path will be taken in Grindelwald, measures that are favorable to both nature and society must be adequately rewarded. For this, it is crucial for livestock summering to enjoy both government support that includes pasture-area-related quality criteria, as well as support from the tourist sector, which enjoys an unique selling point due to agriculture. Decisive in these endeavors are the governance aspects that are related to livestock herding in Grindelwald. The Alpine corporations and their regulations have proven to be a strong factor in the cohesion of society up to now and should continue to shape the use of Alpine common lands. However, a relatively sustainable and stable use of Alpine pastures can only be maintained if farmers' influence within the corporations remains stable and approved, and a balance between tourism and agriculture is found. The challenge for further research is to address viable pathways on how cooperative governance systems and the related agricultural actors can be supported and strengthened, and to support negotiations on what new roles corporations with other regions facing pasture extensification processes are crucial.

Acknowledgements

This study is part of the research project "Analyzing and Modeling Transitions of Common Property Pastures in the Swiss Alps CR12I1\_125267/1" and was financed by the Swiss National Science Foundation. We thank the local and national experts for their valuable contributions, and Christian Hergarten and Balthasar Teuscher for their support with GIS modeling and mapping.

#### REFERENCES

- Adriaensen, F., Chardona, J.P., De Blust, G., Swinnen, E., Villalba, S., Gulinck, H., and Matthysen, E. (2003). The application of 'least-cost' modelling as a functional landscape model. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 64(4): 233–247.
- Agnoletti, M. (2007). The degradation of traditional landscape in a mountain area of Tuscany during the 19th and 20th centuries: Implications for biodiversity and sustainable management. *Forest Ecology and Management* 249(1-2): 5-17.
- Amt für Landwirtschaft und Natur LANAT. 2011. Besatzvergleich. Internal statistics.
- Bätzing, W. (2003). Die Alpen: Geschichte und Zukunft einer europäischen Kulturlandschaft. C.H. Beck, München.
- Baur, P., Bebi, P., Gellrich, M., and Rutherford, G. (2006). WaSAlp Waldausdehnung im Schweizer Alpenraum. Eine quantitative Analyse naturräumlicher und sozio-ökonomischer Ursachen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des Agrarstrukturwandels. Schlussbericht. Birmensdorf, Eidgenössische Forschungsanstalt für Wald, Schnee und Landschaft. 65pp. [published online 2006] Available from >http://www.wsl.ch/projects/WaSAlp<</p>
- Baur, I., and Binder, C.R. (2013). Adapting to Socio-Economic Developments by Changing Rules in the Governance of Common Property Pastures in the Swiss Alps. *Ecology and Society* 18 (2): in press.
- Baur, I, Liechti K., and Binder C.R. unpublished manuscript. Why do individuals behave differently in commons dilemmas? The case of alpine farmers using common property pastures in Grindelwald, Switzerland. *International Journal of the Commons*: submitted.
- Bebi, P., and Baur, P. (2002). Forest Expansion in the Swiss Alps: A Quantitative Analysis of Biophysical and Socio-economic Causes. *Austrian Journal of Forest Science* 3/4: 217-230.
- Brändli, U.-B. 2007. Erste Ergebnisse des dritten Landesforstinventars (LFI3). Das Laubholz ist im Vormarsch. *Wald und Holz* 12: 49-51.
- Chételat, J., Kalbermatten, M., Lannas, K.S.M., Spiegelberger, T., Wettstein, J.B. Gillet, F., Peringer, A., and Buttler, A. (2013). A Contextual Analysis of Land-Use and Vegetation Changes in Two Wooded Pastures in the Swiss Jura Mountains. *Ecology and Society* 18(1): 39.
- Commune of Grindelwald. 2002. Taleinungsbrief. Statuten über die Organisation der Alpen der Talschaft Grindelwald. Grindelwald.

- ESRI (Environmental Systems Resource Institute). 2011. Cost distance (Spatial Analyst). <u>http://tinyurl.com/c9qc8qx</u> accessed November 2011.
- Ewald, K.C., and Klaus, U.G. (2009). Die ausgewechselte Landschaft Vom Umgang der Schweiz mit ihrer wichtigsten natürlichen Ressource. Haupt, Bern.
- Federal Assembly of the Swiss Confederation. (2007). Verordnung über Sömmerungsbeiträge 910.133 (Sömmerungsbeitragsverordnung, SöBV) vom 14. November 2007.
- Federal Department of Economic Affairs FDEA. (1973). Land- und Alpwirtschaftlicher Produktionskataster der Gemeinde Grindelwald. FDEA, Abteilung Landwirtschaft.
- Federal Office for Agriculture FOAG. (2011). Agricultural Report 2011. Summary. <u>http://www.blw.admin.ch/dokumentation/00018/00498/index.html?lang=en</u> – accessed January 2012.
- FederalOfficeforAgricultureFOAG.(2012a).Sömmerungsbeiträge.http://www.blw.admin.ch/themen/00006/00052- accessed June 2012.
- Federal Office for Agriculture FOAG. (2012b). Weisungen und Erläuterungen 2011 zur Verordnung über Sömmerungsbeiträge (Sömmerungsbeitragsverordnung, SöBV; SR 910.133) http://www.blw.admin.ch/themen/00006/00052/ - accessed January 2012.
- Federal Office of Topography (Swisstopo). (2012). DOM. <u>http://tinyurl.com/cwnlkuj</u> accessed November 2012.
- Flick, U. (1998). Qualitative Forschung. Theorie, Methoden, Anwendung in Psychologie und Sozialwissenschaften. Rowohlt, Reinbek bei Hamburg.
- Flick, U., von Kardorff, E., and Steinke, I. (2004). A Companion to Qualitative Research. Sage, London/Thousand Oaks/ New Delhi.
- Fürstenberg, M. (2011). Zur Dynamik der Waldverbreitung im Alpenraum Fallbeispiele entlang eines Transekts durch die Schweizer Zentralalpen. Diploma thesis. Department of Geography, University of Bonn, Germany.
- Gellrich, M. (2006). Natural forest re-growth on abandoned agricultural land in the Swiss mountains. An economic analysis of patterns and causes using spatial statistical models and interviews. PhD thesis. Faculty of Forest and Environmental Sciences, University of Freiburg im Breisgau, Germany.

- Gellrich, M., Baur, P., Koch, B., and Zimmermann, N.E. (2007). Agricultural land abandonment and natural forest re-growth in the Swiss mountains: A spatially explicit economic analysis. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 118: 93-108.
- Gellrich, M., Baur, P., Harvey Robinson, B., and Bebi, P. (2008). Combining classification tree analysis with interviews to study why sub-alpine grasslands sometimes revert to forest: A case study from the Swiss Alps. *Agricultural Systems* 96: 124-138.
- Komac, B., Kefi, S., Nuche, P., Escós, J., and Alados, C.L. (2013). Modeling shrub encroachment in subalpine grasslands under different environmental and management scenarios. *Journal of Environmental Management* 121: 160-169.
- Lasanta, T., Arnáez, J., Errea, M.P., Ortigosa, L., and Ruiz-Flaño, P. (2009). Mountain pastures, environmental degradation, and landscape remediation: The example of a Mediterranean policy initiative. *Applied Geography* 29: 308-319.
- Lehmann, B., and Messerli, P. (2007). The Swiss National Research Program. Landscapes and Habitats of the Alps. *Journal of Alpine Research* 95(4): 19-28.
- Mack, G., Walter, T., and Flury, C. (2008). Entwicklung der Alpung in der Schweiz: Ökonomische Bedeutung und ökologische Auswirkungen. Yearbook of Socioeconomics in Agriculture 2008: 259-300.
- Maurer, K., Weyand, A., Fischer, M., and Stöcklin, J. 2006. Old cultural traditions, in addition to land use and topography, are shaping plant diversity of grassland in the Alps. *Biological Conservation* 130: 438-446.
- Messerli, P., Scheurer, T., and Wiesmann, U. (1986). Modellstudie Grindelwald zur Umweltverträglichkeit olympischer Winterspiele im Berner Oberland. Schlussberichte zum Schweizerischen MAB-Programm. Nr. 28. Schweizerischer Nationalfonds.
- Nägeli-Oertle, R. (1986). Die Berglandwirtschaft und Alpwirtschaft in Grindelwald. Schlussberichte zum Schweizerischen MAB-Programm. Nr. 21. Schweizerischer Nationalfonds.
- Newesely, C., Tasser, E., Spadinger, P., and Cernusca, A. (2000). Effects of land-use changes on snow gliding processes in alpine ecosystems. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 1: 61–67.
- Perret, S., Dolf, F., and Kienholz, H. (2004). Rockfalls into forests: Analysis and simulation of rockfall trajectories—considerations with respect to mountainous forests in Switzerland. *Landslides* 1: 123-130.

- Peter, M., Edwards, P.J., and Lüscher, A. (2006). Location as a factor determining recent changes in the vegetation of alpine pastures. *Grassland Science in Europe* 11: 679-681.
- Schneider, M.K., Homburger, H., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., and Lüscher, A. (2013). Beweidungsintensität und Ökosystemleistungen im Alpgebiet. Agrarforschung Schweiz / Recherche Agronomique Suisse 4 (5): 222–229.
- Soliva, R., Bolliger, J., and Hunziker, M. (2010). Differences in Preferences towards Potential Future Landscapes in the Swiss Alps. *Landscape Research* 35(6): 671-696.
- Stampfli, M. (1983). Grindelwald: Waldveränderungen zwischen 1940 und 1976(78) und deren Ursachen. Institute of Geography, University of Bern.
- Stöcklin, J., Bosshard, A., Klaus, G., Rudmann-Maurer, K., and Fischer M. (2007). Landnutzung und biologische Vielfalt in den Alpen – Fakten, Perspektiven, Empfehlungen. Thematische Synthese zum Forschungsschwerpunkt II des NFP 48. vdf Hochschulverlag, Zürich.
- Straehl, S. in preparation. Monitoring environmental changes of the timber line and timber line ecotone in Grindelwald, Bernese Oberland. Doctoral dissertation, University of Basel, Switzerland.
- Swiss Federal Statistical Office SFSO. (2009). Arealstatistik (Swiss land use statistics) 1979/85, 1992/97, 2004/09: Entwicklung der Bodennutzung und -bedeckung in den Gemeinden nach 4 Hauptbereichen (Standard). Neuchâtel
- Tiefenbach, M., and Mordasini, A. G. 2006. Bergschaften in Grindelwald. Alppflege zwischen Tradition und Moderne. Sutter Druck, Grindelwald.
- Tiefenbach Marianne. 2006. Bergschaften zwischen Tradition und Innovation Vergessene Akteure im Landschaftsmanagement. In: Hammer Thomas (Hg.). Kooperationen im Landschaftsmanagement. Institutionelle Strategien am Beispiel der Region Berner Oberland-Ost. Universität Bern, IKAOE: Lang.
- Wiesmann, U. (1985). Acht Thesen zum Verhältnis zwischen Berglandwirtschaft, Fremdenverkehr und Umwelt im MAB-Testgebiet Grindelwald. Beilage zum Geschäftsbericht 1985 der Wengernalpbahn-Gesellschaft (unpublished).
- Wiesmann, U. (1986). Wirtschaftliche, gesellschaftliche und räumliche Bedeutung des Fremdenverkehrs in Grindelwald. Schlussberichte zum Schweizerischen MAB-Programm. Nr. 24. Schweizerischer Nationalfonds.

- Wiesmann, U. (1987). Naturschutzwürdigkeit: Zur Begründung eines Bewertungsverfahrens und einer fundierten Schutzpolitik – Ein Beitrag aus dem MAB-Projekt Grindelwald. In: Verhandlungen der Gesellschaft für Ökologie (Graz 1985). Band XV 1987.
- Zoller, H., and Bischof, N. (1980). Stufen der Kulturintensität und ihr Einfluss auf Artenzahl und Artengefüge der Vegetation. *Phytocoenologiea* 7 (Festband Tüxen): 35-51.

Essay 4

MODELING AND ASSESSING SCENARIOS OF COMMON PROPERTY PASTURES MANAGEMENT IN SWITZERLAND

# Modeling and assessing scenarios of common property pastures management in Switzerland

Ivo Baur<sup>1</sup> and Claudia R. Binder<sup>1</sup>

Abstract. Common property pastures (CPPs) in the Alps provide examples of enduring, sustainable, and self-organized resource use. During the past few decades, the situation has changed, and abandonment of marginal pastures with subsequent forest regrowth has been widely observed. To better understand current drivers, challenges, and policy impacts on the sustainable governance of common property pastures, we present an application of Ostroms' general framework for analyzing social-ecological systems (SESs). We use system dynamics (SD) modeling to operationalize the SES framework for the case study region of Grindelwald, Switzerland. Based on formative scenario analysis, we identify four consistent simulation scenarios. The simulation results show that increasing loss of common property pastures and resulting afforestation can be expected. Scenario assessment shows that policy blueprints such as liberalization or increased government support do not halt but instead accelerate abandonment of common property pastures. Furthermore, the simulation results show the sustainability trade-offs associated with changes in the external setting. We conclude by discussing options for sustainably governing CPPs.

Keywords: System dynamics model Common pool resources Social-ecological systems Formative scenario analysis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> University of Munich, Department of Geography, Chair for Human-Environment Relations, Luisenstrasse 37, D-80333 München, Germany

#### 1 Introduction

Natural resources use is embedded in complex social-ecological systems (SESs; Ostrom 2009). Understanding resources use patterns in SESs requires analyses of the feedback mechanisms (Liu et al., 2007), non-linear relationships (Folke, 2006), and thresholds (Walker and Meyers, 2004) that link actors, institutions, and resources. Dissection of the SES complexities is the base for developing effective policies, particularly under rapidly changing external conditions (Dietz et al., 2003), while disregard of complexities has often led to the implementation of simple policy blueprints with unintended consequences (Ostrom et al., 2007).

In European alpine regions, governance of alpine pastures currently faces the challenge of adapting to the problems of underuse and land abandonment (Baur and Binder, 2013; Kissling-Näf et al., 2002; Knoepfel et al., 2005). For centuries, alpine pastures needed protection from overgrazing, which was often achieved through common property arrangements (Casari, 2007; Netting, 1981; Ostrom, 1990; Stevenson, 1991). During the past few decades, the situation has rapidly changed, and many alpine pastures have been abandoned (Keenleyside et al., 2010; MacDonald et al., 2000). In Switzerland, alpine pastures make up approximately 12% of the national area (Lauber et al., 2008), of which almost 80% are communal (Baur et al., 2007) Since the sustainable use of common property pastures (CPPs) provides not only forage but also public goods, such as species and landscape diversity (Burel and Baudry, 1995; Giupponi et al., 2006; Stöcklin et al., 2007), and cultural values (Bignal and McCracken, 2000; Plieninger et al., 2006), governing CPPs is a major policy challenge for mountainous regions.

Researchers have identified several drivers of land abandonment, including structural change in the agricultural sector and the resulting labor scarcity (Gellrich et al., 2007), intensification of more productive areas at the cost of less productive areas (Lauber, 2006), dwindling livestock numbers in mountainous regions (Mack et al., 2008), low policy incentives for grazing marginal land, and political barriers that hinder payments for environmental services (Huber et al., 2013). Integrating the different aspects that drive resources use into a simulation model provides a highly valuable tool for assessing different strategies for regulating resource use (Costanza et al., 1993). Essentially, the SES models depend on the incorporation of knowledge across disciplinary boundaries and a holistic account of the properties that characterize the SES (Kelly et al., 2013; Schlüter et al., 2012). However, integrated SES simulation models for CPP use do not exist. Accordingly, this work aims at promoting sustainability of CPP by addressing the following questions:

- a. How can we capture the dynamic interactions within an SES and consecutive patterns of CPP use?
- b. How does the SES respond to changes in the external setting, and what are the sustainability trade-offs associated with different policy options?

To answer the first question, we operationalize the general framework for analyzing the sustainability of SESs (Ostrom, 2009) with a system dynamics (SD) approach for the case study region of Grindelwald, Switzerland. To answer the second question, we simulate four consistent scenarios developed with formative scenario analysis to investigate the SES reaction to external change. Based on the scenario simulation, we assess the sustainability trade-offs associated with each scenario and discuss different policy options for governing sustainable CPP use.

#### 2 Case Study Region

Grindelwald is a municipality located in the heart of the Alps in the canton of Bern in Switzerland (E 8°01′48″/ N46°37′30). The municipality covers 171 km2 with the highest peak reaching 4,100 meters above sea level and the village located 1,000 meters above sea level (Fig. 1). As a result of the impressive mountainous scenery and winter sports facilities, over the last century Grindelwald has become an internationally recognized tourist resort. The local population of 3,800 inhabitants hosts an increasing number of visitors. In 2010, the village counted 111,078 overnight stays. Consequently, tourism is the main economic driver in the region, and gastronomy, the hotel business, the building sector, ski lifts, and public transportation provide a vital local labor market.



**Fig. 1**. The case study region of Grindelwald, Switzerland, and its basic social and ecological characteristics. Sources: author's own map; data source: (Baur and Binder, 2013; Baur et al., 2014)

In the local agricultural sector, farmers profit from off-farm income opportunities and typically generate a larger share of their household income through off-farm work, although they spend more time farming. As a result of structural changes in the agricultural sector, the number of farm households has decreased from 242 in 1980 to 123 in 2010. During that period, farm holdings have grown to an average of about 10 hectares and livestock units (Baur et al., 2014). Agricultural activities are based on livestock production. In the summer, farmers use their private parcels in the valley to produce hay for wintertime, while cattle graze on the CPPs. The CPPs in Grindelwald are located on the hillsides surrounding the valley and start from roughly 1,200 to

1,400 meters above sea level and extend up to 2,500 meters above sea level. A total of 34 alpine enterprises, most of which are privately owned, look after the livestock in the summer and produce artisan cheese, which is redistributed among the livestock owners according to their animals' milk yield. Management of the CPP is organized in seven corporations ("Bergschaften"), which are embedded in a cooperative ("Taleignung"), which functions as an umbrella organization to protect the common interest of the corporations (Baur and Binder, 2013).

## 3 Model Description

## 3.1 Model Purpose

The purpose of the model is to understand the effect of social-ecological drivers on the use and maintenance of CPPs. Given the tendency in Switzerland to abandon CPPs, the model needs to address, unlike most models of CPR use, not just the dynamics leading to overexploitation of natural resources but also the dynamics and consequences of underuse. By simulating changes in the external setting, the model should help to separate processes and policy options, under which the SES approaches or maintains sustainability, from those that shift the SES away toward less sustainable states of over- or underuse. Furthermore, simulation results should then uncover the different sustainability trade-offs associated with particular policy options (Janssen and Anderies, 2007) as the base for assessing scenarios.

## 3.2 Theoretical Framework

The model is based on Ostroms' general framework for analyzing SESs (Ostrom, 2007, 2009). Accordingly, the SES consists of four subsystems, which are embedded in an external setting (E). The social subsystems characterizing the SES include the actors system (A) and the governance system (GS). The social entities are the farmers (A) and the corporations (GS). The ecological subsystems consist of the resource system (RS) that produces the resource units (RUs). The ecological entities consist of the common property area with pasture and forest stands (RS), while the resource units consist of the livestock that graze the CPP and the grass used as fodder. These subsystems describe the SES at its highest level, but can be divided into attributes and subtypes that interact at common spatial and temporal scales to produce outcomes. The dynamic behavior of the SES therefore derives not simply from external inputs but results equally from the complex interactions between and within the subsystems.

## 3.3 Empirical Basis and Data Sources

The data used to build the model included qualitative data for the structural design of the model, and quantitative data for the numerical formulation of the SD model. Qualitative data was derived from a workshop, during which we discussed key challenges for CPP management with representatives of the seven corporations. We also conducted 10 interviews and four field excursions guided by farmers and experts to gain a detailed understanding of how the SES functions in order to conceptualize the model's structure.

For the numerical formulation of the model, we relied partially on our own data and on secondary quantitative data. The different data sources provided values for the period 1980–2010, upon which the model was validated and calibrated to match historical behavior. The initial values for

1980 derive mostly from the Man and Biosphere project conducted in the eighties in the study region (Nägeli-Örtle, 1986; Wiesmann, 1983). Time series describing the developments in the SES during the past decade were derived mostly from official statistical sources: Developments in the external setting were modeled using several price indices provided by the Federal Office for Statistics ((FSO), 1980-2010). Data that describes the use of the ecological system in terms of CPP stocking density was derived from a livestock census provided by a regional agency ((LANAT), 1980-1990, 2000-2010). Data on land cover changes stems from the areal statistics for 1979–1985, 1992–1997, 2004–2009 ((FSO), 1979-2009), and from an additional online source that describes the natural characteristics of the seven corporations (Alporama, 2013). Finally, our quantitative data from a 2010 representative household survey (n = 95) provided the values that describe the current state of the actors system and the social-ecological interactions (Baur et al., 2014).

## 3.4 Model Structure

#### 3.4.1 Subsystems and interactions

Operationalization of the SES framework included five subsystems linked through six key interactions. The subsystem external settings (S) included the following eight components:

S1: National direct payments: Includes all payments related to land or animals, which constitute the main source of agricultural income and land use incentives and thus feed into the actors system.

S2: National summering payments: This includes summering payments that are paid to the corporation, which feed into the governance system and the recently introduced appropriation contribution, which is paid to the livestock owner.

S3: Prices for dairy products: This includes the milk and cheese prices, which affect the market returns of the farmers' agricultural activities.

S4: Off-farm income opportunities: Represented through the average wage, which farmers could achieve in the region when they work outside the agricultural sector.

S5: Direct costs include the variable costs of keeping a livestock unit such as labor costs, costs of animal feed, veterinary costs, and infrastructural investments.

S6: Tourism development represents the indexed overnight stays, which affect prices for dairy products and off-farm income opportunities.

S7: Climate change affects the growing season and therefore the annual grass production of pastures.

S8: The wood price affects off-farm income opportunities.



**Fig. 2**. Conceptual framework of the SES model, including the external setting and the four subsystems, their goal-seeking principles, the regulating dynamics, and the key interactions among the subsystems.

The actors system shows how the average farmer in Grindelwald reacts to external incentives (S1-S5). By reallocating production factors such as labor, land, and livestock, the farm households aim to achieve a satisfying household income. Instead of maximizing household income, farmers prefer agricultural activities over off-farm activities and try to generate satisfactory household income by increasing farm size. Regarding agricultural holdings, farmers react to land use incentives shaped by the external setting adapt herd size to maximize agricultural income. The extent to which the average farm household achieves its income goal determines the process of structural change at the macro level. If the household income goal is just achieved, then structural change occurs according to the regular pattern with a generational life cycle of thirty years ending with the farmer's retirement at the age of 65, and a 1 in 3 chance that farm holding continues to exist by succession and a 2 in 3 chance that the farm is abandoned and the land reallocated by the market. At the macro level, the abandonment and succession rates vary with the economic situation of the average farm household. If the income goal is not achieved, succession decreases and abandonment increases, and vice versa if the income goal is exceeded. Accordingly, the process of structural change regulates the number of farm households and their economic endowments such as livestock, which are important links to the resource units since they determine the potential for appropriation and thus affect grazing patterns (Fig. 2, 11).

In the governance system, corporations attempt to maximize income from summering payments paid by the federal government (S2). Since payments are provided per stocked unit and incrementally reduced, if the CPP stocking density is above 110% or below 75% of the government-defined carrying capacity, the summering payments are maximized, when the defined carrying capacity is utilized with a factor of 1.1. To approach the optimal stocking density, the local governance system adapts rules that exclude outsiders (Fig. 2, I2) in order to steer stocking density close to the carrying capacity (Fig. 2, I4). In addition to regulating appropriation activities, the governance system also forces institutions to organize provision activities to maintain the resource system (Fig. 2, I5). These activities include defining the provision hours to be fulfilled, setting fines for non-compliance, and monitoring and sanctioning non-compliance. The amount of provision activities fulfilled in turn affects land cover and the state of the resource system, since provision activities include tasks that enhance the productivity of the resource system, such as cleaning of overgrown CPP areas.

In the ecological system, the interaction of resource units is closely linked to the governance system's goal of maximizing summering payments. In doing so, the grazing patterns are regulated through exclusion in order to get stocking density in line with the carrying capacity. The stocking density produces a certain demand for forage, which affects the resource system (Fig. 2, I3). The extent to which demand is met by the resource systems forage production determines the process for changing use of the land. If the forage needs are not met, overgrown CPPs can be reclaimed through provision activities, and if forage production exceeds the need, land is abandoned. How quickly land use adapts to current requirements depends on the fulfilled provision hours. As a consequence of the changes in the land use, the land cover changes (for example, the CPP area ready for grazing), which in turn changes the forage provision and the resulting grazing patterns (Fig. 2, I6).



feedback loops-positive and negative. Positive feedback loops reinforce the system's behavior and accelerate growth or decay. Negative feedback loops preserve or indicate developments in the opposite direction. Arrows marked with T indicate that the direction of the effect depends on a threshold value. The causal chains form Fig. 3. Causal loop diagram illustrating central feedback loops. The positive links show that the variables develop in the same direction, while the negative links balance the system state.

#### 3.4.2 Feedback loops and threshold values

We identified nine feedback loops that drive SES behavior. In the actors system, two types of loops were important for factor allocation. First, the two balancing agricultural income loops indicate that farmers try to achieve a satisfactory household income by increasing their land and livestock holdings, and thus search for the optimal land use intensity to maximize agricultural income. Second, dependent on labor productivity, larger farms require more labor input, which cannot be allocated to off-farm activities, as indicated by the two reinforcing loops.

The actors system and the resource units are linked through the farmers' appropriation decision as indicated by the two appropriation loops in Fig. 3. From the appropriation of livestock, farmers generate pay-offs in the form of cheese that can be sold. The pay-off per livestock unit is largest when stocking density is close to the carrying capacity, since overstock decreases the cheese production while understock increases the costs of summering. Furthermore, the pay-off also depends on market prices and policy measures that support summering. Appropriations levels in turn increase with pay-offs and thus affect the CPP stocking. This feedback mechanism applies to local and foreign summered livestock as indicated by the appropriation loops in Fig. 3.

The governance system regulates the appropriation of foreign livestock through operational rules. To maximize income from summering payments, corporations attempt to keep the stocking density as close to the carrying capacity as possible. By excluding non-local users, the governance system might or might not allow non-locals to summer livestock in order to increase stocking density when it is below the carrying capacity, as indicated by the balancing exclusion loop.

For the ecological system, the stocking density is the central link between the social processes and consecutive land use and land cover change for two reasons. First, since the stocking density determines provision and forage requirements, it is the major driver behind pasture use and maintenance. As indicated by the land use change loop, the CPP area is adapted to meet the animals forage requirements. Accordingly, plots of CPPs are abandoned if forage production exceeds needs or reopened if the needs exceed production. Second, as indicated by the change in the productivity loop, land use always affects the least productive plots and leads to changes in average plot productivity. The average plot productivity therefore increases when the CPP area is reduced or decreases when CPP area is increased, as indicated by the reinforcing "change in productivity" loop. The changes in land use also affect the forest stands, since the abandoned CPP plots are transformed into forest over time.

#### 3.5 System Dynamics Integration

The system dynamics model was programmed with Vensim Professional software and consists of five views that display the external setting (S), the actors system (A), the governance system (GS), and the resource units of the resource system (RS). In total, the model includes 173 variables: eight levels, 16 look-ups, 102 auxiliaries, and 62 constants. The model's initial values refer to 1980, while the current values refer to 2010. The model was calibrated using the historical data available for this time period and runs at 1-year increments in discrete time steps to 2040. A detailed description of the model was produced using the System Dynamics Documentation and Assessment (SDM) tool (Martinez-Moyano, 2012), which is detailed in Appendix A. The key elements of the model are level variables regulated through inflows and outflows, formalized as integral and equations (Sterman, 2001):

$$Level(t) = \int_{t_0}^t [Inflow(s) - Outflow(s)]ds + Level(t_0)$$
(1)

## 3.6 Model tests and improvement

To uncover structural flaws and to increase confidence in the validity and parameter values in the model, we applied several tests that can be divided into structural, sensitivity, and behavioral tests (Barlas, 1989).

Structural tests examined whether the system structure was consistent with the observed physical reality and included a four-step procedure:

- Dimensional consistency was used to ensure that all variables have units with real-world meaning.
- Integration error testing was conducted to ensure that the model behavior does not depend on the choice of time steps or the integration method.
- Reality check equations were introduced to prove that the model behaves realistically and is free of illogical relationships between the variables.
- Extreme condition tests were introduced to investigate whether the model behaves realistically when the parameters take extreme values.

Sensitivity tests showed how the model behavior is affected by parameters for which we had no exact data sources available. We used a Monte Carlo simulation with uniform distributions to assess how random changes in the following four parameters affected the model behavior.

- Satisfactory household income was randomized with the lower limit set at CHF 55,000 and the upper limit set at CHF 100,000.
- Initial pasture productivity was randomized with the lower limit of 10 and an upper limit of 25 kg DM/day/ha.
- Availability of cattle in the lowlands was randomized with a lower limit of 0.1 and an upper limit of 1.
- Forage decay fraction was set with a lower limit of 1 and an upper limit of 4.

Based on the Monte Carlo simulation parameters, the parameter values were then adapted in order to achieve the best possible historical fit of key stocks that refer to available longitudinal data. For a more detailed description of the tests applied, see Appendix B.

Behavioral tests provide insights into the model's capacity to replicate the dynamics of the realworld system by assessing the fit between the model and the observed data (Bennett et al., 2013; Oliva, 2003). We tested the values of the key stocks in the model against the information from census data and real statistics for farm households, stocking density on CPP, and livestock in the valley, CPPs, and forest stands. We calculated the correlation coefficient (R), absolute relative error (ARE), and mean absolute relative error (MARE) for level variables. Where n is the number of data,  $x_d$  represents the observed and  $x_m$  the model data. Standard deviations are depicted by  $s_d$ and  $s_m$ .
$$R = \frac{1}{n} \sum \frac{(x_d - \overline{x}_d)(x_m - \overline{x}_m)}{s_d s_m} \tag{2}$$

$$ARE = \left| \frac{x_d - x_m}{x_d} \right| * 100 \tag{3}$$

$$MARE = \frac{1}{n} \sum \left| \frac{x_d - x_m}{x_d} \right| * 100 \tag{4}$$

The model showed good fit with the historical data. The simulated number of farm households was correlated at 0.96 with the historical data and achieved a mean absolute error of 4.51% for 2000–2010 (Fig. 4a). Predictions for livestock in the valley achieved the lowest R value with 0.22 and consequently a larger mean absolute error with 7%, because livestock in the valley suddenly decreases in census data by 74 livestock units between 2007 and 2008. This decrease does not reflect a serious decrease in the livestock present, but instead results from a change in the weighting system for livestock units. For 2008–2010, the total livestock in the valley from census data had an R value of 0.92 and a MARE of 3%, which shows that livestock in the valley is adequately replicated by the model and that the largest part of the deviation between the model and census data is explained by change in the weighting of the livestock units. Stocking density of CPP had an R value of 0.4 and showed a very moderate deviation from the census data with a MARE of 3% (Fig. 4a).



Fig. 4. Absolute relative error (ARE) and mean absolute relative error (MARE) for assessing the historical fit of the model's key level values. (a) The deviations between actual and simulated

development for the number of farm households, the livestock in the valley, and the stocking level on CPP. (b) The deviations between actual and simulated development of common property pastures and forest area.

As indicated in Fig. 4b, the historical fit for the CPP and forest area is satisfactory, although only three data points were available, one of which was used to initialize the model. Therefore, historical fit refers only to two data points (1991 and 2008), but was very high with R values above 0.98 and a MARE of 3.2% for CPPs and 0.04% for the forest area. Although the historical fit of the model is very high, validation of ecological processes relied only on three time points which limits its information value that were available from areal statistics. Furthermore, the areal statistics does not differentiate between common and private lands, and we thus relied on additional data sources (Alporama, 2013) for calculating land cover change. Combining the data sources, we calculated a 0.8% decrease of common property area from 1980 to 1991 and a further 6% decrease from 1991 to 2008. During the same time, the forested area increased in each period by roughly 2%. Since the loss of CPP area does not immediately result in increased forest growth, we assume that the loss is first added to overgrown CPPs and is later converted into forest stands.

## 3.7 Scenario Analysis

We used formative scenario analysis to identify a consistent set of scenarios for simulating future development of the SES. Formative scenario analysis aims at assessing a hypothetical, but consistent, combination of events that affects the future state of a system (Scholz and Tietje, 2002; Wiek et al., 2006). Therefore, we concentrated on developments in the external setting (S), which served as input values for the simulation. The parameters were defined with an expert assessment as part of a master thesis (Zumstein, 2013). The procedure included the following six steps (Scholz and Tietje, 2002; Tietje, 2005) for further details, see Appendix B):

- 1 Define the spatial and temporal scales of the scenario parameters.
- 2 Define the variables and potential parameter values that describe the external setting.
- 3 Have experts validating the chosen variables and values.
- 4 Develop an impact matrix.
- 5 Complete the impact matrix with experts.
- 6 Conduct a consistency analysis of the completed matrices.

## 4 **Results**

#### 4.1 Simulation of the Historical Development of the SES

The baseline simulation of the SES reveals a moderate decrease in the use and maintenance of CPPs that led to a slight abandonment of CPP from 1980 to 2010. In the external setting, the shift in agricultural policies from market prices support to direct payments caused a significant decrease in the milk price (Table 1). As a result, farmers' land rents and their dependence on direct payments steadily increased, while revenues from keeping livestock stagnated.

	1980	1990	2000	2010
External Setting (S)				
Payments tied to land (CHF/ha)	1040.00	1480.00	1840.00	2000.00
Payments tied to animals (CHF/LU)	504.00	717.80	892.00	970.00
Summering payments (CHF/SLU <sup>1</sup> )	156.00	222.00	276.00	300.00
Direct costs of animals (CHF/LU)	1040.00	1480.00	1840.00	2000.00
Milk price (CHF/kg)	0.92	0.78	0.54	0.51
Cheese price (CHF/kg)	14.42	16.91	17.07	18.00
Potential off-farm income (CHF/year)	41712.00	50876.00	59503.00	63200.00
Wood price (CHF/FMb)	27.50	33.00	34.92	55.00
Tourism index (dmnl)	80.00	87.00	95.00	100.00
Climate change (increase in degrees Celsius)	0.00	0.20	0.40	0.60
Actors System (A)				
Farm households (hh)	242.00	197.00	158.00	126.00
Livestock per household (LU/hh)	6.30	7.70	8.70	10.80
Land holding per household (ha)	5.60	6.90	8.60	11.30
Workload (Sw <sup>3</sup> )	0.91	0.98	1.05	1.24
Household income (CHF)	64725.00	75953.00	84234.00	87238.00
Agricultural income (CHF)	19283.00	24363.00	28125.00	39185.00
Resource units (RUs)				
Livestock in the valley (LUs)	1525.00	1514 00	1368.00	1358.00
Stocking density of CPP (SLUs)	1448.00	1474.00	1366.00	1393.00
Foreign cattle summered (SLUs)	0.00	0.00	0.00	22.00
Forage requirements (Mio. kg $DM^4$ )	5.86	6.36	6.41	6.83
Duration of season (days/year)	95.00	97.40	99.80	102.00
Governance System (GS) Net provision (hours)	16000.00	14828.00	14272 00	13832.00
Provision not fulfilled (hours)	0.00	0.00	0.00	1260.00
Corporations income from fines (CHF)	0.00	0.00	0.00	31500.00
Provisions bought (hours)	0.00	0.00	0.00	1370.00
Foregone summering payments (CHF)	1373.00	118.00	26127.00	26806.00
Appropriation rules (dmnl)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.84
$P_{\text{restruct}} = C_{\text{restruct}} (DC)$				
Common Property Pastures (ha)	4375.00	4294 00	4289.00	4182.00
Average productivity of summer pastures	1575.00	129 1.00	1209.00	1102.00
(kg DM/ha/day)	15.00	15.14	15.18	15.32
Overgrown Common Property Pastures (ha)	163.00	23.00	14.48	13.00
Forest (ha)	2130.00	2373.00	2374.00	2481.00
Abandoned Common Property Pastures (ha)	142.60	0.00	32.40	0.00
Cleaning of Common Property Pastures (ha)	0.00	6.90	0.00	6.40

**Table 1.** Baseline simulation for selected variables that describe the past development of the social ecological system (rounded values).

<sup>1</sup> SLU = summered livestock unit; 2 FM = solid cubic meter; 3 Sw = standardized workforce; 4 DM = dry matter.

In the actors system, farmers adapted to the changes in the external setting by using the land less intensely and doubling the size of their holdings. Since labor productivity did not keep pace with farm growth, labor demand on farms has increased. At the macro level, this resulted in structural changes toward fewer but larger farms and reduced the number of farm households from 242 to 126. Regarding the income situation, due to the farm growth, agricultural income increased in nominal and real values. Since farm growth requires more labor input that cannot be allocated to off-farm activities, the nominal household increased its holdings at the cost of a nominal 5% decrease in household income from 2000 to 2010 (Table 1).

Due to the decreased land use incentives, the livestock present in the valley decreased by 11%, which directly affected the stocking density. Since stocking density decreased during the 1990s in particular, the corporations' loss of summering payments increased. In response, the corporations changed their appropriation rules in 2005 (when the missed summering payments reached the threshold value) and opened the corporations' pastures to foreign cattle. With the change in appropriation rules that reflect the degree or the share of corporations that allow for foreign cattle, the stocking density was stabilized after 2005 with an additional 22 summered livestock units (SLUs) from non-local farmers.

The governance system shows a net decrease in provision activities, which is mostly a consequence of reduced stocking density. Furthermore, provision duties not fulfilled increased between 2000 and 2010 for two reasons: First, the increasing labor demand on the average farm compelled farmers to pay the fine instead of fulfilling their provision duties. Second, external users had lower provision fulfillment rates. Since provision defections are fined, corporations use these fines to buy additional provision hours from users or even employ full-time laborers.

In the resource system, reduced use and maintenance of CPPs affected land cover through the net abandonment of 2% of the overall CPP area. Even though stocking has been steadily decreasing, feed requirements increased as a result of advances in the breeding, leading to increased animal weight and forage needs. Since the resource system also increased feedstock provision, mainly because of the longer growing seasons, the interplay of forage requirements and forage production resulted in periods of CPP abandonment and periods of CPP reclaim: From 1980 to 1983 and again from 1999 to 2005, the model indicates land abandonment phases, while from 1983 to 1998 and 2006 to 2010, the model simulates phases of cleaning of overgrown pastures by provision activities. Overall, the model shows a decrease of 193 ha in CPP that resulted from the first decade of the simulation. Between 1990 and 2010, the overgrown pastures, which are a surplus area not needed to meet forage demand, ranged between 23 and 13 ha. This indicates that the forage needs and requirements were well balanced for the last period of the simulation, and very little change in land use occurred.

## 4.2 Scenario Definition

The formative scenario analyses yielded four scenarios as defined by the changes in the following parameter values from 2010 to 2040 (Table 2). The scenarios integrate development on different spatial scales ranging from global developments (climate) to the regional (e.g., tourism) that can be described as follows:

	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 3	Scenario 4
	Rising prices	Liberalization and economic growth	Increased Government support	Crisis
Direct payments	Normal	-50%	50%	-50%
Summering payments	Normal	50%	50%	Normal
Dairy prices	30%	-20%	-20%	30%
Direct cost	40%	-10%	40%	-10%
Off-farm income opportunities	Normal	Normal	-25%	-25%
Tourism development	25%	Normal	-25%	-25%
Climate	1 °C	Normal	1 °C	1 °C
Wood price	100%	50%	200%	200%

Table 2. The four scenarios describing the potential developments in the external setting between 2010 and 2040.

Scenario 1: Rising prices: This scenario is characterized by a global scarcity of energy sources and a price increase in raw and energy materials. As a result, the cost of agricultural production increases, which also results in higher food prices, and wood becoming an important energy source. At the national level, the economy remains stable, and the federal government continues its level of agricultural support. The local labor market offers sufficient off-farm income opportunities, and tourism further increases, since ski resorts at higher altitudes such as Grindelwald gain additional international attention for consistent snow levels.

Scenario 2: Trade liberalization and economic growth: The global economy grows steadily and becomes increasingly interconnected. As a result of liberalization, direct payments are largely cut, and agricultural policies remunerate particular environmental services, such as the use of summer pastures. Liberalization also causes national prices in the agricultural sector to approach the global price level. At the local level, tourism and off-farm income opportunities show normal growth patterns with a slight increase in wood prices.

Scenario 3: Increased government support: The global economy suffers from the adverse effects of climate change and faces a shortage of raw materials and energy sources. As a result, the costs of agricultural production rise, and consumers substitute dairy products with cheaper foods. The agricultural sector suffers from market developments and government support increases to secure the survival of the agricultural sector and to prevent unemployment and depopulation of the alpine regions. In Grindelwald, the local economy suffers from global recession and climate change, and the tourist sector and thus off-farm income opportunities decrease drastically.

Scenario 4: Crisis: European economies stagnate and agricultural production struggles to meet demand as adaptation to climate change largely fails. World market prices rise, while purchasing power decreases all over Europe, including Switzerland. The federal government budget decreases and ever-increasing amounts are spent on social security, leaving less for the support for the agricultural sector. The agricultural sector, however, profits from lower production and increasing demand leading to higher prices, while the costs of agricultural production decrease. At the same time, tourism and off-farm income opportunities decrease in the absence of international visitors and investments in tourism infrastructure. As a result, agriculture becomes a more attractive option for making a living in the region.

## 4.3 Scenario Simulation

The simulation of the scenarios showed that the use and maintenance of CPPs will further decrease in the near future with subsequent loss of CPP area and forest regrowth. Surprisingly, this trend was strongest under the government support scenario, while the use and maintenance of CPPs is most intense in the crisis scenario. However, changes in the external setting impact land use and land cover changes over time. Since the scenarios are simulated as continuous developments, the actors and governance system closely follow the patterns produced in the baseline simulation until 2018. Since the changes in the social system affect the ecological system with delays in land use change and land cover change, changes in the external setting take about 10 years to become visible in the resource system.

In the actor system (A), the trend of structural change toward fewer but larger farm holdings persists for all scenarios (Fig. 5a). Under government support, structural change slowed down, as the high level of direct payments keeps labor in the sector. In contrast, the liberalization and economic growth scenario accelerates structural change with labor leaving the sector in response to decreased direct payments and producer prices accompanied by attractive off-farm income opportunities. As government support slows the process of structural change, it also impedes farm growth in particular regarding livestock keeping. Accordingly, the average holding increases to only 16 LUs, and since farmers can survive on the direct payments, there is no need to focus production on generating market revenues from livestock keeping (Fig. 5c). This development is most contrasted by scenario 4, in which the economic crisis favors agricultural production, since the costs of production are low and the prices for dairy products are comparably high. Farmers respond to these changes by using land more intensively. In 2040, the average farm household in the region keeps 31 LUs, which is about twice the number of animals kept under the government support scenario. Thus, land use intensity in the valley will reach 1.35 LU/ha, which is more than 35% above the current land use intensity.



Fig. 5. Scenario simulation of key variables describing the SES between 2010 and 2040.

Regarding the actual use and maintenance of CPPs, provision activities remain closely linked to stocking density on CPP (Fig. 5b and d). As a result of strong land use incentives in the crisis scenario, the stocking levels outnumber current levels between 2020 and 2030. Similarly, scenario 1 (rising prices) will lead to stable use and maintenance of CPPs, while the trade

liberalization and government support scenarios will lead to a significant decrease in the use and maintenance of CPPs. Although the rising prices and trade liberalization scenarios lead to very similar developments in the actors system, they result in different stocking and provision levels. This is due to differences in producer prices which provide better pay-offs for using CPPs under the raising prices scenario compared to the liberalization scenario. In the liberalization scenario, even summering payments are not sufficiently increased to compensate for the price decrease in dairy products.

In the ecological system, the decreasing use and maintenance of the CPPs result in afforestation for all scenarios. The simulation shows that the system is particularly vulnerable to underuse, since stocking is linked to provision. In the case of increased stocking, the negative effects of land use intensity below the optimum can potentially be harnessed, as provision hours increase. In the case of reduced stocking density, the ecological system will be affected in two ways: by lower grazing intensity and the associated lower provision levels. This subtle process of lowered use and maintenance of CPPs causes a backlog of surplus CPP area that manifests with a delay of about 7–15 years in decreasing the CPP area that first is overgrown and later released as forest regrowth (Fig. 5e–g). Since the national law forbids activities that reduce forest areas (Forest Act; Chapter 1; Article 4), once the lost CPP area is transformed into forest stands, it becomes permanent. Therefore, the potential decrease in stocking and provision levels suggested by the simulation results for the near future will have irreversible effects on land cover in terms of forest regrowth.

#### 4.4 Scenario Assessment

The simulation results suggest that regarding the stable use and maintenance of CPP use, scenario 1 (price increase) and scenario 4 (crisis) produce more desirable outcomes than scenarios 2 and 3 (liberalization and governmental support), respectively. Nevertheless, SES adaptation to external changes often involves trade-offs in different systems functions, which can lead to new vulnerabilities (Janssen and Anderies, 2007; Janssen et al., 2007). Therefore, different aspects of sustainability must be considered for the evaluation of scenarios (Table 3).

The SES in Grindelwald is robust against structural change. Structural change and the resulting labor scarcity are a major cause of afforestation (Gellrich et al., 2007). Our results suggest that this is not necessarily the case and that the deviations from the current trend of structural change might accelerate rather than mitigate the problem of CPP abandonment.

A key challenge for avoiding major abandonment of CPPs is to ensure a stable number of local livestock as a premise for stable stocking and provision levels. In the crisis scenario, land use intensity even increases and ensures the largest number of local livestock in the valley, but potentially at the cost of overexploited private plots with adverse ecological effects. Scenarios 1 and 2 would be preferable for keeping land use intensity in the valley within its current range.

The model suggests that the average farm in Grindelwald will increasingly rely on hired labor to cope with larger farm holdings. Only if government support is significantly increased and farm growth is slowed can farming remain a pure family business as in the government support scenario. Additionally, the government support scenario allows for sustainable agricultural livelihoods, while under the liberalization scenario, only farmers with strong preferences for agricultural activities continue farming and need to generate off-farm income to subsidize the farm business and finance respective employees.

	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 3	Scenario 4
	Rising prices	Liberalization and economic growth	Government support	Crisis
Number of farm holdings	49.3	39.3	51.1	47.5
Land use intensity in the valley	110.7	91.7	72.7	130.8
Hired labor				
(in absolute numbers of Sw)	27.8	60.4	0.0	58.2
Total household income	139.4	36.0	178.0	130.1
Agricultural income	350.7	167.9	305.4	382.0
Defection on provision hours	240.8	277.0	191.1	272.7
Provision	91.3	70.7	75.8	91.6
Stocking of CPP	86.1	65.6	71.5	86.4
Foreign livestock on CPP	641.4	1287.9	1102.6	631.1
Afforestation	110.8	115.8	131.6	110.5

Table 3. Indexed indicators for scenario assessment for 2040 (2010 = 100).

In the governance system, additional responses to decreasing local livestock and subsequent stocking levels by opening the pastures to foreign cattle are inevitable, except under the crisis scenario. A continuous shift in governance principles in the use of maintenance of CPPs from closed communal organizations to market principles is therefore likely to continue or increase. In this case, ever-larger shares of non-local farmers pay for summering services and provision activities provided by corporations or local farmers, respectively. This situation, in which the group of beneficiaries of the resource is not congruent with the group that maintains and governs the resource, might be a potential source of conflict. Furthermore, demand from external users for summering, organization, and provision activities involves uncertainties and is difficult to predict. In our model, reduced local livestock and appropriation in scenarios 1–3 are not fully absorbed by the governance system adaptation, as incentives for external users and the corporations are not strong enough to provide a full substitution to match the carrying capacity.

The use and maintenance of CPPs is most stable when agriculture remains an economically feasible activity compared to off-farm opportunities, as in the crisis scenario. Consequently, crises might not result in overall welfare gains, but achieve the best outcomes in terms of halting CPP abandonment (potentially at the cost of overused private plots). Although the rising prices scenario results in larger CPP abandonment compared to the crisis scenario, it will not do so at the cost of intensified agriculture in the valley. However, both scenarios have better outcomes than liberalization or increasing government support for continuous use and maintenance of CPPs.

#### 5 Discussion

Unlike most other common pool resource settings, the current challenge in the Alps is to ensure continuous use and maintenance of the resource rather than preventing it from being overexploited. It is now widely accepted that such problems of natural resource use are embedded in a complex social-ecological system that cannot be steered with simple policy blueprints (Ostrom, 2009). This paper attempts to illustrate the current challenges and policy options for governing common property pastures (CPPs) through integrated modeling of social-ecological systems (SESs). In doing so, we used the SES framework to develop an empirically based Systems Dynamics model of CPP use for Grindelwald, Switzerland. The scenario simulations showed that the trend of decreased use and maintenance of CPPs continues for all of the four scenarios. Nevertheless, the degree and pace at which the CPP plots are abandoned and subsequent forest regrowth takes place vary substantially according to the scenario setting. Simulation results show that policy blueprints such as trade liberalization or increasing government support largely fail to prevent further CPP abandonment. Instead, CPP use remains most stable when the agricultural sector benefits from an economic crisis or when commodity prices increase. However, scenario assessment revealed no optimal solutions, since the different development patterns of the SES involves trade-offs in sustainability and robustness (Janssen and Anderies, 2007). In the crisis scenario, for example, CPP use and maintenance is most sustainable, although potentially at the cost of overexploited private parcels in the valley. In the government support scenario, in contrast, land use in the valley and agricultural livelihoods remain sustainable, albeit at the cost of seriously underused CPPs. However, acknowledging the trade-offs and uncertainties associated with the different scenarios provides the base for effective policies for governing CPPs.

#### 5.1 Policy Implications for the Sustainable Governance of Common Property Pastures

Governing CPPs against the trend of underuse remains challenging. Policies should target and react to stocking density for two reasons. First, stocking is the major driver for the provision and grazed CPP area. As the stocking decreases, the provisions and the grazed area also decrease, and the problem of underuse accelerates. These contrasts with overuse, because when stocking exceeds the carrying capacity, the adverse effects of overgrazing are eased and not accelerated by the consequent increase in provision activities. Second, as the simulation results suggest, decreasing use and maintenance of CPPs becomes visible in the resource system as the afforested area with a delay of about 6 to 10 years that cannot be transformed back to pasture under current federal legislation. Thus, if major forest regrowth is observed, the feedback mechanism of underuse is already in play, which shifts the system further away from its sustainable state. Therefore, if stocking density decreases further in the near future, as predicted in the government support and liberalization scenarios, counteracting interventions must be put in place to prevent serious forest regrowth in the long run.

Such interventions might be most effective when they target two system components: land use incentives for private plots in mountainous regions and farmers' pay-offs from summering. Land use incentives need to balance direct payments with market prices in order to ensure the sustainable use of private plots and at the same time sufficient local stocking potential, which has been reported to be a problem in some mountainous regions (Mack et al., 2008). In contrast to other study regions (Gellrich et al., 2007), structural change in Grindelwald is not a major driver of CPP abandonment. As our simulation results show, deviations from current patterns of

structural change accelerate rather than mitigate the problem of underuse. Instead of slowing or accelerating structural change through increased or decreased government support, policies should target farmers' pay-off from appropriation. Such policies may include national as well as local governance measures. On the national level, polices might include a further increase in summering support as recommended (Baur et al., 2006), particularly through appropriation contribution or with payments for environmental services (Huber et al., 2013), which specifically target the upkeep of CPPs. However, increased marketing activities for alpine dairy products might be an effective tool for shaping price incentives for appropriation, which can be organized on national and local levels. On the local level, such a focus on centralized marketing activities in corporations are reported to have a strong positive impact on the overall functioning of the local agricultural sector (Bardsley and Bardsley, 2014). In addition, better labeling and a better communication of values associated with consumption of alpine products on the national level might raise prices for alpine products and promote incentives for keeping livestock in mountainous regions as well as using and maintaining CPPs.

## 5.2 Options for Model Improvements and Future Research

The model presented simulates CPP use at the local level. However, this model does not explicitly predict which parts of the CPP plots may potentially be abandoned. Coupling the SD model with geographic information systems would identify the areas that are most prone to abandonment and their characteristics. Information about the biological value and characteristics of these sites might help determine effective payments for environmental services. In addition, the model could be improved by refining the interactions of the resource units. Since different types of species and breeds might have very different mobility traits and grazing preference, land use patterns might vary with the breed types summered, which cannot be simulated with the model.

In addition to the limitation, the model might serve other purposes such as investigating the shortterm impacts of changes in the federal agricultural policy framework on CPP use or the simulation of the future development of single corporations. Since agricultural policies are often designed to target the sustainability problems on a national level, and may focus on agricultural holdings in the lowlands, the model might provide insights into the effects of federal policies on marginal regions and respective CPP use. Furthermore, running the model at the corporation level instead of at the regional level could reveal information about future developments of the single cooperation. This could help identify the corporations and their very specific characteristics, which account for vulnerability to understocking and land abandonment. Since two scenarios predict decrease in stocking density of about 500 units by 2040, such a decrease in stocking might concentrate in certain corporations and potentially leads to their collapse, rather than affect all corporations equally. Identifying the characteristics that make corporations more vulnerable or more robust to underuse could be an important step for adaptation in the local governance system. Potential actions might then include financial transfers between corporations, merging of corporations and the respective alpine enterprises, or a change in operational rules to ensure that livestock is allocated consistently between corporations in the case of serious understocking. In addition, simulations at the corporation level would add empirical evidence for identifying socialecological links and feedbacks that increase the robustness or vulnerability of the SESs to particular external perturbations (Anderies et al., 2004; Janssen et al., 2007).

#### 6 Conclusion

This work provides an example of an integrative analysis of common pool resource use from a social-ecological systems perspective. A system dynamics model has been developed to diagnose social-ecological interactions and outcomes for the use of common property pastures in the Swiss Alps. Using a combination of system dynamics modeling and formative scenario analysis, we simulated developments of the SES for several future external settings. However, the simulation results are not a precise forecast of future developments of the SES but a tool for assessing the SES characteristics and its capacity to deal with upcoming internal and external disturbances. Scenario simulation reveals that the sustainability of CPP is threatened by underuse rather than overuse and that the process of CPP abandonment is expected to continue. Furthermore, simulation results suggest that a panacea such as trade liberalization or an increase in government support will accelerate rather than counteract the problem. Since the different scenario settings changed the state of the SES and associated robustness and sustainability trade-offs, no single best policy setting was identified, but uncertainty in policy design is decreased. Accordingly, effective policies for counteracting CPP abandonment must target stocking density of CPP by changing the incentive structure for farmers' appropriation decisions. This can be achieved with federal and local governance measures. Promising options include subsidies for appropriation paid to farmers, marketing activities such as labels, and a further ease of the exclusion principle by the local governance system.

#### **Bibliography**

- Anderies, J.M., Janssen, M.A., Ostrom, E., 2004. A framework to analyze the robustness of social-ecological systems from an institutional perspective. Ecology and Society 9, 18.
- Bardsley, D.K., Bardsley, A.M., 2014. Organising for socio-ecological resilience: The roles of the mountain farmer cooperative Genossenschaft Gran Alpin in Graubünden, Switzerland. Ecological Economics 98, 11-21.
- Barlas, Y., 1989. Multiple tests for validation of system dynamics type of simulation models. European Journal of Operational Research 42, 59-87.
- Baur, I., Binder, C.R., 2013. Adapting to Socioeconomic Developments by Changing Rules in the Governance of Common Property Pastures in the Swiss Alps. Ecology and Society 18.
- Baur, I., Liechti, K., Binder, C.R., 2014. Why do individuals behave differently in commons dilemmas? The case of alpine farmers using common property pastures in Grindelwald, SwitzerlandInternational Journal of the Commons accepted for publication.
- Baur, P., Bebi, P., Gellrich, M., Rutherford, G., 2006. WaSAlp–Waldausdehnung im Schweizer Alpenraum: eine quantitative Analyse naturräumlicher und sozio-ökonomischer Ursachen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des Agrarstrukturwandels, Schlussbericht zu Händen des Schweizerischen Nationalfonds.
- Baur, P., Müller, P., Herzog, F., 2007. Alpweiden im Wandel. Agrarforschung 14, 254-259.
- Bennett, N.D., Croke, B.F., Guariso, G., Guillaume, J.H., Hamilton, S.H., Jakeman, A.J., Marsili-Libelli, S., Newham, L.T., Norton, J.P., Perrin, C., 2013. Characterising performance of environmental models. Environmental Modelling & Software 40, 1-20.
- Bignal, E.M., McCracken, D.I., 2000. The nature conservation value of European traditional farming systems. Environmental Reviews 8, 149-171.
- Burel, F., Baudry, J., 1995. Species biodiversity in changing agricultural landscapes: a case study in the Pays d'Auge, France. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 55, 193-200.
- Casari, M., 2007. Emergence of endogenous legal institutions: Property rights and community governance in the Italian alps. The Journal of Economic History 67, 191-226.
- Costanza, R., Wainger, L., Folke, C., Mäler, K.-G., 1993. Modeling complex ecological economic systems. BioScience, 545-555.
- Dietz, T., Ostrom, E., Stern, P.C., 2003. The struggle to govern the commons. Science 302, 1907-1912.
- Folke, C., 2006. Resilience: The emergence of a perspective for social–ecological systems analyses. Global Environmental Change 16, 253-267.
- Gellrich, M., Baur, P., Koch, B., Zimmermann, N.E., 2007. Agricultural land abandonment and natural forest re-growth in the Swiss mountains: a spatially explicit economic analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 118, 93-108.
- Giupponi, C., Ramanzin, M., Sturaro, E., Fuser, S., 2006. Climate and land use changes, biodiversity and agri-environmental measures in the Belluno province, Italy. Environmental Science & Policy 9, 163-173.

- Huber, R., Briner, S., Peringer, A., Lauber, S., Seidl, R., Widmer, A., Gillet, F., Buttler, A., Le, Q.B., Hirschi, C., 2013. Modeling Social-Ecological Feedback Effects in the Implementation of Payments for Environmental Services in Pasture-Woodlands. Ecology and Society 18.
- Janssen, M.A., Anderies, J.M., 2007. Robustness trade-offs in social-ecological systems. International Journal of the Commons 1, 43-66.
- Janssen, M.A., Anderies, J.M., Ostrom, E., 2007. Robustness of social-ecological systems to spatial and temporal variability. Society and Natural Resources 20, 307-322.
- Keenleyside, C., Tucker, G., McConville, A., 2010. Farmland Abandonment in the EU: an Assessment of Trends and Prospects. London: WWF and IEEP.
- Kelly, R.A., Jakeman, A.J., Barreteau, O., Borsuk, M.E., ElSawah, S., Hamilton, S.H., Henriksen, H.J., Kuikka, S., Maier, H.R., Rizzoli, A.E., van Delden, H., Voinov, A.A., 2013. Selecting among five common modelling approaches for integrated environmental assessment and management. Environmental Modelling & Software 47, 159-181.
- Kissling-Näf, I., Volken, T., Bisang, K., 2002. Common property and natural resources in the Alps: the decay of management structures? Forest Policy and economics 4, 135-147.
- Knoepfel, P., de Fossey, A., Gerber, J.-D., Mauch, C., 2005. Institutionelle Regime für nachhaltige Landschaftsentwicklung. Rüegger.
- Lauber, S., 2006. Agrarstrukturwandel im Berggebiet. Ein agentenbasiertes, räumlich explizites Agrarstruktur-und Landnutzungsmodell für zwei Regionen Mittelbündens. Diss. ETH, 270.
- Lauber, S., Böni, R., Seidl, I., Herzog, F., 2008. AlpFUTUR. Zukunft der Sömmerungsweiden in der Schweiz. Schlussbericht Vorstudie.
- Liu, J., Dietz, T., Carpenter, S.R., Alberti, M., Folke, C., Moran, E., Pell, A.N., Deadman, P., Kratz, T., Lubchenco, J., 2007. Complexity of coupled human and natural systems. Science 317, 1513-1516.
- MacDonald, D., Crabtree, J., Wiesinger, G., Dax, T., Stamou, N., Fleury, P., Gutierrez Lazpita, J., Gibon, A., 2000. Agricultural abandonment in mountain areas of Europe: environmental consequences and policy response. Journal of Environmental Management 59, 47-69.
- Mack, G., Walter, T., Flury, C., 2008. Entwicklung der Alpung in der Schweiz: Ökonomische Bedeutung und ökologische Auswirkungen. Yearb Socioecon Agric 2008, 259-300.
- Martinez-Moyano, I.J., 2012. Documentation for model transparency. System Dynamics Review 28, 199-208.
- Nägeli-Örtle, R., 1986. Die Berglandwirtschaft und Alpwirtschaft in Grindelwald, Bern.
- Netting, R.M.C., 1981. Balancing on an Alp: ecological change and continuity in a Swiss mountain community. Cambridge Univ Pr, Cambridge.
- Oliva, R., 2003. Model calibration as a testing strategy for system dynamics models. European Journal of Operational Research 151, 552-568.

- Ostrom, E., 1990. Governing the commons: The evolution of institutions for collective action. Cambridge university press.
- Ostrom, E., 2007. A diagnostic approach for going beyond panaceas. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104, 15181-15187.
- Ostrom, E., 2009. A General Framework for Analyzing Sustainability of Social-Ecological Systems. Science 325, 419-422.
- Ostrom, E., Janssen, M.A., Anderies, J.M., 2007. Going beyond panaceas. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104, 15176-15178.
- Plieninger, T., Höchtl, F., Spek, T., 2006. Traditional land-use and nature conservation in European rural landscapes. Environmental Science & Policy 9, 317-321.
- Schlüter, M., McAllister, R.R.J., Arlinghaus, R., Bunnefeld, N., Eisenack, K., Hölker, F., Milner-Gulland, E.J., Müller, B., Nicholson, E., Quaas, M., Stöven, M., 2012. New Horizons for Managing the Environment: A Review of Coupled Social-Ecological Systems Modeling. Natural Resource Modeling 25, 219-272.
- Scholz, R.W., Tietje, O., 2002. Embedded case study methods: Integrating quantitative and qualitative knowledge. Sage.
- Sterman, J.D., 2001. System Dynamics Modeling. California management review 43, 8-25.
- Stevenson, G.G., 1991. Common property economics: a general theory and land use applications. Cambridge Univ Pr.
- Stöcklin, J., Bosshard, A., Klaus, G., Rudmann-Maurer, K., Fischer, M., 2007. Landnutzung und biologische Vielfalt in den Alpen. Fakten, Perspektiven, Empfehlungen. Synthese NFP 48.
- Tietje, O., 2005. Identification of a small reliable and efficient set of consistent scenarios. European Journal of Operational Research 162, 418-432.
- Walker, B., Meyers, J.A., 2004. Thresholds in ecological and socialecological systems: a developing database. Ecology and Society 9, 3.
- Wiek, A., Binder, C., Scholz, R.W., 2006. Functions of scenarios in transition processes. Futures 38, 740-766.
- Wiesmann, U., 1983. Landschaftliche Schönheit und touristische Nachfrage Ergebnisse einer Gästebefragung im MAB-Testgebiet Grindelwald Urs Wiesmann. Jahrbuch Der Geographischen Gesellschaft Von Bern 55, 361.
- Zumstein, D., 2013. Nachhaltige Landnutzung in Grindelwald: Eine Szenarioanalyse, Departement Umweltsystemwissenschaften, Natura and Social Science Interface. Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule (ETH), Zürich.

#### **Online data sources**

(FSO), Federal statistical office. 1979-2009. Erhebungen, Quellen – Arealstatistik der Schweiz. <u>http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/index/infothek/erhebungen\_quellen/blank/blank/arealstatistik/01.html</u> (FSO), Federal Statistical Office. 1980-2010. Prices. online Database http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/index/themen/05.html

(LANAT), Amt für Landwirtschaft und Natur. 1980-1990, 2000-2010. Census data; unpublished data. edited by LANAT. Bern.

http://www.vol.be.ch/vol/de/index/direktion/organisation/lanat.html

Alporama. 2013. Alpbetrieb der Gemeinde Grindelwald. http://www.alporama.ch/gv2/get/get\_ov\_alp.asp?idGemeinde=576

**PART THREE: APPENDIX** 

# Glossary

Common Pool Resources (CPRs)	Common pool resources (CPRs) are jointly managed resources, for which individuals' appropriation diminishes the resource stock and potential beneficiaries of which are difficult to exclude (Berkes et al. 1989).
Common Property Pastures (CPPs)	Common property pastures (also called "Alp") is collectively managed and used for grazing animals typically located on the hillsides of valleys. Due to their location in higher altitude they are generally less productive than the private plots and only used during summer. The pastures are generally managed in by legal corporate bodies of collective ownership.
Social-ecological systems (SES)	According to Redman et al.2004, a Social-Ecological system are interlinked systems of people and nature, characterized by:
	<ol> <li>a coherent system of biophysical and social factors that regularly interact in a resilient, sustained manner;</li> <li>a system that is defined at several spatial, temporal, and organizational scales, which may be hierarchically linked;</li> <li>a set of critical resources (natural, socioeconomic, and cultural) whose flow and use is regulated by a combination of ecological and social systems; and</li> <li>a perpetually dynamic, complex system with continuous adaptation.</li> </ol>
Institutions	Humanly devised constraints that structure human interactions. They are made up of formal constraints (rules, laws, constitutions), informal constraints (norms of behavior, conventions and self-imposed codes of conduct), and their enforcement characteristics (North 1993)
System Dynamics (SD)	System Dynamics deals with interaction of various elements of a system in time and captures the dynamic aspect by incorporating concepts such as stock, flows, feedback and delays, and thereby provides an insight into the dynamic behavior of system over time (Tang and Vijay 2001)
Constitution of the local governance system ("Taleinungsbrief")	The "Taleinungsbrief" is a local constitution in which the seven corporations of Grindelwald write down their binding agreements about rules and process applied in the governance of their respective common property area. It was last amended in 2002.

Cooperative ("Taleinung")

Corporation ("Bergschaft")

Use right ("Kuhrecht") The "Taleinung" of Grindelwald is a legal body and functions as an umbrella organization in the interest of the corporations, with legislative tasks on the local level.

The "Bergschaft" is an operational unit that organizes the agricultural use of their respective resource system.

Use rights (or usage rights) define the number of livestock units that a farmer is allowed to send to the CPP. Furthermore, use rights define membership in the specific corporation. The rights cannot be sold and are tied to private plots in the valley.

## **Supporting Material for Module 2**

Survey

Umfrage zur Sömmerung in Grind	delwald		UNI Innovatio GRAZ Research	or Systems Science, n & Sustainability	A UNIVERSITÄT BERN BERN CORTE FON DEVLLOPMENT AND ERVIRONMENT
Befragungsverlauf					
Befragungstermin			Besuchsdauer	Alternativtermir	
Tag	Monat	Jahr	Beginn Ende	Datum:  _ _   _	_   2 0 1 1
1  _ _	- -	2 0 1 1		: _  Zeit:  _ _ :	- -
2   _	- -	2 0 1 1		: _ _  Datum:  _ _   _	_   2 0 1 1
3  _ _	- -	2 0 1 1	- -   - - : - -	: _  Zeit:  _ . : _	I_I.
Interviewer					
Protokollführer					
Resultat der 1. Visite		Resultat der 2. Visite		Resultat der 3.	Visite
Vollständig 1		Vollständig	1	Vollst	ändig <u>1</u>
Unvollständig 2		Unvollständig	2	Unvollst	ändig 2
Nicht da 3		Nicht da	ε	Nic	ht da 3
Keine Zeit 4		Keine Zeit	4	Keine	e Zeit 4
Anderer Termin 5		Anderer Termin	5	Anderer Te	ermin 5
Name Vorname (Betriehsleiter)				chlacht	
				Σ	8
Anschrift					
PID-Nummer					

 $m^{_{p}}$ 

-

	1. Betriebsidentifikation	UNI GRAZ	Institute for Systems Science, Innovation & Sustainability Research	understrat www.erstrat ermer for development and environment
101	Sind Sie persönlich der Betriebsleiter / die Betriebsleiterin	Ja 1 Nein 2		
102	In welchem Jahr wurden Sie Betriebsleiter / Betriebsleiterin dieses Betriebes		- -	
103	In welchem Jahr sind Sie geboren?	19 _ -		
104	Sind sie verheiratet?	Ja Nein	1 2	
103	Bewirtschaftungsform Bio (Bio-Zertifizierung) IP-Suisse ÖLN (ökologischer Leistun <sub>§</sub>	gsnachweis)		
104	Sind sie Mitglied in einer Zuchtgenossenschaft/Verein? Ja 1 <b>→ welcher</b> Nein 2			
105	Haben Sie ihren rechtlichen Wohnsitz in der Gemeinde Grindelwald?		Ja 1 Nein 2	
106	Sind Sie in Grindelwald aufgewachsen? (mehr als die Hälfte der Lebensjahre 0-16	in Grindelwald woh	Ja 1 Nein 2	
107	Zu welcher Bergschaft fühlen Sie sich am ehesten zugehörig?			
	Keiner Grindel Itramen Bach Bı	w dlassu	ärgistal Scheidegg	Holzmatten
108	Haben Sie derzeit ein Amt inne in dieser Bergschaft?			
	Ja $1 \rightarrow \text{welches}$ Nein 2			

	2. Haushaltsstruktur	UNI GRAZ	Institute for Systems Science, Innovation & Sustainability Research	www.erstrat www.erstrat eern coefficient or development and environment
201	Wie viele Personen gehören zum Haushalt, respektive wohnen unter obig	er Anschrift?  _ _Per → davon	sonen <b>Familienmitglieder?</b>  _ Personen	
202	Wie viele davon (Sie eingeschlossen) sind?	Zu wie viel Prozent arbe	iten diese auf dem Betrieb mit?	
203	<ul> <li>a. Männer älter als 65 Jahre</li> <li>b. Männer zwischen 40 und 64 Jahren</li> <li>c. Männer zwischen 20 und 39 Jahren</li> <li>d. Knaben und Männer jünger als 19 Jahre</li> <li>e. Frauen älter als 65 Jahre</li> <li>f. Frauen zwischen 40 und 64 Jahren</li> <li>g. Frauen zwischen 20 und 39 Jahren</li> <li>h. Mädchen und Frauen jünger als 19 Jahre</li> <li>Haben Sie in der Familie einen potentiellen Nachfolger für den Betrieb?</li> </ul>	8  _8	Ja 1 Ja 1 icht 3 Vein 4 Vein 5	

m	3. Erwerbssituation	systems Science, Sustainability	ub burnerstrat burnerstrat con con con con con con con con con con
301	Gehen Sie neben der Landwirtschaft noch einem weiteren Beruf nach und verdienen dabei mehr als 2300 Sfr. in Nein 1Nein 1Nein 1Ja, ganzjährlich $2 \rightarrow Zu$ wie vielen Stellenprozent?Ja, im Winter $3 \rightarrow Zu$ wie vielen Stellenprozent?Ja, im Sommer $4 \rightarrow Zu$ wie vielen Stellenprozent?	Jahr?	
302	Welches ist Ihre wichtigste außerlandwirtschaftliche Erwerbsquelle?		
303	Verbringen Sie insgesamt mehr Zeit in der Landwirtschaft als in Ihren außerlandwirtschaftlichen Beruf(en)?	Ja <u>1</u> Nein 2	
304	<ul> <li>Hat sich in den letzten 5 Jahren das außerlandwirtschaftliche Arbeitspensum des Betriebsleiters /der Betriebslei</li> <li>1 Nein, ist sich gleichgeblieben-→gehe zu 311</li> <li>2 Ja, zugenommen</li> <li>3 Ja, reduziert</li> <li>4 Aufgegeben</li> </ul>	erin verändert?	
305	Was erachten Sie als die wichtigsten Gründe für die Veränderung des Nebenerwerbs? 1. 2. 3.		
306	Ist der wichtigste ausserlandwirtschaftliche Arbeitsplatz des/r Betriebsleiters/in Ja 1 Grindelwald? $2 \rightarrow wo?$		
307	Ja Würden Sie Landwirt als ihre Berufsbezeichnung angeben؟ Nein		
308	Ja 1 Führen Sie den Betrieb zusammen mit einem /einer (Ehe-)Partner <i>In</i> ? Nein 2 <b>→gehe zu 40</b>		

	Institute Innovati GRAZ	or Systems Science, the survession of Sustainability the survession of the survessio	dent
Erwerb	bssituation (Ehe-) PartnerIn		
309	Geht der (Ehe) Partner einem außerlandwirtschaftlichen Beruf nach und verdient dabei mehr als 3000 Sfr.? (s	ehe oben)	
	Nein1Ja, ganzjährlich $2 \rightarrow zu$ wie vielen Stellenprozent? $ -  -  -  %$ Ja, im Winter $3 \rightarrow zu$ wie vielen Stellenprozent? $ -  -  - %$ Ja, im Sommer $4 \rightarrow zu$ wie vielen Stellenprozent? $ -  -  - %$		
310	Hat sich in den letzten 5 Jahren das außerlandwirtschaftliche Arbeitspensum des Ehepartners verändert?		
	<ol> <li>Nein, ist sich gleichgeblieben</li> <li>Ja, zugenommen</li> <li>Ja, reduziert</li> <li>Aufgegeben</li> </ol>		
311	Was erachten Sie als die wichtigsten Gründe dafür, dass sich das außerlandwirtschaftliche Arbeitspensum de	/der (Ehe) Partner <i>ln</i> verändert hat?	
	1		
	2		
312	3. Ist der wichtigste außerlandwirtschaftliche Arbeitsplatz des/der (Ehe) Partner/n in J Grindelwald? 2–	× wo?	
313	Worin besteht der wichtigste Nebenerwerb? (siehe oben)		

4	. Arbeitsbelastung	nstitute for Systems Science, nnovation & Sustainability Research	<sup>5</sup> UNIVERSITAT BEEN CORTRE FOR DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
401	Wie viele Arbeitsstunden pro Tag wenden Sie durchschnittlich für die Landwirtschaft auf?	Sommer  _ _  Winter  _ _	Std./T Std./T
402	Wie viele zusätzliche Arbeitsstunden werden noch von anderen Familienmitgliedern und Helfern v	Sommer  _ _  ichtet? Winter  _ _	Std./T Std./T
403	Wie viele Tage pro Woche arbeiten Sie für den Betrieb?	Sommer  _ _  Winter  _ _	T/W T/W
404	Was würden Sie sagen, wie viele Stunden Arbeit im Sommer wären insgesamt nötig um die folgen	Anzahl GVE zu bestelle?	
	1 GVE $\rightarrow$  _  _   Stunden/Tag5 GVE $\rightarrow$  _  _   Stunden/Tag10 GVE $\rightarrow$  _  _   Stunden/Tag15 GVE $\rightarrow$  _  _   Stunden/Tag20 GVE $\rightarrow$  _  _   Stunden/Tag25 GVE $\rightarrow$  _  _   Stunden/Tag30 GVE $\rightarrow$  _  _   Stunden/Tag		

n

					Institute for Sv	stems Science	$\boldsymbol{u}^{\scriptscriptstyle \mathrm{p}}$
				UNI GRAZ	Innovation & S Research	ustainability	b UNIVERSITÄT BERN CDE CDE AND EVVELOMENT AND ENVIROMMENT
	5. Viehbestand						
501	Schafe		<		- -		
502	Welche Rinderrassen halten Sie?Keine1 Simmentaler2 Red-Holste	in 3.F	Holstein	4 Braunvieh	5 Jersey	6 andere	
503	Wie hat sich Ihr Viehbestand (in GVE) in den letzten 10 Ja (respektive seitdem Sie den Betrieb übernommen haben	ihren entw , falls weni	∕ickelt? ger als 10 Jahre	e Betriebsleiter)	Verkleine Ist sich ef Vergröss	rt → - _ _  GVE :wa gleichgeblieben ert → + _ _  GVE	
504	Haben Sie in der Vergangenheit eine Umstellung in der B Nein	etriebsstra	itegie vorgenor	nmen? (z.B. Milch-	auf Mutterkuh	/ Rindvieh auf Schafhaltung	2)
	Ja → welche (von was auf was)?						
505	Planen Sie für die Zukunft eine Umstellung in der Betrieb Betriebsgemeinschaft)? Nein Ja → welche (von was auf was)?	sstrategie	vorzunehmen (	z.B. Milch- auf Mu	tterkuh / Rindvi	eh auf Schafhaltung/ Bio/	

Science, <b>W</b> <sup>b</sup> bility <u>eventerate</u>	_ _  GVE _ _  GVE		
Institute for Systems S Innovation & Sustainal Research	Verkleinern→ -   Konstant halten Vergrössern → +		_ _  GVE
	Wie planen Sie die Entwicklung ihres Viehbestandes, prozentual in GVE, für die nächsten 10 Jahre?	Was sind der Reihe nach die wichtigsten Faktoren, an die Sie Ihren Viehbestand anpassen? 1. 2. 3.	Was ist die der maximal Viehbestand (in GVE), der für Sie derzeit zu bewältigen ist?
	506	507	508

		Insti	tute for Syste	ams Science		ñ
Moti	ive fiir Viehhestand	JNI Inno Rese	wation & Sus earch	tainability		5 UNIVERSITÄT BERN CDE CDE CDE CNENTE FOR DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
					Trifft	
	Bitte bewerten Sie folgende Aussagen	Triff+ 2.11	Trifft	Weder	eher	Trifft nicht 200
521	Für mich sind die Ausrichtungen der Direktzahlungen zentral bei der Bestimmung der Viehbestand.	1	2	3	4	2
522	Mit der Stallleistung (durchschnittliche Milchleistung pro Stallplatz) steigt auch die Anerkennung unter den Bauern.	1	2	m	4	ъ
523	Ohne Rindviehhaltung hätte ich keine Freude an der Landwirtschaft.	1	2	C.	4	5
524	Je mehr Kühe ein Bauer besitzt, desto mehr Gewicht hat sein Wort in der Bergschaft.	1	2	c	4	ъ
525	Für mich ist die Rentabilität des Betriebs zentral bei der Bestimmung der Viehbestand.	1	2	ſ	4	ъ
526	Für mich ist die Stallkapazität entscheidend für die Bestimmung des Viehbestandes.	1	2	°	4	5
527	Für mich ist die Arbeitsbelastung entscheidend für die Bestimmung der Viehbestand.	1	2	c	4	ъ
528	Für mich sind die verfügbaren Arbeitskräfte entscheidend für die Bestimmung der Viehbestand.	1	2	3	4	5
529	Mir gibt die Nutzfläche des Betriebes den Viehbestand vor.	1	2	3	4	5
530	Ich passe meinen Viehbestand dem erzielten Preis für Alpkäse an.	1	2	C.	4	5
531	Ich passe meinen Viehbestand dem Milchpreis an	1	2	3	7	5
532	Ich passe meinen Viehbestand der Höhe der Tierbeiträge an	1	2	3	4	5

9 I L

б

					Ite for Systems Science,	5 UNIVERSITÄT
				GRAZ Rese	arion a Justaniaunity arch	CENTE FOR DEVELOPMENT CENTE FOR DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
9	. Flächenverfügbarkeit					
				Aktuell	Vor 10 Jahren (resp. seit	ln 10 Jahren
					Betriebsübernahme)	
601	Wie viel Landwirtschaftliche Nutzflächen gehi	ören zum Hof? (Pa	cht und Besitz)	_ _ha	_ _ha	_ _  ha
602	Davon Pachtland			_ _ha	_  ha	_ _ha
603	Davon aus <b>Familienbesitz</b> übernommen (Erbs	chaft/Auszahlung)		_ _ha	_  ha	_  ha
604	Wie viel ha zugekauftes Land besitzen Sie akt	uell (nicht aus Fam	iilienbesitz)	_ _ha	_ _ha	_ _ha
Hatten Flächen	folgende Aspekte einen Einfluss auf die entwicklung?	Trifft zu	Trifft eher zu	Weder noch	Trifft eher nicht zu	Trifft nicht zu
605	Berufliche Veränderungen	1	2	£	4	5
606	Entwicklung der Direktzahlungen	1	2	3	4	5
607	Entwicklung der Preise für Pachtland	1	2	3	4	5
608	Familiäre Situation	1	2	3	4	5
609	Körperliche Verfassung	1	2	3	4	5
610	Verfügbare unbezahlte Arbeitskräfte	1	2	3	4	5
611	Verfügbare finanzielle Mittel	1	2	3	4	5
612	Arbeitsbelastung	1	2	3	4	5
613	Verfügbarkeit von Pachtland	1	2	3	4	5
614	Verfügbarkeit von Land zum Kauf	1	2	3	4	5
615	Entwicklung der Marktpreise (Milch, etc.)	1	2	ß	4	5
616	Angenommen ein Teil der landwirtschaftliche	n Nutzfläche in ihr	em Besitz wird	ja Eh rji	e Weiß nicht E	her Nein Nein
010	Bauzone, tendieren Sie dazu, diese Flächen zu	ı verkaufen?		1	2 3	4 5
617	Wie viele Parzellen besitzen Sie, die nicht ane	inander angrenzer	ز.	_	^	or 10 Jahren  _ _
618	Wie viele Parzellen grenzen nicht direkt an de	:n Betrieb?		_'	✓	or 10 Jahren  _ _

UNIVERSITÄT  $n^{_{p}}$ 

for Systems Science, the second state of the s	Bitte rangieren Sie die Gründe	Nein, niemals 1 → <b>Überspringe703</b> auch schon vor 2 Manchmal 3 Immer häufiger 4 chlossene Sache 5	Bitte rangieren Sie die Gründe
Institute Innovatic Research		Kam Ist beso	
7. Motivation Landwirtschaft	Welches sind die drei wichtigsten Gründe, weshalb Sie Landwirt wurden? (Gewichtung) 1. 2. 3.	Haben sie schon einmal über den Ausstieg aus der Landwirtschaft nachgedacht?	Welches sind die vier wichtigsten Gründe weshalb Sie über einen Ausstleg nachgedacht haben?         1.         2.         3.         4.
	701	702	703

Institute for Systems Science,	Innovation & Sustainability	Research
		GRAZ

 $n^{P}$ 

UNIVERSITÄT BERN COE AND ENVIRONMENT AND ENVIRONMENT

	Nicht ökonomische Motive Landwirtschaft	Trifft zu	Trifft eher zu	Weder noch	Trifft eher nicht zu	Trifft nicht zu
704	Die Haltung von Kleinvieh (Schafen/Ziegen) wäre eine gute Alternative zur Haltung von Milchkühen.	H	2	£	4	ß
705	Die Haltung von Mutterkühen wäre eine gute Alternative zur Haltung von Milchkühen.	1	2	3	4	5
706	Mit dem Erfolg auf Schauen steigt die Anerkennung unter den Landwirt	1	2	3	4	S
707	Für mich ist die Freude an der Kuh der wichtigste Grund um Landwirt zu sein/ zu bleiben	-	2	£	4	£
708	Durch den Tourismus finden wir einfach Arbeit und können so mit der auf Milchproduktion auf Viehwirtschaft weiter fahren	H	2	£	4	ß
709	Die Nachfrage nach Bauland aus dem Tourismussektor führt zum Untergang der Landwirtschaft in Grindelwald	1	2	3	4	2
710	Mit dem Erfolg auf Schauen steigt die Anerkennung unter den Bauern	1	2	3	4	Ŋ
711	Als Landwirt wird man in der Gemeinde Grindelwald geschätzt und genießt ein hohes Ansehen	1	2	3	4	2
712	Die Viehwirtschaft gehört schon immer zum Leben im Berggebiet, deshalb möchte ich die Tradition weiterführen.	1	2	£	4	5
713	Ich bin mit der Landwirtschaft im Berggebiet aufgewachsen, für mich kam deshalb nie etwas anderes in Frage	7	2	3	4	2
714	Ich fühle mich voll und ganz als Landwirt	1	2	c	4	Ŋ

	8 Sömmerungsentscheid					Institu Innova Resea	te for Systems Sc ition & Sustainabi rch	:ience, lity	Ubert Construction of the
						Wie vie	ele davon wurder	n letztes Jahr ges	sömmert?
Vieht	oestand			[Anzahl	GVE]	[Anzah	I GVE]	)	
801	Wie viele Tiere (in GVE) besitzen Sie ins{	gesamt		-  -					
	In welcher Bergschaft besitzen Sie	A	nzahl Kuhre	chte	Mit wie v	vielen Tieren ha	aben sie letztes Ja	ahr Bergschaft be	esetzt?
	Bergrechte und wie viel Kuhrechte haben Sie?	Kuhr.	Fuss	Klauen	Kühe	Rinder	Kälber	Schafe	Ziegen
802	Scheidegg 1→								
803	Grindel 2→								
804	Wärgistal 3→								
805	Holzmatten 4→								
806	ltramen 5→								
807	Bussalp 6→								
808	Bach 7→								
608	Sömmern sie grundsätzlich Ihren ganzer Ja → Überspringe 809 Nein → Wie viele GVE haben	n Viehbesta sie nicht ii	and in Grino n Grindelwa	lelwald? ald gesömmert	?  _ GVE				
810	Welches sind die drei wichtigsten Gründ 1	de weshalb	Sie nicht ih	ren ganzen Vie	hbestand in Grin	delwald gesöm	mert haben?		
	2								
	ε								
811	Haben Sie jemals die Bergschaft gewech	nselt?			Ja 1 Nein $2 \rightarrow$	Überspringe81	1		

Science, www.estrar bility controver	Bitte rangieren Sie die Gründe				Bitte rangieren Sie die Gründe				Sie der Reihe nach bevorzugen?	salp Bach
Institute for Systems Innovation & Sustaina Research				Überspringe 813 Überspringe 813	dacht haben?				er 7 Bergschaften würden	ramen Bus
ON				Ja 1 Eher Ja 2 Eher Nein 3→ Nein 4→	hsel der Bergschaft nachge				r Vieh sömmern, welche de	Holzmatten It
	den Wechsel (rangieren)?			mals zu wechseln?	eshalb Sie über einen Wec				haftaussuchen in der Sie ih	Wärgistal
	i wichtigsten Gründe für (			stellen, die Bergschaft je	rei wichtigsten Gründe w				nüssten/sich eine Bergscl	Grindel
	Was waren die drei	1.		Können Sie sich vor	Welches sind die dr	1.	2.	3.	Angenommen Sie n	Scheidegg
	812			813	814				815	

		1		ute for Sveteme S		$\boldsymbol{u}^{_{\mathrm{P}}}$
		1	CINI IND GRAZ RESE	vation & Sustainab each	oility	6 URIVERSITÄT BERN GOR DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT
Welch bevor	ne Einfluss haben folgende Faktoren darauf, dass sie diese Bergschaft zugen würden?	Sehr großen Einfluss	Großen Einfluss	Mässiger Einfluss	Geringer Einfluss	Kein Einfluss
815	Weidequalität	1	2	S	4	5
816	Leistung Alppersonal	1	2	3	4	5
817	Produktequalität (Verkäsung)	1	2	Я	4	IJ
818	Erreichbarkeit	1	2	Я	4	IJ
819	Nähe zum Betrieb	1	2	3	4	5
820	Kosten der Sömmerung	1	2	£	4	IJ
821	Sozialer Zusammenhalt innerhalb der Bergschaft	1	2	3	4	5
822	Qualität der Infrastruktur	1	2	3	4	5
823	Weniger Tagwann zu leisten und tiefere Bussen zu bezahlen	1	2	3	4	5
824	Persönliche Kontakte zum Senntum	1	2	3	4	5
825	Art des gesömmerten Vieh passt besser in andere Bergschaft	1	2	3	4	5
826	Das Bergschaftsbudget und Einkommen aus dem Tourismus	1	1	3	4	5
827	Die Bergschaft ist nicht ausgelastet und freut sich über mein Vieh	1	2	£	4	IJ
830	Falls es hin und wieder Meinungsverschiedenheiten innerhalb der Besetzen	chaft gibt, was s	sind die wichtig	sten Streitpunkte	ن	
	1.					
	2.					
	3.					
831	Falls es hin und wieder Meinungsverschiedenheiten innerhalb der Bergscha	ft gibt, was sind	die dreiwichtig	sten Streitpunkte	ć	
	1.					
	2.					
	3.					
			UNI GRAZ	Institute for System Innovation & Sustai Research	is Science, inability	BUNVERSTIAT UNVERSTIAT BERN CDE CDE CDE EVVICIONMENT AND EVVICIONMENT
--------------	--	-----------------------------------	---	---	---------------------------------	--
	9. Gemeinwerk					
901	Wie viele Tagwannstunden leisten sie normalerweise?	1 Viel me 2 Eher m	hr als ich eigent ehr als ich müss	lich müsste→ Über te→ Überspringe 90	springe 904 und 9 34 und 905	05
		3 Genau 4 Eher we 5 Viel we	so viel wie ich m eniger als ich mu niger als muss⇒	uss→ Uberspringe iss → <b>gehe zu 904</b> • <b>gehe zu904</b>	904und 905	
902	Weshalb leisten Sie mehr oder zumindest die geforderten Tagwannstunden?	Sehr großen Einfluss	Großen Einfluss	Mäßiger Einfluss	Geringer Einfluss	Keinen Einfluss
A	Ich habe ausreichend Zeit.	1	2	3	4	J
В	Es ist ein willkommener Nebenverdienst.	1	2	£	4	ъ
U	Der Gruppenzusammenhalt ist gut. Zudem macht es Freude und verbindet.	1	2	m	4	ъ
D	Wir sind darauf angewiesen, dass der Futterertrag der Alpweiden hoch ist.	1	2	3	4	5
Е	Weil es besondere Ereignisse fast immer erfordern.	1	2	3	4	5
ш	Einer muss es ja machen.	1	2	3	4	IJ
IJ	Weil es mir wichtig ist, dass wir die Alpen weiterhin in ordentlichem Zustand halten, damit sie auch schön anzusehen sind.	1	2	ε	4	IJ
н	Weil es gern gesehen ist innerhalb der Besetzerschaft.	1	2	3	4	5
_	Weil für mich die Alp wie eine Verlängerung des Betriebes ist.	1	2	3	4	5
-	Wenn die anderen mitmachen, sollte ich auch mitmachen.	1	2	3	4	J
$\mathbf{r}$	Ich kann meine privaten Maschinen einbringen, dadurch kann ich viele Stunden schreiben.	1	2	3	4	5
L	Weil ich keine Busse bezahlen möchte.	1	2	3	4	5
Σ	Wenn die anderen sehen, dass ich mitmache werden Sie auch eher mitmachen	1	2	n	4	Q

		Inst	itute for Systems S	cience,	3
		UNI Inno GRAZ Res	ovation & Sustainat search	bility	NIVERSITAT BERN COLOCYLOPMEN AND ENVIRONMENT
e Busse für nicht verrichtete Tagwannstunden sein, da d nicht würden?	nit sie	□ Ich würde die Tagwa 	ann auch verrichte	:n wenn es keine E	Jussen gäbe.
ie weniger Tagwannstunden als vorgeschrieben?	Sehr großen Einfluss	Großen Einfluss	Mäßiger Einfluss	Geringer Einfluss	Keinen Einfluss
jahr und Sommer keine Zeit	1	2	m	4	5
s anders während dieser Zeit	1	2	m	4	5
Alpwirtschaft nicht so wichtig	1	2	m	4	5
sammenhalt in der Besetzerschaft ist eher schwach	1	2	m	4	5
e Ereignisse dies verhindern	1	2	ſ	4	S
gering	1	2	£	4	5
machen, die viele Kühe haben	1	2	m	4	5
nehr Leute, die ab und zu fehlen, also mache ich das	1	2	m	4	ß
inde Arbeit braucht es nicht so viele Leute	1	2	3	4	5
e die Busse sein, damit Sie alle Tagwannstunden erledige.	n würden	زا	I_I_I CHF/Stur	apr	
e eher mehr oder weniger der verlangten Tagwannstund	en im Ver	gleich zu früher?			
istete früher klar mehr Tagwannstunden istete früher eher mehr Tagwannstunden					
ı in etwa gleichbleibend be früher eher weniger Tagwannstunden geleistet					
be früher deutlich weniger Tagwannstunden geleistet					
ın jemand regelmäßig keine oder weniger Tagwann verri	htet als e	er eigentlich sollte und st	tattdessen bezahlt	زغ	
das ist jedem selbst überlassen					
i stort mich ein wenig s stört mich sogar ziemlich					

		n n	
		Institute for Systems Science, Innovation & Sustainability Research	NT
10.	Entwicklung der Bergschaft		
	When a low the standard of the	$Ja \rightarrow wie viele?$ Ca. $ - - $	
100	I reso. In der Sie am meisten Vieh sömmern zu Betriebsaufaahen kommen?	Nein	
		Weiss nicht	T
	Woo alouhan Cio miani ala dia Dadaata in daa Daata daa Cio andaa Cio andaa Cio andaa daa daa daa daa daa daa da	Zunehmen <b>→ wie viel %?</b> + _ _ % NST	
1002	ا الاطلاح المعلم المعالية المعادين المعادين المعالم المعالمة المعادية المعادية المعادية المعادية المعادية المعا المعادية المعالمة المعادية المعادية المعالمة المعادية المعادية المعادية المعادية المعادية المعادية المعادية الم	Abnehmen <b>→ wie viel %?</b> -  _ _ % NST	
		Weiß nicht	T
		Nein	
		Ja, die Möglichkeit sollte uneingeschränkt bestehen	
100	3 Sind sie dafür, dass fremdes Vieh auf Grindelwalds Alpen gesömmert wird?	Ja, aber nur wenn das Vieh im Tal knapp ist	
		Ja, aber nur Schafe und Ziegen	
		Nur wenn Naturereignisse es erfordern	
		Nein, sicher nicht	
1001	1) White a structure of the second seco	Nein, eher nicht	
TOOT		Ja, soviel sie müssen	
		Ja, die kommen sogar gerne	
	Was glauben Sie, sind die Kühe aus dem Unterland genauso geeignet für die Sömmerung in Grind	wald wie einheimisches Vieh?	
	Ла		
	Nein → weshalb? Zu schwer		
100	Verlassen den Läger kaum		
, ) 	sind nicht genug mobil		
	weitere Gründe		
3001	Haben Sie innerhalb der Bergschaft Mühe, Leute zu finden die gewisse Ämter und	Ja, es wird immer schwieriger Leute zu finden	
NONT	Positionen ausfüllen wollen?	Nein, das ist kein Problem	
1007	, Was glauben Sie was wäre die optimale Größe (Anzahl Leute) für die (Ihre) Besetzerschaft?	_ _  Personen	
	, Was glauben Sie wäre die optimale Anzahl zu verrichtender Tagwannstunden pro		1
NUL	Normalstoss?		
		18	

	11. Produktion/Einkommen	Institute for Systems Scient Innovation & Sustainability Research	Ince, www.estitat y concernation
		Alpkäse  _ _ _	kg
1101	Wie viel Kilogramm Käse hat die Sömmerung Ihrer Tiere letztes Jahr ergeben?	Schafkäse  _ _	kg
		Ziegenkäse  _ _	- _  kg
1102	Falls Sie Alpkäse verkaufen, wer sind ihre wichtigsten Abnehmer? (mehrere	Kilopreis A	bgesetzte Menge
	Antworten möglich)		
	Tages- und Wochentouristen	_ _ . _ _  CHF	_ _ _  kg
	Chaletbesitzer	_ _ . _ _  CHF	_ _ _  kg
	Hotellerie	_ _ . _ _  CHF	_ _ _  kg
	Dorfladen	_ . _ . _  CHF	kg
	Grossabnehmer (z.B. Emmi, Migros, Coop (?))	_ _ . _ _  CHF	_ _ _  kg
	Bekannte in Grindelwald	_ . _ . _  CHF	_ _ _  kg
	Bekannte ausserhalb von Grindelwald	_ . _ . _  CHF	_ _ _  kg
1103	Wie viele Tonnen Milch haben Sie letztes Jahr ungefähr produziert?	_ _ _ _ _ _ _  Tonnen	
1104	Welchen Preis haben Sie letztes Jahr im Durchschnitt für einen Liter Milch erhalten?	0 0 . _ _  CHF/kg	
1105	Wenn Sie Ihr Bruttohaushaltseinkommen betrachten, wie viel Prozent entfällt	%	
	auf landwirtschaftliche Tätigkeit?		
1106	Wenn Sie Ihr Einkommen aus der landwirtschaftlichen Tätigkeit betrachten, wi	e viel Prozent entfällt auf	
	Verkauf von Alpkäse  _ _ %		
	Verkauf von Verkehrsmilch  _ _ %		
	Direktzahlungen  _ _ %		
	Andere landwirtschaftliche Tätigkeiten  _ _ % <b>&gt;welche?</b>		
	etc.	-	
1107	Wie viel Prozent des gesamten Futterbedarfs deckt die eigene Produktion von Heu und Silage in einem durchschnittlichen Jahr?	- - %	

	12. Fragen zur Person	Institute for Systems Science, Innovation & Sustainability Research	VENT
1203	Was ist ihre höchste abgeschlossene Ausbildungsstufe?		
	Keine abgeschlossene Aushildung	Höhere Fach- und Berufsausbildung	
	Obligatorische Schulzeit	Höhere Fachschule	
	Berufslehre →welche?	Fachhochschule HTL	
	Maturitätsschule	Universität, ETH	
	Lehrerseminar	Keine Angabe	
1204	Nein       1         Haben Sie jemals eine Zweitausbildung absolviert?       Ja       2 →welche?		
1205	Was ist die höchste abgeschlossene Ausbildungsstufe ihres/ihrer Ehe (Partner)?		
	Keine abgeschlossene Ausbildung	Höhere Fach- und Berufsausbildung	
	Obligatorische Schulzeit	Höhere Fachschule	
	Berufslehre →welche?	Fachhochschule HTL	
	Maturitätsschule	Universität, ETH	
	Lehrerseminar	Keine Angabe	
1206	Hat ihr (Ehe-) Partner jemals eine Zweitausbildung absolviert? Nein 1 Ja 2 <b>→welche_</b>		
1207	Wie hoch ist ihr aktuelles Bruttohaushaltseinkommen? (Das Einkommen von allen Personen die und IV.)	n Ihrem Haushalt wohnen, vor den Sozialabgaben wie AHV	
		Weniger als 50'000 CHF	
	CHF I I I I I I I I →keine Angabe evtl. Angabe in Kategorien	50-99'999 CHF	
		тии иии-149 иии СНF Mehr als 150'000 СНF	
1300	Möchten Sie Informationen über die Resultate der Umfrage in Form eines Berichtes?	Ја	
) ) 		Nein	

- DANK AUSSPRECHEN

### **Q-Method Protocol**

				21				
			31	25	28			
		34	1	18	7	19		
	9	5	8	27	32	23	13	
20	12	10	26	2	17	30	11	14
33	22	15	6	24	4	29	3	16
Negativer Ei	nfluss		E	her kein Einfl	uss		Positi	ver Einfluss
Name								

*Q-SORT:* Example of a completed impact matrix

# O-STATEMENTS to be placed in the matrix

Statements Nummer

- Flächenbeiträge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale Landwirtschaft im Berggebiet
  - RGVE-Beiträge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale Landwirtschaft im Berggebiet
    - Sömmerungsbeiträge sind besonders wichtig für die Alpwirtschaft
- Absatzmöglichkeiten über Tourismus erhöhen die attraktivität der Alpwirtschaft
- Milchpreis ist besonders wichtig für die
- Abhängigkeit von Direktzahlungen ist schlecht für die Landwirtschaft ہ
- ÖLN ist wichtig für die vitale Landwirtschaft
  - Erwerbsmöglichkeiten im Tourismus ø
- Zahlungen von Bergbahnen an Bergschaften
- Vorschriften im Rahmen der Sömmerungsbeiträge 10
- Anzahl Landwirte
- Flächenverfügbareit Weidequalität 12
- 13
- Wirtschaftliche Eigeninitiative der Landwirte Anteil Grindelwaldner unter den Landwirten
  - Führung der Bergschaften 15 16
- Zusammenhalt unter den Landwirten
  - Wertschöpfung Alpkäse Gemeinsame Werte
- Abhängigkeit vom landwirtschaftlichen Einkommen
  - Fremdes Vieh auf Grindelwalds Alpen
    - Know-how Alppersonal
- Solidarität zwischen den Kooperativen
- Die Landwirtschaft hat politisches Gewicht
  - Schlichtung von Konflikten
    - Grösse der Bergschaften
- Flexibilität der Kuhrechte
- Die zu verrichtende Tagwann ist angemessen
  - Die Taleinung
- Die Seyung ist der verfügbaren Futtermenge angepasst
- Bindung der Kuhrechte an Privatbesitz
- Öffnung der Alp für fremdes Vieh 31 32 33 33
- Investitionen in die Infrastruktur auf den Alpen
  - Bereitschaft Tagwann zu leisten

Q-ANALYZES Protocol Grindelwald PQMethod2.20 Grindelwald Path and Project Name: c:/pqmethod/projects/Grindelw

Correlation Matrix Between Sorts

S	Ч	2	ŝ	4	D	9	7	ω	9	10	11
ufmann	100	12	9	-19	17	21	9-	-19	-54	- 1	14
biker	12	100	23	20	56	വ	-16	20	-39	47	21
schlim	9	23	100	σ	4	42	36	б	Ч	24	31
rtsch	-19	20	σ	100	21	28	10	100	9-	σ	Ч
th	17	56	4	21	100	۔ ۱	ں ا	21	-22	39	11
hli	21	വ	42	28	۔ ۱	100	47	28	-31	16	21
hluneg	9-	-16	36	10	۔ ۱	47	100	10	18	17	29
ger	-19	20	σ	100	21	28	10	100	9-	σ	Н
chel	-54	-39	Ч	<u>б</u>	-22	-31	18	9-	100	-16	9-
euri D	- 1	47	24	თ	39	16	17	σ	-16	100	39
euri A	14	21	31	Ч	11	21	29	Ч	9-	39	100

Unrotated Factor Matrix Factors

	Ч	7	С	4	Ŋ	9	7	ω
SORTS								
1 Kaufmann	0.2033	-0.6442	0.1136	-0.5438	-0.0404	0.1406	0.3139	0.2660
2 Nebiker	0.6403	-0.3787	-0.3549	0.2641	0.2373	-0.1503	-0.0668	-0.2835
3 Aeschlim	0.4962	0.0355	0.5242	0.0886	0.5686	-0.2601	0.1974	0.1164
4 Gertsch	0.6003	0.6523	-0.3943	-0.1737	-0.0829	-0.0532	0.0992	0.0807
5 Roth	0.5298	-0.3030	-0.4157	0.3013	0.0867	0.4811	0.2374	-0.0589
6 Wahli	0.5671	0.1602	0.4698	-0.4615	0.0646	0.0687	-0.2705	-0.1031
7 Schluneg	0.3107	0.3306	0.6933	0.0721	-0.0794	0.4445	-0.0128	-0.1440
8 Egger	0.6003	0.6523	-0.3943	-0.1737	-0.0829	-0.0532	0.0992	0.0807
9 Michel	-0.4431	0.5171	0.1992	0.5529	0.1152	0.0896	0.2353	0.1233
10 Steuri D	0.6037	-0.2376	0.0713	0.5039	-0.1502	0.0212	-0.4034	0.3657
11 Steuri A	0.4642	-0.1891	0.4330	0.2726	-0.5223	-0.3110	0.3046	-0.1270
Eigenvalues	2.8933	1.9972	1.8313	1.3766	0.7217	0.6546	0.6022	0.3776
% expl.Var.	26	18	17	13	7	9	Ð	ŝ

PAGE 1 Mar 12 12

SUPPORTING MATERIAL FOR MODULE 2 - 175 -

PQMethod2.20		Grindelwa.	ld						PAGE 2
Path and Projec	t Name: c:/	pqmethod/p:	rojects/Gr:	indelw					Mar 12 12
Cumulative Comm	unalities M	atrix							
	Factors 1	Thru							
	Ч	0	c	4	Ŋ	9	7	8	
SORTS									
1 Kaufmann	0.0413	0.4564	0.4693	0.7650	0.7666	0.7864	0.8849	0.9557	
2 Nebiker	0.4100	0.5534	0.6794	0.7492	0.8055	0.8280	0.8325	0.9129	
3 Aeschlim	0.2462	0.2475	0.5223	0.5302	0.8535	0.9212	0.9601	0.9737	
4 Gertsch	0.3603	0.7859	0.9413	0.9715	0.9784	0.9812	0.9911	0.9976	
5 Roth	0.2806	0.3724	0.5453	0.6360	0.6436	0.8750	0.9313	0.9348	
6 Wahli	0.3216	0.3473	0.5680	0.7810	0.7852	0.7899	0.8631	0.8737	
7 Schluneg	0.0965	0.2058	0.6865	0.6917	0.6980	0.8956	0.8958	0.9165	
8 Egger	0.3603	0.7859	0.9413	0.9715	0.9784	0.9812	0.9911	0.9976	
9 Michel	0.1964	0.4637	0.5034	0.8091	0.8224	0.8304	0.8858	0.9010	
10 Steuri D	0.3645	0.4209	0.4260	0.6799	0.7025	0.7029	0.8656	0.9994	
11 Steuri A	0.2155	0.2512	0.4387	0.5131	0.7859	0.8826	0.9754	0.9915	

Factor Matrix with an X Indicating a Defining Sort

cum% expl.Var.

Loadings

QS(	JRT	Ч	7
Ч	Kaufmann	0.5745X	-0.3554
0	Nebiker	0.7323X	0.1310
ω	Aeschlim	0.3528X	0.3508
4	Gertsch	0.0290	0.8860X
വ	Roth	0.5991X	0.1162
9	Wahli	0.3251	0.4915X
2	Schluneg	0.0196	0.4532X
ω	Egger	0.0290	0.8860X
δ	Michel	-0.6732X	0.1025
10	Steuri D	0.6125X	0.2140
11	Steuri A	0.4751X	0.1597

% expl.Var. DOMethody 20	23	22 הרבייוסה היאה	с ДУЛС
Path and Proje	ct Name: c:	/pqmethod/projects/Grindelw	Mar 12 12
Free Distribut	ion Data Re	sults	
QSORT	MEAN	ST.DEV.	
1 Kaufmann	0.000	2.202	
2 Nebiker	0.000	2.202	
3 Aeschlim 4 Gertsch		2.202 2.202	
5 Roth	0.000	2.202	
6 Wahli	0.000	2.202	
7 Schluneg	0.000	2.202	
8 Egger	0.000	2.202	
9 Michel	0.000	2.202	
10 Steuri D	0.000	2.202	
11 Steuri A	0.000	2.202	
PQMethod2.20 5		Grindelwald	PAGE
Path and Proje 12	ct Name: c:	/pgmethod/projects/Grindelw	Mar 12
Correlati	ons Between	I Factor Scores	
	1 2		
1 1.00	00 0.1551		
2 0.15	51 1.0000		

- 176 - PART THREE: APPENDIX

SUPPORTING MATERIAL FOR MODULE 2 - 177 -

PQMe Path Facto	thod2.3 and Pr	20						
				Fa(	ctor	70		
. oN	Stater	nent No.		Ч		7		
Ч	Н	Flächenbeitäge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale	Ч	0.24	15	1.42	С	
2	7	RGVE-Beiträge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale	2	0.56	2	-1.10	29	
m	c	Sömmerungsbeiträge sind besonders wichtig für die Al	С	1.83	С	-0.91	27	
4	4	Absatzmöglichkeiten über Tourismus erhöhen die attra	4	1.98	0	0.91	7	
പ	5	Milchpreis ist besonders wichtig für die	IJ	-1.89	34	-1.25	30	
9	9	Abhängigkeit von Direktzahlungen ist schlecht für di	9	-1.84	33	-0.22	20	
7	7	ÖLN ist wichtig für die vitale Landwirtschaft	7	0.07	18	-1.78	33	
ω	8	Erwerbsmöglichkeiten im Tourismus	8	1.58	4	0.84	8	
σ	6	Zahlungen von Bergbahnen an Bergschaften	6	0.50	8	0.72	6	
10	10	Vorschriften im Rahmen der Sömmerungsbeiträge	10	-1.09	30	0.40	14	
11	11	Anzahl Landwirte	11	-0.12 ]	- 61	1.88	34	
12	12	Flächenverfügbareit	12	-0.37	24 -	-1.07	28	
13	13	Weidequalität	13	0.23 ]	17	0.49	12	
14	14	Anteil Grindelwaldner unter den Landwirten	14	0.35 ]	11	-0.44	23	
15	15	Wirtschaftliche Eigeninitiative der Landwirte	15	0.33 ]	13	0.10	16	
16	16	Führung der Bergschaften	16	0.87	വ	0.16	15	
17	17	Zusammenhalt unter den Landwirten	17	-0.49	25	-1.41	32	
18	18	Gemeinsame Werte	18	-0.98	29	0.09	17	
19	19	Wertschöpfung beim Alpkäse ist hoch	19	2.11	- -	-0.03	19	
20	20	Abhängigkeit vom landwirtschaftlichen Einkommen	20	-1.48	31	1.69	2	
21	21	Kein Fremdes Vieh auf Grindelwalds Alpen	21	-0.87	28	-0.64	25	
22	22	Know-how Alppersonal	22	-1.50	32	-0.31	21	
23	23	Solidarität zwischen den Kooperativen	23	0.77	9	1.34	4	
24	24	Die Landwirtschaft hat politisches Gewicht	24	-0.31	22	-0.61	24	
25	25	Schlichtung von Konflikten	25	-0.77	27	1.25	Ŋ	
26	26	Grösse der Bergschaften	26	-0.33	23	-0.31	22	
27	27	Flexibilität der Kuhrechte	27	-0.53	26	0.47	13	
28	28	Die zu verrichtendeTagwann ist angemessen	28	0.41 ]	10	0.56	11	
29	29	Die Taleinung	29	0.42	6	1.86	Ч	
30	30	Die Seyung ist der verfügbaren Futtermenge angepass	30	0.26 ]	14	0.07	18	
31	31	Bindung der Kuhrechte an Privatbesitz	31	-0.25	20	-1.35	31	
32	32	Die Öffnung der Alp für fremdes Vieh	32	0.24 ]	- 10	-0.65	26	
33	33	Investitionen in die Infrastruktur auf den Alpen	33	0.34 ]	12	1.01	9	
34	34	Bereitschaft Tagwann zu leisten	34	-0.26	21	0.59	10	

РАGE 4 Маг 12 12

Factor Scores -- For Factor 1 No. Statement

Z-SCORES

No.

19	19	Wertschöpfung beim Alpkäse ist hoch	19	2.113
4	4	Absatzmöglichkeiten über Tourismus erhöhen die attraktivit	4	1.978
m	m	Sömmerungsbeiträge sind besonders wichtig für die Alpwirts	m	1.828
8	ω	Erwerbsmöglichkeiten im Tourismus	8	1.579
16	16	Führung der Bergschaften	16	0.869
23	23	Solidarität zwischen den Kooperativen	23	0.768
7	7	RGVE-Beiträge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale Landwi	2	0.562
9	<i>о</i>	Zahlungen von Bergbahnen an Bergschaften	6	0.504
29	29	Die Taleinung	29	0.423
28	28	Die zu verrichtendeTagwann ist angemessen	28	0.406
14	14	Anteil Grindelwaldner unter den Landwirten	14	0.354
33	33	Investitionen in die Infrastruktur auf den Alpen	33	0.344
15	15	Wirtschaftliche Eigeninitiative der Landwirte	15	0.328
30	30	Die Seyung ist der verfügbaren Futtermenge angepasst	30	0.256
Ч	Ч	Flächenbeitäge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale Land	Ч	0.240
32	32	Die Öffnung der Alp für fremdes Vieh	32	0.235
13	13	Weidequalität	13	0.233
2	7	ÖLN ist wichtig für die vitale Landwirtschaft	7	0.065
11	11	Anzahl Landwirte	11	-0.116
31	31	Bindung der Kuhrechte an Privatbesitz	31	-0.252
34	34	Bereitschaft Tagwann zu leisten	34	-0.260
24	24	Die Landwirtschaft hat politisches Gewicht	24	-0.310
26	26	Grösse der Bergschaften	26	-0.327
12	12	Flächenverfügbareit	12	-0.373
17	17	Zusammenhalt unter den Landwirten	17	-0.488
27	27	Flexibilität der Kuhrechte	27	-0.525
25	25	Schlichtung von Konflikten	25	-0.771
21	21	Kein Fremdes Vieh auf Grindelwalds Alpen	21	-0.871
18	18	Gemeinsame Werte	18	-0.983
10	10	Vorschriften im Rahmen der Sömmerungsbeiträge	10	-1.089
20	20	Abhängigkeit vom landwirtschaftlichen Einkommen	20	-1.481
22	22	Know-how Alppersonal	22	-1.504
9	9	Abhängigkeit von Direktzahlungen ist schlecht für die Land	9	-1.841
വ	D	Milchpreis ist besonders wichtig für die	Ъ	-1.895

QMet] ath a acto	hod2. and F r Scc	20 Grindelwald roject Name: c:/pqmethod/projects/Grindelw res For Factor 2			
Io	Stat	ement No.		Z-SCORES	
29	29	Die Taleinung	29	1.856	
20	20	Abhängigkeit vom landwirtschaftlichen Einkommen	20	1.688	
Ч	Ч	Flächenbeitäge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale Land	Ч	1.422	
23	23	Solidarität zwischen den Kooperativen	23	1.345	
25	25	Schlichtung von Konflikten	25	1.250	
33	33	Investitionen in die Infrastruktur auf den Alpen	33	1.006	
4	4	Absatzmöglichkeiten über Tourismus erhöhen die attraktivit	4	0.907	
œ	œ	Erwerbsmöglichkeiten im Tourismus	ω	0.842	
σ	<i>б</i>	Zahlungen von Bergbahnen an Bergschaften	9	0.717	
34	34	Bereitschaft Tagwann zu leisten	34	0.594	
28	28	Die zu verrichtendeTagwann ist angemessen	28	0.564	
13	13	Weidequalität	13	0.485	
27	27	Flexibilität der Kuhrechte	27	0.469	
10	10	Vorschriften im Rahmen der Sömmerungsbeiträge	10	0.400	
16	16	Führung der Bergschaften	16	0.164	
15	15	Wirtschaftliche Eigeninitiative der Landwirte	15	0.099	
18	18	Gemeinsame Werte	18	0.091	
30	30	Die Seyung ist der verfügbaren Futtermenge angepasst	30	0.069	
19	19	Wertschöpfung beim Alpkäse ist hoch	19	-0.026	
9	9	Abhängigkeit von Direktzahlungen ist schlecht für die Land	9	-0.225	
22	22	Know-how Alppersonal	22	-0.309	
26	26	Grösse der Bergschaften	26	-0.313	
14	14	Anteil Grindelwaldner unter den Landwirten	14	-0.438	
24	24	Die Landwirtschaft hat politisches Gewicht	24	-0.606	
21	21	Kein Fremdes Vieh auf Grindelwalds Alpen	21	-0.637	
32	32	Die Öffnung der Alp für fremdes Vieh	32	-0.652	
m	С	Sömmerungsbeiträge sind besonders wichtig für die Alpwirts	Ś	-0.911	
12	12	Flächenverfügbareit	12	-1.071	
0	7	RGVE-Beiträge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale Landwi	7	-1.101	
പ	Ъ	Milchpreis ist besonders wichtig für die	ŋ	-1.254	
31	31	Bindung der Kuhrechte an Privatbesitz	31	-1.349	
17	17	Zusammenhalt unter den Landwirten	17	-1.414	
2	7	ÖLN ist wichtig für die vitale Landwirtschaft	7	-1.779	
11	11	Anzahl Landwirte	11	-1.882	

SUPPORTING MATERIAL FOR MODULE 2 - 179 -

POLE 2 1/9 PAGE 7 Mar 12 12

- 180 - PART THREE: APPENDIX

PQMet Path Desce	hod2. and F nding	20				PAGE Mar ]
.oN	Stat	ement	No.	Type	1 Type	2 Difference
Ś	с	Sömmerungsbeiträge sind besonders wichtig für die Alpwirts	m	1.828	-0.911	2.739
19	19	Wertschöpfung beim Alpkäse ist hoch	0	2.113	-0.026	2.139
7	7	ÖLN ist vichtig für die vitale Landwirtschaft	7	0.065	-1.779	1.844
11	11	Anzahl Landwirte 11		-0.116	-1.882	1.766
0	0	RGVE-Beiträge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale Landwi	2	0.562	-1.101	1.663
31	31	Bindung der Kuhrechte an Privatbesitz		-0.252	-1.349	1.097
4	4	Absatzmöglichkeiten über Tourismus erhöhen die attraktivit	4	1.978	0.907	1.071
17	17	Zusammenhalt unter den Landwirten	1	-0.488	-1.414	0.926
32	32	Die Öffnung der Alp für fremdes Vieh	01	0.235	-0.652	0.887
14	14	Anteil Grindelwaldner unter den Landwirten	-	0.354	-0.438	0.792
00	8	Erwerbsmöglichkeiten im Tourismus	8	1.579	0.842	0.738
16	16	Führung der Bergschaften 16	10	0.869	0.164	0.705
12	12	Flächenverfügbareit	01	-0.373	-1.071	0.698
24	24	Die Landwirtschaft hat politisches Gewicht	Ŧ	-0.310	-0.606	0.296
15	15	Wirtschaftliche Eigeninitiative der Landwirte	10	0.328	0.099	0.229
30	30	Die Seyung ist der verfügbaren Futtermenge angepasst 30	0	0.256	0.069	0.187
26	26	Grösse der Bergschaften 26	10	-0.327	-0.313	-0.015
28	28	Die zu verrichtendeTagwann ist angemessen 28	~	0.406	0.564	-0.157
9	<i></i> о	Zahlungen von Bergbahnen an Bergschaften	6	0.504	0.717	-0.213
21	21	Kein Fremdes Vieh auf Grindelwalds Alpen		-0.871	-0.637	-0.234
13	13	Weidequalität 13	~	0.233	0.485	-0.252
23	23	Solidarität zwischen den Kooperativen	~	0.768	1.345	-0.577
С	വ	Milchpreis ist besonders wichtig für die	D	-1.895	-1.254	-0.641
33	33	Investitionen in die Infrastruktur auf den Alpen 33	~	0.344	1.006	-0.662
34	34	Bereitschaft Tagwann zu leisten 34	H	-0.260	0.594	-0.854
27	27	Flexibilität der Kuhrechte 27	2	-0.525	0.469	-0.994
18	18	Gemeinsame Werte 18	~	-0.983	0.091	-1.074
Ч	Ч	Flächenbeitäge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale Land	Ч	0.240	1.422	-1.182
22	22	Know-how Alppersonal	01	-1.504	-0.309	-1.195
29	29	Die Taleinung 29	•	0.423	1.856	-1.433
10	10	Vorschriften im Rahmen der Sömmerungsbeiträge 10		-1.089	0.400	-1.489
9	9	Abhängigkeit von Direktzahlungen ist schlecht für die Land	9	-1.841	-0.225	-1.617
25	25	Schlichtung von Konflikten 25	10	-0.771	1.250	-2.020
20	20	Abhängigkeit vom landwirtschaftlichen Einkommen 20	0	-1.481	1.688	-3.169

SUPPORTING MATERIAL FOR MODULE 2 - 181 -

PQMet Path Exact	hod2. and P Fact	20 Grindelwald roject Name: c:/pqmethod/projects/Grindelw or Scores (á la SPSS) in Z-Score and T-Score units					PAGE Mar
				Fact	COLS		
No.	State	nent Nc	.0	Ч	2		
Ч	Ч	Flächenbeitäge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale	Ч	0.28	3 1.26	63	
2	2	RGVE-Beiträge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale	2	0.53	55 -1.42	36	
c	č	Sömmerungsbeiträge sind besonders wichtig für die Al	c	1.86 (	11.11 - 63	39	
4	4	Absatzmöglichkeiten über Tourismus erhöhen die attra	4	1.80	58 0.84	58	
Ъ	D	Milchpreis ist besonders wichtig für die	Ŋ	-1.68	3 -0.56	44	
9	9	Abhängigkeit von Direktzahlungen ist schlecht für di	9	-1.91	1 -0.67	43	
7	7	ÖLN ist wichtig für die vitale Landwirtschaft	7	0.35	53 -1.87	31	
00	8	Erwerbsmöglichkeiten im Tourismus	ω	1.38 (	54 0.91	59	
9	6	Zahlungen von Bergbahnen an Bergschaften	9	0.18	52 0.48	55	
10	10	Vorschriften im Rahmen der Sömmerungsbeiträge	10	-1.24 38	0.28	53	
11	11	Anzahl Landwirte	11	0.23 52	2 -1.77	32	
12	12	Flächenverfügbareit	12	-0.57 44	l -0.92	41	
13	13	Weidegualität	13	0.42 54	⊧ -0.04	50	
14	14	Anteil Grindelwaldner unter den Landwirten	14	0.65 56	-0.38	46	
15	15	Wirtschaftliche Eigeninitiative der Landwirte	15	0.34 53	3 0.63	56	
16	16	Führung der Bergschaften	16	0.99 6(	0.01	50	
17	17	Zusammenhalt unter den Landwirten	17	-0.38 46	5 -1.68	33	
18	18	Gemeinsame Werte	18	-0.85 42	0.30	53	
19	19	Wertschöpfung beim Alpkäse ist hoch	19	2.08 71	-0.20	48	
20	20	Abhängigkeit vom landwirtschaftlichen Einkommen	20	-1.84 32	2 1.77	68	
21	21	Kein Fremdes Vieh auf Grindelwalds Alpen	21	-0.99 40	) -1.15	38	
22	22	Know-how Alppersonal	22	-1.29 37	0.34	53	
23	23	Solidarität zwischen den Kooperativen	23	0.55 55	0.86	59	
24	24	Die Landwirtschaft hat politisches Gewicht	24	-0.44 46	-1.00	40	
25	25	Schlichtung von Konflikten	25	-0.91 41	. 0.77	58	
26	26	Grösse der Bergschaften	26	-0.34 47	0.21	52	
27	27	Flexibilität der Kuhrechte	27	-0.60 44	l 0.40	54	
28	28	Die zu verrichtendeTagwann ist angemessen	28	0.39 54	L 0.59	56	
29	29	Die Taleinung	29	0.44 54	l 1.47	65	
30	30	Die Seyung ist der verfügbaren Futtermenge angepass	30	0.31 53	3 -0.33	47	
31	31	Bindung der Kuhrechte an Privatbesitz	31	-0.19 48	3 -0.93	41	
32	32	Die Öffnung der Alp für fremdes Vieh	32	0.53 55	5 0.14	51	
33	33	Investitionen in die Infrastruktur auf den Alpen	33	0.13 51	1.63	66	

.GE 9 ar 12 12

DIX
<b>APPEN</b>
THREE: /
PART 7
- 182 -

34	34	Bereitschaft Tagwann zu leisten	4 -0	.21 48	1.15	61
PQMet Path	nodz and Pı	o oject Name: c:/pqmethod/projects/Grindelw				
Facto Facto	r Q-S( r Arr;	rt Values for Each Statement .y				
No.	Stater	lent Variance = 4.706 St. Dev. = 2.169				
Ч	1	Flächenbeitäge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale I	nd 1		0	0
7	2	RGVE-Beiträge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale La	dwi 2		2	2
С	С	Sömmerungsbeiträge sind besonders wichtig für die Alpv	rts 3		ς Ο	5
4	4	Absatzmöglichkeiten über Tourismus erhöhen die attrakt	vit 4		4	5
വ	Ъ	Milchpreis ist besonders wichtig für die	Ð	I	4	3
9	9	Abhängigkeit von Direktzahlungen ist schlecht für die	and 6	I	4	0
7	7	ÖLN ist wichtig für die vitale Landwirtschaft	7		- 0	4
œ	8	Erwerbsmöglichkeiten im Tourismus	8		ŝ	N
9	6	Zahlungen von Bergbahnen an Bergschaften	6		2	N
10	10	Vorschriften im Rahmen der Sömmerungsbeiträge	10	I	c	1
11	11	Anzahl Landwirte	11		- 0	4
12	12	Flächenverfügbareit	12	I	1	N
13	13	Weidequalität	13	0	Ч	
14	14	Anteil Grindelwaldner unter den Landwirten	14	Ч	- 1	
15	15	Wirtschaftliche Eigeninitiative der Landwirte	15	Ч	0	
16	16	Führung der Bergschaften	16	ŝ	0	
17	17	Zusammenhalt unter den Landwirten	17		- 3	
18	18	Gemeinsame Werte	18	-2	0	
19	19	Wertschöpfung beim Alpkäse ist hoch	19	4	0	
20	20	Abhängigkeit vom landwirtschaftlichen Einkommen	20	- 3	4	
21	21	Kein Fremdes Vieh auf Grindelwalds Alpen	21	-2	- 1	
22	22	Know-how Alppersonal	22	ς Γ	- 1	
23	23	Solidarität zwischen den Kooperativen	23	2	Ś	
24	24	Die Landwirtschaft hat politisches Gewicht	24	- 1	- 1	
25	25	Schlichtung von Konflikten	25	-2	c	
26	26	Grösse der Bergschaften	26	- 1	- 1	
27	27	Flexibilität der Kuhrechte	27	-2	Ч	
28	28	Die zu verrichtendeTagwann ist angemessen	28	Η	Ч	
29	29	Die Taleinung	29	2	4	
30	30	Die Seyung ist der verfügbaren Futtermenge angepasst	30	Ч	0	
31	31	Bindung der Kuhrechte an Privatbesitz	31	0	с -	
32	32	Die Öffnung der Alp für fremdes Vieh	32	0	-2	
33	33	Investitionen in die Infrastruktur auf den Alpen	33	Ч	2	
34	34	Bereitschaft Tagwann zu leisten	34	- 1	Ч	

PAGE 10 Mar 12 12

PQMet Path	thod2.1 and Pi	20 Grindelwald roject Name: c:/pgmethod/projects/Grindelw				
Fact(	or Q-S(	ort Values for Statements sorted by Consensus vs. Disagreeme	nt (Var	Tance ac Factor A	ross Factor Z-Scores) rray	
.oN	Stater	nent N	.0	Ч	7	
26	26	Grösse der Bergschaften	26	Ц Ч	-1	
28	28	Die zu verrichtendeTagwann ist angemessen	28	Ч	1	
30	30	Die Seyung ist der verfügbaren Futtermenge angepasst	30	1	0	
σ	6	Zahlungen von Bergbahnen an Bergschaften	6	0	7	
15	15	Wirtschaftliche Eigeninitiative der Landwirte	15	Ч	0	
21	21	Kein Fremdes Vieh auf Grindelwalds Alpen	21	-2	-1	
13	13	Weidequalität	13	0	Т	
24	24	Die Landwirtschaft hat politisches Gewicht	24	- 1	-1	
23	23	Solidarität zwischen den Kooperativen	23	7	3	
വ	വ	Milchpreis ist besonders wichtig für die	വ	-4	- 3	
33	33	Investitionen in die Infrastruktur auf den Alpen	33	1	2	
12	12	Flächenverfügbareit	12	- 1	-2	
16	16	Führung der Bergschaften	16	m	0	
œ	œ	Erwerbsmöglichkeiten im Tourismus	8	ω	2	
14	14	Anteil Grindelwaldner unter den Landwirten	14	1	-1	
34	34	Bereitschaft Tagwann zu leisten	34	- 1	L	
32	32	Die Öffnung der Alp für fremdes Vieh	32	0	-2	
17	17	Zusammenhalt unter den Landwirten	17	-1	- 3	
27	27	Flexibilität der Kuhrechte	27	-2	г	
4	4	Absatzmöglichkeiten über Tourismus erhöhen die attraktivit	4	4	0	
18	18	Gemeinsame Werte	18	-2	0	
31	31	Bindung der Kuhrechte an Privatbesitz	31	0	<del>د</del> ا	
Ч	Ч	Flächenbeitäge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale Land	Ч	0	c	
22	22	Know-how Alppersonal	22	м I	-1	
29	29	Die Taleinung	29	2	4	
10	10	Vorschriften im Rahmen der Sömmerungsbeiträge	10	ε	1	
9	9	Abhängigkeit von Direktzahlungen ist schlecht für die Land	9	-4	0	
0	2	RGVE-Beiträge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale Landwi	2	7	-2	
11	11	Anzahl Landwirte	11	0	-4	
7	7	ÖLN ist wichtig für die vitale Landwirtschaft	7	0	-4	
25	25	Schlichtung von Konflikten	25	-2	3	
19	19	Wertschöpfung beim Alpkäse ist hoch	19	4	0	
С	č	Sömmerungsbeiträge sind besonders wichtig für die Alpwirts	č	S	-2	
20	20	Abhängigkeit vom landwirtschaftlichen Einkommen	20	m I	4	

SUPPORTING MATERIAL FOR MODULE 2 - 183 -

PAGE 11 Mar 12 12

## - 184 - PART THREE: APPENDIX

Name:	.20 Project Name:	Grindelwald	c:/pqmethod/projects/Grindelw
	.20 Project		Name:
:hod2 and		PQMet	Path

Factor Characteristics		
	Factors	
	Ч	Ν
No. of Defining Variables	7	4
Average Rel. Coef.	0.800	0.800
Composite Reliability	0.966	0.941
S.E. of Factor Z-Scores	0.186	0.243

Standard Errors for Differences in Factor Z-Scores (Diagonal Entries Are S.E. Within Factors)

7	0.305	0.343
Ч	0.263	0.305
Factors	Ч	7

PAGE 12 Mar 12 12 SUPPORTING MATERIAL FOR MODULE 2 - 185 -

PAGE 13 Mar 12 12 PAGE Path and Project Name: c:/pqmethod/projects/Grindelw Distinguishing Statements for Factor 1 Grindelwald PQMethod2.20

(P < .05 ; Asterisk (\*) Indicates Significance at P < .01)

Both the Factor Q-Sort Value (Q-SV) and the Z-Score (Z-SCR) are Shown.

Factors

 $\sim$ 

Ч

No. State	ment	No. Q-SV	Z-SCR Q-SV	Z-SCR
19 19	Wertschöpfung beim Alpkäse ist hoch	19	4 2.11*	0 -0.03
4 4	Absatzmöglichkeiten über Tourismus erhöhen die attra	tivit 4	4 1.98*	2 0.91
с С	Sömmerungsbeiträge sind besonders wichtig für die Al	wirts 3	3 1.83*	-2 -0.91
8	Erwerbsmöglichkeiten im Tourismus	8	3 1.58	2 0.84
16 16	Führung der Bergschaften	16	3 0.87	0 0.16
2 2	RGVE-Beiträge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale	andwi 2	2 0.56*	-2 -1.10
29 29	Die Taleinung	29	2 0.42*	4 1.86
14 14	Anteil Grindelwaldner unter den Landwirten	14	1 0.35*	-1 -0.44
33 33	Investitionen in die Infrastruktur auf den Alpen	33	1 0.34	2 1.01
1	Flächenbeitäge sind besonders wichtig für ein vitale	Land 1	0 0.24*	3 1.42
32 32	Die Öffnung der Alp für fremdes Vieh	32	0 0.24*	-2 -0.65
7 7	ÖLN ist wichtig für die vitale Landwirtschaft	7	0 0.07*	-4 -1.78
11 11	Anzahl Landwirte	11	0 -0.12*	-4 -1.88
31 31	Bindung der Kuhrechte an Privatbesitz	31	0 -0.25*	-3 -1.35
34 34	Bereitschaft Tagwann zu leisten	34	-1 -0.26*	1 0.59
12 12	Flächenverfügbareit	12	-1 -0.37	-2 -1.07
17 17	Zusammenhalt unter den Landwirten	17	-1 -0.49*	-3 -1.41
27 27	Flexibilität der Kuhrechte	27	-2 -0.53*	1 0.47
25 25	Schlichtung von Konflikten	25	-2 -0.77*	3 1.25
18 18	Gemeinsame Werte	18	-2 -0.98*	0 0.09
10 10	Vorschriften im Rahmen der Sömmerungsbeiträge	10	-3 -1.09*	1 0.40
20 20	Abhängigkeit vom landwirtschaftlichen Einkommen	20	-3 -1.48*	4 1.69
22 22	Know-how Alppersonal	22	-3 -1.50*	-1 -0.31
6 6	Abhängigkeit von Direktzahlungen ist schlecht für di	Land 6	-4 -1.84*	0 -0.22
ى ك	Milchpreis ist besonders wichtig für die	ß	-4 -1.89	-3 -1.25

DIX
APPENI
THREE: ,
PART 7
- 186 -

E 14	, 12 12
PAGI	Mar
	ndelw
	s/Gri
ld	roject
delwa.	iq/bod
Grin	pqmet
	:
	t Name
20	rojec
thod2.	and F
PQMet	Path

Those That Do Not Distinguish Between ANY Pair of Factors. | | Consensus Statements All Listed Statements are Non-Significant at P>.01, and Those Flagged With an \* are also Non-Significant at P>.05.

Factors	Ŋ	CR Q-SV Z-SCR	-1.89 -3 -1.25	1.58 2 0.84	0.50 2 0.72	-0.37 -2 -1.07	0.23 1 0.49	0.33 0 0.10	0.87 0 0.16	-0.87 -1 -0.64	0.77 3 1.34	-0.31 -1 -0.61	-0.33 -1 -0.31	0.41 1 0.56	0.26 0 0.07	1 0.34 2 1.01
	Н	No. Q-SV Z-S	5 -4	8	9	12 -1	13 0	15 1	16 3	21 -2	23 23	24 -1	26 -1	28 1	30 1	33
		atement	Milchpreis ist besonders wichtig für die	Erwerbsmöglichkeiten im Tourismus	Zahlungen von Bergbahnen an Bergschaften	Flächenverfügbareit	Weidequalität	Wirtschaftliche Eigeninitiative der Landwirte	Führung der Bergschaften	Kein Fremdes Vieh auf Grindelwalds Alpen	Solidarität zwischen den Kooperativen	Die Landwirtschaft hat politisches Gewicht	Grösse der Bergschaften	Die zu verrichtendeTagwann ist angemessen	Die Seyung ist der verfügbaren Futtermenge angepasst	Investitionen in die Infrastruktur auf den Alpen
		S T	വ	œ	б б	12	, 13	, 15	16	21	23	24	26	28	* 30	33
		No.	വ	œ	* რ	12	13*	15*	16	21*	23*	24*	26*	28*	30⊀	33

### **Results from Factor-Analysis**

Animulation         Potent         Factor 1         Distribution frame         Monitorial         Monitorial           1         Selectronic         Distribution         Secondation         Distribution         Secondation         Secondation           1         Selectronic         Secondation         Secondation         Secondation         Secondation         Secondation           2         Secondation	res	621026 10220 1	00	00	00	00,	00,	00	00	00	00	00	00	00	80	00	00	00	8 8	00	00,	8	00	00	00	00	00,	00	00,	00	00	3
International         Description         Internation	or sec	Difference in	ŝ	4	S	6	-	4	4	-	0	4	4		- ~	-	ŝ	n' r	14	7	-	<u>сі</u> -	- 0	5.	0	ŝ	0	2	-	ຕິດ	7 - 7	H (
Antimitation         Prominized Intervention         Prominized Intervention         Prominized Intervention         Prominized Intervention           1         Science Scienc	Facto	Factor scores	,00	,00	,00	,00	,00	,00	1 <sup>,00</sup>	,00	,00	,00	,000	00	90, 00,	,00	,00	00,00	00,	,00	,00	00,00	00	,00	,00	,00	,00	,00	00,	00,	00	, v v
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	lized	F2 Normalized		2	- 2	~	ς.	0	4	~	~		4 (			0	0	ήc	0	4	7			ŝ	7	-	-	4	0	ή	7 0	1 -
	orma	F 1 NOUMANZED Factor scores	0,00	2,00	3,00	4,00	-4,00	-4,00	0,00	3,00	2,00	-3,00	0,00	-1,00	1,00	1,00	3,00	-1,00	4,00	-3,00	-2,00	-3,00	-1.00	-2,00	-1,00	-2,00	1,00	2,00	1,00	0,00	0,00 1 00	1,00
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Z		00,	00	00	00	00	00,	00	00,	00	00	00	0,0		00,	00,	8	00	00	00	0	00	00	00,	00	00	00	00	00	00	200
Corrent         Factor 1         Factor 1         Pactor 2         Distinguishing static statement if the statement if the statement if the statement if the statement if the statement if the statement	ments	anideiuaniteib	-	-			•			•	•			•		•	0	-		Ξ	•				0		0		0			þ d
AnimulationOrenalElementElementDistinguishingSignement if I hand of control of	state	Consenus statements					1,00			1,00	1,00		•	1,00	1,00	1,00	1,00				1,00	1 00	1,000	`	1,00		1,00		1,00		1 00	1,00
Orenal         Factor 1         Factor 2         Distinguishing         Distinguishing           1         S3 Direct payments field to private parcers $0.000$ Barter corrant of the statement $1.000$ $1.0000$ $1.0000$ $1.0000$	shing	IA enomoters	-				-			-					- 1	0	-	0 -		1	0			1	0	-	0		0			- ,
Antistantic         Partent         Factor 1         Factor 1         Factor 1         Factor 1         Factor 1         Factor 2         Dist           53 Simureright         1         54 Direct payments tied to private parteck         0	ingui	gnidsingniteiU	~	10	_	-	_	01	10	_	~	~		<u> </u>	~ ~	~~~						~ ~	_	0	0	~	10	_	~	_		
Element in the selection of the s	Dist	92nriance	-1,18	1,66	2,74	1,07	-0,62	-1,62	1,85	0,74	-0,22	-1,49	1,76	0,7(	0,75	0,23	0,71	0,92	2,14	-3,17	-0,23	-1,19	0.30	-2,02	-0,02	-1,0(	-0,15	-1,44	0,19	1,10	-0.67	, o, o
Corrent National National National Site payments field to private payments field to breated s Si The dependence upon direct payments s Si OFE firm isomovie a bilities and enterprenencing payments s Si The addrest yate of firmers s Si OFE firm isomovie a bilities and enterprenencing s Si The addrest yate of firmers s Si The addrest yate of the corporations s Si The addrest yate s Si The same s Si The same s Si The same s Si The sa	┢		3	29	27	7	30	20	33	~	6	14	34	28	17 23	16	15	32	19	0	25	21	24	5	22	13	11		18	31	97	2 9
Corrent Intermentiable         Corrent Intermentiable         France method         France           1         55         Corrential of the statement state opportunities         1         France         1           1         55         Summervisible         Manuscrittable         1         1         1           1         55         Summervisible         Manuscrittable         1         <	tor 2	F2 Rank		~			10	01	~	_	~	_	~ 1			~				~	_		_	10		-	10	10	-		<b>•</b>	
CorealOverall of transverkeAccord to CorealParter transverke1S S Direct payments field to private parter payments field to private parter payments field to private parter paymentsOverall of the statement to Core overall of the statementParter transverke1S S Direct payments field to private parter payments0.024152S S Direct payments to Core overall of to Core	Fac	F2 Score	1,42	-1,10	-0,91	0,91	-1,25	-0,22	-1,78	0,84	0,72	0,40	-1,88	-1,07	-0,44 -0,44	0,10	0,16	-1,41 0.00	-0,03	1,65	-0,64	-0,31	-0.61	1,25	-0,31	0,47	0,56	1,86	0,07	-1,35	-0,65	1,01,0
Consult         Consult         Fatterment is a fatterment in the statement of summer super statement of summer state			15	7	3	0	34	33	18	4	×	30	19	24	11	13	S	25 20		31	28	32	22	27	23	26	10	6	14	20	10 15	1 2
And Control         Overall         Function           1         SA Direct payments tied to private parcels         0.00         15         0         0.02           2         SA Direct payments tied to private parcels         0.00         15         0         0.02           2         SA Direct payments tied to private parcels         0.00         15         0         0.02           2         SA Direct payments tied to private parcels         0.00         15         0         0.02           2         SA Direct payments tied to private parcels         0.00         15         0         0.02           2         SA Direct payments tied to private parcels         0.00         15         0         0.02           3         SA Direct payments tied to private parcels         0.00         15         0         0.02           3         SA Direct payments tied to private parcels         0.00         15         0         0.02           1         UT         The entry opticity many operations to the contrations         0.02         0.03         1         0.03           1         UT         The entry of the contrations         0.02         0.03         1         0.02         0.03         0.03         0.03         0.03         0.03	ctor 1	վուց լե		5	~	~	~	+	~	~	_	~				~		• ~	<u> </u>	~	2	<u> </u>		2	~	~		0	5			
Coreal         Overall         Overall           1         Scoret payments tied to private parcels         0,09         Rank overall of the statement of always performents           2         S. Direct payments tied to private parcels         0,09         Rank overall of the statement of always operations in the beal outsine sectors           3         S. S. The mark end and asles opportunities         0,09         1,73         1         4           5         S. The dependence upon direct payments         1,73         1         4         4           6         S. S. Difficient payments tied to private parcels         0,09         15         0         0         2         1         1         1         2         2         1         1         2         2         1         1         2         1         1         2         2         1         1         2         2         1         1         2         2         1         1<	Fac	F1 Score	0,24	0,50	1,83	1,98	-1,89	-1,84	0,0	1,58	0,5(	-1,09	-0,12	-0,3	0,35	0,33	0,8,0	-0,49	2,11	-1,48	-0,8,0	-1,5(	-0.3	-0,77	-0,33	-0,53	0,4]	0,42	0,26	-0,25	0,22	2.0
Constant         Constant           1         Score oversali of Framework         Overali           1         Score oversali of Framework         Description           2         Score oversali of Commercing payments         Overali           3         Score oversali of Commercing payments         Overali           5         Score oversali of Commercing payments         Overali           6         Score oversali of Commercing payments         Overali           7         Score oversali of Commercing payments         Overali           7         Score oversali of Commercing payments         Overali           1         U         The adheric         Overadi           1         U		score	0	-	0	4	-2	4	ς	4	0		- 0	4	0 0	1		n c	n c	-	4			-2	-	0	7	б	-2	0 0	<i>n</i> c	4 -
Constraint         Constraint           Framework         Framework           Variable         Statement is           Statement is         Statement           Statement is         Statement           Statement         Statement           Statement         Statement           Statement         Statement           State         State           State         State <td< th=""><th></th><th>Normalized Factor</th><th></th><th>~</th><th>5</th><th>_</th><th>~</th><th></th><th>0</th><th>0</th><th>~</th><th></th><th>_ ,</th><th>~ ~</th><th></th><th>0</th><th>~</th><th></th><th></th><th>0</th><th>~</th><th>-+ -</th><th></th><th>5</th><th>_</th><th>2</th><th>~</th><th>+</th><th>2</th><th>~ .</th><th>~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~</th><th><u> </u></th></td<>		Normalized Factor		~	5	_	~		0	0	~		_ ,	~ ~		0	~			0	~	-+ -		5	_	2	~	+	2	~ .	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	<u> </u>
Control         Control <t< th=""><th>II</th><th>Kank overall of the statement</th><th>17</th><th>5</th><th>Ũ</th><th></th><th>56</th><th>37</th><th>33</th><th></th><th>1</th><th>6</th><th>6</th><th>5 5</th><th>1</th><th>1</th><th></th><th>[f]  </th><th></th><th>53</th><th>ŝ</th><th>4-</th><th></th><th>56</th><th>1</th><th>1</th><th>0,</th><th>7</th><th>5</th><th><u> </u></th><th>.,</th><th>-</th></t<>	II	Kank overall of the statement	17	5	Ũ		56	37	33		1	6	6	5 5	1	1		[f]		53	ŝ	4-		56	1	1	0,	7	5	<u> </u>	.,	-
Statement N         1       Science of N         2       Science of N         1       Science of Payments tied to private parcels         2       Science opportunities         3       Science opportunities         5       Science opportunities         5       Science opportunities         5       Science opportunities         5       Science opportunities         6       Science opportunities         7       Science opportunities         8       Science opportunities         9       Science opportunities         8       Science opportunities         9       Science opportunities         9       Science opportunities         9       Science opportunities         10       The share of locally born and traised farmers         11       The number of farmers <th>Overa</th> <th>the statemen</th> <th>60'</th> <th>,36</th> <th>,00</th> <th>,73</th> <th>,18</th> <th>,00</th> <th>,64</th> <th>,55</th> <th>60,</th> <th>,55</th> <th>,27</th> <th>60, 00</th> <th>,91 91</th> <th>,55</th> <th>,55</th> <th>,55</th> <th>,18</th> <th>,27</th> <th>,73</th> <th>,36</th> <th>36</th> <th>,55</th> <th>,64</th> <th>,00</th> <th>,73</th> <th>,27</th> <th>,73</th> <th>00, 5</th> <th>64, 10</th> <th>1.2</th>	Overa	the statemen	60'	,36	,00	,73	,18	,00	,64	,55	60,	,55	,27	60, 00	,91 91	,55	,55	,55	,18	,27	,73	,36	36	,55	,64	,00	,73	,27	,73	00, 5	64, 10	1.2
Clatement         Description           Clatement         Description           1         S4         Direct payments tied to private parcels           2         S4         Direct payments tied to private parcels           3         S1         The milk price           5         S5         The adpendence upon direct payments           6         S5         The adpendence upon direct payments           7         S4         Ecological regulations for obtaining direct payments           8         S5         Off-farm income opportunities in the local tourism sector           9         GS3         Rule Avaiability of agricultural area           11         The share of locally born and raised farmers         Ite adpendence upon direct payments           12         Rule addity of agricultural area         Ite addity of agricultural area           13         RS5         The quality of the CPP           14         Ul         The number of farmers           15         RS3         The added value of alpine cheese           16         Leadership within the corporation         Ite corporation           17         Chesion and solidarity among the farmers'         Ite connon adres and gales           18         RS         The ander value of alpine cheese         S		Score overall of	0	<b></b>	-	-	-	-2	-	-	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	• •			0	0			0-	-	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	0	0	0	-	<u> </u>	0,	- 0	
StatementStatementVarialStatementState </th <th></th> <th>ip in the valley</th> <th>ra on the CDD</th> <th></th>																														ip in the valley	ra on the CDD	
Statement N         Statement N           1         1         1         Statement N           1         1         1         1         Statement N           1         1         1         1         1         Statement N           1         1         1         1         1         Statement N         Statement N           1         1         1         1         1         Statement N         Statement N           1         1         1         1         1         Statement N         Statement N           1         1         1         1         1         1         Statement N         Statement N           1         1         1         1         1         1         Statement N         Statement N           1         1									et payments	ourism sector	corporations	payments	mers			ırship						Alp		el			ted			ownersh	le afractructur	
<b>Statement N</b> 33 3 3 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5		noiiqinozəO	Direct payments tied to private parcels	Direct payments tied to livestock	Summering payments	Marketing and sales opportunities	The milk price	The dependence upon direct payments	Ecological regulations for obtaining direct payments	Off-farm income opportunities in the local tourism sector	Reimbursement of railway operators to the corporations	Rules for the obtainment of summering payments	The share of locally born and raised farmers	Availability of agricultural area	The number of farmers	Farmers innovative abilities and entrepreneurship	Leadership within the corporation	Cohesion and solidarity among the farmers'	The added value of alpine cheese	Dependence upon agricultural income	The presence of foreign cattle on the CPP	The know-how of the employees on the Alp	Recognition of agriculture by local politics	Negotiability of conflicts on the local level	The size of the corporations	Flexibility and leasability of use rights	The hours of communal work to be conducted	The rules of the local constitution	The amount of use rights	The attachment of use rights to private ownersh	The amount of the CPP for foreign cattle The amount of reconneces invested into the infractments	
		Framework Variable Description	S4 Direct payments tied to private parcels	S4 Direct payments tied to livestock	S4 Summering payments	RU4 Marketing and sales opportunities	S5 The milk price	S5 The dependence upon direct payments	S4 Ecological regulations for obtaining direct payments	S5 Off-farm income opportunities in the local tourism sector	GS3 Reimbursement of railway operators to the corporations	S4 Rules for the obtainment of summering payments	U1 The share of locally born and raised farmers	RS3 Availability of agricultural area	UI The number of farmers	U5 Farmers innovative abilities and entrepreneurship	U5 Leadership within the corporation	17 Cohesion and solidarity among the farmers'	RU4 The added value of alpine cheese	S4 Dependence upon agricultural income	GS5 The presence of foreign cattle on the CPP	U7 The know-how of the employees on the Alp	GS3 Recomition of agriculture by local politics	14 Negotiability of conflicts on the local level	RS3 The size of the corporations	GS4 Flexibility and leasability of use rights	GS5 The hours of communal work to be conducted	GS7 The rules of the local constitution	GS4 The amount of use rights	GS4 The attachment of use rights to private ownersh	US2) I ne opening of the CPP for foreign caffle 15 The amount of resources invested into the infractructur	

### **Supporting Material for Module 4**

### **Model Tests**

Description of the four types of structural tests conducted:

- 1. **Dimensional consistency:** ensured that all variables have units with real-world meaning; automatically conducted with the Vensim software.
- 2. Integration error testing: This included running the model with different integration methods such as Euler and Runge-Kutta and with different time intervals. When the integration method was changed, the behavior of the model remained unchanged. A change in the time interval had a minor impact on the model behavior, since farmers automatically adapt their livestock more frequently to changing land use incentives. As a result, the ecological system was also affected by the chosen time interval. Simulating the model with a time interval of one year resulted in 2,481 ha of forest, with a time interval of 0.5 in 2,488 ha forest, and with a time interval of 0.0078 in 2,501 ha forest. However, this indicates only that changes in time interval would require changing the parameters incorporating delays such as "time to adjust herd size."
- 3. **Reality check equations:** We used RC decay functions to force variable values to 0 at a certain time to see whether logical consequences arise in the following relationships:
  - "No farmers no livestock"; CONDITION: Farm households = 0;
     IMPLICATION: Livestock per household = 0
  - "No farmers no appropriation of local cattle"; CONDITION: Farm households
     = 0; IMPLICATION: Appropriation of local cattle = 0

- "No monitoring no provision"; CONDITION: Monitoring = 0;
   IMPLICATION: Provision fulfillment = 0
- "No appropriation no provision"; CONDITION: Stocking = 0; IMPLICATION: Provision = 0
- "Conservation of landmass"; CONDITION: Forest = 0; IMPLICATION:
   Forest + Overgrown Summer Pastures + Summer Pastures = 6,663.

### 4. Extreme condition tests:

- "No government support": if direct payments tied to private parcels are set to 0 no matter at which time point, the system collapses within 5 years. Since farming was no longer feasible, farmers completely gave up agriculture, because it no longer generated a satisfying household income.
- "Increasing costs of agricultural production": if the costs of agricultural production were increased in 2000 by 10% annually, the last farmer would abandon agriculture in 2019.
- "Increasing productivity of CPP": A sudden doubling of the animal feed yield on CPPs in 2000 as a result of a technological breakthrough would have caused a massive abandonment of CPPs followed by an increase in forest stands of up to 4,800 ha by 2020.

### Sensitivity tests for parameter assessment:

Outcomes for sensitivity tests when the following parameters are randomized:

- Satisficing household income was randomized with the lower limit set at CHF 55,000 and the upper limit set at CHF 100,000.
- Initial pasture productivity was randomized with a lower limit of 10 and an upper limit of 25 kg DM/day/ha.

- Availability of cattle in the lowlands was randomized with a lower limit of 0.1 and an upper limit of 1.
- Fodder decay fraction with a lower limit of 1 and an upper limit of 4.











Fig. 1. Outcomes of sensitivity tests for farm households, stock, common property pasture area, and forest stands by randomizing parameters.

### **Model Documentation**

### Documentation of Full model SES Grindelwald

View the 172 variables sorted by type, module, group, variable name, module/group/name, Level Structure, or in a view summary.

Model Information	Number
Total Number of Variables	172
Total Number of State Variables	8
(Level+Smooth+Delay Variables)	
Total Number of Stocks (Stocks in	8
Level+Smooth+Delay Variables) †	
Total Number of Macros	0
Function Sensitivity Parameters	0
Variables with Source Information	0
Data Lookup Tables	0
Time Unit	Year
Initial Time	1980
Final Time	2040
Reported Time Interval	TIME
	<u>STEP</u>
Time Step	1
Model Is Fully Formulated	Yes
Modeler-Defined Groups	- No -
VPM File Available	- No -

### **Model Assessment Results**

Warnings	Number
Undocumented Equations	168
Equations with Embedded Data	42
Equations With Unit Errors or Warnings	Unavailable
Variables Not in Any View	0
Incompletely Defined Subscripted Variables	0
Nonmonotonic Lookup Functions	1
Cascading (Chained) Lookup Functions	0
Equations with IFTHENELSE	10
Equations with MIN or MAX	0

Potential Omissions	Number
Unused Variables	4
Supplementary Variables	0
Supplementary Variables Being Used	0
Complex Variable Formulations (Richardson's	1
<u>Rule = 3)</u>	
Complex Stock Formulations	0

	🚵 L : Level (8 / 8) *	<b>SM</b> : Smooth (0 / <b>0</b> ) *	<b>DE</b> : Delay (0 / <b>0</b> ) * †	LI : Level Initial (4)	Wil : Initial (0)
Types:	C : Constant (62)	<b>₩F</b> : Flow (15)	A : Auxiliary (102)	<sup>[sub]</sup> Sub: Subscripts (0)	wab D : Data (0)
	🎋 <b>G</b> : Game (0)	<b>™ → T</b> : Lookup (16 / <b>16</b> ) ††			

\* (state variables / total stocks)

† Total stocks do not include fixed delay variables.

†† (lookup variables / lookup tables).

	Control (4)	Full model SES
Groups:	Simulation Control	Grindelwald (168)
-	Parameters	(Default)

Modules	: Default (17	2)										
Mana	External Se	etting (6	I) Actor	<b>(A)</b> (58)	Governance Syst (GS) (35)	em Resource	e Units (RU)	Resource System (RS) (24)				
views	Levels (8)		auxila	<b>ry</b> (0)	Reality checks (0)	) View 9 (0	<u>))</u>	View 10 (0)				
		<u> </u>	(01	• • • • •								
TOP	External	Settin	<b>g</b> (61 va	ariables)								
Module	Group	Type	Variable N	ame and Descrip	ption							
Delauit	SES Grindelwald (Default)		■ WITH LC 2000,108 Present in ● Ext	VITH LOOKUP (Time,([(1980,0)-(2040,200)],(1980.37,185.965),(1990,144),(1995,122), 100,108),(2005,103),(2010,100),(2040,80) )) esent in 1 view: • External Setting								
			Used by: • <u>che</u> • <u>mill</u>	<u>ese price</u> ( price								
			200									
			÷									
			lex (dmn									
			price inc									
			agricultural									
			0,									
			15	180		Time		2040				
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A	appropriat = STEP( <u>c</u> summering Present in • <u>Ext</u> • <u>Res</u> Used by: • pay	ion contribution urrent appropriat 2 views: ernal Setting source Units (RU -off appropriation	(CHF/NST) tion contribution*(co	nsumer price in	<u>ndex</u> /100), 201	15)* <u>scenario multiplier</u>				
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C	Change D = 0.013 Present in • Ext • Lev	<pre>change Direct Costs / GVE (1/Year) 0.013 vresent in 2 views:</pre>								
			<ul> <li>Used by:</li> <li>scenario multiplier costs of agricultural production</li> </ul>									

Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C VAB	Change Direct Payments (1/Year) = 0 Present in 2 views: • External Setting • Levels Used by: • scenario multiplier direct payments
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C	Change in climate development (1/Year) = 0.067 Present in 2 views: • External Setting • Levels Used by: • scenario multiplier climate
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C	Change off-farm income opportunities (1/Year) = 0 Present in 2 views: • External Setting • Levels Used by: • scenario multiplier off-farm income
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C VAD	Change Producer Prices (1/Year) = 0.01 Present in 2 views: • External Setting • Levels Used by: • scenario multiplier producer prices
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C VA	Change Summering payments (1/Year) = 0 Present in 2 views: • External Setting • Levels Used by: • scenario multiplier summering
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C VAD	Change Wood Price (1/Year) = 0.033 Present in 2 views: • External Setting • Levels Used by: • scenario multplier wood price
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A	<pre>cheese price (CHF/kg) = ((((agricultural price index/100)*(consumer price index/100))*current cheese price)*effec of tourism on cheese price)*scenario multiplier producer prices Present in 2 views:</pre>

Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAB	climate change (degree/Year) = climate change development*scenario multiplier climate Present in 1 view: • External Setting Used by: • effect of climate on tourism • growing season
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAB	climate change development (degree/Year) = RAMP(0.02, 1980, 2040) Present in 1 view: • External Setting Used by: • climate change
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C VAD	climate change normal (degree) = 0.6 Present in 1 view: • External Setting Used by: • effect of climate on tourism
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	T,A	consumer price index (dmnl) = WITH LOOKUP (Time,[[(1980,0)-(2040,200)],(1980,52),(1990,74),(2000,92),(2010,100), (2040,150) )) Present in 2 views: • External Setting • Actor (A) Used by: • appropriation contribution • cheese price • direct costs/GVE • direct payments/Na • discrepancy ratio • potential off-farm income • spendings on labor • summering fee • summering payments



Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C	current milk price (CHF/kg) = 0.5 Present in 1 view: • External Setting Used by: • milk price
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C	current potential off farm income (SFr/person) = 63200 Present in 1 view: • External Setting Used by: • potenital off-farm income
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C	current summering costs (CHF/NST) = 700 Present in 1 view: • External Setting Used by: • summering fee
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C	current summering payments (CHF/NST) = 300 Present in 1 view: • External Setting Used by: • summering payments
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C	current wood price (CHF/FM) = 55 Present in 1 view: • External Setting Used by: • wood price
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAB	direct costs/GVE (CHF/GVE)         = current direct costs/GVE*(consumer price index/100)*scenario multiplier costs of agricultural production         Present in 2 views:         • External Setting         • Actor (A)         Used by:         • costs of herd
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAD	direct payments/GVE (CHF/GVE)         = (consumer price index/100)*current direct payments/GVE*scenario multiplier direct payments         Present in 2 views:         • External Setting         • Actor (A)         Used by:         • household income direct payments animals         • land use incentive direct payments
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A	Direct payments/ha (CHF/ha) = ((consumer price index/100)*current direct payments/ha)*scenario multiplier direct payments Present in 2 views: • External Setting • Actor (A) Used by: • income land use

			• land	l use incentive dir	rect payments				
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	T,A Vale	effec of tourism on cheese price (dmnl) = WITH LOOKUP (local tourism index,([(0,0)-(110,100)],(0,0),(1,0.1),(100,1),(110,1.1))) Present in 1 view: • External Setting Used by: • cheese price						
			effec of tourism on cheese price (dmnl) 100						
				21	l	ocal tourism inde	x	110	
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	T,A	effect of cl = WITH LC (2.01835,1 Present in • Exte Used by: • loca	imate on tourism OCKUP ( <u>climate o</u> .18421),(3.30275 <b>1 view:</b> ernal Setting I tourism index	(dmnl) <u>hange/climate ch</u> ,1.57895),(4.892	<u>ange normal,([(</u> 0 97,2.85088) ))	,0)-(5,5)],(0.6,1),	(1,1),	



			• pote	enital off-farm income						
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAB	<pre>milk price (CHF/kg) = (agricultural price index/100)*current milk price*scenario multiplier producer prices Present in 2 views:</pre>							
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	C	Minimum revenue needed for harvesting (SFr/FM) = 10 Present in 1 view: • External Setting Used by: • rentability of wood harvest							
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	T,A	normal tou = WITH LO (2020,1.1), Present in • Exter Used by: • loca 01 (lump) the model of the model 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01 01	Initian development (dmnl)         DOKUP (Time,[[(1980,0)-(2040,10)],(1980,0.8),(1990,0.87),(2000,0.95),(2010,1),         (2030,1.2),(2040,1.3)))         1 view:         ernal Setting         al tourism index	)					
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAB	potenital off-farm income (SFr/person)         = (((consumer price index/100)+(local tourism index/100))/2)*current potential off farm income*scenario multiplier off-farm income*rentability of wood harvest         Present in 2 views:         • External Setting         • Actor (A)         Used by:         • off farm income							
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A Vàb	rentability of wood harvest (dmnl)         = IF THEN ELSE(wood price-wood harvesting cost         price/wood harvesting cost, 1)         Present in 1 view:         • External Setting							
---------	---	----------	---	--						
			potenital off-farm income							
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAB	scenario multiplier climate (dmnl) = 1+STEP( RAMP( <u>Change in climate development</u> , 2015, 2040), 2015) Present in 1 view: • <u>External Setting</u> Used by:							
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAB	<u>climate change</u> scenario multiplier costs of agricultural production (dmnl)     = 1+STEP( RAMP( <u>Change Direct Costs / GVE</u> , 2015, 2040), 2015)      Present in 1 view: <u>External Setting</u> Used hum							
			<u>direct costs/GVE</u> <u>summering fee</u>							
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAB	scenario multiplier direct payments (dmnl) = 1+STEP( RAMP( <u>Change Direct Payments</u> , 2010, 2040), 2010) Present in 1 view:							
			Used by: • direct payments/GVE • Direct payments/ha							
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAD	scenario multiplier off-farm income (dmnl) = 1+STEP( RAMP( <u>Change off-farm income opportunities</u> , 2015, 2040), 2015) Present in 1 view: • <u>External Setting</u> Used by:							
Dofault	Full model		potenital off-farm income							
Delault	SES Grindelwald (Default)	VÀB	= 1+STEP( RAMP( <u>Change Producer Prices</u> , 2015, 2040), 2015) Present in 1 view:							
			Used by: • <u>cheese price</u> • <u>milk price</u>							
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAB	scenario multiplier summering (dmnl) = 1+STEP( RAMP( <u>Change Summering payments</u> , 2010, 2040), 2010) Present in 1 view: • External Setting							
			Used by: • <u>appropriation contribution</u> • <u>summering payments</u>							
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald (Default)	A VAB	scenario multiplier tourism (dmnl) = 1+STEP( RAMP( <u>Tourism development</u> , 2015, 2040), 2015) Present in 1 view: • <u>External Setting</u>							
			Used by: <ul> <li>local tourism index</li> <li>local tourism</li></ul>							

# List of 168 Undocumented Variables

Module	Group	Туре	Variable (168)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	abandonment (ha/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	afforestation (ha/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	agricultural income houshold (SFr/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	T,A	agricultural price index (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	appropriation contribution (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	appropriation of foreign cattle (NST/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	appropriation of local livestock (NST/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Ċ	availability of cattle in the lowlands (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	C	average land holding (ha/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	average land holdings per household (ha/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	breeding progress (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	C	Carrying Canacity (NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	C	Change Direct Costs / GVE (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	C	Change Direct Payments (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	C C	Change in climate development (1/Vear)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С С	change in milk yield when not summered (Vear/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	<u> </u>	change in milk yield when summered (Vear/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald		Change off form income opportunities (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Glindelwald		Change Draducer Driese (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald		Change Producer Prices (17 Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	0	Change Summering payments (1/Year)
Detault	Full model SES Grindelwald	C	Change Wood Price (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	<u>cheese price</u> (CHF/kg)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	clearing (ha/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	climate change (degree/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	climate change development (degree/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	climate change normal (degree)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Common Property Pastures (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	compensation for additional provision (SFr/hour)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	T,A	consumer price index (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	converter NST (NST/GVE)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	cost of agricultural workforce (CHF/person)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	cost of appropriation (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	costs of herd (CHF/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	T,A	cultivated private parcels (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	current appropriation contribution (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	current cheese price (CHF/kg)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	current direct costs/GVE (CHF/GVE)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	current direct payments/GVE (CHF/GVE)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	current direct payments/ha (CHF/ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	current milk price (CHF/kg)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	current potential off farm income (SFr/person)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	current summering costs (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	current summering payments (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	current wood price (CHF/FM)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	daily fodder need per NST (kg/NST/day)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	daily milk yield of dairy cow (kg/day)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	defection (hours/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	T.A	desired land use intensity (GVE/ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	direct costs/GVE (CHF/GVE)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	direct payments/GVE (CHF/GVE)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	Direct payments/ha (CHF/ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	discrepancy ratio (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	FA	duty fullfilment (hours/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	ΤΑ	effec of tourism on cheese price (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	ΤΑ	effect of climate on tourism (dmpl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	ΤΔ	effect of discrepancy ratio on farm abandonment (dmpl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	ΤΔ	effect of foregone summering navments on extudability (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	ΤΔ	effect of land holding on appropriation (dmnl)
Dolault		,^¬	and a realing of appropriation (unitin)

Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	T,A	effect of land holding on fullfilment rate (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	T,A	effect of land holding on herd adjustment (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	T,A	effect of open pasture on productivity (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	effect on climate change on growing season (days/degree)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	extra provision bought (hours/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	farm abandonment (household/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Farm Household (household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	farm succession (household/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	fines (SFr/hour)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	fines payed (SFr)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	fodder requirements (kg/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	fooder decay fraction (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	T,A	foreign cattle allowance (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Ĺ	Forest (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	forgone payoff-milk when summered (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	forgone summering payments (CHF)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	C	fraction dairy cow (Year/GVE)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	fraction planed (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	fullfilment rate (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	growing season (days/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F.A	herd adjustment (GVE/household/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	hired labor (person/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Δ	household income (SEr/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Δ	household income direct payments animals (SEr/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Δ	household income livestock (SEr/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald		household lifetime (Vear)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald		household stocking gap (CV/E/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	in use ratio (dmpl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwold		incontines for summaring (dmpl)
Default	Full model SES Gillidelwald	1,A	incentives for summering (unit)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	
Default	Full model SES Gillidelwald		
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald		INITIAL FODDER NEED PELINST (kg/NST/day)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	LI,C	
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald		
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald		
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	0	
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	<u> </u>	INITIAL PROVISION POTENTIAL (hours)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	LI,A	INITIAL PROVISION POTENTIAL I (hours)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	<u> </u>	Initial summering season (days/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	<u> </u>	Initial time to change land use (Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	<u> </u>	labor potenital (person/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	labor productivity (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	labor requirements (person/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	C	Lactation phase (day/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	land discrepany (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	land use incentive direct payments (GVE/ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	land use incentives (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	<u>     L     </u>	Livestock Per Household (GVE/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	local stocking potenital (NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	local tourism index (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	milk price (CHF/kg)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	milk sold per dairy cow (kg/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	milk to cheese conversion factor (kg/kg)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	Minimum revenue needed for harvesting (SFr/FM)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	monitoring (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	mortality rate (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	normal appropriation rate (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	normal household lifetime (Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	normal labor requirements livestock (person/GVE)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	normal labor requirments area (person/ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	normal land holding (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	normal succession rate (1/fraction [0,1])

Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	T,A	normal tourism development (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	off farm income (SFr/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Owergrown Common Property Pastures (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	pasture deficit (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	pay-off appropriation (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	pay-off cheese (CHF/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	pay-off milk (CHF/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	planed provision (hours/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	plot annual fodder production (kg/ha/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	potenital off-farm income (SFr/person)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	productivity of pastures (kg/ha/day)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	profit from livestock (SFr/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Provision (hours)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Provision Capacity (hours)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	provision executed (hours/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	А	provision level (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	provision requirements (hours/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	А	rentability of wood harvest (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	reopened (ha/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	return to valley (NST/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Ċ	sanctioning (Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	satysificing household income (SFr/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	scenario multiplier climate (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	scenario multiplier costs of agricultural production (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	scenario multiplier direct payments (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	scenario multiplier off-farm income (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	scenario multiplier producer prices (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	scenario multiplier summering (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	scenario multiplier tourism (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	scenario multplier wood price (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	search for foreign cattle (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	season normal (day/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	spendings on labor (CHF/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Stocking (NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	stocking gap (NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	succession time (Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	summering fee (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	summering payments (CHE/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	surplus pasture (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	time for provision (Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	C	time to adjust herd size (Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Ā	time to change land use (Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	total livestock in the Valley (GVF)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	<u>С</u>	Tourism development (1/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	<u> </u>	wood harvesting cost (SEr/EM)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	wood price (CHE/EM)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	TA	wood price index (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Δ	workload (dmnl)
Delault			

## List of 1 Non-Monotonic Lookup Function

Module	Group	Туре	Variable (1)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	T,A	wood price index (dmnl)

## List of 10 Variables Using IF...THEN...ELSE Functions

Module	Group	Туре	Variable (0)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	abandonment (ha/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	clearing (ha/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	forgone summering payments (CHF)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	hired labor (person/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	off farm income (SFr/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	pasture deficit (ha)

Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	rentability of wood harvest (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	reopened (ha/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	spendings on labor (CHF/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	А	surplus pasture (ha)

# Formulation Complexity Summary (Violations of Richardson's Rule)

Module	Group	Туре	Variable	Complexity Score
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Common Property Pastures (ha)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	costs of herd (CHF/household)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Provision Capacity (hours)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	А	household income livestock (SFr/household)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	clearing (ha/Year)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	appropriation of foreign cattle (NST/Year)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	fodder requirements (kg/Year)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	А	forgone payoff-milk when summered (CHF/NST)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Owergrown Common Property Pastures (ha)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	pay-off cheese (CHF/Year)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	А	pay-off appropriation (CHF/NST)	4
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	labor requirements (person/household)	5
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	local stocking potenital (NST)	5
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	А	cheese price (CHF/kg)	5
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	potenital off-farm income (SFr/person)	5

# List of 42 Equations with Embedded Data

Module	Group	Туре	Variable (42)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	appropriation contribution (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	breeding progress (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	cheese price (CHF/kg)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	clearing (ha/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	climate change development (degree/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	costs of herd (CHF/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	defection (hours/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	direct costs/GVE (CHF/GVE)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	direct payments/GVE (CHF/GVE)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	Direct payments/ha (CHF/ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	discrepancy ratio (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Farm Household (household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	forgone summering payments (CHF)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	hired labor (person/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	LI,A	INITIAL PROVISION POTENTIAL I (hours)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	labor productivity (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Livestock Per Household (GVE/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	local tourism index (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	milk price (CHF/kg)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	milk to cheese conversion factor (kg/kg)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	off farm income (SFr/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	pasture deficit (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	potenital off-farm income (SFr/person)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Provision (hours)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	rentability of wood harvest (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	reopened (ha/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	F,A	return to valley (NST/Year)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	scenario multiplier climate (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	scenario multiplier costs of agricultural production (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	scenario multiplier direct payments (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	scenario multiplier off-farm income (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	scenario multiplier producer prices (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	scenario multiplier summering (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	scenario multiplier tourism (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	scenario multplier wood price (dmnl)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	spendings on labor (CHF/household)

Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Stocking (NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	stocking gap (NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	summering fee (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	Α	summering payments (CHF/NST)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	А	surplus pasture (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	wood price (CHF/FM)

# List of 8 State Variables

Module	Group	Туре	Variable
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Common Property Pastures (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Farm Household (household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Forest (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Livestock Per Household (GVE/household)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Owergrown Common Property Pastures (ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Provision (hours)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Provision Capacity (hours)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	L	Stocking (NST)

#### List of 4 Unused Variables

Module	Group	Туре	Variable (4)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	С	INITIAL PROVISION POTENTIAL (hours)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	land use incentive direct payments (GVE/ha)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	total livestock in the Valley (GVE)
Default	Full model SES Grindelwald	A	workload (dmnl)

# List of 6 Views and Their 173 Variables\*

			_		Resource		
	External	Actor	Governance	Resource	System		
Totoli	Setting	<u>(A)</u>	<u>System (GS)</u>		<u>(RS)</u>	Leveis	·Total
I Otal:	01	90	30	44	24	0	
abandonment (in 1 view)					<u>X</u>		abandonment (in 1 view)
afforestation (in 1 view)					X		afforestation (in 1 view)
agricultural income		X					agricultural income
houshold (in 1 view)							houshold (in 1 view)
agricultural price index (in	X						agricultural price index (in
1 view)							1 view)
appropriation contribution	X			X			appropriation contribution
(in 2 views)							(in 2 views)
appropriation of foreign				X			appropriation of foreign
cattle (in 1 view)							cattle (in 1 view)
appropriation of local			X	X			appropriation of local
livestock (in 2 views)							livestock (in 2 views)
availability of cattle in the				X			availability of cattle in the
lowlands (in 1 view)							lowlands (in 1 view)
average land holding (in 1		X					average land holding (in 1
view)							view)
average land holdings per		Х					average land holdings per
household (in 1 view)							household (in 1 view)
breeding progress (in 1				Х			breeding progress (in 1
view)							view)
Carrying Capacity (in 1			X				Carrying Capacity (in 1
view)							view)
Change Direct Costs /	Х					Х	Change Direct Costs /
<u>GVE</u> (in 2 views)							GVE (in 2 views)
Change Direct Payments	Х					Х	Change Direct Payments
(in 2 views)							(in 2 views)
Change in climate	X					X	Change in climate
development (in 2 views)							development (in 2 views)
change in milk yield when				Х			change in milk yield when
not summered (in 1 view)							not summered (in 1 view)

change in milk yield when				Х			change in milk yield when					
summered (in 1 view)							summered (in 1 view)					
Change off-farm income	Х					X	Change off-farm income					
opportunities (in 2 views)							opportunities (in 2 views)					
Change Producer Prices (in 2 views)	Х					X	Change Producer Prices (in 2 views)					
Change Summering	X					X	Change Summering					
navments (in 2 views)	~						navments (in 2 views)					
Change Wood Price (in 2	v					Y	Change Wood Price (in 2					
Change Wood Frice (III 2	~					^						
choose price (in 2 views)	v			v			choose price (in 2 views)					
<u>cheese price</u> (in 2 views)	^	<u> </u>		^			<u>cheese price</u> (in 2 views)					
<u>cleaning</u> (in 1 view)		<u> </u>		·	^^		cleaning (in 1 view)					
climate change (in 1 view)	<u>``</u>						climate change (in 1 view)					
<u>climate change</u>	X						climate change					
development (in 1 view)							development (in 1 view)					
climate change normal (in	X						climate change normal (in					
1 view)							1 view)					
Common Property							Common Property					
Pastures (in 1 view)							Pastures (in 1 view)					
compensation for			X				compensation for					
additional provision (in 1							additional provision (in 1					
view)							view)					
consumer price index (in 2	Х	X					consumer price index (in 2					
views)							views)					
<u>converter NST</u> (in 2 views)		X		X			converter NST (in 2 views)					
cost of agricultural		X					cost of agricultural					
workforce (in 1 view)							workforce (in 1 view)					
cost of appropriation (in 2		X		Х			cost of appropriation (in 2					
VIEWS)							Views)					
costs of herd (in 1 view)		X					costs of herd (in 1 view)					
cultivated private parcels		X					cultivated private parcels					
(in 1 view)							(in 1 view)					
current appropriation contribution (in 1 view)	Х						current appropriation contribution (in 1 view)					
current cheese price (in 1	Х						current cheese price (in 1					
view)							view)					
current direct costs/GVE	X						current direct costs/GVE					
(in 1 view)							(in 1 view)					
current direct	X						current direct					
payments/GVF (in 1 view)							payments/GVF (in 1 view)					
current direct payments/ha	X						current direct payments/ha					
(in 1 view)							(in 1 view)					
current milk price (in 1	X						current milk price (in 1					
view)	~						view)					
current potential off farm	X						current potential off farm					
income (in 1 view)							income (in 1 view)					
current summering costs	×						current summering costs					
(in 1 view)	~						(in 1 view)					
current summering	X											
navments (in 1 view)	~						payments (in 1 view)					
current wood price (in 1	×						current wood price (in 1					
view)	~						view)					
daily fodder need per NST				Y			daily fodder need per NST					
(in 1 view)				~			(in 1 view)					
daily milk vield of dainy				×			daily milk yield of dainy					
cow (in 1 view)				~			cow (in 1 view)					
defection (in 1 view)			<b>v</b>				defection (in 1 view)					
			^			<u> </u>						
		^										
	v	v										
	X	× 1					UIIECT COSTS/GVE (IN 2					
direct pourcets/OV/E (in 2)	v	v										
	^	^					views)					
views)		1	1		1	1	100000					

Direct payments/ha (in 2	X	X				Direct payments/ha (in 2
discrepancy ratio (in 1		X				discrepancy ratio (in 1
VIEW)			Y			VIEW)
effec of tourism on cheese	x		<u> </u>			effec of tourism on cheese
effect of climate on	X					effect of climate on
tourism (in 1 view)						tourism (in 1 view)
effect of discrepancy ratio		X				effect of discrepancy ratio
on farm abandonment (in 1 view)						on farm abandonment (in 1 view)
effect of foregone			X			effect of foregone
summering payments on extudability (in 1 view)						summering payments on extudability (in 1 view)
effect of land holding on				Х		effect of land holding on
appropriation (in 1 view)						appropriation (in 1 view)
effect of land holding on			X			effect of land holding on
tullfilment rate (in 1 view)						<u>fullfilment rate (in 1 view)</u>
herd adjustment (in 1		<b>^</b>				herd adjustment (in 1
view)						view)
effect of open pasture on					X	effect of open pasture on
productivity (in 1 view)	X					productivity (in 1 view)
on growing season (in 1	×					on growing season (in 1
view)						view)
extra provision bought (in 1 view)			X			extra provision bought (in 1 view)
farm abandonment (in 1		X				farm abandonment (in 1
Farm Household (in 2		X		Х		Farm Household (in 2
views)						views)
farm succession (in 1		X				farm succession (in 1
FINAL TIME (in 0 views)						FINAL TIME (in 0 views)
fines (in 2 views)			X	X		fines (in 2 views)
fines payed (in 1 view)			X			fines payed (in 1 view)
fodder requirements (in 2 views)				Х	X	fodder requirements (in 2 views)
fooder decay fraction (in 1				Х		fooder decay fraction (in 1
foreign cattle allowance (in			X			foreign cattle allowance (in
1 view)						1 view)
Forest (in 1 view)					X	Forest (in 1 view)
forgone payoff-milk when				Х		torgone payoff-milk when summered (in 1 view)
forgone summering			X			forgone summering
payments (in 1 view)						payments (in 1 view)
fraction dairy cow (in 1		X				fraction dairy cow (in 1
View)			v			VIEW)
fullfilment rate (in 1 view)			x			fullfilment rate (in 1 view)
growing season (in 3	X	<u> </u>	<u>^</u>	X	X	growing season (in 3
views)						views)
herd adjustment (in 1 view)		X				herd adjustment (in 1 view)
hired labor (in 1 view)		X				hired labor (in 1 view)
household income (in 1		X				household income (in 1
VIEW)		Y				household income direct
payments animals (in 1						payments animals (in 1
view)						view)

household income		X				household income
livestock (in 1 view)						livestock (in 1 view)
household lifetime (in 1		X				household lifetime (in 1
houshold stocking gap (in		x				houshold stocking gap (in
1 view)						1 view)
in use ratio (in 1 view)					<u>X</u>	in use ratio (in 1 view)
incentives for summering				X		incentives for summering
(in 1 view)						(in 1 view)
income land use (in 1		X				income land use (in 1
INITIAL CPP (in 1 view)					X	INITIAL CPP (in 1 view)
INITIAL FODDER NEED		<u> </u>		X	<u></u>	INITIAL FODDER NEED
per NST (in 1 view)						per NST (in 1 view)
INITIAL FORREST (in 1					X	INITIAL FORREST (in 1
				V		
INTIAL WILK YIELD (IN 1				~		<u>INTTAL WILK YIELD</u> (IN T
INITIAL OVERGROWN					X	INITIAL OVERGROWN
SUMMER PASTURES (in						SUMMER PASTURES (in
1 view)						1 view)
INITIAL PRODUCTIVITY					X	INITIAL PRODUCTIVITY
			V			
POTENTIAL (in 1 view)			^			POTENTIAL (in 1 view)
			X			
POTENTIAL I (in 1 view)						POTENTIAL I (in 1 view)
Initial summering season	Х					Initial summering season
(in 1 view)						(in 1 view)
INITIAL TIME (IN UVIEWS)		<u> </u>				INTIAL TIME (IN U VIEWS)
use (in 1 view)					<b>^</b>	use (in 1 view)
labor potenital (in 1 view)		X				labor potenital (in 1 view)
labor productivity (in 1		X				labor productivity (in 1
view)						view)
labor requirements (in 1		X				labor requirements (in 1
Lactation phase (in 1				X		Lactation phase (in 1
view)						view)
land discrepany (in 1 view)					X	land discrepany (in 1 view)
land use incentive direct	X					land use incentive direct
payments (in 1 view)		v				payments (in 1 view)
view)		^				view)
Livestock Per Household		X		X		Livestock Per Household
(in 2 views)						(in 2 views)
local stocking potenital (in				Х		local stocking potenital (in
1 view)	V					1 view)
view)	^					view)
milk price (in 2 views)	X			X		milk price (in 2 views)
milk sold per dairy cow (in				X		milk sold per dairy cow (in
1 view)						1 view)
milk to cheese conversion				X		milk to cheese conversion
Minimum revenue needed	X					Minimum revenue needed
for harvesting (in 1 view)						for harvesting (in 1 view)
<u>monitoring</u> (in 1 view)			X		<u> </u>	monitoring (in 1 view)
mortality rate (in 1 view)				X		mortality rate (in 1 view)
normal appropriation rate		X		X		normal appropriation rate
(in 2 views)		v				(In 2 views)
(in 1 view)		^				(in 1 view)
			1			

normal labor requirements		X				normal labor requirements
normal labor requirments		X				normal labor requirments
area (in 1 view)		v	~	v		area (in 1 view)
views)			^	^		views)
normal succession rate (in 1 view)		X				normal succession rate (in 1 view)
normal tourism	Х					normal tourism
off farm income (in 1 view)		X				off farm income (in 1 view)
Owergrown Common					X	Owergrown Common
Property Pastures (in 1 view)						Property Pastures (in 1 view)
pasture deficit (in 1 view)					X	pasture deficit (in 1 view)
pay-off appropriation (in 1				X		pay-off appropriation (in 1 view)
pay-off cheese (in 2 views)		X		X		pay-off cheese (in 2 views)
pay-off milk (in 2 views)		X		X		pay-off milk (in 2 views)
planed provision (in 1 view)			Х			planed provision (in 1 view)
plot annual fodder					X	plot annual fodder
production (in 1 view)						production (in 1 view)
potenital off-farm income (in 2 views)	X	X				potenital off-farm income (in 2 views)
productivity of pastures (in					X	productivity of pastures (in
profit from livestock (in 1		X				profit from livestock (in 1
VIEW)			~			VIEW)
Provision Canacity (in 1			Ŷ			Provision Canacity (in 1
view)			~			view)
provision executed (in 1			Х			provision executed (in 1 view)
provision level (in 2 views)			Х		X	provision level (in 2 views)
provision requirements (in			X	Х		provision requirements (in
rentability of wood harvest	X					rentability of wood harvest
(in 1 view)						(in 1 view)
reopened (in 1 view)					X	reopened (in 1 view)
return to valley (in 1 view)				X		return to valley (in 1 view)
sanctioning (In 1 View)		v	X			sanctioning (In 1 View)
income (in 1 view)						income (in 1 view)
SAVEPER (in 0 views)						SAVEPER (in 0 views)
scenario multiplier climate	X					scenario multiplier climate
scenario multiplier costs of	X					scenario multiplier costs of
agricultural production (in						agricultural production (in
scenario multiplier direct	Х					scenario multiplier direct
payments (in 1 view)						payments (in 1 view)
scenario multiplier off-farm	X					scenario multiplier off-farm
scenario multiplier	X					scenario multiplier
producer prices (in 1 view)						producer prices (in 1 view)
scenario multiplier	Х					scenario multiplier
summering (in 1 view)						summering (in 1 view)
scenario multiplier tourism	X					scenario multiplier tourism
(IN I VIEW)	Y					(III I VIEW)
price (in 1 view)						price (in 1 view)
search for foreign cattle (in			Х	Х		search for foreign cattle (in
2 views)						2 views)

season normal (in 1 view)				x			season normal (in 1 view)
spendings on labor (in 1		X					spendings on labor (in 1
view)							view)
Stocking (in 2 views)			Х	Х			Stocking (in 2 views)
stocking gap (in 2 views)			X	X			stocking gap (in 2 views)
succession time (in 1					Х		succession time (in 1
view)							view)
summering fee (in 3	Х	Х		Х			summering fee (in 3
views)							views)
summering payments (in 2	Х		Х				summering payments (in 2
views)							views)
surplus pasture (in 1 view)					X		surplus pasture (in 1 view)
Time (in 4 views)	X	X	X	X			Time (in 4 views)
time for provision (in 1			Х				time for provision (in 1
view)							view)
TIME STEP (in 1 view)			X				TIME STEP (in 1 view)
time to adjust herd size (in		X					time to adjust herd size (in
1 view)							1 view)
time to change land use					Х		time to change land use
(in 1 view)							(in 1 view)
total livestock in the Valley		X					total livestock in the Valley
(in 1 view)							(in 1 view)
Tourism development (in 2	X					X	Tourism development (in 2
views)							views)
wood harvesting cost (in 1	X						wood harvesting cost (in 1
VIEW)	X						view)
wood price (in 1 view)	X						wood price (in 1 view)
wood price index (in 1	X						wood price index (in 1
VIEW)							view)
workload (in 1 view)	01	X	05				workload (in 1 view)
l otal:	61	58	35	44	24	8	
	External	Actor	Governance	Kesource	Resource	Levels	
	Setting	<u>(A)</u>	System (GS)	Units (RU)	System		
					<u>(KO)</u>		

\* Includes Time, if used in a view. Excludes variables not present in any view.

# Level Structure †

Common Property Pastures =  $\int clearing+reopened-abandonment dt + [INITIAL CPP]$ INITIAL CPP = 4375

abandonment = IF THEN ELSE(<u>surplus pasture</u><<u>Common Property Pastures</u>, <u>surplus pasture/time to change land use</u>, <u>Common Property Pastures/time to change land use</u>)</u>

clearing = IF THEN ELSE(<u>Owergrown Common Property Pastures</u>=0, IF THEN ELSE(<u>pasture deficit<Forest</u>, <u>pasture deficit/time</u> to change land use,Forest/time to change land use), 0)

reopened = IF THEN ELSE(pasture deficit<Owergrown Common Property Pastures:AND:Owergrown Common Property Pastures>0, pasture deficit/time to change land use, Owergrown Common Property Pastures/time to change land use)

Farm Household =  $\int \underline{farm \ succession} - \underline{farm \ abandonment} \ dt + [242]$ farm abandonment =  $\underline{Farm \ Household/household \ lifetime}$ farm succession =  $\underline{farm \ abandonment}^*(normal \ succession \ rate^*discrepancy \ ratio)$ 

Forest = <u>afforestation-clearing</u> dt + [INITIAL FORREST] INITIAL FORREST = 2130 afforestation = (<u>Owergrown Common Property Pastures</u>)/succession time

Livestock Per Household =  $\int \frac{herd adjustment}{herd adjustment} dt + [6.3]$ herd adjustment = (houshold stocking gap\*effect of land holding on herd adjustment)/time to adjust herd size

Owergrown Common Property Pastures =  $\int abandonment-(reopened+afforestation) dt + [INITIAL OVERGROWN SUMMER PASTURES]$ 

# INITIAL OVERGROWN SUMMER PASTURES = 163

Provision = $\int (duty full filment + extra provision bought) - provision executed dt + [16000]$
duty fullfilment = <u>Provision Capacity*fullfilment rate</u>
provision executed = <u>Provision/time for provision</u>
Provision Capacity = $\int p p p p p p p p p p p p p p p p p p $
INITIAL PROVISION POTENTIAL I = ( <u>Carrying Capacity</u> *1.1)*provision requirements
defection = Provision Capacity*(1-fullfilment rate)
planed provision = (provision requirements*Stocking)*fraction planed
Stocking = $\int (appropriation of local livestock + appropriation of foreign cattle) - return to valley dt + [1474]$

appropriation of foreign cattle = stocking gap\*(search for foreign cattle \*availability of cattle in the lowlands\*incentives for summering)

appropriation of local livestock = <u>local stocking potenital</u>\*(normal appropriation rate\*effect of land holding on appropriation) return to valley = <u>Stocking</u>\*(1-mortality rate)

† Level Structure Report still under development.

Source file: Full model SES Grindelwald.mdl (7/21/14 - 12:04 PM) SDM-Doc Tool Version 4.9.6 Decision and Information Sciences Division Argonne National Laboratory

# **Formative Scenario Analysis**

We selected eight variables of the external setting and respective potential values of variables based on the literature review and previous work conducted in the study region (Baur, Liechti, and Binder unpublished manuscript). The variable set and hypothetical values were then validated in expert interviews and refined afterwards. Based on the validated impact factors and potential future levels, we constructed the impact matrix.

		Direct payments		Summering payments		Prices for dairy products		Direct cost		Off-farm income opportunities		Tourism development			Climate		Wood price			
		normal	-50%	50%	25%	50%	-50%	-20%	30%	-10%	40%	normal	-25%	boom +25%	normal	-40%	normal	increa se (2°	50%	200%
	normal									•										
Direct payments	-50%																			
	50%				-															
Summering	25%	0	0	0																
payments	50%	0	-1	0																
	-50%	-1	0	-1				-												
Prices dairy	-20%	0	-1	1	0	1	-1													
products	30%	0	0	-1	0	-1	0			т										
Direct cost	-10%	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0											
	40%	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0			-								
Off-farm income	equal	0	0	0	0	0	-1	0	0	0	1									
opportunities	-25%	0	1	0	0	0	0	-1	0	0	-1			-						
Tourism	boom +25%	0	0	0	0	0	-1	-1	1	0	0	1	-1							
development	normal	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-1	0	-1	1	-1							
	-40%	0	0	0	0	1	-1	0	-1	0	0	-1	1				_			
Climate	normal	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0				
	increase (2°Celsius)	0	0	1	0	0	-1	-1	0	1	0	1	0	1	-1	-1				
Wood price	50%	0	0	0	0	0	0	-1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	-1		
	200%	0	0	0	0	0	-1	-1	1	-1	0	1	-1	0	0	0	-1	1		



The impact matrix was completed four times in total by 10 experts, including agronomists, farmers, and tourist officials. Each expert filled in only the parts of the matrix that corresponded to his or her field of expertise. The completed matrices were then computed using KD software provided by Syst<sup>aim</sup>. The program is analogously developed to the impact matrix shown in Fig. 8. Computing reduced the set of scenarios to the most consistent but also differentiated the parameter combination to cover a wide range of possible developments. Consistency indicators for scenario selection included (i) additive consistency, which is the sum of all coefficients, (ii) multiplicative consistency, which is the average rate of additive consistency, (iii) the number of inconsistencies in a scenario, (iv) and the minimum number of

of inconsistencies in a scenario, (iv) and the minimum number of consistencies (Tietje 2005). Out of the 864 possible scenarios, we identified 21 scenarios that had a multiplicative consistency between 0 and 9.5, an additive consistency value ranging from 4 to 8, and an inconsistency value ranging from 0 to 3, a minimum number of consistencies of 0. To further decrease the number of the scenarios, we calculated the distance between scenarios that is described by the number of different parameter values characterizing a scenario (Tietje 2005). This last step ensures that the analysis covers the widest possible development of the external setting among the consistent scenarios. Finally, the four most different of the 21 scenarios with the highest consistency were selected for simulation.

# Acknowledgments

I would like to express sincere thanks to the following people for contributing in various ways to this research:

Claudia Binder for making this thesis possible through dedicated guidance.

Karina Liechti for all her support and for being such a good colleague.

Urs Wiesmann and Bernard Lehmann for valuable advice and motivation.

The various colleagues in the different departments in Zürich, Graz, and Munich for valuable comments and the enjoyable working atmosphere they created, in particular Christoph Knoeri, Max Mrotzek, Christopher Watts, and Holger Sauter.

The postgraduates and students for their help in collecting survey data. Special thanks are due to Daniela Zumstein for contributing to this work with her Master Thesis.

The farmers of Grindelwald for interesting discussion, collaboration and support during field phases. Special thanks are due to Edwin Wahli, Beat Äschlimann, Hermann Nebiker, Hans Gertsch, Peter Egger, Andreas Michel, and Daniel and Annerös Steuri.

The SNF for funding this research project.